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REGULATION S-K
PART 229 — STANDARD INSTRUCTIONS FOR FILING FORMS UNDER
SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 AND
ENERGY POLICY AND CONSERVATION ACT OF 1975 —
REGULATION S-K
Subpart 229.1 — General
ATTENTION ELECTRONIC FILERS
THIS REGULATION SHOULD BE READ IN CONJUNCTION WITH REGULATION S-T (PART 232 OF THIS
CHAPTER), WHICH GOVERNS THE PREPARATION AND SUBMISSION OF DOCUMENTS IN ELECTRONIC FORMAT. MANY PROVISIONS RELATING TO THE PREPARATION AND SUBMISSION OF
DOCUMENTS IN PAPER FORMAT CONTAINED IN THIS REGULATION ARE SUPERSEDED BY THE
PROVISIONS OF REGULATION S-T FOR DOCUMENTS REQUIRED TO BE FILED IN ELECTRONIC
FORMAT.
General
Reg. §229.10.
(a)

(b)

Application of Regulation S-K. This part [together with the General Rules and Regulations under the Securities Act of 1933,
15 U.S.C. 77a et seq., as amended (“Securities Act”), and the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 15 U.S.C. 78a et seq., as amended
(“Exchange Act”) (Parts 230 and 240 of this chapter), the Interpretative Releases under these Acts (Parts 231 and 241 of this
chapter), and the forms under these Acts (Parts 239 and 249 of this chapter)] states the requirements applicable to the content
of the non-financial statement portions of:
(1)

Registration statements under the Securities Act (Part 239 of this chapter) to the extent provided in the forms to be used
for registration under such Act; and

(2)

Registration statements under section 12 (Subpart C of Part 249 of this chapter), annual or other reports under sections
13 and 15(d) (Subparts D and E of Part 249 of this chapter), annual reports to security holders and proxy and information
statements under section 14 of the Exchange Act (Part 240 of this chapter), and any other documents required to be filed
under the Exchange Act, to the extent provided in the forms and rules under such Act.

Commission policy on projections. The Commission encourages the use in documents specified in Rule 175 under the Securities
Act (§230.175 of this chapter) and Rule 3b-6 under the Exchange Act (§240.3b-6 of this chapter) of management’s projections
of future economic performance that have a reasonable basis and are presented in an appropriate format. The guidelines set
forth herein represent the Commission’s views on important factors to be considered in formulating and disclosing such
projections.
(1)

Basis for projections. The Commission believes that management must have the option to present in Commission filings
its good faith assessment of a registrant’s future performance. Management, however, must have a reasonable basis for
such an assessment. Although a history of operations or experience in projecting may be among the factors providing
a basis for management’s assessment, the Commission does not believe that a registrant always must have had such a
history or experience in order to formulate projections with a reasonable basis. An outside review of management’s
projections may furnish additional support for having a reasonable basis for a projection. If management decides to include
a report of such a review in a Commission filing, there also should be disclosure of the qualifications of the reviewer, the
extent of the review, the relationship between the reviewer and the registrant, and other material factors concerning the
process by which any outside review was sought or obtained. Moreover, in the case of a registration statement under
the Securities Act, the reviewer would be deemed an expert and an appropriate consent must be filed with the registration
statement.
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(2)

Format for projections. In determining the appropriate format for projections included in Commission filings, consideration must be given to, among other things, the financial items to be projected, the period to be covered, and the manner
of presentation to be used. Although traditionally projections have been given for three financial items generally
considered to be of primary importance to investors (revenues, net income (loss) and earnings (loss) per share), projection
information need not necessarily be limited to these three items. However, management should take care to assure that
the choice of items projected is not susceptible to misleading inferences through selective projection of only favorable
items. Revenues, net income (loss) and earnings (loss) per share usually are presented together in order to avoid any
misleading inferences that may arise when the individual items reflect contradictory trends. There may be instances,
however, when it is appropriate to present earnings (loss) from continuing operations, or income (loss) before
extraordinary items in addition to or in lieu of net income (loss). It generally would be misleading to present sales or revenue
projections without one of the foregoing measures of income. The period that appropriately may be covered by a projection
depends to a large extent on the particular circumstances of the company involved. For certain companies
in certain industries, a projection covering a two or three year period may be entirely reasonable. Other companies may
not have a reasonable basis for projections beyond the current year. Accordingly, management should select the period
most appropriate in the circumstances. In addition, management, in making a projection, should disclose what, in its
opinion, is the most probable specific amount or the most reasonable range for each financial item projected based on
the selected assumptions. Ranges, however, should not be so wide as to make the disclosures meaningless. Moreover,
several projections based on varying assumptions may be judged by management to be more meaningful than a single
number or range and would be permitted.

(3)

Investor understanding.
(i)

When management chooses to include its projections in a Commission filing, the disclosures accompanying the
projections should facilitate investor understanding of the basis for and limitations of projections. In this regard
investors should be cautioned against attributing undue certainty to management’s assessment, and the Commission believes that investors would be aided by a statement indicating management’s intention regarding the
furnishing of updated projections. The Commission also believes that investor understanding would be enhanced
by disclosure of the assumptions which in management’s opinion are most significant to the projections or are the
key factors upon which the financial results of the enterprise depend and encourages disclosure of assumptions
in a manner that will provide a framework for analysis of the projection.

(ii)

Management also should consider whether disclosure of the accuracy or inaccuracy of previous projections would
provide investors with important insights into the limitations of projections. In this regard, consideration should
be given to presenting the projections in a format that will facilitate subsequent analysis of the reasons for
differences between actual and forecast results. An important benefit may arise from the systematic analysis of
variances between projected and actual results on a continuing basis, since such disclosure may highlight for
investors the most significant risk and profit-sensitive areas in a business operation.

(iii) With respect to previously issued projections, registrants are reminded of their responsibility to make full and prompt
disclosure of material facts, both favorable and unfavorable, regarding their financial condition. This responsibility
may extend to situations where management knows or has reason to know that its previously disclosed projects no
longer have a reasonable basis.
(iv) Since a registrant’s ability to make projections with relative confidence may vary with all the facts and circumstances,
the responsibility for determining whether to discontinue or to resume making projections is best left to management.
However, the Commission encourages registrants not to discontinue or to resume projections in Commission filings
without a reasonable basis.
(c)

Commission policy on security ratings. In view of the importance of security ratings (“ratings”) to investors and the
marketplace, the Commission permits registrants to disclose, on a voluntary basis, ratings assigned by rating organizations
to classes of debt securities, convertible debt securities and preferred stock in registration statements and periodic reports.
In addition, the Commission permits, pursuant to Rule 134(a)(14) under the Securities Act (§230.134(a)(14) of this chapter),
voluntary disclosure of ratings assigned by any nationally recognized statistical rating organizations (“NRSROs”) in certain
communications deemed not to be a prospectus (“tombstone advertisements”).
Set forth herein are the Commission’s views on important matters to be considered in disclosing security ratings.
(1)

Securities Act filings.
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(i)

If a registrant includes in a registration statement filed under the Securities Act any rating(s) assigned to a class
of securities, it should consider including: (A) any other rating intended for public dissemination assigned to such
class by an NRSRO (“additional NRSRO rating”) that is available on the date of the initial filing of the document and
that is materially different from any rating disclosed; and (B) the name of each rating organization whose rating is
disclosed; each such rating organization’s definition or description of the category in which it rated the class of
securities; the relative rank of each rating within the assigning rating organization’s overall classification system;
and a statement informing investors that a security rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities,
that it may be subject to revision or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating organization and that each rating
should be evaluated independently of any other rating. The registrant also should include the written consent of
any rating organization that is not an NRSRO whose rating is included. With respect to the written consent of any
NRSRO whose rating is included, see Rule 436(g) under the Securities Act (§230.436(g) of this chapter). When the
registrant has filed a registration statement on Form F-9 (§ 239.39 of this chapter), see Rule 436(g) (§ 230.436(g) of
this chapter) under the Securities Act with respect to the written consent of any rating organization specified in the
Instruction to paragraph (a)(2) of General Instruction I of Form F-9.

(ii)

If a change in a rating already included is available subsequent to the filing of the registration statement, but prior
to its effectiveness, the registrant should consider including such rating change in the final prospectus. If the rating
change is material or if a materially different rating from any disclosed becomes available during this period, the
registrant should consider amending the registration statement to include the rating change or additional rating and
recirculating the preliminary prospectus.

(iii) If a materially different additional NRSRO rating or a material change in a rating already included becomes available
during any period in which offers or sales are being made, the registrant should consider disclosing such additional
rating or rating change by means of a post-effective amendment or sticker to the prospectus pursuant to Rule 424(b)
under the Securities Act (§230.424(b) of this chapter), unless, in the case of a registration statement on Form S-3
(§239. 13 of this chapter), it has been disclosed in a document incorporated by reference into the registration
statement subsequent to its effectiveness and prior to the termination of the offering.
(2)

(d)

Exchange Act filings.
(i)

If a registrant includes in a registration statement or periodic report filed under the Exchange Act any rating(s)
assigned to a class of securities, it should consider including the information specified in paragraphs (c)(1)(i)(A)
and (B) of this section.

(ii)

If there is a material change in the rating(s) assigned by any NRSRO(s) to any outstanding class(es) of securities
of a registrant subject to the reporting requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, the registrant
should consider filing a report on Form 8-K (§249.308 of this chapter) or other appropriate report under the Exchange
Act disclosing such rating change.

Incorporation by Reference. Where rules, regulations, or instructions to forms of the Commission permit incorporation by
reference, a document may be so incorporated by reference to the specific document and to the prior filing or submission in
which such document was physically filed or submitted. Except where a registrant or issuer is expressly required to incorporate
a document or documents by reference (or for purposes of Item 1100(c) of Regulation AB (§ 229.1100(c)) with respect to an
asset-backed issuer, as that term is defined in Item 1101 of Regulation AB (§ 229.1101)), reference may not be made to any
document which incorporates another document by reference if the pertinent portion of the document containing the
information or financial statements to be incorporated by reference includes an incorporation by reference to another document.
No document on file with the Commission for more than five years may be incorporated by reference except:
1.

Documents contained in registration statements, which may be incorporated by reference as long as the registrant has
a reporting requirement with the Commission; or

2.

Documents that the registrant specifically identifies by physical location by SEC file number reference, provided such
materials have not been disposed of by the Commission pursuant to its Records Control Schedule (17 CFR 200.80f).

(e) Use of non-GAAP financial measures in Commission filings.
(1) Whenever one or more non-GAAP financial measures are included in a filing with the Commission:
(i) The registrant must include the following in the filing:
(A) A presentation, with equal or greater prominence, of the most directly comparable financial measure or
measures calculated and presented in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP);
(B) A reconciliation (by schedule or other clearly understandable method), which shall be quantitative for
historical non-GAAP measures presented, and quantitative, to the extent available without unreasonable
efforts, for forward-looking information, of the differences between the non-GAAP financial measure disclosed
or released with the most directly comparable financial measure or measures calculated and presented in
accordance with GAAP identified in paragraph (e)(1)(i)(A) of this section;
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(C) A statement disclosing the reasons why the registrant’s management believes that presentation of the
non-GAAP financial measure provides useful information to investors regarding the registrant’s financial
condition and results of operations; and
(D) To the extent material, a statement disclosing the additional purposes, if any, for which the registrant’s
management uses the non-GAAP financial measure that are not disclosed pursuant to paragraph (e)(1)(i)(C) of
this section; and
(ii) A registrant must not:
(A) Exclude charges or liabilities that required, or will require, cash settlement, or would have required cash
settlement absent an ability to settle in another manner, from non-GAAP liquidity measures, other than the
measures earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) and earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, and
amortization (EBITDA);
(B) Adjust a non-GAAP performance measure to eliminate or smooth items identified as non-recurring, infre
quent or unusual, when the nature of the charge or gain is such that it is reasonably likely to recur within two
years or there was a similar charge or gain within the prior two years;
(C) Present non-GAAP financial measures on the face of the registrant’s financial statements prepared in
accordance with GAAP or in the accompanying notes;
(D) Present non-GAAP financial measures on the face of any pro forma financial information required to be
disclosed by Article 11 of Regulation S-X (17 CFR 210.11-01 through 210.11-03); or
(E) Use titles or descriptions of non-GAAP financial measures that are the same as, or confusingly similar to,
titles or descriptions used for GAAP financial measures; and
(iii) If the filing is not an annual report on Form 10-K or Form 20-F (17 CFR 249.220f), a registrant need not include the
information required by paragraphs (e)(1)(i)(C) and (e)(1)(i)(D) of this section if that information was included in its
most recent annual report on Form 10-K or Form 20-F or a more recent filing, provided that the required information is
updated to the extent necessary to meet the requirements of paragraphs (e)(1)(i)(C) and (e)(1)(i)(D) of this section at
the time of the registrant’s current filing.
(2) For purposes of this paragraph (e), a non-GAAP financial measure is a numerical measure of a registrant’s historical or
future financial performance, financial position or cash flows that:
(i) Excludes amounts, or is subject to adjustments that have the effect of excluding amounts, that are included in the most
directly comparable measure calculated and presented in accordance with GAAP in the statement of income, balance sheet or
statement of cash flows (or equivalent statements) of the issuer; or
(ii) Includes amounts, or is subject to adjustments that have the effect of including amounts, that are excluded from the most
directly comparable measure so calculated and presented.
(3) For purposes of this paragraph (e), GAAP refers to generally accepted accounting principles in the United States, except
that (i) in the case of foreign private issuers whose primary financial statements are prepared in accordance with non-U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles, GAAP refers to the principles under which those primary financial statements are
prepared; and (ii) in the case of foreign private issuers that include a non-GAAP financial measure derived from or based on a
measure calculated in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, GAAP refers to U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles for purposes of the application of the requirements of this paragraph (e) to the disclosure of that measure.
(4) For purposes of this paragraph (e), non-GAAP financial measures exclude:
(i) operating and other statistical measures; and
(ii) ratios or statistical measures calculated using exclusively one or both of:
(A) Financial measures calculated in accordance with GAAP; and
(B) Operating measures or other measures that are not non-GAAP financial measures.
(5) For purposes of this paragraph (e), non-GAAP financial measures exclude financial measures required to be disclosed by
GAAP, Commission rules, or a system of regulation of a government or governmental authority or self-regulatory organization
that is applicable to the registrant. However, the financial measure should be presented outside of the financial statements
unless the financial measure is required or expressly permitted by the standard-setter that is responsible for establishing the
GAAP used in such financial statements.
(6) The requirements of paragraph (e) of this section shall not apply to a non-GAAP financial measure included in disclosure
relating to a proposed business combination, the entity resulting therefrom or an entity that is a party thereto, if the disclosure
is contained in a communication that is subject to § 230.425 of this chapter,
§ 240.14a-12 or § 240.14d-2(b)(2) of this chapter or § 229.1015 of this chapter.
(7) The requirements of paragraph (e) of this section shall not apply to investment companies registered under Section 8 of the
Investment Company Act of 1940 (15 U.S.C. 80a-8).
Note to paragraph (e). A non-GAAP financial measure that would otherwise be prohibited by paragraph (e)(1)(ii) of this section
is permitted in a filing of a foreign private issuer if:
1. The non-GAAP financial measure relates to the GAAP used in the registrant’s primary financial statements included in its
filing with the Commission;
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2. The non-GAAP financial measure is required or expressly permitted by the standard-setter that is responsible for establishing
the GAAP used in such financial statements; and
3. The non-GAAP financial measure is included in the annual report prepared by the registrant for use in the jurisdiction in
which it is domiciled, incorporated or organized or for distribution to its security holders.

Subpart 229.100 — Business
Description of Business
Reg. §229.101. Item 101.
(a)

General development of business. Describe the general development of the business of the registrant, its subsidiaries and any
predecessor(s) during the past five years, or such shorter period as the registrant may have been engaged in business.
Information shall be disclosed for earlier periods if material to an understanding of the general development of the business.
(1)

In describing developments, information shall be given as to matters such as the following: the year in which the registrant
was organized and its form of organization; the nature and results of any bankruptcy, receivership or similar proceedings
with respect to the registrant or any of its significant subsidiaries; the nature and results of any other material
reclassification, merger or consolidation of the registrant or any of its significant subsidiaries; the acquisition or
disposition of any material amount of assets otherwise than in the ordinary course of business; and any material changes
in the mode of conducting the business.

(2) Registrants,
(i)

filing a registration statement on Form S-1 (§239.11 of this chapter) under the Securities Act or on Form 10 (§249.210
of this chapter) under the Exchange Act,

(ii)

not subject to the reporting requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act immediately prior to the filing
of such registration statement, and

(iii) that (including predecessors) have not received revenue from operations during each of the three fiscal years
immediately prior to the filing of registration statement, shall provide the following information:
(A) if the registration statement is filed prior to the end of the registrant’s second fiscal quarter, a description of
the registrant’s plan of operation for the remainder of the fiscal year; or
(B) if the registration statement is filed subsequent to the end of the registrant’s second fiscal quarter, a description
of the registrant’s plan of operation for the remainder of the fiscal year and for the first six months of the next
fiscal year. If such information is not available, the reasons for its not being available shall be stated. Disclosure
relating to any plan shall include such matters as:
(1) In the case of a registration statement on Form S-1, a statement in narrative for indicating the
registrant’s opinion as to the period of time that the proceeds from the offering will satisfy cash
requirements and whether in the next six months it will be necessary to raise additional funds
to meet the expenditures required for operating the business of the registrant; the specific
reasons for such opinion shall be set forth and categories of expenditures and sources of cash
resources shall be identified; however, amounts of expenditures and cash resources need not
be provided; in addition, if the narrative statement is based on a cash budget, such budget shall
be furnished to the Commission as supplemental information, but not as part of the registration
7

statement;
(2) An explanation of material product research and development to be performed during the period
covered in the plan;
(3) Any anticipated material acquisition of plant and equipment and the capacity thereof;
(4) Any anticipated material changes in number of employees in the various departments such as
research and development, production, sales or administration; and
(5) Other material areas which may be peculiar to the registrant’s business.
(b)

Financial information about segments. Report for each segment, as defined by generally accepted accounting principles,
revenues from external customers, a measure of profit or loss and total assets. A registrant must report this information for
each of the last three fiscal years or for as long as it has been in business, whichever period is shorter. If the information provided
in response to this paragraph (b) conforms with generally accepted accounting principles, a registrant may include in its
financial statements a cross reference to this data in lieu of presenting duplicative information in the financial statements;
conversely, a registrant may cross reference to the financial statements.
(1)

(2)

(c)

If a registrant changes the structure of its internal organization in a manner that causes the composition of its reportable
segments to change, the registrant must restate the corresponding information for earlier periods, including interim
periods, unless it is impracticable to do so. Following a change in the composition of its reportable segments, a registrant
shall disclose whether it has restated the corresponding items of segment information for earlier periods. If it has not
restated the items from earlier periods, the registrant shall disclose in the year in which the change occurs segment
information for the current period under both the old basis and the new basis of segmentation, unless it is impracticable
to do so.
(i)

When the financial statements of the registrant as a whole have been restated retroactively; or

(ii)

when there has been a change in the way the registrant’s products or services are grouped into industry segments
and such change affects the segment information being reported; restatement is not required when a registrant’s
reportable segments change solely as a result of a change in the nature of its operations or as a result of a segment
losing or gaining in significance.

If the registrant includes, or is required by Article 3 of Regulation S-X (17 CFR 210) to include, interim financial statements,
discuss any facts relating to the performance of any of the segments during the period which, in the opinion of
management, indicate that the three year segment financial data may not be indicative of current or future operations of
the segment. Comparative financial information shall be included to the extent necessary to the discussion.

Narrative description of business.
(1)

Describe the business done and intended to be done by the registrant and its subsidiaries, focusing upon the registrant’s
dominant segment or each reportable segment about which financial information is presented in the financial statements.
To the extent material to an understanding of the registrant’s business taken as a whole, the description of each such
segment shall include the information specified in paragraphs (c)(1)(i) through (x) of this Item. The matters specified in
paragraphs (c)(1)(xi) through (xiii) of this Item shall be discussed with respect to the registrant’s business in general; where
material, the segments to which these matters are significant shall be identified.
(i)

The principal products produced and services rendered by the registrant in the segment and the principal markets
for, and methods of distribution of, the segment’s principal products and services. In addition, state for each of the
last three fiscal years the amount or percentage of total revenue contributed by any class of similar products or
services which accounted for 10 percent or more of consolidated revenue in any of the last three fiscal years or 15
percent or more of consolidated revenue, if total revenue did not exceed $50,000,000 during any of such fiscal years.

(ii)

A description of the status of a product or segment (e.g., whether in the planning stage, whether prototypes exist,
the degree to which product design has progressed or whether further engineering is necessary), if there has been
a public announcement of, or if the registrant otherwise has made public information about, a new product or segment
that would require the investment of a material amount of the assets of the registrant or that otherwise is material.
This paragraph is not intended to require disclosure of otherwise nonpublic corporate information the disclosure
of which would affect adversely the registrant’s competitive position.
(iii) The sources and availability of raw materials.
(iv) The importance to the segment and the duration and effect of all patents, trademarks, licenses, franchises and
concessions held.
(v)

The extent to which the business of the segment is or may be seasonal.
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(vi) The practices of the registrant and the industry (respective industries) relating to working capital items (e.g., where
the registrant is required to carry significant amounts of inventory to meet rapid delivery requirements of customers
or to assure itself of a continuous allotment of goods from suppliers; where the registrant provides rights to return
merchandise; or where the registrant has provided extended payment terms to customers).
(vii) The dependence of the segment upon a single customer, or a few customers, the loss of any one or more of which
would have a material adverse effect on the segment. The name of any customer and its relationship, if any, with
the registrant or its subsidiaries shall be disclosed if sales to the customer by one or more segments are made in an
aggregate amount equal to 10 percent or more of the registrant’s consolidated revenues and the loss of such customer
would have a material adverse effect on the registrant and its subsidiaries taken as a whole. The names of other
customers may be included, unless in the particular case the effect of including the names would be misleading. For
purposes of this paragraph, a group of customers under common control or customers that are affiliates of each other
shall be regarded as a single customer.
(viii) The dollar amount of backlog orders believed to be firm, as of a recent date and as of a comparable date in the preceding
fiscal year, together with an indication of the portion thereof not reasonably expected to be filled within the current
fiscal year, and seasonal or other material aspects of the backlog. (There may be included as firm orders government
orders that are firm but not yet funded and contracts awarded but not yet signed, provided an appropriate statement
is added to explain the nature of such orders and the amount thereof. The portion of orders already included in sales
or operating revenues on the basis of percentage of completion or program accounting shall be excluded.)
(ix) A description of any material portion of the business that may be subject to renegotiation of profits or termination
of contracts or subcontracts at the election of the Government.
(x)

Competitive conditions in the business involved including, where material, the identity of the particular markets in
which the registrant competes, an estimate of the number of competitors and the registrant’s competitive position,
if known or reasonably available to the registrant. Separate consideration shall be given to the principal products
or services or classes of products or services of the segment, if any. Generally, the names of competitors need not
be disclosed. The registrant may include such names, unless in the particular case the effect of including the names
would be misleading. Where, however, the registrant knows or has reason to know that one or a small number of
competitors is dominant in the industry it shall be identified. The principal methods of competition (e.g., price,
service, warranty or product performance) shall be identified, and positive and negative factors pertaining to the
competitive position of the registrant, to the extent that they exist, shall be explained if known or reasonably available
to the registrant.

(xi) If material, the estimated amount spent during each of the last three fiscal years on company-sponsored research
and development activities determined in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. In addition,
state, if material, the estimated dollar amount spent during each of such years on customer-sponsored research
activities relating to the development of new products, services or techniques or the improvement of existing
products, services or techniques.
(xii) Appropriate disclosure also shall be made as to the material effects that compliance with Federal, State and local
provisions which have been enacted or adopted regulating the discharge of materials into the environment, or
otherwise relating to the protection of the environment, may have upon the capital expenditures, earnings and
competitive position of the registrant and its subsidiaries. The registrant shall disclose any material estimated capital
expenditures for environmental control facilities for the remainder of its current fiscal year and its succeeding fiscal
year and for such further periods as the registrant may deem material.
(xiii) The number of persons employed by the registrant.
(d)

Financial information about geographic areas.
(1)

State for each of the registrants last three fiscal years, or for each fiscal year the registrant has been engaged in business,
whichever period is shorter:
(i)

Revenues from external customers attributed to:
(A) The registrants country of domicile;
(B) All foreign countries, in total, from which the registrant derives revenues; and
(C) Any individual foreign country, if material. Disclose the basis for attributing revenues from external customers
to individual countries.

(ii)

Long-lived assets, other than financial instruments, long-term customer relationships of a financial institution,
mortgage and other servicing rights, deferred policy acquisition costs, and deferred tax assets, located in:
(A) The registrants country of domicile;
(B) All foreign countries, in total, in which the registrant holds assets; and
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(C) Any individual foreign country, if material.
(2)

A registrant shall report the amounts based on the financial information that it uses to produce the general-purpose
financial statements. If providing the geographic information is impracticable, the registrant shall disclose that fact. A
registrant may wish to provide, in addition to the information required by paragraph (d)(1) of this section, subtotals of
geographic information about groups of countries. To the extent that the disclosed information conforms with generally
accepted accounting principles, the registrant may include in its financial statements a cross reference to this data in lieu
of presenting duplicative data in its financial statements; conversely, a registrant may cross-reference to the financial
statements.

(3)

A registrant shall describe any risks attendant to the foreign operations and any dependence on one or more of the
registrants segments upon such foreign operations, unless it would be more appropriate to discuss this information in
connection with the description of one or more of the registrants segments under paragraph (c) of this item.

(4)

If the registrant includes, or is required by Article 3 of Regulation S-X (17 CFR 210), to include, interim financial statements,
discuss any facts relating to the information furnished under this paragraph (d) that, in the opinion of management, indicate
that the three year financial data for geographic areas may not be indicative of current or future operations. To the extent
necessary to the discussion, include comparative information.

(e)

Available Information. Disclose the information in paragraphs (e)(1), (e)(2) and (e)(3) of this section in any registration
statement you file under the Securities Act (15 U.S.C. 77a et seq.), and disclose the information in paragraphs (e)(3) and (e)(4)
of this section if you are an accelerated filer or a large accelerated filer and filing an annual report on Form 10-K (§ 249.310 of
this chapter):
(1) Whether you file reports with the Securities and Exchange Commission. If you are a reporting company, identify the
reports and other information you file with the SEC.
(2) That the public may read and copy any materials you file with the SEC at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100
F Street, NE, Washington, DC 20549. State that the public may obtain information on the operation of the Public
Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. If you are an electronic filer, state that the SEC maintains an
Internet site that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding issuers that file
electronically with the SEC and state the address of that site (http://www.sec.gov).
(3) You are encouraged to give your Internet address, if available, except that if you are an accelerated filer or a large
accelerated filer and filing your annual report on Form 10-K, you must disclose your Internet address, if you have one.
(4)(i) Whether you make available free of charge on or through your Internet website, if you have one, your annual
report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q (§ 249.308a of this chapter), current reports on Form 8-K (§ 249.308
of this chapter), and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange
Act (15 U.S.C. 78m(a) or 78o(d)) as soon as reasonably practicable after you electronically file such material with, or
furnish it to, the SEC;
(ii) If you do not make your filings available in this manner, the reasons you do not do so (including, where applicable,
that you do not have an Internet website); and
(iii) If you do not make your filings available in this manner, whether you voluntarily will provide electronic or paper
copies of your filings free of charge upon request.

(f)

Reports to Security Holders. Disclose the following information in any registration statement you file under the Securities Act:

(g)

(1)

If the SEC’s proxy rules or regulations, or stock exchange requirements, do not require you to send an annual report to
security holders or to holders of American depository receipts, describe briefly the nature and frequency of reports that
you will give to security holders. Specify whether the reports that you give will contain financial information that has
been examined and reported on, with an opinion expressed “by” an independent public or certified public accountant.

(2)

For a foreign private issuer, if the report will not contain financial information prepared in accordance with U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles, you must state whether the report will include a reconciliation of this information with
U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

Enforceability of Civil Liabilities Against Foreign Persons. Disclose the following if you are a foreign private issuer filing
a registration statement under the Securities Act:
(1)

Whether or not investors may bring actions under the civil liability provisions of the U.S. federal securities laws against
the foreign private issuer, any of its officers and directors who are residents of a foreign country, any underwriters or
experts named in the registration statement that are residents of a foreign country, and whether investors may enforce
these civil liability provisions when the assets of the issuer or these other persons are located outside of the United States.
The disclosure must address the following matters:
(i)

The investor’s ability to effect service of process within the United States on the foreign private issuer or any person;
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(ii)

The investor’s ability to enforce judgments obtained in U.S. courts against foreign persons based upon the civil
liability provisions of the U.S. federal securities laws;
(iii) The investor’s ability to enforce, in an appropriate foreign court, judgments of U.S. courts based upon the civil
liability provisions of the U.S. federal securities laws; and
(iv) The investor’s ability to bring an original action in an appropriate foreign court to enforce liabilities against the
foreign private issuer or any person based upon the U.S. federal securities laws.
(2)

If you provide this disclosure based on an opinion of counsel, name counsel in the prospectus and file as an exhibit to
the registration statement a signed consent of counsel to the use of its name and opinion.

Instructions to Item 101.
1.

In determining what information about the segments is material to any understanding of the registrant’s business
taken as a whole and therefore required to be disclosed pursuant to paragraph (c) of this Item, the registrant should
take into account both quantitative and qualitative factors such as the significance of the matter to the registrant
(e.g., whether a matter with a relatively minor impact on the registrant’s business is represented by management
to be important to its future profitability), the pervasiveness of the matter (e.g., whether it affects or may affect
numerous items in the segment information), and the impact of the matter (e.g., whether it distorts the trends
reflected in the segment information). Situations may arise when information should be disclosed about a segment
although the information in quantitative terms may not appear significant to the registrant’s business taken as
a whole.

2.

Base the determination of whether information about segments is required for a particular year upon an evaluation
of interperiod comparability. For instance, interperiod comparability would require a registrant to report segment
information in the current period even if not material under the criteria for reportability of SFAS No. 131 if a segment
has been significant in the immediately preceding period and the registrant expects it to be significant in the future

3.

The Commission, upon written request of the registrant and where consistent with the protection of investors,
may permit the omission of any of the information required by this Item or the furnishing in substitution thereof
of appropriate information of comparable character.

Description of Property
Reg. §229.102. Item 102. State briefly the location and general character of the principal plants, mines and other materially important
physical properties of the registrant and its subsidiaries. In addition, identify the segment(s) that use the properties described. If
any such property is not held in fee or is held subject to any major encumbrance, so state and describe briefly how held.
Instructions to Item 102.
1.

What is required is such information as reasonably will inform investors as to the suitability, adequacy,
productive capacity and extent of utilization of the facilities by the registrant. Detailed descriptions of the
physical characteristics of individual properties or legal descriptions by metes and bounds are not required and
shall not be given.

2.

In determining whether properties should be described, the registrant should take into account both quantitative
and qualitative factors. See Instruction 1 to Item 101 of Regulation S-K (§229.101).

3.

In the case of an extractive enterprise, material information shall be given as to production reserves, locations,
development and the nature of the registrant’s interest. If individual properties are of major significance to an
industry segment:

4.

A.

More detailed information concerning these matters shall be furnished; and

B.

Appropriate maps shall be used to disclose location data of significant properties except in cases for which
numerous maps would be required.

A.

If reserve estimates are referred to in the document. The staff of the Office of Engineering, Division of
Corporation Finance of the Commission, shall be consulted. That Office may request that a copy of the full
report of the engineer or other expert who estimated the reserves be furnished as supplemental information
and not as part of the filing. See Rule 418 of Regulation C (§230.418 of this chapter) and Rule 12b-4 of
Regulation 12B (§240. 12b-4 of this chapter) with respect to the submission to, and return by, the Commission
of supplemental information.
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B.

If the estimates of reserves, or any estimated valuation thereof, are represented as being based on estimates
prepared or reviewed by independent consultants, those independent consultants shall be named in the
document.

5.

Estimates of oil or gas reserves other than proved or, in the ease of other extractive reserves, estimates other than
proved or probable reserves, and any estimated values of such reserves shall not be disclosed in any document
publicly filed with the Commission, unless such information is required to be disclosed in the document by foreign
or state law; provided, however, that where such estimates previously have been provided to a person (or any
of its affiliates) that is offering to acquire, merge or consolidate with the registrant or otherwise to acquire the
registrant’s securities, such estimates may be included in documents relating to such acquisition.

6.

The definitions in §210.4-10(a) of Regulation S-X [17 CFR 210] shall apply to this Item with respect to oil and gas
operations.

Legal Proceedings
Reg. §229.103. Item 103. Describe briefly any material pending legal proceedings, other than ordinary routine litigation incidental
to the business, to which the registrant or any of its subsidiaries is a party or of which any of their property is the subject. Include
the name of the court or agency in which the proceedings are pending, the date instituted, the principal parties thereto, a description
of the factual basis alleged to underlie the proceeding and the relief sought. Include similar information as to any such proceedings
known to be contemplated by governmental authorities.
Instructions to Item 103.
1.

If the business ordinarily results in actions for negligence or other claims, no such action or claim need be
described unless it departs from the normal kind of such actions.

2.

No information need be given with respect to any proceeding that involves primarily a claim for damages if the
amount involved, exclusive of interest and costs, does not exceed 10 percent of the current assets of the registrant
and its subsidiaries on a consolidated basis. However, if any proceeding presents in large degree the same legal
and factual issues as other proceedings pending or known to be contemplated, the amount involved in such other
proceedings shall be included in computing such percentage.

3.

Notwithstanding Instructions 1 and 2, any material bankruptcy, receivership, or similar proceeding with respect
to the registrant or any of its significant subsidiaries shall be described.

4.

Any material proceedings to which any director, officer or affiliate of the registrant, any owner of record or
beneficially of more than five percent of any class of voting securities of the registrant, or any associate of any
such director, officer, affiliate of the registrant, or security holder is a party adverse to the registrant or any of
its subsidiaries or has a material interest adverse to the registrant or any of its subsidiaries also shall be described.

5.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, an administrative or judicial proceeding (including, for purposes of A and B of
this Instruction, proceedings which present in large degree the same issues) arising under any Federal, State or
local provisions that have been enacted or adopted regulating the discharge of materials into the environment
or primarily for the purpose of protecting the environment shall not be deemed “ordinary routine litigation
incidental to the business” and shall be described if:
A.

Such proceeding is material to the business or financial condition of the registrant;

B.

Such proceeding involves primarily a claim for damages, or involves potential monetary sanctions, capital
expenditures, deferred charges or charges to income and the amount involved, exclusive of interest and
costs, exceeds 10 percent of the current assets of the registrant and its subsidiaries on a consolidated basis;
or

C.

A governmental authority is a party to such proceeding and such proceeding involves potential monetary
sanctions, unless the registrant reasonably believes that such proceeding will result in no monetary
sanctions, or in monetary sanctions, exclusive of interest and costs, of less than $100,000; provided,
however, that such proceedings which are similar in nature may be grouped and described generically.
Subpart 229.200 — Securities of the Registrant

Market Price of and Dividends on the Registrant’s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters
Reg. §229.201. Item 201.
(a)

Market information.
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(1)

(i)

(ii)

Identify the principal United States market or markets in which each class of the registrant’s common equity is being
traded. Where there is no established public trading market for a class of common equity, furnish a statement to that
effect. For purposes of this Item the existence of limited or sporadic quotations should not of itself be deemed to
constitute an “established public trading market.” In the case of foreign registrants, also identify the principal
established foreign public trading market, if any, for each class of the registrant’s common equity.
If the principal United States market for such common equity is an exchange, state the high and low sales prices for
the equity for each full quarterly period within the two most recent fiscal years and any subsequent interim period
for which financial statements are included, or are required to be included by Article 3 of Regulation S-X [17 CFR
210], as reported in the consolidated transaction reporting system or, if not so reported, as reported on the principal
exchange market for such equity.

(iii) If the principal United States market for such common equity is not an exchange, state the range of high and low
bid information for the equity for each full quarterly period within the two most recent fiscal years and any
subsequent interim period for which financial statements are included, or are required to be included by Article 3
of Regulation S-X, as regularly quoted in the automated quotation system of a registered securities association, or
where the equity is not quoted in such a system, the range of reported high and low bid quotations, indicating the
source of such quotations. Indicate, as applicable, that such over-the-counter market quotations reflect inter-dealer
prices, without retail mark-up, mark-down or commission and may not necessarily represent actual transactions.
Where there is an absence of an established public trading market, reference to quotations shall be qualified by
appropriate explanation.
(iv) Where a foreign registrant has identified a principal established foreign trading market for its common equity
pursuant to paragraph (a)(1) of this Item, also provide market price information comparable, to the extent practicable,
to that required for the principal United States market, including the source of such information. Such prices shall
be stated in the currency in which they are quoted. The registrant may translate such prices into United States
currency at the currency exchange rate in effect on the date the price disclosed was reported on the foreign exchange.
If the primary United States market for the registrant’s common equity trades using American Depositary Receipts,
the United States prices disclosed shall be on that basis.
(v)

(2)

(b)

(c)

If the information called for by this Item is being presented in a registration statement filed pursuant to the Securities
Act or a proxy or information statement filed pursuant to the Exchange Act, the document also shall include price
information as of the latest practicable date, and, in the case of securities to be issued in connection with an
acquisition, business combination or other reorganization, as of the date immediately prior to the public announcement of such transaction.

If the information called for by this paragraph (a) is being presented in a registration statement on Form S-1 [§239.11 of
this chapter] or Form S-18 [§239.28 of this chapter] under the Securities Act or on Form 10 [§249.210 of this chapter] under
the Exchange Act relating to a class of common equity for which at the time of filing there is no established United States
public trading market, indicate the amount(s) of common equity (i) that is subject to outstanding options or warrants to
purchase, or securities convertible into, common equity of the registrant; (ii) that could be sold pursuant to Rule 144 under
the Securities Act [§230.144 of this chapter] or that the registrant has agreed to register under the Securities Act for sale
by security holders; or (iii) that is being, or has been publicly proposed to be, publicly offered by the registrant (unless
such common equity is being offered pursuant to an employee benefit plan or dividend reinvestment plan), the offering
of which could have a material effect on the market price of the registrant’s common equity.

Holders.
(1)

Set forth the approximate number of holders of each class of common equity of the registrant as of the latest practicable
date.

(2)

If the information called for by this paragraph (b) is being presented in a registration statement filed pursuant to the
Securities Act or a proxy statement or information statement filed pursuant to the Exchange Act that relates to an
acquisition, business combination or other reorganization, indicate the effect of such transaction on the amount and
percentage of present holdings of the registrant’s common equity owned beneficially by (i) any person (including any
group as that term is used in section 13(d)(3) of the Exchange Act) who is known to the registrant to be the beneficial owner
of more than five percent of any class of the registrant’s common equity and (ii) each director and nominee and (iii) all
directors and officers as a group, and the registrant’s present commitments to such persons with respect to the issuance
of shares of any class of its common equity.

Dividends.
(1)

State the frequency and amount of any cash dividends declared on each class of its common equity by the registrant for
the two most recent fiscal years and any subsequent interim period for which financial statements are required to be
presented by §210.3 of Regulation S-X. Where there are restrictions (including, where appropriate, restrictions on the
ability of registrant’s subsidiaries to transfer funds to the registrant in the form of cash dividends, loans or advances)
that currently materially limit the registrant’s ability to pay such dividends or that the registrant reasonably believes are
likely to limit materially the future payment of dividends on the common equity so state and either (i) describe briefly (where
appropriate quantify) such restrictions, or (ii) cross reference to the specific discussion of such restrictions in the
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of financial condition and operating results prescribed by Item 303 of Regulation
S-K (§229.303) and the description of such restrictions required by Regulation S-X in the registrant’s financial statements.
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(2)

(d)

Where registrants have a record of paying no cash dividends although earnings indicate an ability to do so, they are
encouraged to consider the question of their intention to pay cash dividends in the foreseeable future and, if no such
intention exists, to make a statement of that fact in the filing. Registrants which have a history of paying cash dividends
also are encouraged to indicate whether they currently expect that comparable cash dividends will continue to be paid
in the future and, if not, the nature of the change in the amount or rate of cash dividend payments.

Securities authorized for issuance under equity compensation plans.
1. In the following tabular format, provide the information specified in paragraph (d)(2) of this Item as of the end of
the most recently completed fiscal year with respect to compensation plans (including individual compensation
arrangements) under which equity securities of the registrant are authorized for issuance, aggregated as follows:
i.
All compensation plans previously approved by security holders; and
ii. All compensation plans not previously approved by security holders.

Equity Compensation Plan Information
Number of securities to be
issued upon exercise of
outstanding options,
warrants and rights

Weighted average exercise
price of outstanding options,
warrants and rights

(a)

Plan category

(b)

Number of securities
remaining available
for future issuance

(c)

Equity compensation
plans approved by
security holders
Equity compensation
plans not approved
by security holders
Total

2.

3.

The table shall include the following information as of the end of the most recently completed fiscal year for each
category of equity compensation plan described in paragraph (d)(1) of this Item:
i.
The number of securities to be issued upon the exercise of outstanding options, warrants and rights
(column (a));
ii. The weighted-average exercise price of the outstanding options, warrants and rights disclosed pursuant to
paragraph (d)(2)(i) of this Item (column (b)); and
iii. Other than securities to be issued upon the exercise of the outstanding options, warrants and rights
disclosed in paragraph (d)(2)(i) of this Item, the number of securities remaining available for future
issuance under the plan (column (c)).
For each compensation plan under which equity securities of the registrant are authorized for issuance that was
adopted without the approval of security holders, describe briefly, in narrative form, the material features of the
plan.

Instructions to Paragraph (d).
1.

2.

Disclosure shall be provided with respect to any compensation plan and individual compensation arrangement of
the registrant (or parent, subsidiary or affiliate of the registrant) under which equity securities of the registrant are
authorized for issuance to employees or non-employees (such as directors, consultants, advisors, vendors, customers, suppliers or lenders) in exchange for consideration in the form of goods or services as described in Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, or any successor standard. No
disclosure is required with respect to:
i. Any plan, contract or arrangement for the issuance of warrants or rights to all security holders of the
registrant as such on a pro rata basis (such as a stock rights offering) or
ii.Any employee benefit plan that is intended to meet the qualification requirements of Section 401(a) of the
Internal Revenue Code (26 U.S.C. 401(a)).
For purposes of this paragraph, an “individual compensation arrangement” includes, but is not limited to, the
following: a written compensation contract within the meaning of “employee benefit plan” under §230.405 of this
chapter and a plan (whether or not set forth in any formal document) applicable to one person as provided under
Item 402(a)(6)(ii) of Regulation S-K (§229.402(a)(6)(ii)).
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3.
4.
5.

6.

7.

8.

9.

If more than one class of equity security is issued under its equity compensation plans, a registrant should
aggregate plan information for each class of security.
A registrant may aggregate information regarding individual compensation arrangements with the plan information
required under paragraph (d)(1)(i) and (ii) of this Item, as applicable.
A registrant may aggregate information regarding a compensation plan assumed in connection with a merger,
consolidation or other acquisition transaction pursuant to which the registrant may make subsequent grants or
awards of its equity securities with the plan information required under paragraph (d)(1)(i) and (ii) of this Item, as
applicable. A registrant shall disclose on an aggregated basis in a footnote to the table the information required
under paragraph (d)(2)(i) and (ii) of this Item with respect to any individual options, warrants or rights assumed in
connection with a merger, consolidation or other acquisition transaction.
To the extent that the number of securities remaining available for future issuance disclosed in column (c) includes
securities available for future issuance under any compensation plan or individual compensation arrangement other
than upon the exercise of an option, warrant or right, disclose the number of securities and type of plan separately
for each such plan in a footnote to the table.
If the description of an equity compensation plan set forth in a registrant’s financial statements contains the
disclosure required by paragraph (d)(3) of this Item, a cross-reference to such description will satisfy the requirements of paragraph (d)(3) of this Item.
If an equity compensation plan contains a formula for calculating the number of securities available for issuance
under the plan, including, without limitation, a formula that automatically increases the number of securities
available for issuance by a percentage of the number of outstanding securities of the registrant, a description of this
formula shall be disclosed in a footnote to the table.
Except where it is part of a document that is incorporated by reference into a prospectus, the information required
by this paragraph need not be provided in any registration statement filed under the Securities Act.
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(e) Performance graph. (1) Provide a line graph comparing the yearly percentage change in the registrant’s cumulative total shareholder
return on a class of common stock registered under section 12 of the Exchange Act (as measured by dividing the sum of the cumulative
amount of dividends for the measurement period, assuming dividend reinvestment, and the difference between the registrant’s share price at
the end and the beginning of the measurement period; by the share price at the beginning of the measurement period) with:
(i) The cumulative total return of a broad equity market index assuming reinvestment of dividends, that includes companies whose
equity securities are traded on the same exchange or are of comparable market capitalization; provided, however, that if the registrant is a
company within the Standard & Poor’s 500 Stock Index, the registrant must use that index; and
(ii) The cumulative total return, assuming reinvestment of dividends, of:
(A) A published industry or line-of-business index;
(B) Peer issuer(s) selected in good faith. If the registrant does not select its peer issuer(s) on an industry or line-of-business basis,
the registrant shall disclose the basis for its selection; or
(C) Issuer(s) with similar market capitalization(s), but only if the registrant does not use a published industry or line-of-business
index and does not believe it can reasonably identify a peer group. If the registrant uses this alternative, the graph shall be
accompanied by a statement of the reasons for this selection.
(2) For purposes of paragraph (e)(1) of this Item, the term “measurement period” shall be the period beginning at the “measurement point”
established by the market close on the last trading day before the beginning of the registrant’s fifth preceding fiscal year, through and
including the end of the registrant’s last completed fiscal year. If the class of securities has been registered under section 12 of the Exchange
Act (15 U.S.C. 78l) for a shorter period of time, the period covered by the comparison may correspond to that time period.
(3) For purposes of paragraph (e)(1)(ii)(A) of this Item, the term “published industry or line-of-business index” means any index that is
prepared by a party other than the registrant or an affiliate and is accessible to the registrant’s security holders; provided, however, that
registrants may use an index prepared by the registrant or affiliate if such index is widely recognized and used.
(4) If the registrant selects a different index from an index used for the immediately preceding fiscal year, explain the reason(s) for this
change and also compare the registrant’s total return with that of both the newly selected index and the index used in the immediately
preceding fiscal year.
Instructions to Item 201(e):
1. In preparing the required graphic comparisons, the registrant should:
a. Use, to the extent feasible, comparable methods of presentation and assumptions for the total return calculations required by
paragraph (e)(1) of this Item; provided, however, that if the registrant constructs its own peer group index under paragraph (e)(1)(ii)(B), the
same methodology must be used in calculating both the registrant’s total return and that on the peer group index; and
b. Assume the reinvestment of dividends into additional shares of the same class of equity securities at the frequency with which
dividends are paid on such securities during the applicable fiscal year.
2. In constructing the graph:
a. The closing price at the measurement point must be converted into a fixed investment, stated in dollars, in the registrant’s stock (or
in the stocks represented by a given index) with cumulative returns for each subsequent fiscal year measured as a change from that
investment; and
b. Each fiscal year should be plotted with points showing the cumulative total return as of that point. The value of the investment as of
each point plotted on a given return line is the number of shares held at that point multiplied by the then-prevailing share price.
3. The registrant is required to present information for the registrant’s last five fiscal years, and may choose to graph a longer period; but
the measurement point, however, shall remain the same.
4. Registrants may include comparisons using performance measures in addition to total return, such as return on average common
shareholders’ equity.
5. If the registrant uses a peer issuer(s) comparison or comparison with issuer(s) with similar market capitalizations, the identity of those
issuers must be disclosed and the returns of each component issuer of the group must be weighted according to the respective issuer’s stock
market capitalization at the beginning of each period for which a return is indicated.
6. A registrant that qualifies as a “small business issuer,” as defined by Item 10(a)(1) of Regulation S-B (17 CFR 228.10(a)(1)) is not
required to provide the information required by paragraph (e) of this Item.
7. The information required by paragraph (e) of this Item need not be provided in any filings other than an annual report to security holders
required by Exchange Act Rule 14a-3 (17 CFR 240.14a-3) or Exchange Act Rule 14c-3 (17 CFR 240.14c-3) that precedes or accompanies a
registrant’s proxy or information statement relating to an annual meeting of security holders at which directors are to be elected (or special
meeting or written consents in lieu of such meeting). Such information will not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any filing
under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act, except to the extent that the registrant specifically incorporates it by reference.
8. The information required by paragraph (e) of this Item shall not be deemed to be “soliciting material” or to be “filed” with the
Commission or subject to Regulation 14A or 14C (17 CFR 240.14a-1 – 240.14a-104 or 240.14c-1 – 240.14c-101), other than as provided in
this item, or to the liabilities of section 18 of the Exchange Act (15 U.S.C. 78r), except to the extent that the registrant specifically requests
that such information be treated as soliciting material or specifically incorporates it by reference into a filing under the Securities Act or the
Exchange Act.
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Instructions to Item 201.
1.

Registrants, the common equity of which is listed for trading on more than one securities exchange registered
under the Exchange Act, are required to indicate each such exchange pursuant to paragraph (a)(1)(i) of this Item;
such registrants, however, need only report one set of price quotations pursuant to paragraph (a)(1)(ii) of this
Item; where available, these shall be the prices as reported in the consolidated transaction reporting system and,
where the prices are not so reported, the prices on the most significant (in terms of volume) securities exchange
for such shares.

2.

Market prices and dividends reported pursuant to this Item shall be adjusted to give retroactive effect to material
changes resulting from stock dividends, stock splits and reverse stock splits.

3.

The computation of the approximate number of holders of registrant’s common equity may be based upon the
number of record holders or also may include individual participants in security position listings. See Rule 17Ad-8
under the Exchange Act. The method of computation that is chosen shall be indicated.

4.

If the registrant is a foreign issuer, describe briefly:

5.

A.

Any governmental laws, decrees or regulations in the country in which the registrant is organized that
restrict the export or import of capital, including, but not limited to, foreign exchange controls, or that affect
the remittance of dividends or other payments to nonresident holders of the registrant’s common equity;
and

B.

All taxes, including withholding provisions, to which United States common equity holders are subject
under existing laws and regulations of the foreign country in which the registrant is organized. Include a
brief description of pertinent provisions of any reciprocal tax treaty between such foreign country and the
United States regarding withholding. If there is no such treaty, so state.

If the registrant is a foreign private issuer whose common equity of the class being registered is wholly or partially
in bearer form, the response to this Item shall so indicate together with as much information as the registrant is
able to provide with respect to security holdings in the United States. If the securities being registered trade in
the United States in the form of American Depositary Receipts or similar certificates, the response to this Item
shall so indicate together with the name of the depositary issuing such receipts and the number of shares or other
units of the underlying security representing the trading units in such receipts.

Description of Registrant’s Securities
Reg. §229.202. Item 202.
Note — If the securities being described have been accepted for listing on an exchange, the exchange may be identified. The
document should not however, convey the impression that the registrant may apply successfully for listing of the securities on an
exchange or that, in the case of an underwritten offering, the underwriters may request the registrant to apply for such listing, unless
there is reasonable assurance that the securities to be offered will be acceptable to a securities exchange for listing.
(a)

Capital stock. If capital stock is to be registered, state the title of the class and describe such of the matters listed in paragraphs
(a)(1) through (5) as are relevant. A complete legal description of the securities need not be given.
(1)

Outline briefly: (i) dividend rights; (ii) terms of conversion; (iii) sinking fund provisions; (iv) redemption provisions;
(v) voting rights, including any provisions specifying the vote required by security holders to take action; (vi) any
classification of the Board of Directors, and the impact of such classification where cumulative voting is permitted or
required; (vii) liquidation rights; (viii) preemption rights; and (ix) liability to further calls or to assessment by the registrant
and for liabilities of the registrant imposed on its stockholders under state statutes (e.g., to laborers, servants or employees
of the registrant), unless such disclosure would be immaterial because the financial resources of the registrant or other
factors make it improbable that liability under such state statutes would be imposed; (x) any restriction on alienability of
the securities to be registered; and (xi) any provision discriminating against any existing or prospective holder of such
securities as a result of such security holder owning a substantial amount of securities.

(2)

If the rights of holders of such stock may be modified otherwise than by a vote of a majority or more of the shares
outstanding, voting as a class, so state and explain briefly.

(3)

If preferred stock is to be registered, describe briefly any restriction on the repurchase or redemption of shares by the
registrant while there is any arrearage in the payment of dividends or sinking fund installments. If there is no such
restriction, so state.
If the rights evidenced by, or amounts payable with respect to, the shares to be registered are, or may be, materially limited
or qualified by the rights of any other authorized class of securities, include the information regarding such other securities
as will enable investors to understand such limitations or qualifications. No information need be given, however, as to
any class of securities all of which will be retired, provided appropriate steps to ensure such retirement will be completed
prior to or upon delivery by the registrant of the shares.

(4)
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(5)

(b)

Describe briefly or cross-reference to a description in another part of the document, any provision of the registrant’s
charter or by-laws that would have an effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change in control of the registrant and
that would operate only with respect to an extraordinary corporate transaction involving the registrant (or any of its
subsidiaries), such as a merger, reorganization tender offer, sale or transfer of substantially all of its assets, or liquidation.
Provisions and arrangements required by law or imposed by governmental or judicial authority need not be described or
discussed pursuant to this paragraph (a)(5). Provisions or arrangements adopted by the registrant to effect, or further,
compliance with laws or governmental or judicial mandate are not subject to the immediately preceding sentence where
such compliance did not require the specific provisions or arrangements adopted.

Debt securities. If debt securities are to be registered, state the title of such securities, the principal amount being offered, and,
if a series, the total amount authorized and the total amount outstanding as of the most recent practicable date; and describe
such of the matter listed in paragraphs (b)(1) through (10) as are relevant. A complete legal description of the securities need
not be given. For purposes solely of this Item, debt securities that differ from one another only as to the interest rate or maturity
shall be regarded as securities of the same class. Outline briefly:
(1)

Provisions with respect to maturity, interest, conversion, redemption, amortization, sinking fund, or retirement;

(2)

Provisions with respect to the kind and priority of any lien securing the securities, together with a brief identification of
the principal properties subject to such lien;

(3)

Provisions with respect to the subordination of the rights of holders of the securities to other security holders or creditors
of the registrant; where debt securities are designated as subordinated in accordance with Instruction 1 to this item, set
forth the aggregate amount of outstanding indebtedness as of the most recent practicable date that by the terms of such
debt securities would be senior to such subordinated debt and describe briefly any limitation on the issuance of such
additional senior indebtedness or state that there is no such limitation;

(4)

Provisions restricting the declaration of dividends or requiring the maintenance of any asset ratio or the creation or
maintenance of reserves;

(5)

Provisions restricting the incurrence of additional debt or the issuance of additional securities; in the case of secured debt,
whether the securities being registered are to be issued on the basis of unbonded bondable property, the deposit of cash
or otherwise; as of the most recent practicable date, the approximate amount of unbonded bondable property available
as a basis for the issuance of bonds; provisions permitting the withdrawal of cash deposited as a basis for the issuance
of bonds; and provisions permitting the release or substitution of assets securing the issue; Provided, however, That
provisions permitting the release of assets upon the deposit of equivalent funds or the pledge of equivalent property,
the release of property no longer required in the business, obsolete property, or property taken by eminent domain or the
application of insurance moneys, and other similar provisions need not be described;

(6)

The general type of event that constitutes a default and whether or not any periodic evidence is required to be furnished
as to the absence of default or as to compliance with the terms of the indenture;

(7)

Provisions relating to modification of the terms of the security or the rights of security holders;

(8)

If the rights evidenced by the securities to be registered are, or may be, materially limited or qualified by the rights of any
other authorized class of securities, the information regarding such other securities as will enable investors to understand
the rights evidenced by the securities; to the extent not otherwise disclosed pursuant to this Item, no information need
be given, however, as to any class of securities all of which will be retired, provided appropriate steps to ensure such
retirement will be completed prior to or upon delivery by the registrant of the securities;

(9)

If debt securities are to be offered at a price such that they will be deemed to be offered at an “original issue discount”
as defined in paragraph (a) of Section 1273 of the Internal Revenue Code (26 U.S.C. 1273), or if a debt security is sold in
a package with another security and the allocation of the offering price between the two securities may have the effect
of offering the debt security at such an original issue discount, the tax effects thereof pursuant to sections 1271-1278;
and

(10) The name of the trustee(s) and the nature of any material relationship with the registrant or with any of its affiliates; the
percentage of securities of the class necessary to require the trustee to take action; and what indemnification the trustee
may require before proceeding to enforce the lien.
(c)

Warrants and rights. If the securities described are to be offered pursuant to warrants or rights state:
(1)

The amount of securities called for by such warrants or rights;

(2)
(3)

The period during which and the price at which the warrants or rights are exercisable;
The amount of warrants or rights outstanding;

(4)

Provisions for changes to or adjustments in the exercise price; and

(5)

Any other material terms of such rights or warrants.
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(d)

Other securities. If securities other than capital stock, debt, warrants or rights are to be registered, include a brief description
(comparable to that required in paragraphs (a), (b) and (c) of Item 202) of the rights evidenced thereby.

(e)

Market information for securities other than common equity. If securities other than common equity are to be registered and
there is an established public trading market for such securities (as that term is used in Item 201 of Regulation S-K (§229.201
of this chapter)) provide market information with respect to such securities comparable to that required by paragraph (a) of
Item 201 of Regulation S-K (§229.201).

(f)

American Depositary Receipts. If Depositary Shares represented by American Depositary Receipts are being registered,
furnish the following information:
(1)

The name of the depositary and the address of its principal executive office.

(2)

State the title of the American Depositary Receipts and identify the deposited security. Describe briefly the terms of
deposit, including the provisions, if any, with respect to: (i) the amount of deposited securities represented by one unit
of American Depositary Receipts; (ii) the procedure for voting, if any, the deposited securities; (iii) the collection and
distribution of dividends; (iv) the transmission of notices, reports and proxy soliciting material; (v) the sale or exercise
of rights; (vi) the deposit or sale of securities resulting from dividends, splits or plans of reorganization;
(vii) amendment, extension or termination of the deposit; (viii) rights of holders of receipts to inspect the transfer books
of the depositary and the list of holders of receipts; (ix) restrictions upon the right to deposit or withdraw the underlying
securities; (x) limitation upon the liability of the depositary.

(3)

Describe all fees and charges which may be imposed directly or indirectly against the holder of the American Depositary
Receipts, indicating the type of service, the amount of fee or charges and to whom paid.

Instructions to Item 202.
1.

2.

Wherever the title of securities is required to be stated, there shall be given such information as will indicate the
type and general character of the securities, including the following:
A.

In the case of shares, the par or stated value, if any; the rate of dividends, if fixed, and whether cumulative
or non-cumulative; a brief indication of the preference, if any; and if convertible or redeemable, a statement
to that effect;

B.

In the case of debt, the rate of interest; the date of maturity or, if the issue matures serially, a brief indication
of the serial maturities, such as “maturing serially from 1955 to 1960”; if the payment of principal or interest
is contingent, an appropriate indication of such contingency; a brief indication of the priority of the issue;
and, if convertible or callable, a statement to that effect; or

C.

In the case of any other kind of security, appropriate information of comparable character.

If the registrant is a foreign registrant, include (to the extent not disclosed in the document pursuant to Item 201
of Regulation S-K (§229.201) or otherwise) in the description of the securities:
A.

A brief description of any limitations on the right of nonresident or foreign owners to hold or vote such
securities imposed by foreign law or by the charter or other constituent document of the registrant, or if
no such limitations are applicable, so state;

B.

A brief description of any governmental laws, decrees or regulations in the country in which the registrant
is organized affecting the remittance of dividends, interest and other payments to nonresident holders of
the securities being registered;

C.

A brief outline of all taxes, including withholding provisions, to which United States security holders are
subject under existing laws and regulations of the foreign country in which the registrant is organized; and

D.

A brief description of pertinent provisions of any reciprocal tax treaty between such foreign country and
the United States regarding withholding or, if there is no such treaty, so state.

3.

Section 305(a)(2) of the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, 15 U.S.C. 77aaa et seq., as amended (“Trust Indenture Act”),
shall not be deemed to require the inclusion in a registration statement or in a prospectus of any information not
required by this Item.

4.

Where convertible securities or stock purchase warrants are being registered that are subject to redemption or
call, the description of the conversion terms of the securities or material terms of the warrants shall disclose:
A. Whether the right to convert or purchase the securities will be forfeited unless it is exercised before the date
specified in a notice of the redemption or call;
B.

The expiration or termination date of the warrants;
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5.

6.

C.

The kinds, frequency and timing of notice of the redemption or call, including the cities or newspapers in
which notice will be published (where the securities provide for a class of newspapers or group of cities
in which the publication may be made at the discretion of the registrant, the registrant should describe such
provision); and

D.

In the case of bearer securities, that investors are responsible for making arrangements to prevent loss of
the right to convert or purchase in the event of redemption of call, for example, by reading the newspapers
in which the notice of redemption or call may be published.

The response to paragraph (f) shall include information with respect to fees and charges in connection with
(A) the deposit or substitution of the underlying securities; (B) receipt and distribution of dividends; (C) the sale
or exercise of rights; (D) the withdrawal of the underlying security; and (E) the transferring, splitting or grouping
of receipts. Information with respect to the right to collect the fees and charges against dividends received and
deposited securities shall be included in response to this item.
For asset-backed securities, see also Item 1113 of Regulation AB (§ 229.1113).
Subpart 229.300 — Financial Information

Selected Financial Data
Reg. §229.301. Item 301. Furnish in comparative columnar form the selected financial data for the registrant referred to below, for
(a)

Each of the last five fiscal years of the registrant (or for the life of the registrant and its predecessors, if less), and

(b)

Any additional fiscal years necessary to keep the information from being misleading.

Instructions to Item 301.
1.

The purpose of the selected financial data shall be to supply in a convenient and readable format selected financial
data which highlight certain significant trends in the registrant’s financial condition and results of operations.

2.

Subject to appropriate variation to conform to the nature of the registrant’s business, the following items shall
be included in the table of financial data; net sales or operating revenues; income (loss) from continuing
operations; income (loss) from continuing operations per common share; total assets; long-term obligations and
redeemable preferred stock (including long-term debt, capital leases, and redeemable preferred stock as defined
in §210.5-02.28(a) of Regulation S-X [17 CFR 210]; and cash dividends declared per common share. Registrants
may include additional items which they believe would enhance an understanding of and would highlight other
trends in their financial condition and results of operations.
Briefly describe, or cross-reference to a discussion thereof, factors such as accounting changes, business
combinations or dispositions of business operations, that materially affect the comparability of the information
reflected in selected financial data. Discussion of, or reference to, any material uncertainties should also be
included where such matters might cause the data reflected herein not to be indicative of the registrant’s future
financial condition or results of operations.

3.

All references to the registrant in the table of selected financial data and in this Item shall mean the registrant
and its subsidiaries consolidated.

4.

If interim period financial statements are included, or are required to be included by Article 3 of Regulation S-X,
registrants should consider whether any or all of the selected financial data need to be updated for such interim
periods to reflect a material change in the trends indicated; where such updating information is necessary,
registrants shall provide the information on a comparative basis unless not necessary to an understanding of
such updating information.

5.

A foreign private issuer shall disclose also the following information in all filings containing financial statements:
A.

In the forepart of the document and as of the latest practicable date, the exchange rate into U.S. currency
of the foreign currency in which the financial statements are denominated;

B.

A history of exchange rates for the five most recent years and any subsequent interim period for which
financial statements are presented setting forth the rates for period end, the average rates, and the range
of high and low rates for each year, and
If equity securities are being registered, a five year summary of dividends per share stated in both the
currency in which the financial statements are denominated and United States currency based on the
exchange rates at each respective payment date.

C.
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6.

A foreign private issuer shall present the selected financial data in the same currency as its financial statements.
The issuer may present the selected financial data on the basis of the accounting principles used in its primary
financial statements but in such case shall present this data also on the basis of any reconciliations of such data
to United States generally accepted accounting principles and Regulation S-X made pursuant to Rule 4-01 of
Regulation S-X (§210.4-01 of this chapter).

7.

For purposes of this rule, the rate of exchange means the noon buying rate in New York City for cable transfers
in foreign currencies as certified for customs purposes by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York. The average
rate means the average of the exchange rates on the last day of each month during a year.

Supplementary Financial Information
Reg. §229.302. Item 302.
(a)

Selected quarterly financial data. Registrants specified in paragraph (a)(5) of this Item shall provide the information specified
below.
(1)

Disclosure shall be made of net sales, gross profit (net sales less cost and expenses associated directly with or allocated
to products sold or services rendered), income (loss) before extraordinary items and cumulative effect of a change in
accounting, per share data based upon such income (loss), and net income (loss), for each full quarter within the two most
recent fiscal years and any subsequent interim period for which financial statements are included or are required to be
included by Article 3 of Regulation S-X [17 CFR 210].

(2)

When the data supplied pursuant to this paragraph (a) vary from the amounts previously reported on the Form 10-Q
(§249.308a of this chapter) filed for any quarter, such as would be the case when a pooling of interests occurs or where
an error is corrected, reconcile the amounts given with those previously reported and describe the reason for the difference.

(3)

Describe the effect of any disposals of segments of a business, and extraordinary, unusual or infrequently occurring items
recognized in each full quarter within the two most recent fiscal years and any subsequent interim period for which financial
statements are included or are required to be included by Article 3 of Regulation S-X, as well as the aggregate effect and
the nature of year-end or other adjustments which are material to the results of that quarter.

(4)

If the financial statements to which this information relates have been reported on by an accountant, appropriate
professional standards and procedures, as enumerated in the Statements of Auditing Standards issued by the Auditing
Standards Board of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, shall be followed by the reporting accountant
with regard to the data required by this paragraph (a).

(5)

This paragraph (a) applies to any registrant, except a foreign private issuer that meets both of the following tests:
(i)

First test. The registrant:
(A) Has securities registered pursuant to section 12(b) of the Exchange Act (other than mutual life insurance
companies); or
(B) is an insurance company that is subject to the reporting requirements of section 15(d) of the Exchange Act and
has securities which also meet the criteria set forth in paragraphs (a)(5)(i)(C)(1) and (C)(2) immediately
following; or
(C) Has securities registered pursuant to section 12(g) of the Exchange Act which also
(1) Are quoted on the National Association of Securities Dealers Automated Quotation System,
and
(2) Meet the following criteria:
(i)

Three or more dealers stand willing to, and do in fact, make a market in such stock, including
making regularly published bona fide bids and offers for such stock for their own accounts;
or the stock is registered on a securities exchange that is exempted by the Commission from
registration as a national securities exchange pursuant to section 5 of the Exchange Act;
for purposes of this paragraph, the insertion of quotations into the National Association
of Securities Dealers Automated Quotation System by three or more dealers on at least 10
business days during the six month period immediately preceding the fiscal year for which
the financial statements are required shall satisfy the requirement that three dealers be
making a market;
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(ii) There continue to be 800 or more holders of record, as defined in Rule 12g5-1 (§240.12g5-1
of this chapter), under the Exchange Act, of the stock who are not officers, directors, or
beneficial owners of 10 percent or more of the stock;
(iii) The registrant continues to be a United States corporation;
(iv) There are 300,000 or more of such securities outstanding in addition to shares held
beneficially by officers, directors, or beneficial owners of more than 10 percent of the stock;
and
(v) In addition, the registrant shall meet two of the three following requirements;
(A) The shares described in paragraph (5)(i)(C)(2)(iv) of this Item continue to have a
market value of at least $2.5 million;
(B) The minimum representative bid price of such stock is at least $5 per share; or
(C) The registrant continues to have at least $2.5 million of capital, surplus, and undivided
profits.
Instructions to Paragraph (a)(5)(i)(C)(2)(v).
1.

The computation required by paragraphs (v)(A) and (v)(B) shall be based on
the average of the closing representative bid prices as reported by the National
Association of Securities Dealers Automated Quotation System in accordance
with Rule 11Ac1-2 under the Exchange Act (§240.11Ac1-2 of this chapter) for
the 20 business days immediately preceding the fiscal year for which the
financial statements are required.

2.

The computation required by paragraph (v)(C) shall be as at the last business
day of the fiscal year immediately preceding the fiscal year for which the
financial statements are required.
(ii)

(b)

Second test. The registrant and its consolidated subsidiaries (A) have had
a net income after taxes but before extraordinary items and the cumulative
effect of a change in accounting of at least $250,000 for each of the last
three fiscal years; or (B) had total assets of at least $200,000,000 for the last
fiscal year-end.

Information about oil and gas producing activities. Registrants engaged in oil and gas producing activities shall present the
information about oil and gas producing activities (as those activities are defined in Regulation S-X, §210.4-10(a)) specified
in paragraphs 9-34 of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 69, “Disclosures about Oil and Gas Producing
Activities,” if such oil and gas producing activities are regarded as significant under one or more of the tests set forth in
paragraph 8 of SFAS No. 69.
Instructions to Paragraph (b).
1.

(a) SFAS No. 69 disclosures that relate to annual periods shall be presented for each annual period for which an
income statement is required, (b) SFAS No. 69 disclosures required as of the end of an annual period shall be
presented as of the date of each audited balance sheet required, and (c) SFAS No. 69 disclosures required as of the
beginning of an annual period shall be presented as of the beginning of each annual period for which an income
statement is required.

2.

This paragraph, together with §210.4-10 of Regulation S-X, prescribes financial reporting standards for the
preparation of accounts by persons engaged, in whole or in part, in the production of crude oil or natural gas in the
United States, pursuant to Section 503 of the Energy Policy and Conservation Act of 1975 [42 U.S.C. 6383] (“EPCA”)
and Section 11(c) of the Energy Supply and Environmental Coordination Act of 1974 [15 U.S.C. 796] (“ESECA”) as
amended by Section 506 of EPCA. The application of this paragraph to those oil and gas producing operations of
companies regulated for ratemaking purposes on an individual-company-cost-of-service basis may, however, give
appropriate recognition to differences arising because of the effect of the ratemaking process.

3.

Any person exempted by the Department of Energy from any recordkeeping or reporting requirements pursuant to
Section 11(c) of ESECA, as amended, is similarly exempted from the related provisions of this paragraph in the
preparation of accounts pursuant to EPCA. This exemption does not affect the applicability of this paragraph to
filings pursuant to the federal securities laws.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
Reg. §229.303. Item 303.
(a)

Full fiscal years. Discuss registrant’s financial condition, changes in financial condition and results of operations. The
discussion shall provide information as specified in paragraphs (a)(1) through (5)of this Item and also shall provide such other
information that the registrant believes to be necessary to an understanding of its financial condition, changes in financial
condition and results of operations. Discussions of liquidity and capital resources may be combined whenever the two topics
are interrelated. Where in the registrant’s judgment a discussion of segment information or of other subdivisions of the
registrant’s business would be appropriate to an understanding of such business, the discussion shall focus on each relevant,
reportable segment or other subdivision of the business and on the registrant as a whole.
(1)

Liquidity. Identify any known trends or any known demands, commitments, events or uncertainties that will result in or
that are reasonably likely to result in the registrant’s liquidity increasing or decreasing in any material way. If a material
deficiency is identified, indicate the course of action that the registrant has taken or proposes to take to remedy the
deficiency. Also identify and separately describe internal and external sources of liquidity, and briefly discuss any material
unused sources of liquid assets.

(2)

Capital resources.

(3)

(i)

Describe the registrant’s material commitments for capital expenditures as of the end of the latest fiscal period, and
indicate the general purpose of such commitments and the anticipated source of funds needed to fulfill such
commitments.

(ii)

Describe any known material trends, favorable or unfavorable, in the registrant’s capital resources. Indicate any
expected material changes in the mix and relative cost of such resources. The discussion shall consider changes
between equity, debt and any off-balance sheet financing arrangements.

Results of operations.
(i)

Describe any unusual or infrequent events or transactions or any significant economic changes that materially
affected the amount of reported income from continuing operations and, in each case, indicate the extent to which
income was so affected. In addition, describe any other significant components of revenues or expenses that,
in the registrant’s judgment, should be described in order to understand the registrant’s results of operations.

(ii)

Describe any known trends or uncertainties that have had or that the registrant reasonably expects will have
a material favorable or unfavorable impact on net sales or revenues or income from continuing operations. If
the registrant knows of events that will cause a material change in the relationship between costs and revenues
(such as known future increases in costs of labor or materials or price increases or inventory adjustments), the
change in the relationship shall be disclosed.

(iii) To the extent that the financial statements disclose material increases in net sales or revenues, provide a narrative
discussion of the extent to which such increases are attributable to increases in prices or to increases in the
volume or amount of goods or services being sold or to the introduction of new products or services.
(iv) For the three most recent fiscal years of the registrant, or for those fiscal years in which the registrant has been
engaged in business, whichever period is shortest, discuss the impact of inflation and changing prices on the
registrant’s net sales and revenues and on income from continuing operations.
(4) Off-balance sheet arrangements. (i) In a separately-captioned section, discuss the registrant’s off-balance sheet arrangements that have or are reasonably likely to have a current or future effect on the registrant’s financial condition, changes in
financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources that is
material to investors. The disclosure shall include the items specified in paragraphs (a)(4)(i)(A), (B), (C) and (D) of this Item to
the extent necessary to an understanding of such arrangements and effect and shall also include such other information that
the registrant believes is necessary for such an understanding.
(A) The nature and business purpose to the registrant of such off-balance sheet arrangements;
(B) The importance to the registrant of such off-balance sheet arrangements in respect of its liquidity, capital re
sources, market risk support, credit risk support or other benefits;
(C) The amounts of revenues, expenses and cash flows of the registrant arising from such arrangements; the nature
and amounts of any interests retained, securities issued and other indebtedness incurred by the registrant in
connection with such arrangements; and the nature and amounts of any other obligations or liabilities (including
contingent obligations or liabilities) of the registrant arising from such arrangements that are or are reasonably
likely to become material and the triggering events or circumstances that could cause them to arise; and
(D) Any known event, demand, commitment, trend or uncertainty that will result in or is reasonably likely to result in
the termination, or material reduction in availability to the registrant, of its off-balance sheet arrangements that
provide material benefits to it, and the course of action that the registrant has taken or proposes to take in
response to any such circumstances.
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(ii) As used in this paragraph (a)(4), the term off-balance sheet arrangement means any transaction, agreement
or other contractual arrangement to which an entity unconsolidated with the registrant is a party, under which
the registrant has:
(A) Any obligation under a guarantee contract that has any of the characteristics identified in paragraph 3 of FASB
Interpretation No. 45, Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guaran
tees of Indebtedness of Others (November 2002) (“FIN 45”), as may be modified or supplemented, and that is not
excluded from the initial recognition and measurement provisions of FIN 45 pursuant to paragraphs 6 or 7 of that
Interpretation;
(B) A retained or contingent interest in assets transferred to an unconsolidated entity or similar arrangement that
serves as credit, liquidity or market risk support to such entity for such assets;
(C) Any obligation, including a contingent obligation, under a contract that would be accounted for as a derivative
instrument, except that it is both indexed to the registrant’s own stock and classified in stockholders’ equity in the
registrant’s statement of financial position, and therefore excluded from the scope of FASB Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities (June 1998), pursuant
to paragraph 11(a) of that Statement, as may be modified or supplemented; or
(D) Any obligation, including a contingent obligation, arising out of a variable interest (as referenced in FASB Inter
pretation No. 46, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities (January 2003), as may be modified or supplemented) in an
unconsolidated entity that is held by, and material to, the registrant, where such entity provides financing, liquidity,
market risk or credit risk support to, or engages in leasing, hedging or research and development services with, the
registrant.
(5) Tabular disclosure of contractual obligations. (i) In a tabular format, provide the information specified in this paragraph
(a)(5) as of the latest fiscal year end balance sheet date with respect to the registrant’s known contractual obligations specified
in the table that follows this paragraph (a)(5)(i). The registrant shall provide amounts, aggregated by type of contractual
obligation. The registrant may disaggregate the specified categories of contractual obligations using other categories suitable
to its business, but the presentation must include all of the obligations of the registrant that fall within the specified categories.
A presentation covering at least the periods specified shall be included. The tabular presentation may be accompanied by
footnotes to describe provisions that create, increase or accelerate obligations, or other pertinent data to the extent necessary
for an understanding of the timing and amount of the registrant’s specified contractual obligations.

Contractual Obligations
Payments due by period
Total Less than 1 year 1-3 years
3-5 years
[Long-Term Debt Obligations]
[Capital Lease Obligations]
[Operating Lease Obligations]
[Purchase Obligations]
[Other Long-Term Liabilities Reflected on the Registrant’s Balance Sheet under GAAP]
Total

More than 5 years

(ii) Definitions: The following definitions apply to this paragraph (a)(5):
(A) Long-Term Debt Obligation means a payment obligation under long-term borrowings referenced in FASB Statement
of Financial Accounting Standards No. 47 Disclosure of Long-Term Obligations (March 1981), as may be modified or
supplemented.
(B) Capital Lease Obligation means a payment obligation under a lease classified as a capital lease pursuant to FASB
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 13 Accounting for Leases (November 1976), as may be modified or
supplemented.
(C) Operating Lease Obligation means a payment obligation under a lease classified as an operating lease and dis
closed pursuant to FASB Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 13 Accounting for Leases (November
1976), as may be modified or supplemented.
(D) Purchase Obligation means an agreement to purchase goods or services that is enforceable and legally binding on
the registrant that specifies all significant terms, including: fixed or minimum quantities to be purchased; fixed, minimum
or variable price provisions; and the approximate timing of the transaction.
Instructions to Paragraph 303(a).

24

1.

The registrant’s discussion and analysis shall be of the financial statements and of other statistical data
that the registrant believes will enhance a reader’s understanding of its financial condition, changes in
financial condition and results of operations. Generally, the discussion shall cover the three year period
covered by the financial statements and shall use year-to-year comparisons or any other formats that in
the registrant’s judgment enhance a reader’s understanding. However, where trend information is relevant
reference to the five year selected financial data appearing pursuant to Item 301 of Regulation S-K (§229.301)
may be necessary.

2.

The purpose of the discussion and analysis shall be to provide to investors and other users information
relevant to an assessment of the financial condition and results of operations of the registrant as determined
by evaluating the amounts and certainty of cash flows from operations and from outside sources.

3.

The discussion and analysis shall focus specifically on material events and uncertainties known to
management that would cause reported financial information not to be necessarily indicative of future
operating results or of future financial condition. This would include descriptions and amounts of
(A) matters that would have an impact on future operations and have not had an impact in the past, and
(B) matters that have had an impact on reported operations and are not expected to have an impact upon
future operations.

4.

Where the consolidated financial statements reveal material changes from year to year in one or more line
items, the causes for the changes shall be described to the extent necessary to an understanding of the
registrant’s businesses as a whole; Provided, however, That if the causes for a change in one line item also
relate to other line items, no repetition is required and a line-by-line analysis of the financial statements as
a whole is not required or generally appropriate. Registrants need not recite the amounts of changes from
year to year which are readily computable from the financial statements. The discussion shall not merely
repeat numerical data contained in the consolidated financial statements.

5.

The term “liquidity” as used in this Item refers to the ability of an enterprise to generate adequate amounts
of cash to meet the enterprise’s needs for cash. Except where it is otherwise clear from the discussion, the
registrant shall indicate those balance sheet conditions or income or cash flow items which the registrant
believes may be indicators of its liquidity condition. Liquidity generally shall be discussed on both a longterm and short-term basis. The issue of liquidity shall be discussed in the context of the registrant’s own
business or businesses. For example a discussion of working capital may be appropriate for certain
manufacturing, industrial or related operations but might be inappropriate for a bank or public utility.

6.

Where financial statements presented or incorporated by reference in the registration statement are
required by §210.4-08(e)(3) of Regulation S-X [17 CFR Part 210] to include disclosure of restrictions on the
ability of both consolidated and unconsolidated subsidiaries to transfer funds to the registrant in the form
of cash dividends, loans or advances, the discussion of liquidity shall include a discussion of the nature
and extent of such restrictions and the impact such restrictions have had and are expected to have on the
ability of the parent company to meet its cash obligations.

7.

Any forward-looking information supplied is expressly covered by the safe harbor rule for projections. See
Rule 175 under the Securities Act [17 CFR 230.175], Rule 3b-6 under the Exchange Act [17 CFR 240.3b-6]
and Securities Act Release No. 6084 (June 25, 1979) (44 FR 33810).

8.

Registrants are only required to discuss the effects of inflation and other changes in prices when considered
material. This discussion may be made in whatever manner appears appropriate under the circumstances.
All that is required is a brief textual presentation of management’s views. No specific numerical financial
data need be presented except as Rule 3-20(c) of Regulation S-X (§210.3-20(c) of this chapter) otherwise
requires. However, registrants may elect to voluntarily disclose supplemental information on the effects
of changing prices as provided for in Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 89, “Financial
Reporting and Changing Prices” or through other supplemental disclosures. The Commission encourages
experimentation with these disclosures in order to provide the most meaningful presentation of the impact
of price changes on the registrant’s financial statements.

9.

Registrants that elect to disclose supplementary information on the effects of changing prices as specified
by SFAS No. 89, “Financial Reporting and Changing Prices,” may combine such explanations with the
discussion and analysis required pursuant to this Item or may supply such information separately with
appropriate cross reference.

10.

All references to the registrant in the discussion and in this Item shall mean the registrant and its subsidiaries
consolidated.

11.

Foreign private registrants also shall discuss briefly any pertinent governmental economic, fiscal, monetary, or political policies or factors that have materially affected or could materially affect, directly or
indirectly, their operations or investments by United States nationals.

25

12.

If the registrant is a foreign private issuer, the discussion shall focus on the primary financial statements
presented in the registration statement or report. There shall be a reference to the reconciliation to United
States generally accepted accounting principles, and a discussion of any aspects of the difference between
foreign and United States generally accepted accounting principles, not discussed in the reconciliation,
that the registrant believes is necessary for an understanding of the financial statements as a whole.

Instructions to Paragraph 303(a)(4):
1. No obligation to make disclosure under paragraph (a)(4) of this Item shall arise in respect of an off-balance sheet
arrangement until a definitive agreement that is unconditionally binding or subject only to customary closing condi
tions exists or, if there is no such agreement, when settlement of the transaction occurs.
2. Registrants should aggregate off-balance sheet arrangements in groups or categories that provide material informa
tion in an efficient and understandable manner and should avoid repetition and disclosure of immaterial information.
Effects that are common or similar with respect to a number of off-balance sheet arrangements must be analyzed in the
aggregate to the extent the aggregation increases understanding. Distinctions in arrangements and their effects must
be discussed to the extent the information is material, but the discussion should avoid repetition and disclosure of
immaterial information.
3. For purposes of paragraph (a)(4) of this Item only, contingent liabilities arising out of litigation, arbitration or
regulatory actions are not considered to be off-balance sheet arrangements.
4. Generally, the disclosure required by paragraph (a)(4) shall cover the most recent fiscal year. However, the discus
sion should address changes from the previous year where such discussion is necessary to an understanding of the
disclosure.
5. In satisfying the requirements of paragraph (a)(4) of this Item, the discussion of off-balance sheet arrangements need
not repeat information provided in the footnotes to the financial statements, provided that such discussion clearly
cross-references to specific information in the relevant footnotes and integrates the substance of the footnotes into
such discussion in a manner designed to inform readers of the significance of the information that is not included
within the body of such discussion.
(b)

Interim periods. If interim period financial statements are included or are required to be included by Article 3 of Regulation SX 17 CFR 210), a management’s discussion and analysis of the financial condition and results of operations shall be provided
so as to enable the reader to assess material changes in financial condition and results of operations between the periods
specified in paragraphs (b)(1) and (2) of this Item. The discussion and analysis shall include a discussion of material changes
in those items specifically listed in paragraph (a) of this Item, except that the impact of inflation and changing prices on
operations for interim periods need not be addressed.
(1)

Material changes in financial condition. Discuss any material changes in financial condition from the end of the
preceding fiscal year to the date of the most recent interim balance sheet provided. If the interim financial statements
include an interim balance sheet as of the corresponding interim date of the preceding fiscal year, any material changes
in financial condition from that date to the date of the most recent interim balance sheet provided also shall be discussed.
If discussions of changes from both the end and the corresponding interim date of the preceding fiscal year are required,
the discussions may be combined at the discretion of the registrant.

(2)

Material changes in results of operations. Discuss any material changes in the registrant’s results of operations with
respect to the most recent fiscal year-to-date period for which an income statement is provided and the corresponding
year-to-date period of the preceding fiscal year. If the registrant is required to or has elected to provide an income statement
for the most recent fiscal quarter, such discussion also shall cover material changes with respect to that fiscal quarter and
the corresponding fiscal quarter in the preceding fiscal year. In addition, if the registrant has elected to provide an income
statement for the twelve-month period ended as of the date of the most recent interim balance sheet provided, the
discussion also shall cover material changes with respect to that twelve-month and the twelve-month period ended as
of the corresponding interim balance sheet date of the preceding fiscal year. Notwithstanding the above, if for purposes
of a registration statement a registrant subject to paragraph (b) of §210.3-03 of Regulation S-X provides a statement of
income for the twelve-month period ended as of the date of the most recent interim balance sheet provided in lieu of the
interim income statements otherwise required, the discussion of material changes in that twelve-month period will be in
respect to the preceding fiscal year rather than the corresponding preceding period.

Instructions to Paragraph (b) of Item 303.
1.

If interim financial statements are presented together with financial statements for full fiscal years, the
discussion of the interim financial information shall be prepared pursuant to this paragraph (b) and the
discussion of the full fiscal year’s information shall be prepared pursuant to paragraph (a) of this Item. Such
discussions may be combined.

2.

In preparing the discussion and analysis required by this paragraph (b), the registrant may presume that
users of the interim financial information have read or have access to the discussion and analysis required
by paragraph (a) for the preceding fiscal year.
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3.

The discussion and analysis required by this paragraph (b) is required to focus only on material changes.
Where the interim financial statements reveal material changes from period to period in one or more
significant line items, the causes for the changes shall be described if they have not already been disclosed;
Provided, however, That if the causes for a change in one line item also relate to other line items, no repetition
is required. Registrants need not recite the amounts of changes from period to period which are readily
computable from the financial statements. The discussion shall not merely repeat numerical data contained
in the financial statements. The information provided shall include that which is available to the registrant
without undue effort or expense and which does not clearly appear in the registrant’s condensed interim
financial statements.

4.

The registrant’s discussion of material changes in results of operations shall identify any significant
elements of the registrant’s income or loss from continuing operations which do not arise from or are not
necessarily representative of the registrant’s ongoing business.

5.

The registrant shall discuss any seasonal aspects of its business which have had a material effect upon
its financial condition or results of operation.

6.

Any forward-looking information supplied is expressly covered by the safe harbor rule for projections. See
Rule 175 under the Securities Act (17 CFR 230.175), Rule 3b-6 under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 249.3b-6)
and Securities Act Release No. 6084 (June 25, 1979) (44 FR 38810).

7.

The registrant is not required to include the table required by paragraph (a)(5) of this Item for interim periods.
Instead, the registrant should disclose material changes outside the ordinary course of the registrant’s business in the specified contractual obligations during the interim period.

(c) Safe harbor. (1) The safe harbor provided in Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 (15 U.S.C. 77z-2) and Section 21E of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78u-5) (“statutory safe harbors”) shall apply to forward-looking information
provided pursuant to paragraphs (a)(4) and (5) of this Item, provided that the disclosure is made by: an issuer; a person acting
on behalf of the issuer; an outside reviewer retained by the issuer making a statement on behalf of the issuer; or an underwriter,
with respect to information provided by the issuer or information derived from information provided by the issuer.
(2) For purposes of paragraph (c) of this Item only:
(i) All information required by paragraphs (a)(4) and (5) of this Item is deemed to be a forward looking statement as that
term is defined in the statutory safe harbors, except for historical facts.
(ii) With respect to paragraph (a)(4) of this Item, the meaningful cautionary statements element of the statutory safe
harbors will be satisfied if a registrant satisfies all requirements of that same paragraph (a)(4) of this Item.

Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
Reg. §229.304. Item 304.
(a)

(1)

If during the registrant’s two most recent fiscal years or any subsequent interim period, an independent accountant who
was previously engaged as the principal accountant to audit the registrant’s financial statements, or an independent
accountant who was previously engaged to audit a significant subsidiary and on whom the principal accountant expressed
reliance in its report, has resigned (or indicated it has declined to stand for re-election after the completion of the current
audit) or was dismissed, then the registrant shall:
(i)

State whether the former accountant resigned, declined to stand for re-election or was dismissed and the date thereof.

(ii)

State whether the principal accountant’s report on the financial statement for either of the past two years contained
an adverse opinion or a disclaimer of opinion, or was qualified or modified as to uncertainty, audit scope, or
accounting principles; and also describe the nature of each such adverse opinion, disclaimer of opinion, modification, or qualification.
(iii) State whether the decision to change accountants was recommended or approved by:
(A) any audit or similar committee of the board of directors, if the issuer has such a committee; or
(B) the board of directors, if the issuer has no such committee.
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(iv) State whether during the registrant’s two most recent fiscal years and any subsequent interim period preceding such
resignation, declination or dismissal there were any disagreements with the former accountant on any matter of
accounting principles or practices, financial statement disclosure, or auditing scope of procedure, which
disagreement(s), if not resolved to the satisfaction of the former accountant, would have caused it to make reference
to the subject matter of the disagreement(s) in connection with its report. Also, (A) describe each such disagreement;
(B) state whether any audit or similar committee of the board of directors, or the board of directors, discussed the
subject matter of each of such disagreements with the former accountant; and (C) state whether the registrant has
authorized the former accountant to respond fully to the inquiries of the successor accountant concerning the
subject matter of each of such disagreements and, if not, describe the nature of any limitation thereon and the reason
therefore. The disagreements required to be reported in response to this Item include both those resolved to the
former accountant’s satisfaction and those not resolved to the former accountant’s satisfaction. Disagreements
contemplated by this Item are those that occur at the decision-making level, i.e., between personnel of the registrant
responsible for presentation of its financial statements and personnel of the accounting firm responsible for
rendering its report.
(v)

Provide the information required by paragraphs (a)(1)(iv) of this Item for each of the kinds of events (even though
the registrant and the former accountant did not express a difference of opinion regarding the event) listed in
paragraphs (a)(1)(v)(A) through (D) below, that occurred within the registrant’s two most recent fiscal years and
any subsequent interim period preceding the former accountant’s resignation, declination to stand for re-election,
or dismissal (“reportable events”). If the event led to a disagreement or difference of opinion, then the event should
be reported as a disagreement under paragraph (a)(1)(iv) and need not be repeated under this paragraph.
(A) The accountant’s having advised the registrant that the internal controls necessary for the registrant to
develop reliable financial statements do not exist;
(B) The accountant’s having advised the registrant that information has come to the accountant’s attention that
has led it to no longer be able to rely on management’s representations, or that has made it unwilling to be
associated with the financial statements prepared by management;
(C) (1) The accountant’s having advised the registrant of the need to expand significantly the scope of its audit,
or that information has come to the accountant’s attention during the time period covered by Item
304(a)(1)(iv), that if further investigated may (i) materially impact the fairness or reliability of either: a
previously issued audit report or the underlying financial statements; or the financial statements issued
or to be issued covering the fiscal period(s) subsequent to the date of the most recent financial statements
covered by an audit report (including information that may prevent it from rendering an unqualified audit
report on those financial statements), or (ii) cause it to be unwilling to rely on management’s representations or be associated with the registrant’s financial statements, and
(2) due to the accountant’s resignation (due to audit scope limitations or otherwise) or dismissal, or for any
other reason, the accountant did not so expand the scope of its audit or conduct such further
investigation; or
(D) (1) The accountant’s having advised the registrant that information has come to the accountant’s attention
that it has concluded materially impacts the fairness or reliability of either (i) a previously issued audit
report or the underlying financial statements, or (ii) the financial statements issued or to be issued
covering the fiscal period(s) subsequent to the date of the most recent financial statements covered by
an audit report (including information that, unless resolved to the accountant’s satisfaction, would
prevent it from rendering an unqualified audit report on those financial statements), and
(2) due to the accountant’s resignation, dismissal or declination to stand for re-election, or for any other
reason, the issue has not been resolved to the accountant’s satisfaction prior to its resignation, dismissal
or declination to stand for re-election.

(2)

If during the registrant’s two most recent fiscal years or any subsequent interim period, a new independent accountant
has been engaged as either the principal accountant to audit the registrant’s financial statements, or as an independent
accountant to audit a significant subsidiary and on whom the principal accountant is expected to express reliance in its
report, then the registrant shall identify the newly engaged accountant and indicate the date of such accountant’s
engagement. In addition, if during the registrant’s two most recent fiscal years, and any subsequent interim period prior
to engaging that accountant, the registrant (or someone on its behalf) consulted the newly engaged accountant regarding
(i)

(ii)

either: the application of accounting principles to a specified transaction, either completed or proposed; or the type
of audit opinion that might be rendered on the registrant’s financial statements, and either a written report was
provided to the registrant or oral advice was provided that the new accountant concluded was an important factor
considered by the registrant in reaching a decision as to the accounting, auditing or financial reporting issue; or
any matter that was either the subject of a disagreement (as defined in paragraph 304(a)(1)(iv) and the related
instructions to this item) or a reportable event (as described in paragraph 304(a)(1)(v)), then the registrant shall:
(A) so state and identify the issues that were the subjects of those consultations;
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(B) briefly describe the views of the newly engaged accountant as expressed orally or in writing to the registrant
on each such issue and, if written views were received by the registrant, file them as an exhibit to the report
or registration statement requiring compliance with this Item 304(a);
(C) state whether the former accountant was consulted by the registrant regarding any such issues, and if so,
provide a summary of the former accountant’s views; and
(D) request the newly engaged accountant to review the disclosure required by this Item 304(a) before it is filed
with the Commission and provide the new accountant the opportunity to furnish the registrant with a letter
addressed to the Commission containing any new information, clarification of the registrant’s expression of
its views, or the respects in which it does not agree with the statements made by the registrant in response
to Item 304(a). The registrant shall file any such letter as an exhibit to the report or registration statement
containing the disclosure required by this Item.
(3)

(b)

The registrant shall provide the former accountant with a copy of the disclosures it is making in response to this Item 304(a)
that the former accountant shall receive no later than the day that the disclosures are filed with the Commission. The
registrant shall request the former accountant to furnish the registrant with a letter addressed to the Commission stating
whether it agrees with the statements made by the registrant in response to this Item 304(a) and, if not, stating the respects
in which it does not agree. The registrant shall file the former accountant’s letter as an exhibit to the report or registration
statement containing this disclosure. If the former accountant’s letter is unavailable at the time of filing such report or
registration statement, then the registrant shall request the former accountant to provide the letter as promptly as possible
so that the registrant can file the letter with the Commission within ten business days after the filing of the report or
registration statement. Notwithstanding the ten business day period, the registrant shall file the letter by amendment
within two business days of receipt; if the letter is received on a Saturday, Sunday or holiday on which the Commission
is not open for business, then the two business day period shall begin to run on and shall include the first business day
thereafter. The former accountant may provide the registrant with an interim letter highlighting specific areas of concern
and indicating that a more detailed letter will be forthcoming within the ten business day period noted above. If not filed
with the report or registration statement containing the registrant’s disclosure under this Item 304(a), then the interim
letter, if any, shall be filed by the registrant by amendment within two business days of receipt.

If,
(1)

in connection with a change in accountants subject to paragraph (a) of this Item 304, there was any disagreement of the
type described in paragraph (a)(1)(iv) or any reportable event as described in paragraph (a)(1)(v) of this Item;

(2)

during the fiscal year in which the change in accountants took place or during the subsequent fiscal year, there have been
any transactions or events similar to those which involved such disagreement or reportable event and

(3)

such transactions or events were material and were accounted for or disclosed in a manner different from that which the
former accountants apparently would have concluded was required, the registrant shall state the existence and nature
of the disagreement or reportable event and also state the effect on the financial statements if the method had been followed
which the former accountants apparently would have concluded was required. These disclosures need not be made if the
method asserted by the former accountants ceases to be generally accepted because of authoritative standards or
interpretations subsequently issued.

Instructions to Item 304.
1.

The disclosure called for by paragraph (a) of this Item need not be provided if it has been previously reported
(as that term is defined in Rule 12b-2 under the Exchange Act (§240.12b-2 of this chapter); the disclosure called
for by paragraph (a) must be provided, however, notwithstanding prior disclosure, if required pursuant to Item
9 of Schedule 14A (§240.14a-101 of this chapter). The disclosure called for by paragraph (b) of this section must
be furnished, where required, notwithstanding any prior disclosure about accountant changes or disagreements.

2.

When disclosure is required by paragraph (a) of this section in an annual report to security holders pursuant to
Rule 14a-3 (§240.14a-3 of this chapter) or Rule 14c-3 (§240.14c-3 of this chapter), or in a proxy or information
statement filed pursuant to the requirements of Schedule 14A or 14C (§240.14a-101 or §240.14c-101 of this
chapter), in lieu of a letter pursuant to paragraph (a)(2)(D) or (a)(3), prior to filing such materials with or furnishing
such materials to the Commission, the registrant shall furnish the disclosure required by paragraph (a) of this
section to any former accountant engaged by the registrant during the period set forth in paragraph (a) of this
section and to the newly engaged accountant. If any such accountant believes that the statements made in
response to paragraph (a) of this section are incorrect or incomplete, it may present its views in a brief statement,
ordinarily expected not to exceed 200 words, to be included in the annual report or proxy or information statement.
This statement shall be submitted to the registrant within ten business days of the date the accountant receives
the registrant’s disclosure. Further, unless the written views of the newly engaged accountant required to be filed
as an exhibit by paragraph (a)(2)(B) of this Item 304 have been previously filed with the Commission the registrant
shall file a Form 8-K concurrently with the annual report or proxy or information statement for the purpose of filing
the written views as exhibits thereto.
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3.

The information required by Item 304(a) need not be provided for a company being acquired by the registrant
that is not subject to the filing requirements of either section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, or, because of
section 12(i) of the Exchange Act, has not furnished an annual report to security holders pursuant to Rule l4a3 or Rule 14c-3 for its latest fiscal year.

4.

The term “disagreements” as used in this Item shall be interpreted broadly, to include any difference of opinion
concerning any matter of accounting principles or practices, financial statements disclosure, or auditing scope
or procedure which (if not resolved to the satisfaction of the former accountant) would have caused it to make
reference to the subject matter of the disagreement in connection with its report. It is not necessary for there to
have been an argument to have had a disagreement, merely a difference of opinion. For purposes of this Item,
however, the term disagreements does not include initial differences of opinion based on incomplete facts or
preliminary information that were later resolved to the former accountant’s satisfaction by, and providing the
registrant and the accountant do not continue to have a difference of opinion upon, obtaining additional relevant
facts or information.

5.

In determining whether any disagreement or reportable event has occurred, an oral communication from the
engagement partner or another person responsible for rendering the accounting firm’s opinion (or their designee)
will generally suffice as the accountant advising the registrant of a reportable event or as a statement of a
disagreement at the “decision-making level” within the accounting firm and require disclosure under this Item.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.
Reg. §229.305. (Item 305).
(a)

Quantitative information about market risk.
(1)

Registrants shall provide, in their reporting currency, quantitative information about market risk as of the end of the latest
fiscal year, in accordance with one of the following three disclosure alternatives. In preparing this quantitative
information, registrants shall categorize market risk sensitive instruments into instruments entered into for trading
purposes and instruments entered into for purposes other than trading purposes. Within both the trading and other than
trading portfolios, separate quantitative information shall be presented, to the extent material, for each market risk exposure
category (i.e., interest rate risk, foreign currency exchange rate risk, commodity price risk, and other relevant market risks,
such as equity price risk). A registrant may use one of the three alternatives set forth below for all of the required
quantitative disclosures about market risk. A registrant also may choose, from among the three alternatives, one
disclosure alternative for market risk sensitive instruments entered into for trading purposes and another disclosure
alternative for market risk sensitive instruments entered into for other than trading purposes. Alternatively, a registrant
may choose any disclosure alternative, from among the three alternatives, for each risk exposure category within the
trading and other than trading portfolios. The three disclosure alternatives are:
(i)

(A) (1) Tabular presentation of information related to market risk sensitive instruments; such information shall
include fair values of the market risk sensitive instruments and contract terms sufficient to determine future
cash flows from those instruments, categorized by expected maturity dates.
(2)

Tabular information relating to contract terms shall allow readers of the table to determine
expected cash flows from the market risk sensitive instruments for each of the next five years.
Comparable tabular information for any remaining years shall be displayed as an aggregate
amount.

(3)

Within each risk exposure category, the market risk sensitive instruments shall be grouped
based on common characteristics. Within the foreign currency exchange rate risk category, the
market risk sensitive instruments shall be grouped by functional currency and within the
commodity price risk category, the market risk sensitive instruments shall be grouped by type
of commodity.

(4)

See the Appendix to this Item for a suggested format for presentation of this information; and

(B) Registrants shall provide a description of the contents of the table and any related assumptions necessary to
understand the disclosures required under paragraph (a)(1)(i)(A) of this Item 305; or
(ii)

(A) Sensitivity analysis disclosures that express the potential loss in future earnings, fair values, or cash flows
of market risk sensitive instruments resulting from one or more selected hypothetical changes in interest rates,
foreign currency exchange rates, commodity prices, and other relevant market rates or prices over a selected
period of time. The magnitude of selected hypothetical changes in rates or prices may differ among and within
market risk exposure categories; and
(B) Registrants shall provide a description of the model, assumptions, and parameters, which are necessary to
understand the disclosures required under paragraph (a)(1)(ii)(A) of this Item 305; or
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(iii) (A) Value at risk disclosures that express the potential loss in future earnings, fair values, or cash flows of market
risk sensitive instruments over a selected period of time, with a selected likelihood of occurrence, from changes
in interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates, commodity prices, and other relevant market rates or prices;
(B) (1)

For each category for which value at risk disclosures are required under paragraph (a)(1)(iii)(A) of this
Item 305, provide either:
(i)

The average, high and low amounts, or the distribution of the value at risk amounts for the
reporting period; or

(ii)

The average, high and low amounts, or the distribution of actual changes in fair values,
earnings, or cash flows from the market risk sensitive instruments occurring during the
reporting period; or

(iii) The percentage or number of times the actual changes in fair values, earnings, or cash flows
from the market risk sensitive instruments exceeded the value at risk amounts during the
reporting period;
(2)

Information required under paragraph (a)(1)(iii)(B)(1) of this Item 305 is not required for the first
fiscal year end in which a registrant must present Item 305 information; and

(C) Registrants shall provide a description of the model, assumptions, and parameters, which are necessary to
understand the disclosures required under paragraphs (a)(1)(iii)(A) and (B) of this Item 305.
(2)

Registrants shall discuss material limitations that cause the information required under paragraph (a)(1) of this Item 305
not to reflect fully the net market risk exposures of the entity. This discussion shall include summarized descriptions of
instruments, positions, and transactions omitted from the quantitative market risk disclosure information or the features
of instruments, positions, and transactions that are included, but not reflected fully in the quantitative market risk
disclosure information.
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(3)

Registrants shall present summarized market risk information for the preceding fiscal year. In addition, registrants shall
discuss the reasons for material quantitative changes in market risk exposures between the current and preceding fiscal
years. Information required by this paragraph (a)(3), however, is not required if disclosure is not required under paragraph
(a)(1) of this Item 305 for the current fiscal year. Information required by this paragraph (a)(3) is not required for the first
fiscal year end in which a registrant must present Item 305 information.

(4)

If registrants change disclosure alternatives or key model characteristics, assumptions, and parameters used in providing
quantitative information about market risk (e.g., changing from tabular presentation to value at risk, changing the scope
of instruments included in the model, or changing the definition of loss from fair values to earnings), and if the effects
of any such change is material, the registrant shall:
(i)

Explain the reasons for the change; and

(ii)

Either provide summarized comparable information, under the new disclosure method, for the year preceding the
current year or, in addition to providing disclosure for the current year under the new method, provide disclosures
for the current year and preceding fiscal year under the method used in the preceding year.

Instructions to Paragraph 305(a).
1.

2.

Under paragraph 305(a)(1):
A.

For each market risk exposure category within the trading and other than trading portfolios, registrants may report
the average, high, and low sensitivity analysis or value at risk amounts for the reporting period, as an alternative
to reporting year-end amounts.

B.

In determining the average, high, and low amounts for the fiscal year under instruction 1.A. of the Instructions to
Paragraph 305(a), registrants should use sensitivity analysis or value at risk amounts relating to at least four equal
time periods throughout the reporting period (e.g., four quarter-end amounts, 12 month-end amounts, or 52 week-end
amounts).

C.

Functional currency means functional currency as defined by generally accepted accounting principles (see, e.g.,
FASB, Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 52, “Foreign Currency Translation”, (“FAS 52”) paragraph
20 (December 1981)).

D.

Registrants using the sensitivity analysis and value at risk disclosure alternatives are encouraged, but not required,
to provide quantitative amounts that reflect the aggregate market risk inherent in the trading and other than trading
portfolios.

Under paragraph 305(a)(1)(i):
A.

B.

Examples of contract terms sufficient to determine future cash flows from market risk sensitive instruments include,
but are not limited to:
i.

Debt instruments - principal amounts and weighted average effective interest rates;

ii.

Forwards and futures - contract amounts and weighted average settlement prices;

iii.

Options - contract amounts and weighted average strike prices;

iv.

Swaps - notional amounts, weighted average pay rates or prices, and weighted average receive rates or prices;
and

v.

Complex instruments - likely to be a combination of the contract terms presented in 2.A.i. through iv. of this
Instruction;

When grouping based on common characteristics, instruments should be categorized, at a minimum, by the following
characteristics, when material:
i.

Fixed rate or variable rate assets or liabilities;

ii.

Long or short forwards and futures;

iii.

Written or purchased put or call options with similar strike prices;

iv.

Receive fixed and pay variable swaps, receive variable and pay fixed swaps, and receive variable and pay
variable swaps;

32

v.

The currency in which the instruments’ cash flows are denominated;

vi.

Financial instruments for which foreign currency transaction gains and losses are reported in the same manner
as translation adjustments under generally accepted accounting principles (see, e.g., FAS 52 paragraph 20
(December 1981)); and

vii. Derivatives used to manage risks inherent in anticipated transactions;

3.

C.

Registrants may aggregate information regarding functional currencies that are economically related, managed
together for internal risk management purposes, and have statistical correlations of greater than 75% over each of
the past three years;

D.

Market risk sensitive instruments that are exposed to rate or price changes in more than one market risk exposure
category should be presented within the tabular information for each of the risk exposure categories to which those
instruments are exposed;

E.

If a currency swap (see, e.g., FAS 52 Appendix E for a definition of currency swap) eliminates all foreign currency
exposures in the cash flows of a foreign currency denominated debt instrument, neither the currency swap nor the
foreign currency denominated debt instrument are required to be disclosed in the foreign currency risk exposure
category. However, both the currency swap and the foreign currency denominated debt instrument should be
disclosed in the interest rate risk exposure category; and

F.

The contents of the table and related assumptions that should be described include, but are not limited to:
i.

The different amounts reported in the table for various categories of the market risk sensitive instruments (e.g.,
principal amounts for debt, notional amounts for swaps, and contract amounts for options and futures);

ii.

The different types of reported market rates or prices (e.g., contractual rates or prices, spot rates or prices,
forward rates or prices); and

iii.

Key prepayment or reinvestment assumptions relating to the timing of reported amounts.

Under paragraph 305(a)(1)(ii):
A.

Registrants should select hypothetical changes in market rates or prices that are expected to reflect reasonably
possible near-term changes in those rates and prices. In this regard, absent economic justification for the selection
of a different amount, registrants should use changes that are not less than 10 percent of end of period market rates
or prices;

B.

For purposes of instruction 3.A. of the Instructions to Paragraph 305(a), the term reasonably possible has the same
meaning as defined by generally accepted accounting principles (see, e.g., FASB, Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 5, “Accounting for Contingencies,” (“FAS 5”) paragraph 3 (March 1975));

C.

For purposes of instruction 3.A. of the Instructions to Paragraph 305(a), the term near term means a period of time
going forward up to one year from the date of the financial statements (see generally AICPA, Statement of Position
94-6, “Disclosure of Certain Significant Risks and Uncertainties,” (“SOP 94-6”) at paragraph 7 (December 30, 1994));

D.

Market risk sensitive instruments that are exposed to rate or price changes in more than one market risk exposure
category should be included in the sensitivity analysis disclosures for each market risk category to which those
instruments are exposed;

E.

Registrants with multiple foreign currency exchange rate exposures should prepare foreign currency sensitivity
analysis disclosures that measure the aggregate sensitivity to changes in all foreign currency exchange rate
exposures, including the effects of changes in both transactional currency/functional currency exchange rate
exposures and functional currency/reporting currency exchange rate exposures. For example, assume a French
division of a registrant presenting its financial statements in U.S. dollars ($US) invests in a
deutschmark(DM)-denominated debt security. In these circumstances, the $US is the reporting currency and the
DM is the transactional currency. In addition, assume this division determines that the French franc (FF) is its
functional currency according to FAS 52. In preparing the foreign currency sensitivity analysis disclosures, this
registrant should report the aggregate potential loss from hypothetical changes in both the DM/FF exchange rate
exposure and the FF/$US exchange rate exposure; and
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F.

4.

5.

Model, assumptions, and parameters that should be described include, but are not limited to, how loss is defined
by the model (e.g., loss in earnings, fair values, or cash flows), a general description of the modeling technique (e.g.,
duration modeling, modeling that measures the change in net present values arising from selected hypothetical
changes in market rates or prices, and a description as to how optionality is addressed by the model), the types of
instruments covered by the model (e.g., derivative financial instruments, other financial instruments, derivative
commodity instruments, and whether other instruments are included voluntarily, such as certain commodity
instruments and positions, cash flows from anticipated transactions, and certain financial instruments excluded
under instruction 3.C.ii. of the General Instructions to Paragraphs 305(a) and 305(b)), and other relevant information
about the model’s assumptions and parameters, (e.g., the magnitude and timing of selected hypothetical changes
in market rates or prices used, the method by which discount rates are determined, and key prepayment or
reinvestment assumptions).

Under paragraph 305(a)(1)(iii):
A.

The confidence intervals selected should reflect reasonably possible near-term changes in market rates and prices.
In this regard, absent economic justification for the selection of different confidence intervals, registrants should
use intervals that are 95 percent or higher;

B.

For purposes of instruction 4.A. of the Instructions to Paragraph 305(a), the term reasonably possible has the same
meaning as defined by generally accepted accounting principles (see, e.g., FAS 5, paragraph 3 (March 1975));

C.

For purposes of instruction 4.A. of the Instructions to Paragraphs 305(a), the term near term means a period of time
going forward up to one year from the date of the financial statements (see generally SOP 94-6, at paragraph 7
(December 30, 1994));

D.

Registrants with multiple foreign currency exchange rate exposures should prepare foreign currency value at risk
analysis disclosures that measure the aggregate sensitivity to changes in all foreign currency exchange rate
exposures, including the aggregate effects of changes in both transactional currency/functional currency exchange
rate exposures and functional currency/reporting currency exchange rate exposures. For example, assume a French
division of a registrant presenting its financial statements in U.S. dollars ($US) invests in a
deutschmark(DM)-denominated debt security. In these circumstances, the $US is the reporting currency and the
DM is the transactional currency. In addition, assume this division determines that the French franc (FF) is its
functional currency according to FAS 52. In preparing the foreign currency value at risk disclosures, this registrant
should report the aggregate potential loss from hypothetical changes in both the DM/FF exchange rate exposure
and the FF/$US exchange rate exposure; and

E.

Model, assumptions, and parameters that should be described include, but are not limited to, how loss is defined
by the model (e.g., loss in earnings, fair values, or cash flows), the type of model used (e.g., variance/covariance,
historical simulation, or Monte Carlo simulation and a description as to how optionality is addressed by the model),
the types of instruments covered by the model (e.g., derivative financial instruments, other financial instruments,
derivative commodity instruments, and whether other instruments are included voluntarily, such as certain
commodity instruments and positions, cash flows from anticipated transactions, and certain financial instruments
excluded under instruction 3.C.ii. of the General Instructions to Paragraphs 305(a) and 305(b)), and other relevant
information about the model’s assumptions and parameters, (e.g., holding periods, confidence intervals, and, when
appropriate, the methods used for aggregating value at risk amounts across market risk exposure categories, such
as by assuming perfect positive correlation, independence, or actual observed correlation).

Under paragraph 305(a)(2), limitations that should be considered include, but are not limited to:
A.

The exclusion of certain market risk sensitive instruments, positions, and transactions from the disclosures required
under paragraph 305(a)(1) (e.g., derivative commodity instruments not permitted by contract or business custom
to be settled in cash or with another financial instrument, commodity positions, cash flows from anticipated
transactions, and certain financial instruments excluded under instruction 3.C.ii. of the General Instructions to
Paragraphs 305(a) and 305(b)). Failure to include such instruments, positions, and transactions in preparing the
disclosures under paragraph 305(a)(1) may be a limitation because the resulting disclosures may not fully reflect the
net market risk of a registrant; and

B.

The ability of disclosures required under paragraph 305(a)(1) to reflect fully the market risk that may be inherent in
instruments with leverage, option, or prepayment features (e.g., options, including written options, structured notes,
collateralized mortgage obligations, leveraged swaps, and options embedded in swaps).
[End of Instructions to Paragraph 305(a)]
(b)

Qualitative information about market risk.
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(1)

To the extent material, describe:
(i)

The registrant’s primary market risk exposures;

(ii)

How those exposures are managed. Such descriptions shall include, but not be limited to, a discussion of the
objectives, general strategies, and instruments, if any, used to manage those exposures; and

(iii) Changes in either the registrant’s primary market risk exposures or how those exposures are managed, when
compared to what was in effect during the most recently completed fiscal year and what is known or expected to be
in effect in future reporting periods.
(2)

Qualitative information about market risk shall be presented separately for market risk sensitive instruments entered into
for trading purposes and those entered into for purposes other than trading.

Instructions to Paragraph 305(b).
1.

For purposes of disclosure under paragraph 305(b), primary market risk exposures means:
A.

The following categories of market risk: interest rate risk, foreign currency exchange rate risk, commodity price risk,
and other relevant market rate or price risks (e.g., equity price risk); and

B.

Within each of these categories, the particular markets that present the primary risk of loss to the registrant. For
example, if a registrant has a material exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk and, within this category of
market risk, is most vulnerable to changes in dollar/yen, dollar/pound, and dollar/peso exchange rates, the registrant
should disclose those exposures. Similarly, if a registrant has a material exposure to interest rate risk and, within
this category of market risk, is most vulnerable to changes in short-term U.S. prime interest rates, it should disclose
the existence of that exposure.

2.

For purposes of disclosure under paragraph 305(b), registrants should describe primary market risk exposures that exist
as of the end of the latest fiscal year, and how those exposures are managed.
[End of Instructions to Paragraph 305(b)]

General Instructions to Paragraphs 305(a) and 305(b).
1.

The disclosures called for by paragraphs 305(a) and 305(b) are intended to clarify the registrant’s exposures to market risk
associated with activities in derivative financial instruments, other financial instruments, and derivative commodity instruments.

2.

In preparing the disclosures under paragraphs 305(a) and 305(b), registrants are required to include derivative financial
instruments, other financial instruments, and derivative commodity instruments.

3.

For purposes of paragraphs 305(a) and 305(b), derivative financial instruments, other financial instruments, and derivative
commodity instruments (collectively referred to as “market risk sensitive instruments”) are defined as follows:
A.

Derivative financial instruments has the same meaning as defined by generally accepted accounting principles (see, e.g.,
FASB, Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 119, “Disclosure about Derivative Financial Instruments and
Fair Value of Financial Instruments,” (“FAS 119”) paragraphs 5-7 (October 1994)), and includes futures, forwards, swaps,
options, and other financial instruments with similar characteristics;

B.

Other financial instruments means all financial instruments as defined by generally accepted accounting principles for
which fair value disclosures are required (see, e.g., FASB, Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 107,
“Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial Instruments,” (“FAS 107”) paragraphs 3 and 8 (December 1991)), except for
derivative financial instruments, as defined above;

C.

i.

Other financial instruments include, but are not limited to, trade accounts receivable, investments, loans, structured
notes, mortgage-backed securities, trade accounts payable, indexed debt instruments, interest-only and principal-only
obligations, deposits, and other debt obligations;

ii.

Other financial instruments exclude employers and plans obligations for pension and other post-retirement benefits,
substantively extinguished debt, insurance contracts, lease contracts, warranty obligations and rights, unconditional purchase obligations, investments accounted for under the equity method, minority interests in consolidated
enterprises, and equity instruments issued by the registrant and classified in stockholders’ equity in the statement
of financial position (see, e.g., FAS 107, paragraph 8 (December 1991)). For purposes of this item, trade accounts
receivable and trade accounts payable need not be considered other financial instruments when their carrying
amounts approximate fair value; and

D.

Derivative commodity instruments include, to the extent such instruments are not derivative financial instruments,
commodity futures, commodity forwards, commodity swaps, commodity options, and other commodity instruments with
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similar characteristics that are permitted by contract or business custom to be settled in cash or with another financial
instrument. For purposes of this paragraph, settlement in cash includes settlement in cash of the net change in value of
the derivative commodity instrument (e.g., net cash settlement based on changes in the price of the underlying
commodity).
4.

5.

6.

A.

In addition to providing required disclosures for the market risk sensitive instruments defined in instruction 2. of the
General Instructions to Paragraphs 305(a) and 305(b), registrants are encouraged to include other market risk sensitive
instruments, positions, and transactions within the disclosures required under paragraphs 305(a) and 305(b). Such
instruments, positions, and transactions might include commodity positions, derivative commodity instruments that are
not permitted by contract or business custom to be settled in cash or with another financial instrument, cash flows from
anticipated transactions, and certain financial instruments excluded under instruction 3.C.ii. of the General Instructions
to Paragraphs 305(a) and 305(b).

B.

Registrants that voluntarily include other market risk sensitive instruments, positions and transactions within their
quantitative disclosures about market risk under the sensitivity analysis or value at risk disclosure alternatives are not
required to provide separate market risk disclosures for any voluntarily selected instruments, positions, or transactions.
Instead, registrants selecting the sensitivity analysis and value at risk disclosure alternatives are permitted to present
comprehensive market risk disclosures, which reflect the combined market risk exposures inherent in both the required
and any voluntarily selected instruments, position, or transactions. Registrants that choose the tabular presentation
disclosure alternative should present voluntarily selected instruments, positions, or transactions in a manner consistent
with the requirements in Item 305(a) for market risk sensitive instruments.

C.

If a registrant elects to include voluntarily a particular type of instrument, position, or transaction in their quantitative
disclosures about market risk, that registrant should include all, rather than some, of those instruments, positions, or
transactions within those disclosures. For example, if a registrant holds in inventory a particular type of commodity
position and elects to include that commodity position within their market risk disclosures, the registrant should include
the entire commodity position, rather than only a portion thereof, in their quantitative disclosures about market risk.

A.

Under paragraphs 305(a) and 305(b), a materiality assessment should be made for each market risk exposure category within
the trading and other than trading portfolios.

B.

For purposes of making the materiality assessment under instruction 5.A. of the General Instructions to Paragraphs 305(a)
and 305(b), registrants should evaluate both:
i.

The materiality of the fair values of derivative financial instruments, other financial instruments, and derivative
commodity instruments outstanding as of the end of the latest fiscal year; and

ii.

The materiality of potential, near-term losses in future earnings, fair values, and/or cash flows from reasonably
possible near-term changes in market rates or prices.

iii.

If either paragraphs B.i. or B.ii. in this instruction of the General Instructions to Paragraphs 305(a) and 305(b) are
material, the registrant should disclose quantitative and qualitative information about market risk, if such market risk
for the particular market risk exposure category is material.

C.

For purposes of instruction 5.B.i. of the General Instructions to Paragraphs 305(a) and 305(b), registrants generally should
not net fair values, except to the extent allowed under generally accepted accounting principles (see, e.g., FASB
Interpretation No. 39, “Offsetting of Amounts Related to Certain Contracts” (March 1992)). For example, under this
instruction, the fair value of assets generally should not be netted with the fair value of liabilities.

D.

For purposes of instruction 5.B.ii. of the General Instructions to Paragraphs 305(a) and 305(b), registrants should consider,
among other things, the magnitude of:
i.
Past market movements;
ii.

Reasonably possible, near-term market movements; and

iii.

Potential losses that may arise from leverage, option, and multiplier features.

E.

For purposes of instructions 5.B.ii and 5.D.ii of the General Instructions to Paragraphs 305(a) and 305(b), the term near
term means a period of time going forward up to one year from the date of the financial statements (see generally SOP 94-6,
at paragraph 7 (December 30, 1994)).

F.

For the purpose of instructions 5.B.ii. and 5.D.ii. of the General Instructions to Paragraphs 305(a) and 305(b), the term
reasonably possible has the same meaning as defined by generally accepted accounting principles (see, e.g., FAS 5,
paragraph 3 (March 1975)).

For purposes of paragraphs 305(a) and 305(b), registrants should present the information outside of, and not incorporate the
information into, the financial statements (including the footnotes to the financial statements). In addition, registrants are
encouraged to provide the required information in one location. However, alternative presentation, such as inclusion of all
or part of the information in Management’s Discussion and Analysis, may be used at the discretion of the registrant. If
information is disclosed in more than one location, registrants should provide cross-references to the locations of the related
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disclosures.
7.

For purposes of the instructions to paragraphs 305(a) and 305(b), trading purposes has the same meaning as defined by generally
accepted accounting principles (see, e.g., FAS 119, paragraph 9a (October 1994)). In addition, anticipated transactions means
transactions (other than transactions involving existing assets or liabilities or transactions necessitated by existing firm
commitments) an enterprise expects, but is not obligated, to carry out in the normal course of business (see, e.g., FASB,
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 80, “Accounting for Futures Contracts,” paragraph 9, (August 1984)).
[End of General Instructions to Paragraph 305(a) and 305(b)]
(c)

Interim periods. If interim period financial statements are included or are required to be included by Article 3 of Regulation
S-X (17 CFR 210), discussion and analysis shall be provided so as to enable the reader to assess the sources and effects
of material changes in information that would be provided under Item 305 of Regulation S-K from the end of the preceding
fiscal year to the date of the most recent interim balance sheet.

Instructions to Paragraph 305(c).
1.

Information required under paragraph (c) of this Item 305 is not required until after the first fiscal year end in which this
Item 305 is applicable.

(d)

Safe Harbor.

(e)

(1)

The safe harbor provided in Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 (15 U.S.C. 77z-2) and Section 21E of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78u-5) (“statutory safe harbors”) shall apply, with respect to all types
of issuers and transactions, to information provided pursuant to paragraphs (a), (b), and (c) of this Item 305, provided
that the disclosure is made by: an issuer; a person acting on behalf of the issuer; an outside reviewer retained by
the issuer making a statement on behalf of the issuer; or an underwriter, with respect to information provided by
the issuer or information derived from information provided by the issuer.

(2)

For purposes of paragraph (d) of this Item 305 only:
(i)

All information required by paragraphs (a), (b)(1)(i), (b)(1)(iii), and (c) of this Item 305 is considered forward
looking statements for purposes of the statutory safe harbors, except for historical facts such as the terms of
particular contracts and the number of market risk sensitive instruments held during or at the end of the
reporting period; and

(ii)

With respect to paragraph (a) of this Item 305, the meaningful cautionary statements prong of the statutory
safe harbors will be satisfied if a registrant satisfies all requirements of that same paragraph (a) of this Item 305.

Small business issuers. Small business issuers, as defined in 230.405 of this chapter and 230.12b-2 of this chapter, need
not provide the information required by this Item 305, whether or not they file on forms specially designated as small
business issuer forms.

General Instructions to Paragraphs 305(a), 305(b), 305(c), 305(d), and 305(e).
1.

2.

Bank registrants, thrift registrants, and non-bank and non-thrift registrants with market capitalizations on January 28, 1997 in
excess of $2.5 billion should provide Item 305 disclosures in filings with the Commission that include annual financial statements
for fiscal years ending after June 15, 1997. Non-bank and non-thrift registrants with market capitalizations on January 28, 1997
of $2.5 billion or less should provide Item 305 disclosures in filings with the Commission that include financial statements for
fiscal years ending after June 15, 1998.
A. For purposes of instruction 1. of the General Instructions to Paragraphs 305(a), 305(b), 305(c), 305(d), and 305(e), bank
registrants and thrift registrants include any registrant which has control over a depository institution.
B.

C.

For purposes of instruction 2.A. of the General Instructions to Paragraphs 305(a), 305(b), 305(c), 305(d), and 305(e), a
registrant has control over a depository institution if:
i.

The registrant directly or indirectly or acting through one or more other persons owns, controls, or has power to
vote 25% or more of any class of voting securities of the depository institution;

ii.

The registrant controls in any manner the election of a majority of the directors or trustees of the depository
institution; or

iii.

The Federal Reserve Board or Office of Thrift Supervision determines, after notice and opportunity for hearing, that
the registrant directly or indirectly exercises a controlling influence over the management or policies of the
depository institution.

For purposes of instruction 2.B. of the General Instructions to Paragraphs 305(a), 305(b), 305(c), 305(d), and 305(e), a
depository institution means any of the following:
i.

An insured depository institution as defined in section 3(c)(2) of the Federal Deposit Insurance Act (12 U.S.C.A.
Sec. 1813 (c));
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ii.

An institution organized under the laws of the United States, any State of the United States, the District of Columbia,
any territory of the United States, Puerto Rico, Guam, American Somoa, or the Virgin Islands, which both accepts
demand deposits or deposits that the depositor may withdraw by check or similar means for payment to third parties
or others and is engaged in the business of making commercial loans.

D.

For purposes of instruction 1. of the General Instructions to Paragraphs 305(a), 305(b), 305(c), 305(d) and 305(e), market
capitalization is the aggregate market value of common equity as set forth in General Instruction I.B.1. of Form S-3; provided
however, that common equity held by affiliates is included in the calculation of market capitalization; and provided further
that instead of using the 60 day period prior to filing referenced in General Instruction I.B.1. of Form S-3, the measurement
date is January 28, 1997.
[End of General Instructions to Paragraphs 305(a), 305(b), 305(c), 305(d), and 305(e).]
Appendix to Item 305 — Tabular Disclosures
The tables set forth below are illustrative of the format that might be used when a registrant elects to present the information
required by paragraph (a)(1)(i)(A) of Item 305 regarding terms and information about derivative financial instruments, other financial
instruments, and derivative commodity instruments. These examples are for illustrative purposes only. Registrants are not required
to display the information in the specific format illustrated below. Alternative methods of display are permissible as long as the
disclosure requirements of the section are satisfied. Furthermore, these examples were designed primarily to illustrate possible
formats for presentation of the information required by the disclosure item and do not purport to illustrate the broad range of derivative
financial instruments, other financial instruments, and derivative commodity instruments utilized by registrants.
Interest Rate Sensitivity
The table below provides information about the Company’s derivative financial instruments and other financial instruments
that are sensitive to changes in interest rates, including interest rate swaps and debt obligations. For debt obligations, the table
presents principal cash flows and related weighted average interest rates by expected maturity dates. For interest rate swaps, the
table presents notional amounts and weighted average interest rates by expected (contractual) maturity dates. Notional amounts
are used to calculate the contractual payments to be exchanged under the contract. Weighted average variable rates are based on
implied forward rates in the yield curve at the reporting date. The information is presented in U.S. dollar equivalents, which is the
Company’s reporting currency. The instrument’s actual cash flows are denominated in both U.S. dollars ($US) and German
deutschmarks (DM), as indicated in parentheses.
December 31, 19x1

Expected Maturity Date

19x2
Liabilities
Long-term Debt
Fixed Rate ($US)
Average interest rate

19x3

There19x4
19x5
19x6
after
Total
(US$ Equivalent in millions)

Fair
Value

$XXX $XXX
$XXX $XXX $XXX $XXX $XXX $XXX
X.X% X.X%
X.X% X.X% X.X% X.X% X.X%

Fixed Rate (DM)
Average interest rate

XXX XXX
X.X% X.X%

XXX XXX XXX XXX XXX
X.X% X.X% X.X% X.X% X.X%

XXX

Variable Rate ($US)
Average interest rate

XXX XXX
X.X% X.X%

XXX XXX XXX XXX XXX XXX
X.X% X.X% X.X% X.X% X.X%

Expected Maturity Date
Interest Rate Derivatives
Interest Rate Swaps
Variable to Fixed ($US)
Average pay rate
Average receive rate
Fixed to Variable ($US)
Average pay rate
Average receive rate

19x2

19x3

19x4

19x5
19x6
(In millions)

Thereafter
Total

Fair
Value

$XXX $XXX $XXX $XXX $XXX $XXX $XXX $XXX
X.X% X.X%
X.X% X.X% X.X% X.X% X.X%
X.X% X.X%
X.X% X.X% X.X% X.X% X.X%
XXX XXX
X.X% X.X%
X.X% X.X%

XXX XXX XXX XXX XXX
XXX
X.X% X.X% X.X% X.X% X.X%
X.X% X.X% X.X% X.X% X.X%
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Exchange Rate Sensitivity
The table below provides information about the Company’s derivative financial instruments, other financial instruments, and
firmly committed sales transactions by functional currency and presents such information in U.S. dollar equivalents.1 The table
summarizes information on instruments and transactions that are sensitive to foreign currency exchange rates, including foreign
currency forward exchange agreements, deutschmark (DM)-denominated debt obligations, and firmly committed DM sales
transactions. For debt obligations, the table presents principal cash flows and related weighted average interest rates by expected
maturity dates. For firmly committed DM-sales transactions, sales amounts are presented by the expected transaction date, which
are not expected to exceed two years. For foreign currency forward exchange agreements, the table presents the notional amounts
and weighted average exchange rates by expected (contractual) maturity dates. These notional amounts generally are used to
calculate the contractual payments to be exchanged under the contract.
1

The information is presented in U.S. dollars because that is the registrant’s reporting currency.

December 31, 19x1
Expected Maturity Date
19x2

19x3

19x4

19x5

Thereafter
Total

19x6

Fair
Value

On-Balance Sheet Financial Instruments
(US$ Equivalent in millions)
$US Functional Currency2
Liabilities
Long-Term Debt
Fixed Rate (DM)
Average interest rate

$XXX
X.X

$XXX $XXX $XXX $XXX $XXX $XXX $XXX
X.X

X.X

X.X

X.X

X.X

X.X

Expected Maturity or Transaction Date
19x2

19x3

Anticipated Transactions and
Related Derivatives3
$US Functional Currency:
Firmly committed transactions:
Sales Contracts (DM)
Forward Exchange Agreements
(Receive $US/Pay DM)
Contract Amount
Average Contractual
Exchange Rate

19x4

19x5

19x6

Thereafter
Total

Fair
Value

(US$ Equivalent in millions)

$XXX

$XXX

-

-

-

-

$XXX $XXX

XXX

XXX

-

-

-

-

XXX

X.X

X.X

-

-

-

-

X.X

XXX

Commodity Price Sensitivity
The table below provides information about the Company’s corn inventory and futures contracts that are sensitive to
changes in commodity prices, specifically corn prices. For inventory, the table presents the carrying amount and fair value at
December 31, 19x1. For the futures contracts the table presents the notional amounts in bushels, the weighted average contract prices,
and the total dollar contract amount by expected maturity dates, the latest of which occurs one year from the reporting date. Contract
amounts are used to calculate the contractual payments and quantity of corn to be exchanged under the futures contracts.
2

Similar tabular information would be provided for other functional currencies.
Pursuant to General Instruction 4 to Items 305(a) and 305(b) of Regulation S-K, registrants may include cash flows from anticipated transactions
and operating cash flows resulting from non-financial and non-commodity instruments.
3
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December 31, 19x1
On Balance Sheet Commodity
Position and Related Derivatives
Carrying
Amount
(In millions)
Corn Inventory4

Fair
Value

$XXX4

$XXX

Related Derivatives
Expected
Maturity
1992
Futures Contracts (Short)
Contract Volumes (100,000 bushels)
Weighted Average Price (Per
100,000 bushels)
Contract Amount ($US in millions)

Fair
Value

XXX
$X.XX
$XXX

$XXX

4
Pursuant to General Instruction 4 to Items 305(a) and 305(b) of Regulation S-K, registrants may include information on commodity positions, such as corn
inventory.

Reg. §229.306. (Item 306) Removed and Reserved
Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Reg. §229.307. Item 307.
Disclose the conclusions of the registrant’s principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar
functions, regarding the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15 (e) or
Rule 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) as of the end of the period covered by the report, based on the evaluation of these
controls and procedures required by paragraph (b) of Rule 13a-15 or Rule 15d-15 under the Exchange Act.
Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Reg. §229.308. Item 308.
a. Management’s annual report on internal control over financial reporting. Provide a report of management on the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) or Rule 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) that
contains:
1. A statement of management’s responsibility for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial
reporting for the registrant;
2. A statement identifying the framework used by management to evaluate the effectiveness of the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting as required by paragraph (c) of Rule 13a-15 or Rule 15d-15 under the Exchange Act;
3.

Management’s assessment of the effectiveness of the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting as of the end
of the registrant’s most recent fiscal year, including a statement as to whether or not internal control over financial
reporting is effective. This discussion must include disclosure of any material weakness in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting identified by management. Management is not permitted to conclude that the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting is effective if there are one or more material weaknesses in the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
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4.

A statement that the registered public accounting firm that audited the financial statements included in the annual
report containing the disclosure required by this Item has issued an attestation report on management’s assessment of
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

b. Attestation report of the registered public accounting firm. Provide the registered public accounting firm’s attestation report
on management’s assessment of the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting in the registrant’s annual report
containing the disclosure required by this Item.
c. Changes in internal control over financial reporting. Disclose any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting identified in connection with the evaluation required by paragraph (d) of Rule 13a-15 or Rule 15d-15 under the
Exchange Act that occurred during the registrant’s last fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an
annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.
Instructions to Item 308
1. A registrant need not comply with paragraphs (a) and (b) of this Item until it either had been required to file an annual report
pursuant to section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act (15 U.S.C. 78m or 78o(d)) for the prior fiscal year or had filed an annual
report with the Commission for the prior fiscal year. A registrant that does not comply shall include a statement in the first
annual report that it files in substantially the following form:
“This annual report does not include a report of management’s assessment regarding internal control over financial
reporting or an attestation report of the company’s registered public accounting firm due to a transition period established
by rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission for newly
public companies.”
2. The registrant must maintain evidential matter, including documentation, to provide reasonable support for management’s
assessment of the effectiveness of the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

41

§228.308T (Item 308T) Internal control over financial reporting.
Note to Item 308T: This is a special temporary section that applies only to an annual report filed by the small business issuer
for a fiscal year ending on or after December 15, 2007 but before December 15, 2008.
(a) Management’s annual report on internal control over financial reporting. Provide a report of management on the small
business issuer’s internal control over financial reporting (as defined in §240.13a-15(f) or §240.15d-15(f) of this chapter). This
report shall not be deemed to be filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act or otherwise subject to the liabilities of
that section, unless the small business issuer specifically states that the report is to be considered “filed” under the Exchange
Act or incorporates it by reference into a filing under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act. The report must contain:
(1) A statement of management’s responsibility for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial
reporting for the small business issuer;
(2) A statement identifying the framework used by management to evaluate the effectiveness of the small business issuer’s
internal control over financial reporting as required by paragraph (c) of §240.13a-15 or §240.15d-15 of this chapter; and
(3) Management’s assessment of the effectiveness of the small business issuer’s internal control over financial reporting as
of the end of the small business issuer’s most recent fiscal year, including a statement as to whether or not internal control over
financial reporting is effective. This discussion must include disclosure of any material weakness in the small business issuer’s
internal control over financial reporting identified by management. Management is not permitted to conclude that the small
business issuer’s internal control over financial reporting is effective if there are one or more material weaknesses in the small
business issuer’s internal control over financial reporting.
(4) A statement in substantially the following form: “This annual report does not include an attestation report of the
company’s registered public accounting firm regarding internal control over financial reporting. Management’s report was not
subject to attestation by the company’s registered public accounting firm pursuant to temporary rules of the Securities and
Exchange Commission that permit the company to provide only management’s report in this annual report.”
(b) Changes in internal control over financial reporting. Disclose any change in the small business issuer’s internal control over
financial reporting identified in connection with the evaluation required by paragraph (d) of §240.13a-15 or §240.15d-15 of this
chapter that occurred during the small business issuer’s last fiscal quarter (the small business issuer’s fourth fiscal quarter in
the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the small business issuer’s
internal control over financial reporting.
Instructions to paragraphs (a) and (b) of Item 308T
1. A small business issuer need not comply with paragraph (a) of this Item until it either
had been required to file an annual report pursuant to section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act(15 U.S.C. 78m or 78o(d)) for the
prior fiscal year or had filed an annual report with the Commission for the prior fiscal year. A small business issuer that does not
comply shall include a statement in the first annual report that it files in substantially the following form: “This annual report
does not include a report of management’s assessment regarding internal control over financial reporting or an attestation
report of the company’s registered public accounting firm due to a transition period established by rules of the Securities and
Exchange Commission for newly public companies.”
2. The small business issuer must maintain evidential matter, including documentation, to provide reasonable support for
management’s assessment of the effectiveness of the small business issuer’s internal control over financial reporting.
(c) This temporary Item 308T, and accompanying note and instructions, will expire on June 30, 2009.
Subpart 229.400 — Management and Certain Security Holders
Directors, Executive Officers, Promoters and Control Persons
Reg. §229.401. Item 401.
(a)

Identification of directors. List the names and ages of all directors of the registrant and all persons nominated or chosen to
become directors; indicate all positions and offices with the registrant held by each such person; state his term of office as
director and any period(s) during which he has served as such; describe briefly any arrangement or understanding between
him and any other person(s) (naming such person(s)) pursuant to which he was or is to be selected as a director or nominee.
Instructions to Paragraph (a) of Item 401.
1.

Do not include arrangements or understandings with directors or officers of the registrant acting solely in
their capacities as such.

2.

No nominee or person chosen to become a director who has not consented to act as such shall be named
in response to this Item. In this regard, with respect to proxy statements, see Rule 14a-4(d) under the
Exchange Act (§240. 14a-4(d) of this chapter).

42

(b)

3.

If the information called for by this paragraph (a) is being presented in a proxy or information statement,
no information need be given respecting any director whose term of office as a director will not continue
after the meeting to which the statement relates.

4.

With regard to proxy statements in connection with action to be taken concerning the election of directors,
if fewer nominees are named than the number fixed by or pursuant to the governing instruments, state the
reasons for this procedure and that the proxies cannot be voted for a greater number of persons than the
number of nominees named.

5.

With regard to proxy statements in connection with action to be taken concerning the election of directors,
if the solicitation is made by persons other than management, information shall be given as to nominees
of the persons making the solicitation. In all other instances, information shall be given as to directors and
persons nominated for election or chosen by management to become directors.

Identification of executive officers. List the names and ages of all executive officers of the registrant and all persons chosen
to become executive officers; indicate all positions and offices with the registrant held by each such person; state his term of
office as officer and the period during which he has served as such and describe briefly any arrangement or understanding
between him and any other person(s) (naming such person(s)) pursuant to which he was or is to be selected as an officer.
Instructions to Paragraph (b) of Item 401.
1.

Do not include arrangements or understandings with directors or officers of the registrant acting solely in
their capacities as such.

2.

No person chosen to become an executive officer who has not consented to act as such shall be named in
response to this Item.

3.

The information regarding executive officers called for by this Item need not be furnished in proxy or
information statements prepared in accordance with Schedule 14A under the Exchange Act (§240.14a-101
of this chapter) by those registrants relying on General Instruction G of Form 10-K under the Exchange Act
(§249.310 of this chapter), Provided, That such information is furnished in a separate item captioned
“Executive officers of the registrant” and included in Part I of the registrant’s annual report on Form 10-K.

(c)

Identification of certain significant employees. Where the registrant employs persons such as production managers, sales
managers, or research scientists who are not executive officers but who make or are expected to make significant contributions
to the business of the registrant, such persons shall be identified and their background disclosed to the same extent as in the
case of executive officers. Such disclosure need not be made if the registrant was subject to section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange
Act or was exempt from section 13(a) by section 12(g)(2)(G) of such Act immediately prior to the filing of the registration
statement, report, or statement to which this Item is applicable.

(d)

Family relationships. State the nature of any family relationship between any director, executive officer, or person nominated
or chosen by the registrant to become a director or executive officer.
Instruction to Paragraph (d)
The term “family relationship” means any relationship by blood, marriage, or adoption, not more remote than first cousin.

(e)

Business experience.
(1)

Background. Briefly describe the business experience during the past five years of each director, executive officer, person
nominated or chosen to become a director or executive officer, and each person named in answer to paragraph (c) of Item
401, including: each person’s principal occupations and employment during the past five years; the name and principal
business of any corporation or other organization in which such occupations and employment were carried on; and
whether such corporation or organization is a parent, subsidiary or other affiliate of the registrant. When an executive
officer or person named in response to paragraph (c) of Item 401 has been employed by the registrant or a subsidiary of
the registrant for less than five years, a brief explanation shall be included as to the nature of the responsibility undertaken
by the individual in prior positions to provide adequate disclosure of his prior business experience. What is required is
information relating to the level of his professional competence, which may include, depending upon the circumstances,
such specific information as the size of the operation supervised.

(2)

Directorships. Indicate any other directorships held by each director or person nominated or chosen to become a director
in any company with a class of securities registered pursuant to section 12 of the Exchange Act or subject to the
requirements of section 15(d) of such Act or any company registered as an investment company under the Investment
Company Act of 1940, 15 U.S.C. 80a-1, et seq., as amended, naming such company.

Instruction to Paragraph (e) of Item 401. For purposes of paragraph (e)(2), where the other directorships of each
director or person nominated or chosen to become a director include directorships of two or more registered investment
companies that are part of a “fund complex” as that term is defined in Item 22(a) of Schedule 14A under the Exchange
Act (§ 240.14a-101 of this chapter), the registrant may, rather than listing each such investment company, identify
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the fund complex and provide the number of investment company directorships held by the director or nominee in
such fund complex.
(f)

Involvement in certain legal proceedings. Describe any of the following events that occurred during the past five years and
that are material to an evaluation of the ability or integrity of any director, person nominated to become a director or executive
officer of the registrant:
(1)

(2)
(3)

A petition under the Federal bankruptcy laws or any state insolvency law was filed by or against, or a receiver, fiscal agent
or similar officer was appointed by a court for the business or property of such person, or any partnership in which he
was a general partner at or within two years before the time of such filing, or any corporation or business association of
which he was an executive officer at or within two years before the time of such filing;
Such person was convicted in a criminal proceeding or is a named subject of a pending criminal proceeding (excluding
traffic violations and other minor offenses);
Such person was the subject of any order, judgment, or decree, not subsequently reversed, suspended or vacated, of any
court of competent jurisdiction, permanently or temporarily enjoining him from, or otherwise limiting, the following
activities:
(i)

Acting as a futures commission merchant, introducing broker, commodity trading advisor, commodity pool operator,
floor broker, leverage transaction merchant, any other person regulated by the Commodity Futures Trading
Commission, or an associated person of any of the foregoing, or as an investment adviser, underwriter, broker or
dealer in securities, or as an affiliated person, director or employee of any investment company, bank, savings and
loan association or insurance company, or engaging in or continuing any conduct or practice in connection with
such activity;

(ii)

Engaging in any type of business practice; or

(iii) Engaging in any activity in connection with the purchase or sale of any security or commodity or in connection with
any violation of Federal or State securities laws or Federal commodities laws;
(4)

Such person was the subject of any order, judgment or decree, not subsequently reversed, suspended or vacated, of any
Federal or State authority barring, suspending or otherwise limiting for more than 60 days the right of such person to
engage in any activity described in paragraph (f)(3)(i) of this Item, or to be associated with persons engaged in any such
activity; or

(5)

Such person was found by a court of competent jurisdiction in a civil action or by the Commission to have violated any
Federal or State securities law, and the judgment in such civil action or finding by the Commission has not been
subsequently reversed, suspended, or vacated.

(6)

Such person was found by a court of competent jurisdiction in a civil action or by the Commodity Futures Trading
Commission to have violated any Federal commodities law, and the judgment in such civil action or finding by the
Commodity Futures Trading Commission has not been subsequently reversed, suspended or vacated.

Instructions to Paragraph (f) of Item 401.
1.

For purposes of computing the five year period referred to in this paragraph, the date of a reportable event
shall be deemed the date on which the final order, judgment or decree was entered, or the date on which
any rights of appeal from preliminary orders, judgments, or decrees have lapsed. With respect to bankruptcy
petitions, the computation date shall be the date of filing for uncontested petitions or the date upon which
approval of a contested petition became final.

2.

If any event specified in this paragraph (f) has occurred and information in regard thereto is omitted on the
grounds that it is not material, the registrant may furnish to the Commission, at time of filing (or at the time
preliminary materials are filed pursuant to Rule 14a-6 or 14c-5 under the Exchange Act (§§240.14a-6 and
240.14c-5 of this chapter), as supplemental information and not as part of the registration statement, report,
or proxy or information statement, materials to which the omission relates, a description of the event and
a statement of the reasons for the omission of information in regard thereto.

3.

The registrant is permitted to explain any mitigating circumstances associated with events reported
pursuant to this paragraph.

4.

If the information called for by this paragraph (f) is being presented in a proxy or information statement,
no information need be given respecting any director whose term of office as a director will not continue
after the meeting to which the statement relates.

44

(g)

Promoters and control persons
(1)

Registrants, which have not been subject to the reporting requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act for
the twelve months immediately prior to the filing of the registration statement, report, or statement to which this Item is
applicable, and which were organized within the last five years, shall describe with respect to any promoter, any of the
events enumerated in paragraphs (f)(1) through (f)(6) of this section that occurred during the past five years and that are
material to a voting or investment decision.

(2)

Registrants, which have not been subject to the reporting requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act for
the twelve months immediately prior to the filing of the registration statement, report, or statement to which this Item is
applicable, shall describe with respect to any control person, any of the events enumerated in paragraphs (f)(1) through
(f)(6) of this section that occurred during the past five years and that are material to a voting or investment decision.

Instructions to Paragraph (g) of Item 401
.
1.
2.

Instructions 1. through 3. to paragraph (f) shall apply to this paragraph (g).
Paragraph (g) shall not apply to any subsidiary of a registrant which has been reporting pursuant to Section
13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act for the twelve months immediately prior to the filing of the registration
statement, report or statement.
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§229.402 (Item 402) Executive compensation.
(a) General.
(1) Treatment of foreign private issuers. A foreign private issuer will be deemed to comply with this Item if it provides the
information required by Items 6.B and 6.E.2 of Form 20-F (17 CFR 249.220f), with more detailed information provided if otherwise made
publicly available or required to be disclosed by the issuer’s home jurisdiction or a market in which its securities are listed or traded.
(2) All compensation covered. This Item requires clear, concise and understandable disclosure of all plan and non-plan
compensation awarded to, earned by, or paid to the named executive officers designated under paragraph (a)(3) of this Item, and directors
covered by paragraph (k) of this Item, by any person for all services rendered in all capacities to the registrant and its subsidiaries, unless
otherwise specifically excluded from disclosure in this Item. All such compensation shall be reported pursuant to this Item, even if also
called for by another requirement, including transactions between the registrant and a third party where a purpose of the transaction is to
furnish compensation to any such named executive officer or director. No amount reported as compensation for one fiscal year need be
reported in the same manner as compensation for a subsequent fiscal year; amounts reported as compensation for one fiscal year may be
required to be reported in a different manner pursuant to this Item.
(3) Persons covered. Disclosure shall be provided pursuant to this Item for each of the following (the “named executive officers”):
(i) All individuals serving as the registrant’s principal executive officer or acting in a similar capacity during the last completed
fiscal year (“PEO”), regardless of compensation level;
(ii) All individuals serving as the registrant’s principal financial officer or acting in a similar capacity during the last completed
fiscal year (“PFO”), regardless of compensation level;
(iii) The registrant’s three most highly compensated executive officers other than the PEO and PFO who were serving as executive
officers at the end of the last completed fiscal year; and
(iv) Up to two additional individuals for whom disclosure would have been provided pursuant to paragraph (a)(3)(iii) of this Item
but for the fact that the individual was not serving as an executive officer of the registrant at the end of the last completed fiscal year.
Instructions to Item 402(a)(3).
1. Determination of most highly compensated executive officers. The determination as to which executive officers are most highly
compensated shall be made by reference to total compensation for the last completed fiscal year (as required to be disclosed pursuant to
paragraph (c)(2)(x) of this Item) reduced by the amount required to be disclosed pursuant to paragraph (c)(2)(viii) of this Item, provided,
however, that no disclosure need be provided for any executive officer, other than the PEO and PFO, whose total compensation, as so
reduced, does not exceed $100,000.
2. Inclusion of executive officer of subsidiary. It may be appropriate for a registrant to include as named executive officers one or
more executive officers or other employees of subsidiaries in the disclosure required by this Item. See Rule 3b-7 under the Exchange Act (17
CFR 240.3b-7).
3. Exclusion of executive officer due to overseas compensation. It may be appropriate in limited circumstances for a registrant not
to include in the disclosure required by this Item an individual, other than its PEO or PFO, who is one of the registrant’s most highly
compensated executive officers due to the payment of amounts of cash compensation relating to overseas assignments attributed
predominantly to such assignments.
(4) Information for full fiscal year. If the PEO or PFO served in that capacity during any part of a fiscal year with respect to
which information is required, information should be provided as to all of his or her compensation for the full fiscal year. If a named
executive officer (other than the PEO or PFO) served as an executive officer of the registrant (whether or not in the same position) during
any part of the fiscal year with respect to which information is required, information shall be provided as to all compensation of that
individual for the full fiscal year.
(5) Omission of table or column. A table or column may be omitted if there has been no compensation awarded to, earned by, or
paid to any of the named executive officers or directors required to be reported in that table or column in any fiscal year covered by that
table.
(6) Definitions. For purposes of this Item:
(i) The term stock means instruments such as common stock, restricted stock, restricted stock units, phantom stock, phantom
stock units, common stock equivalent units or any similar instruments that do not have option-like features, and the term option means
instruments such as stock options, stock appreciation rights and similar instruments with option-like features. The term stock appreciation
rights (“SARs”) refers to SARs payable in cash or stock, including SARs payable in cash or stock at the election of the registrant or a named
executive officer. The term equity is used to refer generally to stock and/or options.
(ii) The term plan includes, but is not limited to, the following: Any plan, contract, authorization or arrangement, whether or not
set forth in any formal document, pursuant to which cash, securities, similar instruments, or any other property may be received. A plan
may be applicable to one person. Registrants may omit information regarding group life, health, hospitalization, or medical reimbursement
plans that do not discriminate in scope, terms or operation, in favor of executive officers or directors of the registrant and that are available
generally to all salaried employees.
(iii) The term incentive plan means any plan providing compensation intended to serve as incentive for performance to occur over a
specified period, whether such performance is measured by reference to financial performance of the registrant or an affiliate, the registrant’s
stock price, or any other performance measure. An equity incentive plan is an incentive plan or portion of an incentive plan under which
awards are granted that fall within the scope of Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123
(revised 2004), Share-Based Payment, as modified or supplemented (“FAS 123R”). A non-equity incentive plan is an incentive plan or
portion of an incentive plan that is not an equity incentive plan. The term incentive plan award means an award provided under an incentive
plan.
(iv) The terms date of grant or grant date refer to the grant date determined for financial statement reporting purposes pursuant to
FAS 123R.
(v) Closing market price is defined as the price at which the registrant’s security was last sold in the principal United States
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market for such security as of the date for which the closing market price is determined.
(b) Compensation discussion and analysis.
(1) Discuss the compensation awarded to, earned by, or paid to the named executive officers. The discussion shall explain all
material elements of the registrant’s compensation of the named executive officers. The discussion shall describe the following:
(i) The objectives of the registrant’s compensation programs;
(ii) What the compensation program is designed to reward;
(iii) Each element of compensation;
(iv) Why the registrant chooses to pay each element;
(v) How the registrant determines the amount (and, where applicable, the formula) for each element to pay; and
(vi) How each compensation element and the registrant’s decisions regarding that element fit into the registrant’s overall
compensation objectives and affect decisions regarding other elements.
(2) While the material information to be disclosed under Compensation Discussion and Analysis will vary depending upon the
facts and circumstances, examples of such information may include, in a given case, among other things, the following:
(i) The policies for allocating between long-term and currently paid out compensation;
(ii) The policies for allocating between cash and non-cash compensation, and among different forms of non-cash compensation;
(iii) For long-term compensation, the basis for allocating compensation to each different form of award (such as relationship of the
award to the achievement of the registrant’s long-term goals, management’s exposure to downside equity performance risk, correlation
between cost to registrant and expected benefits to the registrant);
(iv) How the determination is made as to when awards are granted, including awards of equity-based compensation such as
options;
(v) What specific items of corporate performance are taken into account in setting compensation policies and making compensation
decisions;
(vi) How specific forms of compensation are structured and implemented to reflect these items of the registrant’s performance,
including whether discretion can be or has been exercised (either to award compensation absent attainment of the relevant performance
goal(s) or to reduce or increase the size of any award or payout), identifying any particular exercise of discretion, and stating whether it
applied to one or more specified named executive officers or to all compensation subject to the relevant performance goal(s);
(vii) How specific forms of compensation are structured and implemented to reflect the named executive officer’s individual
performance and/or individual contribution to these items of the registrant’s performance, describing the elements of individual performance
and/or contribution that are taken into account;
(viii) Registrant policies and decisions regarding the adjustment or recovery of awards or payments if the relevant registrant
performance measures upon which they are based are restated or otherwise adjusted in a manner that would reduce the size of an award or
payment;
(ix) The factors considered in decisions to increase or decrease compensation materially;
(x) How compensation or amounts realizable from prior compensation are considered in setting other elements of compensation
(e.g., how gains from prior option or stock awards are considered in setting retirement benefits);
(xi) With respect to any contract, agreement, plan or arrangement, whether written or unwritten, that provides for payment(s) at,
following, or in connection with any termination or change-in-control, the basis for selecting particular events as triggering payment (e.g.,
the rationale for providing a single trigger for payment in the event of a change-in-control);
(xii) The impact of the accounting and tax treatments of the particular form of compensation;
(xiii) The registrant’s equity or other security ownership requirements or guidelines (specifying applicable amounts and forms of
ownership), and any registrant policies regarding hedging the economic risk of such ownership;
(xiv) Whether the registrant engaged in any benchmarking of total compensation, or any material element of compensation,
identifying the benchmark and, if applicable, its components (including component companies); and
(xv) The role of executive officers in determining executive compensation.
Instructions to Item 402(b).
1. The purpose of the Compensation Discussion and Analysis is to provide to investors material information that is necessary to
an understanding of the registrant’s compensation policies and decisions regarding the named executive officers.
2. The Compensation Discussion and Analysis should be of the information contained in the tables and otherwise disclosed pursuant to this
Item. The Compensation Discussion and Analysis should also cover actions regarding executive compensation that were taken after the
registrant’s last fiscal year’s end. Actions that should be addressed might include, as examples only, the adoption or implementation of new
or modified programs and policies or specific decisions that were made or steps that were taken that could affect a fair understanding of the
named executive officer’s compensation for the last fiscal year. Moreover, in some situations it may be necessary to discuss prior years in
order to give context to the disclosure provided.
3. The Compensation Discussion and Analysis should focus on the material principles underlying the registrant’s executive
compensation policies and decisions and the most important factors relevant to analysis of those policies and decisions. The Compensation
Discussion and Analysis shall reflect the individual circumstances of the registrant and shall avoid boilerplate language and repetition of the
more detailed information set forth in the tables and narrative disclosures that follow.
4. Registrants are not required to disclose target levels with respect to specific quantitative or qualitative performance-related
factors considered by the compensation committee or the board of directors, or any other factors or criteria involving confidential trade
secrets or confidential commercial or financial information, the disclosure of which would result in competitive harm for the registrant. The
standard to use when determining whether disclosure would cause competitive harm for the registrant is the same standard that would apply
when a registrant requests confidential treatment of confidential trade secrets or confidential commercial or financial information pursuant to
Securities Act Rule 406 (17 CFR 230.406) and Exchange Act Rule 24b-2 (17 CFR 240.24b-2), each of which incorporates the criteria for
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non-disclosure when relying upon Exemption 4 of the Freedom of Information Act (5 U.S.C. 552(b)(4)) and Rule 80(b)(4) (17 CFR
200.80(b)(4)) thereunder. A registrant is not required to seek confidential treatment under the procedures in Securities Act Rule 406 and
Exchange Act Rule 24b-2 if it determines that the disclosure would cause competitive harm in reliance on this instruction; however, in that
case, the registrant must discuss how difficult it will be for the executive or how likely it will be for the registrant to achieve the undisclosed
target levels or other factors.
5. Disclosure of target levels that are non-GAAP financial measures will not be subject to Regulation G (17 CFR 244.100 - 102)
and Item 10(e) (§229.10(e)); however, disclosure must be provided as to how the number is calculated from the registrant’s audited financial
statements.
(c) Summary compensation table.
(1) General. Provide the information specified in paragraph (c)(2) of this Item, concerning the compensation of the named executive
officers for each of the registrant’s last three completed fiscal years, in a Summary Compensation Table in the tabular format specified
below.

SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE

Name
and
Principal
Position

Year

(a)

(b)

PEO

Salary ($) Bonus ($)

(c)

(d)

Stock
Award(s)
($)

(e)

Option
Awards
($)

(f)

Change in
Pension Value
and NonqualiNonfied Deferred All
Equity
Compensa- Other
Incentive tion
CompenPlan Comp- Earnings
sation
ensation ($) ($)
($)

(g)

(h)

(i)

Total
($)

(j)

___
___
___
___
___
___

PFO

A

___
___
___

B

___
___
___

C

___
___
___
(2)

The Table shall include:
(i)

The name and principal position of the executive officer (column (a));

(ii)

Fiscal year covered (column (b));

(iii) The dollar value of base salary (cash and non-cash) earned by the named executive officer during the fiscal year
covered (column (c));
(iv) The dollar value of bonus (cash and non-cash) earned by the named executive officer during the fiscal year covered
(column (d));

48

Instructions to Item 402(c)(2)(iii) and (iv).
1. If the amount of salary or bonus earned in a given fiscal year is not calculable through the latest practicable date, a footnote shall
be included disclosing that the amount of salary or bonus is not calculable through the latest practicable date and providing the date that the
amount of salary or bonus is expected to be determined, and such amount must then be disclosed in a filing under Item 5.02(f) of Form 8-K
(17 CFR 249.308).
2. Registrants shall include in the salary column (column (c)) or bonus column (column (d)) any amount of salary or

bonus forgone at the election of a named executive officer under which stock, equity-based or other forms of non-cash
compensation instead have been received by the named executive officer. However, the receipt of any such form of non-cash
compensation instead of salary or bonus must be disclosed in a footnote added to the salary or bonus column and, where
applicable, referring to the Grants of Plan-Based Awards Table (required by paragraph (d) of this Item) where the stock,
option or non-equity incentive plan award elected by the named executive officer is reported.
(v) For awards of stock, the dollar amount recognized for financial statement reporting purposes with respect to the
fiscal year in accordance with FAS 123R (column (e));
(vi) For awards of options, with or without tandem SARs, the dollar amount recognized for financial statement reporting
purposes with respect to the fiscal year in accordance with FAS 123R (column (f));
Instructions to Item 402(c)(2)(v) and (vi).

For awards reported in columns (e) and (f), disregard the estimate of forfeitures related to service-based vesting conditions.
Include a footnote describing all forfeitures during the year, and disclosing all assumptions made in the valuation. Disclose
assumptions made in the valuation by reference to a discussion of those assumptions in the registrant’s financial statements,
footnotes to the financial statements, or discussion in the Management’s Discussion and Analysis. The sections so referenced
are deemed part of the disclosure provided pursuant to this Item.
(vii) The dollar value of all earnings for services performed during the fiscal year pursuant to awards under non-equity incentive
plans as defined in paragraph (a)(6)(iii) of this Item, and all earnings on any outstanding awards (column (g));
Instructions to Item 402(c)(2)(vii).
1. If the relevant performance measure is satisfied during the fiscal year (including for a single year in a plan with a multi-year
performance measure), the earnings are reportable for that fiscal year, even if not payable until a later date, and are not reportable again in
the fiscal year when amounts are paid to the named executive officer.
2. All earnings on non-equity incentive plan compensation must be identified and quantified in a footnote to column (g), whether
the earnings were paid during the fiscal year, payable during the period but deferred at the election of the named executive officer, or
payable by their terms at a later date.
(viii) The sum of the amounts specified in paragraphs (c)(2)(viii)(A) and (B) of this Item (column (h)) as follows:
(A) The aggregate change in the actuarial present value of the named executive officer’s accumulated benefit under all defined
benefit and actuarial pension plans (including supplemental plans) from the pension plan measurement date used for financial statement
reporting purposes with respect to the registrant’s audited financial statements for the prior completed fiscal year to the pension plan
measurement date used for financial statement reporting purposes with respect to the registrant’s audited financial statements for the
covered fiscal year; and
(B) Above-market or preferential earnings on compensation that is deferred on a basis that is not tax-qualified, including such
earnings on nonqualified defined contribution plans;
Instructions to Item 402(c)(2)(viii).
1. The disclosure required pursuant to paragraph (c)(2)(viii)(A) of this Item applies to each plan that provides for the payment of
retirement benefits, or benefits that will be paid primarily following retirement, including but not limited to tax-qualified defined benefit
plans and supplemental executive retirement plans, but excluding tax-qualified defined contribution plans and nonqualified defined
contribution plans. For purposes of this disclosure, the registrant should use the same amounts required to be disclosed pursuant to
paragraph (h)(2)(iv) of this Item for the covered fiscal year and the amounts that were or would have been required to be reported for the
executive officer pursuant to paragraph (h)(2)(iv) of this Item for the prior completed fiscal year.
2. Regarding paragraph (c)(2)(viii)(B) of this Item, interest on deferred compensation is above-market only if the rate of interest
exceeds 120% of the applicable federal long-term rate, with compounding (as prescribed under section 1274(d) of the Internal Revenue
Code, (26 U.S.C. 1274(d))) at the rate that corresponds most closely to the rate under the registrant’s plan at the time the interest rate or
formula is set. In the event of a discretionary reset of the interest rate, the requisite calculation must be made on the basis of the interest rate
at the time of such reset, rather than when originally established. Only the above-market portion of the interest must be included. If the
applicable interest rates vary depending upon conditions such as a minimum period of continued service, the reported amount should be
calculated assuming satisfaction of all conditions to receiving interest at the highest rate. Dividends (and dividend equivalents) on deferred
compensation denominated in the registrant’s stock (“deferred stock”) are preferential only if earned at a rate higher than dividends on the
registrant’s common stock. Only the preferential portion of the dividends or equivalents must be included. Footnote or narrative disclosure
may be provided explaining the registrant’s criteria for determining any portion considered to be above-market.
3. The registrant shall identify and quantify by footnote the separate amounts attributable to each of paragraphs (c)(2)(viii)(A) and
(B) of this Item. Where such amount pursuant to paragraph (c)(2)(viii)(A) is negative, it should be disclosed by footnote but should not be
reflected in the sum reported in column (h).
(ix) All other compensation for the covered fiscal year that the registrant could not properly report in any other column of the
Summary Compensation Table (column (i)). Each compensation item that is not properly reportable in columns (c) - (h), regardless of the
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amount of the compensation item, must be included in column (i). Such compensation must include, but is not limited to:
(A) Perquisites and other personal benefits, or property, unless the aggregate amount of such compensation is less than
$10,000;
(B) All “gross-ups” or other amounts reimbursed during the fiscal year for the payment of taxes;
(C) For any security of the registrant or its subsidiaries purchased from the registrant or its subsidiaries (through deferral of
salary or bonus, or otherwise) at a discount from the market price of such security at the date of purchase, unless that discount is available
generally, either to all security holders or to all salaried employees of the registrant, the compensation cost, if any, computed in accordance
with FAS 123R;
(D) The amount paid or accrued to any named executive officer pursuant to a plan or arrangement in connection with:
(1) Any termination, including without limitation through retirement, resignation, severance or constructive termination
(including a change in responsibilities) of such executive officer’s employment with the registrant and its subsidiaries; or
(2) A change in control of the registrant;
(E) Registrant contributions or other allocations to vested and unvested defined contribution plans;
(F) The dollar value of any insurance premiums paid by, or on behalf of, the registrant during the covered fiscal year with
respect to life insurance for the benefit of a named executive officer; and
(G) The dollar value of any dividends or other earnings paid on stock or option awards, when those amounts were

not factored into the grant date fair value required tobe reported for the stock or option award in column (l) of the Grants of
Plan-Based Awards Table required by paragraph (d)(2)(viii) of this Item; and
Instructions to Item 402(c)(2)(ix).
1. Non-equity incentive plan awards and earnings and earnings on stock and options, except as specified in paragraph (c)(2)(ix)(G)
of this Item, are required to be reported elsewhere as provided in this Item and are not reportable as All Other Compensation in column (i).
2. Benefits paid pursuant to defined benefit and actuarial plans are not reportable as All Other Compensation in column (i) unless
accelerated pursuant to a change in control; information concerning these plans is reportable pursuant to paragraphs (c)(2)(viii)(A) and (h)
of this Item.
3. Any item reported for a named executive officer pursuant to paragraph (c)(2)(ix) of this Item that is not a perquisite or personal
benefit and whose value exceeds $10,000 must be identified and quantified in a footnote to column (i). This requirement applies only to
compensation for the last fiscal year. All items of compensation are required to be included in the Summary Compensation Table without
regard to whether such items are required to be identified other than as specifically noted in this Item.
4. Perquisites and personal benefits may be excluded as long as the total value of all perquisites and personal benefits for a named
executive officer is less than $10,000. If the total value of all perquisites and personal benefits is $10,000 or more for any named executive
officer, then each perquisite or personal benefit, regardless of its amount, must be identified by type. If perquisites and personal benefits are
required to be reported for a named executive officer pursuant to this rule, then each perquisite or personal benefit that exceeds the greater
of $25,000 or 10% of the total amount of perquisites and personal benefits for that officer must be quantified and disclosed in a footnote.
The requirements for identification and quantification apply only to compensation for the last fiscal year. Perquisites and other personal
benefits shall be valued on the basis of the aggregate incremental cost to the registrant. With respect to the perquisite or other personal
benefit for which footnote quantification is required, the registrant shall describe in the footnote its methodology for computing the
aggregate incremental cost. Reimbursements of taxes owed with respect to perquisites or other personal benefits must be included in column
(i) and are subject to separate quantification and identification as tax reimbursements (paragraph (c)(2)(ix)(B) of this Item) even if the
associated perquisites or other personal benefits are not required to be included because the total amount of all perquisites or personal
benefits for an individual named executive officer is less than $10,000 or are required to be identified but are not required to be separately
quantified.
5. For purposes of paragraph (c)(2)(ix)(D) of this Item, an accrued amount is an amount for which payment has become due.
(x) The dollar value of total compensation for the covered fiscal year (column (j)). With respect to each named executive officer,
disclose the sum of all amounts reported in columns (c) through (i).
Instructions to Item 402(c).
1. Information with respect to fiscal years prior to the last completed fiscal year will not be required if the registrant was not a
reporting company pursuant to section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act (15 U.S.C. 78m(a) or 78o(d)) at any time during that year, except
that the registrant will be required to provide information for any such year if that information previously was required to be provided in
response to a Commission filing requirement.
2. All compensation values reported in the Summary Compensation Table must be reported in dollars and rounded to the nearest
dollar. Reported compensation values must be reported numerically, providing a single numerical value for each grid in the table. Where
compensation was paid to or received by a named executive officer in a different currency, a footnote must be provided to identify that
currency and describe the rate and methodology used to convert the payment amounts to dollars.
3. If a named executive officer is also a director who receives compensation for his or her services as a director, reflect that
compensation in the Summary Compensation Table and provide a footnote identifying and itemizing such compensation and amounts. Use
the categories in the Director Compensation Table required pursuant to paragraph (k) of this Item.
4. Any amounts deferred, whether pursuant to a plan established under section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code (26 U.S.C.
401(k)), or otherwise, shall be included in the appropriate column for the fiscal year in which earned.
(d) Grants of plan-based awards table. (1) Provide the information specified in paragraph (d)(2) of this Item, concerning each grant
of an award made to a named executive officer in the last completed fiscal year under any plan, including awards that subsequently have
been transferred, in the following tabular format:
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GRANTS OF PLAN-BASED AWARDS
Name

(a)
PEO

Grant
Date

(b)

Estimated Future Payouts Estimated Future Payouts Under All
Under Non-Equity Incentive Equity Incentive Plan Awards
Other
Plan Awards
Stock
Awards:
Number
of
Threshold Target Maxi- Threshold Target
MaxiShares
($)
($)
mum
(#)
(#)
mum
of Stock
($)
(#)
or Units
(#)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

(g)

(h)

PFO
A
B
C
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(i)

All Other
Option
Awards:
Number
of
Securities
Underlying
Options
(#)

(j)

Exercise
or Base
Price of
Option
Awards
($/Sh)

(k)

Grant
Date
Fair
Value of
Stock
and
Option
Awards

(l)

(2) The Table should include:
(i) The name of the named executive officer (column (a));
(ii) The grant date for equity-based awards reported in the table (column (b)). If such grant date is different than the date on which
the compensation committee (or a committee of the board of directors performing a similar function or the full board of directors) takes
action or is deemed to take action to grant such awards, a separate, adjoining column shall be added between columns (b) and (c) showing
such date;
(iii) The dollar value of the estimated future payout upon satisfaction of the conditions in question under non-equity incentive
plan awards granted in the fiscal year, or the applicable range of estimated payouts denominated in dollars (threshold, target and maximum
amount) (columns (c) through (e)).
(iv) The number of shares of stock, or the number of shares underlying options to be paid out or vested upon satisfaction of the
conditions in question under equity incentive plan awards granted in the fiscal year, or the applicable range of estimated payouts
denominated in the number of shares of stock, or the number of shares underlying options under the award (threshold, target and maximum
amount) (columns (f) through (h)).
(v) The number of shares of stock granted in the fiscal year that are not required to be disclosed in columns (f) through (h) (column
(i));
(vi) The number of securities underlying options granted in the fiscal year that are not required to be disclosed in columns (f)
through (h) (column (j));
(vii) The per-share exercise or base price of the options granted in the fiscal year (column (k)). If such exercise or base price is less
than the closing market price of the underlying security on the date of the grant, a separate, adjoining column showing the closing market
price on the date of the grant shall be added after column (k) and

(viii) The grant date fair value of each equity award computed in accordance with FAS 123R (column (l)). If at any time
during the last completed fiscal year, the registrant has adjusted or amended the exercise or base price of options, SARs or
similar option-like instruments previously awarded to a named executive officer, whether through amendment, cancellation or
replacement grants, or any other means (“repriced”), or otherwise has materially modified such awards, the incremental fair
value, computed as of the repricing or modification date in accordance with FAS 123R, with respect to that repriced or modified
award, shall be reported.
Instructions to Item 402(d).
1. Disclosure on a separate line shall be provided in the Table for each grant of an award made to a named executive officer during
the fiscal year. If grants of awards were made to a named executive officer during the fiscal year under more than one plan, identify the
particular plan under which each such grant was made.
2. For grants of incentive plan awards, provide the information called for by columns (c), (d) and (e), or (f), (g) and (h), as
applicable. For columns (c) and (f), threshold refers to the minimum amount payable for a certain level of performance under the plan. For
columns (d) and (g), target refers to the amount payable if the specified performance target(s) are reached. For columns (e) and (h),
maximum refers to the maximum payout possible under the plan. If the award provides only for a single estimated payout, that amount
must be reported as the target in columns (d) and (g). In columns (d) and (g), registrants must provide a representative amount based on the
previous fiscal year’s performance if the target amount is not determinable.
3. In determining if the exercise or base price of an option is less than the closing market price of the underlying security on the
date of the grant, the registrant may use either the closing market price as specified in paragraph (a)(6)(v) of this Item, or if no market
exists, any other formula prescribed for the security. Whenever the exercise or base price reported in column (k) is not the closing market
price, describe the methodology for determining the exercise or base price either by a footnote or accompanying textual narrative.
4. A tandem grant of two instruments, only one of which is granted under an incentive plan, such as an option granted in tandem
with a performance share, need be reported only in column (i) or (j), as applicable. For example, an option granted in tandem with a
performance share would be reported only as an option grant in column (j), with the tandem feature noted either by a footnote or
accompanying textual narrative.
5. Disclose the dollar amount of consideration, if any, paid by the executive officer for the award in a footnote to the appropriate
column.
6. If non-equity incentive plan awards are denominated in units or other rights, a separate, adjoining column between columns (b)
and (c) shall be added quantifying the units or other rights awarded.

7. Options, SARs and similar option-like instruments granted in connection with a repricing transaction or other
material modification shall be reported in this Table. However, the disclosure required by this Table does not apply to any
repricing that occurs through a pre-existing formula or mechanism in the plan or award that results in the periodic adjustment of
the option or SAR exercise or base price, an antidilution provision in a plan or award, or a recapitalization or similar transaction
equally affecting all holders of the class of securities underlying the options or SARs.
(e) Narrative disclosure to summary compensation table and grants
of plan-based awards table.
(1) Provide a narrative description of any material factors necessary to an understanding of the information disclosed in the tables
required by paragraphs (c) and (d) of this Item. Examples of such factors may include, in given cases, among other things:
(i) The material terms of each named executive officer’s employment agreement or arrangement, whether written or unwritten;
(ii) If at any time during the last fiscal year, any outstanding option or other equity-based award was repriced or otherwise
materially modified (such as by extension of exercise periods, the change of vesting or forfeiture conditions, the change or elimination of
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applicable performance criteria, or the change of the bases upon which returns are determined), a description of each such repricing or other
material modification;
(iii) The material terms of any award reported in response to paragraph (d) of this Item, including a general description of the
formula or criteria to be applied in determining the amounts payable, and the vesting schedule. For example, state where applicable that
dividends will be paid on stock, and if so, the applicable dividend rate and whether that rate is preferential. Describe any performance-based
conditions, and any other material conditions, that are applicable to the award. For purposes of the Table required by paragraph (d) of this
Item and the narrative disclosure required by paragraph (e) of this Item, performance-based conditions include both performance conditions
and market conditions, as those terms are defined in FAS 123R; and
(iv) An explanation of the amount of salary and bonus in proportion to total compensation.
Instructions to Item 402(e)(1).
1. The disclosure required by paragraph (e)(1)(ii) of this Item would not apply to any repricing that occurs through a pre-existing
formula or mechanism in the plan or award that results in the periodic adjustment of the option or SAR exercise or base price, an
antidilution provision in a plan or award, or a recapitalization or similar transaction equally affecting all holders of the class of securities
underlying the options or SARs.
2. Instructions 4 and 5 to Item 402(b) apply regarding disclosure pursuant to paragraph (e)(1) of target levels with respect to
specific quantitative or qualitative performance-related factors considered by the compensation committee or the board of directors, or any
other factors or criteria involving confidential trade secrets or confidential commercial or financial information, the disclosure of which
would result in competitive harm for the registrant.
(2) Reserved.
(f) Outstanding equity awards at fiscal year-end table. (1) Provide the information specified in paragraph (f)(2) of this Item,
concerning unexercised options; stock that has not vested; and equity incentive plan awards for each named executive officer outstanding as
of the end of the registrant’s last completed fiscal year in the following tabular format:

OUTSTANDING EQUITY AWARDS AT FISCAL YEAR-END
Options Awards
Name

(a)

Number
Number
Equity
Option
of
of
Incentive Exercise
Securities Securities Plan
Price
Underlying
Underlying Awards:
($)
Unexercised Unexercised Number
Options
Options
of
(#)
(#)
Securities
Exercisable Exercisable Underlying
Unexercised
Unearned
Options
(#)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Stock Awards
Option
Expiration
Date

Number
of Shares
or Units
of Stock
That Have
Not
Vested
(#)

(f)

(g)

PEO
PFO
A
B
C
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Market
Equity
Value of Incentive
Shares or Plan
Units of Awards:
Stock
Number
That Have of
Not
Unearned
Vested Shares,
($)
Units or
Other
Rights
That Have
Not Vested
(#)

(h)

(i)

Equity
Incentive
Plan
Awards:
Market or
Payout
Value
of
Unearned
Shares,
Units or
Other
Rights
That Have
Not Vested
($)
(j)

(2) The Table shall include:
(i) The name of the named executive officer (column (a));
(ii) On an award-by-award basis, the number of securities underlying unexercised options, including awards that
have been transferred other than for value, that are exercisable and that are not reported in column (d) (column (b));
(iii) On an award-by-award basis, the number of securities underlying unexercised options, including awards that
have been transferred other than for value, that are unexercisable and that are not reported in column (d) (column (c));
(iv) On an award-by-award basis, the total number of shares underlying unexercised options awarded under any
equity incentive plan that have not been earned (column (d));
(v) For each instrument reported in columns (b), (c) and (d), as applicable, the exercise or base price (column (e));
(vi) For each instrument reported in columns (b), (c) and (d), as applicable, the expiration date (column (f));
(vii) The total number of shares of stock that have not vested and that are not reported in column (i) (column (g));
(viii) The aggregate market value of shares of stock that have not vested and that are not reported in column (j)
(column (h));
(ix) The total number of shares of stock, units or other rights awarded under any equity incentive plan that have
not vested and that have not been earned, and, if applicable the number of shares underlying any such unit or right (column (i));
and
(x) The aggregate market or payout value of shares of stock, units or other rights awarded under any equity
incentive plan that have not vested and that have not been earned (column (j)).
Instructions to Item 402(f)(2).
1. Identify by footnote any award that has been transferred other than for value, disclosing the nature of the transfer.
2. The vesting dates of options, shares of stock and equity incentive plan awards held at fiscal-year end must be
disclosed by footnote to the applicable column where the outstanding award is reported.
3. Compute the market value of stock reported in column (h) and equity incentive plan awards of stock reported in
column (j) by multiplying the closing market price of the registrant’s stock at the end of the last completed fiscal year by the
number of shares or units of stock or the amount of equity incentive plan awards, respectively. The number of shares or units
reported in columns (d) or (i), and the payout value reported in column (j), shall be based on achieving threshold performance
goals, except that if the previous fiscal year’s performance has exceeded the threshold, the disclosure shall be based on the next
higher performance measure (target or maximum) that exceeds the previous fiscal year’s performance. If the award provides only
for a single estimated payout, that amount should be reported. If the target amount is not determinable, registrants must provide
a representative amount based on the previous fiscal year’s performance.
4. Multiple awards may be aggregated where the expiration date and the exercise and/or base price of the instruments is
identical. A single award consisting of a combination of options, SARs and/or similar option-like instruments shall be reported
as separate awards with respect to each tranche with a different exercise and/or base price or expiration date.
5. Options or stock awarded under an equity incentive plan are reported in columns (d) or (i) and (j), respectively, until
the relevant performance condition has been satisfied. Once the relevant performance condition has been satisfied, even if the
option or stock award is subject to forfeiture conditions, options are reported in column (b) or (c), as appropriate, until they are
exercised or expire, or stock is reported in columns (g) and (h) until it vests.
(g) Option exercises and stock vested table. (1) Provide the information specified in paragraph (g)(2) of this Item, concerning
each exercise of stock options, SARs and similar instruments, and each vesting of stock, including restricted stock, restricted
stock units and similar instruments, during the last completed fiscal year for each of the named executive officers on an
aggregated basis in the following tabular format:
OPTION EXERCISES AND STOCK VESTED
Option Awards
Name

(a)

Number of
Shares
Acquired
on
Exercise
(#)

Value
Realized
on
Exercise
($)

(b)

(c)

Stock Awards
Number of
Shares
Acquired
on
Vesting
(#)
(d)

PEO
PFO
A
B
C
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Value
Realized
on
Vesting
($)
(e)

(2) The Table shall include:
(i) The name of the executive officer (column (a));
(ii) The number of securities for which the options were exercised (column (b));
(iii) The aggregate dollar value realized upon exercise of options, or upon the transfer of an award for value (column
(c));
(iv) The number of shares of stock that have vested (column (d)); and
(v) The aggregate dollar value realized upon vesting of stock, or upon the transfer of an award for value (column
(e)).
Instruction to Item 402(g)(2).
Report in column (c) the aggregate dollar amount realized by the named executive officer upon exercise of the options or
upon the transfer of such instruments for value. Compute the dollar amount realized upon exercise by determining the difference
between the market price of the underlying securities at exercise and the exercise or base price of the options. Do not include the
value of any related payment or other consideration provided (or to be provided) by the registrant to or on behalf of a named
executive officer, whether in payment of the exercise price or related taxes. (Any such payment or other consideration provided
by the registrant is required to be disclosed in accordance with paragraph (c)(2)(ix) of this Item.) Report in column (e) the
aggregate dollar amount realized by the named executive officer upon the vesting of stock or the transfer of such instruments for
value. Compute the aggregate dollar amount realized upon vesting by multiplying the number of shares of stock or units by the
market value of the underlying shares on the vesting date. For any amount realized upon exercise or vesting for which receipt
has been deferred, provide a footnote quantifying the amount and disclosing the terms of the deferral.
(h) Pension benefits.
(1) Provide the information specified in paragraph (h)(2) of this Item with respect to each plan that provides for
payments or other benefits at, following, or in connection with retirement, in the following tabular format:
PENSION BENEFITS
Name

(a)

Plan
Name

(b)

Number
of Years
Credited
Service
(#)
(c)

Present
Value of
Accumulated
Benefit
($)
(d)

PEO
PFO
A
B
C
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Payments
During
Last
Fiscal
Year
($)
(e)

(2) The Table shall include:
(i) The name of the executive officer (column (a));
(ii) The name of the plan (column (b));
(iii) The number of years of service credited to the named executive officer under the plan, computed as of the same
pension plan measurement date used for financial statement reporting purposes with respect to the registrant’s audited financial
statements for the last completed fiscal year (column (c));
(iv) The actuarial present value of the named executive officer’s accumulated benefit under the plan, computed as of
the same pension plan measurement date used for financial statement reporting purposes with respect to the registrant’s audited
financial statements for the last completed fiscal year (column (d)); and
(v) The dollar amount of any payments and benefits paid to the named executive officer during the registrant’s last
completed fiscal year (column (e)).
Instructions to Item 402(h)(2).
1. The disclosure required pursuant to this Table applies to each plan that provides for specified retirement
payments and benefits, or payments and benefits that will be provided primarily following retirement, including but not limited
to tax-qualified defined benefit plans and supplemental executive retirement plans, but excluding tax-qualified defined
contribution plans and nonqualified defined contribution plans. Provide a separate row for each such plan in which the named
executive officer participates.
2. For purposes of the amount(s) reported in column (d), the registrant must use the same assumptions used for
financial reporting purposes under generally accepted accounting principles, except that retirement age shall be assumed to be
the normal retirement age as defined in the plan, or if not so defined, the earliest time at which a participant may retire under the
plan without any benefit reduction due to age. The registrant must disclose in the accompanying textual narrative the valuation
method and all material assumptions applied in quantifying the present value of the current accrued benefit. A benefit specified
in the plan document or the executive’s contract itself is not an assumption. Registrants may satisfy all or part of this disclosure
by reference to a discussion of those assumptions in the registrant’s financial statements, footnotes to the financial statements,
or discussion in the Management’s Discussion and Analysis. The sections so referenced are deemed part of the disclosure
provided pursuant to this Item.
3. For purposes of allocating the current accrued benefit between tax qualified defined benefit plans and related
supplemental plans, apply the limitations applicable to tax qualified defined benefit plans established by the Internal Revenue
Code and the regulations thereunder that applied as of the pension plan measurement date.
4. If a named executive officer’s number of years of credited service with respect to any plan is different from the
named executive officer’s number of actual years of service with the registrant, provide footnote disclosure quantifying the
difference and any resulting benefit augmentation.
(3) Provide a succinct narrative description of any material factors necessary to an understanding of each plan covered
by the tabular disclosure required by this paragraph. While material factors will vary depending upon the facts, examples of
such factors may include, in given cases, among other things:
(i) The material terms and conditions of payments and benefits available under the plan, including the plan’s normal
retirement payment and benefit formula and eligibility standards, and the effect of the form of benefit elected on the amount of
annual benefits. For this purpose, normal retirement means retirement at the normal retirement age as defined in the plan, or if
not so defined, the earliest time at which a participant may retire under the plan without any benefit reduction due to age;
(ii) If any named executive officer is currently eligible for early retirement under any plan, identify that named executive
officer and the plan, and describe the plan’s early retirement payment and benefit formula and eligibility standards. For this
purpose, early retirement means retirement at the early retirement age as defined in the plan, or otherwise available to the
executive under the plan;
(iii) The specific elements of compensation (e.g., salary, bonus, etc.) included in applying the payment and benefit
formula, identifying each such element;
(iv) With respect to named executive officers’ participation in multiple plans, the different purposes for each plan; and
(v) Registrant policies with regard to such matters as granting extra years of credited service.
(i) Nonqualified defined contribution and other nonqualified deferred compensation plans.
(1) Provide the information specified in paragraph (i)(2) of this Item with respect to each defined contribution or other
plan that provides for the deferral of compensation on a basis that is not tax-qualified in the following tabular format:
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NONQUALIFIED DEFERRED COMPENSATION
Name

(a)

Executive
Contributions
in Last FY
($)

(b)

Registrant
Contributions
in Last FY
($)

(c)

Aggregate
Earnings
in Last
FY
($)
(d)

Aggregate
Withdrawals/
Distributions
($)

Aggregate
Balance
at Last
FYE
($)

(e)

(f)

PEO
PFO
A
B
C

(2) The Table shall include:
(i) The name of the executive officer (column (a));
(ii) The dollar amount of aggregate executive contributions during the registrant’s last fiscal year (column (b));
(iii) The dollar amount of aggregate registrant contributions during the registrant’s last fiscal year (column (c));
(iv) The dollar amount of aggregate interest or other earnings accrued during the registrant’s last fiscal year
(column (d));
(v) The aggregate dollar amount of all withdrawals by and distributions to the executive during the registrant’s
last fiscal year (column (e)); and
(vi) The dollar amount of total balance of the executive’s account as of the end of the registrant’s last fiscal year
(column (f)).
Instruction to Item 402(i)(2).
Provide a footnote quantifying the extent to which amounts reported in the contributions and earnings columns are
reported as compensation in the last completed fiscal year in the registrant’s Summary Compensation Table and amounts
reported in the aggregate balance at last fiscal year end (column (f)) previously were reported as compensation to the named
executive officer in the registrant’s Summary Compensation Table for previous years.
(3) Provide a succinct narrative description of any material factors necessary to an understanding of each plan covered
by tabular disclosure required by this paragraph. While material factors will vary depending upon the facts, examples of such
factors may include, in given cases, among other things:
(i) The type(s) of compensation permitted to be deferred, and any limitations (by percentage of compensation or
otherwise) on the extent to which deferral is permitted;
(ii) The measures for calculating interest or other plan earnings (including whether such measure(s) are selected by
the executive or the registrant and the frequency and manner in which selections may be changed), quantifying
interest rates and other earnings measures applicable during the registrant’s last fiscal year; and
(iii) Material terms with respect to payouts, withdrawals and other distributions.
(j) Potential payments upon termination or change-in-control. Regarding each contract, agreement, plan or arrangement, whether
written or unwritten, that provides for payment(s) to a named executive officer at, following, or in connection with any
termination, including without limitation resignation, severance, retirement or a constructive termination of a named executive
officer, or a change in control of the registrant or a change in the named executive officer’s responsibilities, with respect to each
named executive officer:
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(1) Describe and explain the specific circumstances that would trigger payment(s) or the provision of other benefits,
including perquisites and health care benefits;
(2) Describe and quantify the estimated payments and benefits that would be provided in each covered circumstance,
whether they would or could be lump sum, or annual, disclosing the duration, and by whom they would be provided;
(3) Describe and explain how the appropriate payment and benefit levels are determined under the various
circumstances that trigger payments or provision of benefits;
(4) Describe and explain any material conditions or obligations applicable to the receipt of payments or benefits,
including but not limited to non-compete, non-solicitation, non-disparagement or confidentiality agreements, including the
duration of such agreements and provisions regarding waiver of breach of such agreements; and
(5) Describe any other material factors regarding each such contract, agreement, plan or arrangement.
Instructions to Item 402(j).
1. The registrant must provide quantitative disclosure under these requirements, applying the assumptions that the triggering
event took place on the last business day of the registrant’s last completed fiscal year, and the price per share of the registrant’s securities
is the closing market price as of that date. In the event that uncertainties exist as to the provision of payments and benefits or the amounts
involved, the registrant is required to make a reasonable estimate (or a reasonable estimated range of amounts) applicable to the payment or
benefit and disclose material assumptions underlying such estimates or estimated ranges in its disclosure. In such event, the disclosure
would require forward-looking information as appropriate.
2. Perquisites and other personal benefits or property may be excluded only if the aggregate amount of such compensation will be
less than $10,000. Individual perquisites and personal benefits shall be identified and quantified as required by Instruction 4 to paragraph
(c)(2)(ix) of this Item. For purposes of quantifying health care benefits, the registrant must use the assumptions used for financial
reporting purposes under generally accepted accounting principles.
3. To the extent that the form and amount of any payment or benefit that would be provided in connection with any triggering
event is fully disclosed pursuant to paragraph (h) or (i) of this Item, reference may be made to that disclosure. However, to the extent that
the form or amount of any such payment or benefit would be enhanced or its vesting or other provisions accelerated in connection

with any triggering event, such enhancement or acceleration must be disclosed pursuant to this paragraph.
4. Where a triggering event has actually occurred for a named executive officer and that individual was not serving as
a named executive officer of the registrant at the end of the last completed fiscal year, the disclosure required by this
paragraph for that named executive officer shall apply only to that triggering event.
5. The registrant need not provide information with respect to contracts, agreements, plans or arrangements to the
extent they do not discriminate in scope, terms or operation, in favor of executive officers of the registrant and that are
available generally to all salaried employees.
(k) Compensation of directors.
(1) Provide the information specified in paragraph (k)(2) of this Item, concerning the compensation of the directors for
the registrant’s last completed fiscal year, in the following tabular format:

DIRECTOR COMPENSATION
Name

(a)

Fees
Stock Option Non-Equity
Earned Awards Awards Incentive Plan
of
($)
($) Compensation
Paid in
($)
Cash
($)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Change in
Pension
Value and
Nonqualified
Deferred
Compensation
Earnings
(f)

A
B
C
D
E
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All Other
Compensation
($)

(g)

Total
($)

(h)

(2) The Table shall include:
(i) The name of each director unless such director is also a named executive officer under paragraph (a) of this Item
and his or her compensation for service as a director is fully reflected in the Summary Compensation Table
pursuant to paragraph (c) of this Item and otherwise as required pursuant to paragraphs (d) through (j) of this Item
(column (a));
(ii) The aggregate dollar amount of all fees earned or paid in cash for services as a director, including annual
retainer fees, committee and/or chairmanship fees, and meeting fees (column (b));
(iii) For awards of stock, the aggregate grant date fair value computed in accordance with FAS 123R (column (c));
(iv) For awards of stock options, with or without tandem SARs, the dollar amount recognized for financial
statement reporting purposes with respect to the fiscal year in accordance with FAS 123R (column (d));
Instruction to Item 402(k)(2)(iii) and (iv).
For each director, disclose by footnote to the appropriate column: the grant date fair value of each equity award computed in
accordance with FAS 123R; for each option, SAR or similar option like instrument for which the registrant has adjusted or
amended the exercise or base price during the last completed fiscal year, whether through amendment, cancellation or
replacement grants, or any other means (“repriced”), or otherwise has materially modified such awards, the incremental fair
value, computed as of the repricing or modification date in accordance with FAS 123R; and the aggregate number of stock
awards and the aggregate number of option awards outstanding at fiscal year end. However, the disclosure required by this
Instruction does not apply to any repricing that occurs through a pre-existing formula or mechanism in the plan or award
that results in the periodic adjustment of the option or SAR exercise or base price, an antidilution provision in a plan or award,
or a recapitalization or similar transaction equally affecting all holders of the class of securities underlying the options or SARs.
(v) The dollar value of all earnings for services performed during the fiscal year pursuant to non-equity incentive
plans as defined in paragraph (a)(6)(iii) of this Item, and all earnings on any outstanding awards (column (e));
(vi) The sum of the amounts specified in paragraphs (k)(2)(vi)(A) and (B) of this Item (column (f)) as follows:
(A) The aggregate change in the actuarial present value of the director’s accumulated benefit under all defined
benefit and actuarial pension plans (including supplemental plans) from the pension plan measurement date used for financial
statement reporting purposes with respect to the registrant’s audited financial statements for the prior completed fiscal year to
the pension plan measurement date used for financial statement reporting purposes with respect to the registrant’s audited
financial statements for the covered fiscal year; and
(B) Above-market or preferential earnings on compensation that is deferred on a basis that is not tax-qualified,
including such earnings on nonqualified defined contribution plans;
(vii) All other compensation for the covered fiscal year that the registrant could not properly report in any other
column of the Director Compensation Table (column (g)). Each compensation item that is not properly reportable in columns (b)
- (f), regardless of the amount of the compensation item, must be included in column (g). Such compensation must include, but
is not limited to:
(A) Perquisites and other personal benefits, or property, unless the aggregate amount of such compensation is
less than $10,000;
(B) All “gross-ups” or other amounts reimbursed during the fiscal year for the payment of taxes;
(C) For any security of the registrant or its subsidiaries purchased from the registrant or its subsidiaries
(through deferral of salary or bonus, or otherwise) at a discount from the market price of such security at the date of purchase,
unless that discount is available generally, either to all security holders or to all salaried employees of the registrant, the
compensation cost, if any, computed in accordance with FAS 123R;
(D) The amount paid or accrued to any director pursuant to a plan or arrangement in connection with:
(1) The resignation, retirement or any other termination of such director; or
(2) A change in control of the registrant;
(E) Registrant contributions or other allocations to vested and unvested defined contribution plans;
(F) Consulting fees earned from, or paid or payable by the registrant and/or its subsidiaries (including joint
ventures);
(G) The annual costs of payments and promises of payments pursuant to director legacy programs and similar
charitable award programs;
(H) The dollar value of any insurance premiums paid by, or on behalf of, the registrant during the covered
fiscal year with respect to life insurance for the benefit of a director; and
(I) The dollar value of any dividends or other earnings paid on stock or option awards, when those amounts
were not factored into the grant date fair value for the stock or option award; and
Instructions to Item 402(k)(2)(vii).
1. Programs in which registrants agree to make donations to one or more charitable institutions in a director’s name,
payable by the registrant currently or upon a designated event, such as the retirement or death of the director, are charitable
awards programs or director legacy programs for purposes of the disclosure required by paragraph (k)(2)(vii)(G) of this Item.
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Provide footnote disclosure of the total dollar amount payable under the program and other material terms of each such program
for which tabular disclosure is provided.
2. Any item reported for a director pursuant to paragraph (k)(2)(vii) of this Item that is not a perquisite or personal
benefit and whose value exceeds $10,000 must be identified and quantified in a footnote to column (g). All items of
compensation are required to be included in the Director Compensation Table without regard to whether such items are required
to be identified other than as specifically noted in this Item.
3. Perquisites and personal benefits may be excluded as long as the total value of all perquisites and personal benefits
for a director is less than $10,000. If the total value of all perquisites and personal benefits is $10,000 or more for any director,
then each perquisite or personal benefit, regardless of its amount, must be identified by type. If perquisites and personal
benefits are required to be reported for a director pursuant to this rule, then each perquisite or personal benefit that exceeds the
greater of $25,000 or 10% of the total amount of perquisites and personal benefits for that director must be quantified and
disclosed in a footnote. Perquisites and other personal benefits shall be valued on the basis of the aggregate incremental cost
to the registrant. With respect to the perquisite or other personal benefit for which footnote quantification is required, the
registrant shall describe in the footnote its methodology for computing the aggregate incremental cost. Reimbursements of
taxes owed with respect to perquisites or other personal benefits must be included in column (g) and are subject to separate
quantification and identification as tax reimbursements (paragraph (k)(2)(vii)(B) of this Item) even if the associated perquisites
or other personal benefits are not required to be included because the total amount of all perquisites or personal benefits for an
individual director is less than $10,000 or are required to be identified but are not required to be separately quantified.
(viii) The dollar value of total compensation for the covered fiscal year (column (h)). With respect to each director,
disclose the sum of all amounts reported in columns (b) through (g).
Instruction to Item 402(k)(2).
Two or more directors may be grouped in a single row in the Table if all elements of their compensation are identical.
The names of the directors for whom disclosure is presented on a group basis should be clear from the Table.
(3) Narrative to director compensation table.
Provide a narrative description of any material factors necessary to an understanding of the director compensation disclosed in
this Table. While material factors will vary depending upon the facts, examples of such factors may include, in given cases,
among other things:
(i) A description of standard compensation arrangements (such as fees for retainer, committee service, service as
chairman of the board or a committee, and meeting attendance); and
(ii) Whether any director has a different compensation arrangement, identifying that director and describing the terms of that
arrangement.
Instruction to Item 402(k).
In addition to the Instruction to paragraphs 402(k)(2)(iii) and (iv) and the Instructions to paragraph (k)(2)(vii) of this Item, the
following apply equally to paragraph (k) of this Item: Instructions 2 and 4 to paragraph (c) of this Item; Instructions to
paragraphs (c)(2)(iii) and (iv) of this Item; the Instruction to paragraphs (c)(2)(v) and (vi) of this Item; Instructions to paragraph
(c)(2)(vii) of this Item; Instructions to paragraph (c)(2)(viii) of this Item; and Instructions 1 and 5 to paragraph (c)(2)(ix) of this
Item. These Instructions apply to the columns in the Director Compensation Table that are analogous to the columns in the
Summary Compensation Table to which they refer and to disclosures under paragraph (k) of this Item that correspond to
analogous disclosures provided for in paragraph (c) of this Item to which they refer.
Instruction to Item 402. Specify the applicable fiscal year in the title to each table required under this Item which calls
for disclosure as of or for a completed fiscal year.
Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management
Reg. §229.403. Item 403.
(a)

Security ownership of certain beneficial owners. Furnish the following information, as of the most recent practicable date, in
substantially the tabular form indicated, with respect to any person (including any “group” as that term is used in section
13(d)(3) of the Exchange Act) who is known to the registrant to be the beneficial owner of more than five percent of any class
of the registrant’s voting securities. The address given in column (2) may be a business, mailing or residence address. Show
in column (3) the total number of shares beneficially owned and in column (4) the percentage of class so owned. Of the number
of shares shown in column (3), indicate by footnote or otherwise the amount known to be shares with respect to which such
listed beneficial owner has the right to acquire beneficial ownership, as specified in Rule 13d-3(d)(1) under the Exchange Act
(§240.13d-3(d)(1) of this chapter).
(1)
Title of Class

(2)
Name and Address
of Beneficial Owner

(3)
Amount and Nature
of Beneficial Owner
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(4)
Percent of Class

(b)

Security ownership of management. Furnish the following information, as of the most recent practicable date, in substantially
the tabular form indicated, as to each class of equity securities of the registrant or any of its parents or subsidiaries, including
directors’ qualifying shares, beneficially owned by all directors and nominees, naming them, each of the named executive
officers as defined in Item 402(a)(3) (§229.402(a)(3)), and directors and executive officers of the registrant as a group, without
naming them. Show in column (3) the total number of shares beneficially owned and in column (4) the percent of the class so
owned. Of the number of shares shown in column (3), indicate, by footnote or otherwise, the amount of shares that are pledged
as security and the amount of shares with respect to which such persons have the right to acquire beneficial ownership as
specified in §240.13d-3(d)(1) of this chapter.
(1)
Title of Class

(c)

(2)
Name
of Beneficial Owner

(3)
Amount and Nature
of Beneficial Owner

(4)
Percent of Class

Changes in control. Describe any arrangements, known to the registrant, including any pledge by any person of securities of
the registrant or any of its parents, the operation of which may at a subsequent date result in a change in control of the registrant.

Instructions to Item 403.
1.

The percentages are to be calculated on the basis of the amount of outstanding securities, excluding securities
held by or for the account of the registrant or its subsidiaries, plus securities deemed outstanding pursuant to
Rule 13d-3(d)(1) under the Exchange Act [17 CFR 240.13d-3(d)(1)]. For purposes of paragraph (b), if the
percentage of shares beneficially owned by any director or nominee, or by all directors and officers of the
registrant as a group, does not exceed one percent of the class so owned, the registrant may, in lieu of furnishing
a precise percentage, indicate this fact by means of an asterisk and explanatory footnote or other similar means.

2.

For the purposes of this Item, beneficial ownership shall be determined in accordance with Rule 13d-3 under the
Exchange Act (§240.13d-3 of this chapter). Include such additional subcolumns or other appropriate explanation
of column (3) necessary to reflect amounts as to which the beneficial owner has (A) sole voting power, (B) shared
voting power, (C) sole investment power, or (D) shared investment power.

3.

The registrant shall be deemed to know the contents of any statements filed with the Commission pursuant to
section 13(d) or 13(g) of the Exchange Act. When applicable, a registrant may rely upon information set forth in
such statements unless the registrant knows or has reason to believe that such information is not complete or
accurate or that a statement or amendment should have been filed and was not.
For purposes of furnishing information pursuant to paragraph (a) of this Item, the registrant may indicate the
source and date of such information.

4.
5.

Where more than one beneficial owner is known to be listed for the same securities, appropriate disclosure should
be made to avoid confusion. For purposes of paragraph (b), in computing the aggregate number of shares owned
by directors and officers of the registrant as a group, the same shares shall not be counted more than once.

6.

Paragraph (c) of this Item does not require a description of ordinary default provisions contained in the charter,
trust indentures or other governing instruments relating to securities of the registrant.

7.

Where the holder(s) of voting securities reported pursuant to paragraph (a) hold more than five percent of any
class of voting securities of the registrant pursuant to any voting trust or similar agreement, state the title of such
securities, the amount held or to be held pursuant to the trust or agreement (if not clear from the table) and the
duration of the agreement. Give the names and ad dresses of the voting trustees and outline briefly their voting
rights and other powers under the trust or agreement.

Transactions with related persons, promoters and certain control persons.
Reg. §229.404. Item 404.
(a)

Transactions with related persons. Describe any transaction, since the beginning of the registrant’s last fiscal year, or any
currently proposed transaction, in which the registrant was or is to be a participant and the amount involved exceeds
$120,000, and in which any related person had or will have a direct or indirect material interest. Disclose the following information
regarding the transaction:
(1)

The name of the related person and the basis on which the person is a related person.

(2)

The related person’s interest in the transaction with the registrant, including the related person’s position(s) or
relationship(s) with, or ownership in, a firm, corporation, or other entity that is a party to, or has an interest in, the
transaction.

(3)

The approximate dollar value of the amount involved in the transaction.

(4)

The approximate dollar value of the amount of the related person’s interest in the transaction, which shall be computed
without regard to the amount of profit or loss.
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(5) In the case of indebtedness, disclosure of the amount involved in the transaction shall include the largest aggregate
amount of principal outstanding during the period for which disclosure is provided, the amount thereof outstanding as of the
latest practicable date, the amount of principal paid during the periods for which disclosure is provided, the amount of interest
paid during the period for which disclosure is provided, and the rate or amount of interest payable on the indebtedness.
(6) Any other information regarding the transaction or the related person in the context of the transaction that is material
to investors in light of the circumstances of the particular transaction.
Instructions to Item 404(a).
1. For the purposes of paragraph (a) of this Item, the term related person means:
a. Any person who was in any of the following categories at any time during the specified period for which disclosure
under paragraph (a) of this Item is required:
i. Any director or executive officer of the registrant;
ii. Any nominee for director, when the information called for by paragraph (a) of this Item is being
presented in a proxy or information statement relating to the election of that nominee for director; or
iii. Any immediate family member of a director or executive officer of the registrant, or of any nominee for director when
the information called for by paragraph (a) of this Item is being presented in a proxy or information statement relating to the
election of that nominee for director, which means any child, stepchild, parent, stepparent, spouse, sibling, mother-in-law,
father-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, brother-in-law, or sister-in-law of such director, executive officer or nominee for
director, and any person (other than a tenant or employee) sharing the household of such director, executive officer or nominee
for director; and
b. Any person who was in any of the following categories when a transaction in which such person had a direct or indirect
material interest occurred or existed:
i. A security holder covered by Item 403(a) (§229.403(a)); or
ii. Any immediate family member of any such security holder, which means any child, stepchild, parent, stepparent,
spouse, sibling, mother-in-law, father-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, brother-in-law, or sister-in-law of such security holder,
and any person (other than a tenant or employee) sharing the household of such security holder.
2. For purposes of paragraph (a) of this Item, a transaction includes, but is not limited to, any financial transaction, arrangement
or relationship (including any indebtedness or guarantee of indebtedness) or any series of similar transactions, arrangements or
relationships.
3. The amount involved in the transaction shall be computed by determining the dollar value of the amount involved in the
transaction in question, which shall include:
a. In the case of any lease or other transaction providing for periodic payments or installments, the aggregate amount of all
periodic payments or installments due on or after the beginning of the registrant’s last fiscal year, including any required or
optional payments due during or at the conclusion of the lease or other transaction providing for periodic payments or
installments; and
b. In the case of indebtedness, the largest aggregate amount of all indebtedness outstanding at any time since the
beginning of the registrant’s last fiscal year and all amounts of interest payable on it during the last fiscal year.
4. In the case of a transaction involving indebtedness:
a. The following items of indebtedness may be excluded from the calculation of the amount of indebtedness and need not
be disclosed: amounts due from the related person for purchases of goods and services subject to usual trade terms, for
ordinary business travel and expense payments and for other transactions in the ordinary course of business;
b. Disclosure need not be provided of any indebtedness transaction for the related persons specified in Instruction 1.b. to
paragraph (a) of this Item; and
c. If the lender is a bank, savings and loan association, or broker-dealer extending credit under Federal Reserve Regulation
T (12 CFR part 220) and the loans are not disclosed as nonaccrual, past due, restructured or potential problems (see Item III.C.1.
and 2. of Industry Guide 3, Statistical Disclosure by Bank Holding Companies (17 CFR 229.802(c))), disclosure under paragraph
(a) of this Item may consist of a statement, if such is the case, that the loans to such persons:
i. Were made in the ordinary course of business;
ii. Were made on substantially the same terms, including interest rates and collateral, as those prevailing at the time for
comparable loans with persons not related to the lender; and
iii. Did not involve more than the normal risk of collectibility or present other unfavorable features.
5.a. Disclosure of an employment relationship or transaction involving an executive officer and any related compensation solely
resulting from that employment relationship or transaction need not be provided pursuant to paragraph (a) of this Item if:
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i. The compensation arising from the relationship or transaction is reported pursuant to Item 402 (§229.402); or
ii. The executive officer is not an immediate family member (as specified in Instruction 1 to paragraph (a) of this Item)
and such compensation would have been reported under Item 402 (§229.402) as compensation earned for services to the
registrant if the executive officer was a named executive officer as that term is defined in Item 402(a)(3) (§229.402(a)(3)), and
such compensation had been approved, or recommended to the board of directors of the registrant for approval, by the
compensation committee of the board of directors (or group of independent directors performing a similar function) of the
registrant.
b. Disclosure of compensation to a director need not be provided pursuant to paragraph (a) of this Item if the compensation
is reported pursuant to Item 402(k) (§229.402(k)).
6. A person who has a position or relationship with a firm, corporation, or other entity that engages in a transaction with the
registrant shall not be deemed to have an indirect material interest within the meaning of paragraph (a) of this Item where:
a. The interest arises only:
i. From such person’s position as a director of another corporation or organization that is a party to the transaction; or
ii. From the direct or indirect ownership by such person and all other persons specified in Instruction 1 to paragraph (a)
of this Item, in the aggregate, of less than a ten percent equity interest in another person (other than a partnership) which is a
party to the transaction; or
iii. From both such position and ownership; or
b. The interest arises only from such person’s position as a limited partner in a partnership in which the person and all
other persons specified in Instruction 1 to paragraph (a) of this Item, have an interest of less than ten percent, and the person is
not a general partner of and does not hold another position in the partnership.
7. Disclosure need not be provided pursuant to paragraph (a) of this Item if:
a. The transaction is one where the rates or charges involved in the transaction are determined by competitive bids, or
the transaction involves the rendering of services as a common or contract carrier, or public utility, at rates or charges fixed in
conformity with law or governmental authority;
b. The transaction involves services as a bank depositary of funds, transfer agent, registrar, trustee under a trust
indenture, or similar services; or
c. The interest of the related person arises solely from the ownership of a class of equity securities of the registrant
and all holders of that class of equity securities of the registrant received the same benefit on a pro rata basis.
(b) Review, approval or ratification of transactions with related persons.
(1) Describe the registrant’s policies and procedures for the review, approval, or ratification of any transaction required to be
reported under paragraph (a) of this Item. While the material features of such policies and procedures will vary depending on
the particular circumstances, examples of such features may include, in given cases, among other things:
(i) The types of transactions that are covered by such policies and procedures;
(ii) The standards to be applied pursuant to such policies and procedures;
(iii) The persons or groups of persons on the board of directors or otherwise who are responsible for applying such
policies and procedures; and
(iv) A statement of whether such policies and procedures are in writing and, if not, how such policies and procedures are
evidenced.
(2) Identify any transaction required to be reported under paragraph (a) of this Item since the beginning of the registrant’s last
fiscal year where such policies and procedures did not require review, approval or ratification or where such policies and
procedures were not followed.
Instruction to Item 404(b).
Disclosure need not be provided pursuant to this paragraph regarding any transaction that occurred at a time before the related
person became one of the enumerated persons in Instruction 1.a.i., ii., or iii. to Item 404(a) if such transaction did not continue
after the related person became one of the enumerated persons in Instruction 1.a.i., ii., or iii. to Item 404(a).
(c) Promoters and certain control persons.
(1) Registrants that are filing a registration statement on Form S-1 or Form SB-2 under the Securities Act (§239.11 or §239.10
of this chapter) or on Form 10 or Form 10-SB under the Exchange Act (§249.210 or §249.210b of this chapter) and that had a
promoter at any time during the past five fiscal years shall:
(i) State the names of the promoter(s), the nature and amount of anything of value (including money, property,
contracts, options or rights of any kind) received or to be received by each promoter, directly or indirectly, from the registrant
and the nature and amount of any assets, services or other consideration therefore received or to be received by the registrant;
and
(ii) As to any assets acquired or to be acquired by the registrant from a promoter, state the amount at which the assets
were acquired or are to be acquired and the principle followed or to be followed in determining such amount, and identify the
persons making the determination and their relationship, if any, with the registrant or any promoter. If the assets were acquired
by the promoter within two years prior to their transfer to the registrant, also state the cost thereof to the promoter.
(2) Registrants shall provide the disclosure required by paragraphs (c)(1)(i) and (c)(1)(ii) of this Item as to any person who
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acquired control of a registrant that is a shell company, or any person that is part of a group, consisting of two or more persons
that agree to act together for the purpose of acquiring, holding, voting or disposing of equity securities of a registrant, that
acquired control of a registrant that is a shell company. For purposes of this Item, shell company has the same meaning as in
Rule 405 under the Securities Act (17 CFR 230.405) and Rule 12b-2 under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.12b-2).
Instructions to Item 404.
1. If the information called for by this Item is being presented in a registration statement filed pursuant to the Securities Act
or the Exchange Act, information shall be given for the periods specified in the Item and, in addition, for the two fiscal years
preceding the registrant’s last fiscal year, unless the information is being incorporated by reference into a registration statement
on Form S-4 (17 CFR 239.25), in which case, information shall be given for the periods specified in the Item.
2. A foreign private issuer will be deemed to comply with this Item if it provides the information required by Item 7.B. of
Form 20-F (17 CFR 249.220f) with more detailed information provided if otherwise made publicly available or required to be
disclosed by the issuer’s home jurisdiction or a market in which its securities are listed or traded.
(2) Registrants shall provide the disclosure required by paragraphs (c)(1)(i) and (c)(1)(ii) of this Item as to any person who
acquired control of a registrant that is a shell company, or any person that is part of a group, consisting of two or more persons
that agree to act together for the purpose of acquiring, holding, voting or disposing of equity securities of a registrant, that
acquired control of a registrant that is a shell company. For purposes of this Item, shell company has the same meaning as in
Rule 405 under the Securities Act (17 CFR 230.405) and Rule 12b-2 under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.12b-2).
Instructions to Item 404.
1. If the information called for by this Item is being presented in a registration statement filed pursuant to the Securities Act or
the Exchange Act, information shall be given for the periods specified in the Item and, in addition, for the two fiscal years
preceding the registrant’s last fiscal year, unless the information is being incorporated by reference into a registration statement
on Form S-4 (17 CFR 239.25), in which case, information shall be given for the periods specified in the Item.
2. A foreign private issuer will be deemed to comply with this Item if it provides the information required by Item 7.B. of Form
20-F (17 CFR 249.220f) with more detailed information provided if otherwise made publicly available or required to be disclosed
by the issuer’s home jurisdiction or a market in which its securities are listed or traded.
Compliance With Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act
Reg §229.405. Item 405. Every registrant having a class of equity securities registered pursuant to Section 12 of the Exchange Act
(15 U.S.C. 78(l), every closed-end investment company registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940 (15 U.S.C. § 80a-1 et
seq.), and every holding company registered pursuant to the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935 (15 U.S.C. § 79a et seq.)
shall:
(a)

Based solely upon a review of Forms 3 (§ 249.103) and 4 (§ 249.104) and amendments thereto furnished to the registrant pursuant
to § 240.16a-3(e) during its most recent fiscal year and Forms 5 and amendments thereto (§ 249.105) furnished to the registrant
with respect to its most recent fiscal year, and any written representation referred to in (b)(1) of this section:
(1)

Under the caption “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance,” identify each person who, at any time
during the fiscal year, was a director, officer, beneficial owner of more than ten percent of any class of equity securities
of the registrant registered pursuant to section 12 of the Exchange Act with respect to the registrant because of the
requirements of section 30 of the Investment Company Act (“reporting person”) that failed to file on a timely basis, as
disclosed in the above Forms, reports required by section 16(a) of the Exchange Act during the most recent fiscal year
or prior fiscal years.

(2)

For each such person, set forth the number of late reports, the number of transactions that were not reported on a timely
basis, and any known failure to file a required Form. A known failure to file would include, but not be limited to, a failure
to file a Form 3, which is required by all reporting persons, and a failure to file a Form 5 in the absence of the written
representation referred to in paragraph (b)(1) of this section, unless the registrant otherwise knows that no Form 5 is
required.

Note:The disclosure requirement is based on a review of the forms submitted to the registrant during and with respect to its
most recent fiscal year, as specified above. Accordingly, a failure to file timely need only be disclosed once. For example, if
in the most recently concluded fiscal year a reporting person filed a Form 4 disclosing a transaction that took place in the prior
fiscal year, and should have been reported in that year, the registrant should disclose that late filing and transaction pursuant
to this Item 405 with respect to the most recently concluded fiscal year, but not in material filed with respect to subsequent
years.
(b)

With respect to the disclosure required by paragraph (a) of this section, if the registrant:
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(1)

Receives a written representation from the reporting person that no Form 5 is required; and

(2)

Maintains the representation for two years, making a copy available to the Commission or its staff upon request, the
registrant need not identify such reporting person pursuant to paragraph (a) of this section as having failed to file a Form
5 with respect to that fiscal year.

Code of Ethics
Reg. §229.406. Item 406
a. Disclose whether the registrant has adopted a code of ethics that applies to the registrant’s principal executive officer,
principal financial officer, principal accounting officer or controller, or persons performing similar functions. If the registrant has
not adopted such a code of ethics, explain why it has not done so.
b. For purposes of this Item 406, the term code of ethics means written standards that are reasonably designed to deter wrongdoing and to promote:
1.Honest and ethical conduct, including the ethical handling of actual or apparent conflicts of interest between personal and professional relationships;
2.Full, fair, accurate, timely, and understandable disclosure in reports and documents that a registrant files with, or
submits to, the Commission and in other public communications made by the registrant;
3.Compliance with applicable governmental laws, rules and regulations;
4.The prompt internal reporting of violations of the code to an appropriate person or persons identified in the code;
and
5.Accountability for adherence to the code.
c. The registrant must:
1.

File with the Commission a copy of its code of ethics that applies to the registrant’s principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer or controller, or persons performing similar functions, as an exhibit to
its annual report;

2.

Post the text of such code of ethics on its Internet website and disclose, in its annual report, its Internet address and
the fact that it has posted such code of ethics on its Internet Web site; or

3.
d.

Undertake in its annual report filed with the Commission to provide to any person without charge, upon request, a
copy of such code of ethics and explain the manner in which such request may be made.
If the registrant intends to satisfy the disclosure requirement under Item 10 of Form 8-K regarding an amendment to, or a
waiver from, a provision of its code of ethics that applies to the registrant’s principal executive officer, principal financial
officer, principal accounting officer or controller, or persons performing similar functions and that relates to any element
of the code of ethics definition enumerated in paragraph (b) of this Item by posting such information on its Internet
website, disclose the registrant’s Internet address and such intention.

Instructions to Item 406.
1. A registrant may have separate codes of ethics for different types of officers. Furthermore, a code of ethics within
the meaning of paragraph (b) of this Item may be a portion of a broader document that addresses additional topics or
that applies to more persons than those specified in paragraph (a). In satisfying the requirements of paragraph (c), a
registrant need only file, post or provide the portions of a broader document that constitutes a code of ethics as
defined in paragraph (b) and that apply to the persons specified in paragraph (a).
2.
If a registrant elects to satisfy paragraph (c) of this Item by posting its code of ethics on its website pursuant to paragraph (c)(2), the code of ethics must remain accessible on its Web site for as long as the registrant remains subject to the
requirements of this Item and chooses to comply with this Item by posting its code on its Web site pursuant to paragraph
(c)(2).
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§229.407 (Item 407) Corporate governance.
(a) Director independence. Identify each director and, when the disclosure called for by this paragraph is being presented
in a proxy or information statement relating to the election of directors, each nominee for director, that is independent under the
independence standards applicable to the registrant under paragraph (a)(1) of this Item. In addition, if such independence
standards contain independence requirements for committees of the board of directors, identify each director that is a member
of the compensation, nominating or audit committee that is not independent under such committee independence standards. If
the registrant does not have a separately designated audit, nominating or compensation committee or committee performing
similar functions, the registrant must provide the disclosure of directors that are not independent with respect to all members of
the board of directors applying such committee independence standards.
(1) In determining whether or not the director or nominee for director is independent for the purposes of paragraph (a)
of this Item, the registrant shall use the applicable definition of independence, as follows:
(i) If the registrant is a listed issuer whose securities are listed on a national securities exchange or in an interdealer quotation system which has requirements that a majority of the board of directors be independent, the registrant’s
definition of independence that it uses for determining if a majority of the board of directors is independent in compliance with
the listing standards applicable to the registrant. When determining whether the members of a committee of the board of
directors are independent, the registrant’s definition of independence that it uses for determining if the members of that specific
committee are independent in compliance with the independence standards applicable for the members of the specific committee
in the listing standards of the national securities exchange or inter-dealer quotation system that the registrant uses for
determining if a majority of the board of directors are independent. If the registrant does not have independence standards for a
committee, the independence standards for that specific committee in the listing standards of the national securities exchange
or inter-dealer quotation system that the registrant uses for determining if a majority of the board of directors are independent.
(ii) If the registrant is not a listed issuer, a definition of independence of a national securities exchange or of an
inter-dealer quotation system which has requirements that a majority of the board of directors be independent, and state which
definition is used. Whatever such definition the registrant chooses, it must use the same definition with respect to all directors
and nominees for director. When determining whether the members of a specific committee of the board of directors are
independent, if the national securities exchange or national securities association whose standards are used has independence
standards for the members of a specific committee, use those committee specific standards.
(iii) If the information called for by paragraph (a) of this Item is being presented in a registration statement on Form
S-1 (§239.11 of this chapter) or Form SB-2 (§239.10 of this chapter) under the Securities Act or on a Form 10 (§249.210 of this
chapter) or Form 10-SB (§249.210b of this chapter) under the Exchange Act where the registrant has applied for listing with a
national securities exchange or in an inter-dealer quotation system which has requirements that a majority of the board of
directors be independent, the definition of independence that the registrant uses for determining if a majority of the board of
directors is independent, and the definition of independence that the registrant uses for determining if members of the specific
committee of the board of directors are independent, that is in compliance with the independence listing standards of the
national securities exchange or inter-dealer quotation system on which it has applied for listing, or if the registrant has not
adopted such definitions, the independence standards for determining if the majority of the board of directors is independent
and if members of the committee of the board of directors are independent of that national securities exchange or inter-dealer
quotation system.
(2) Registrants shall provide the disclosure required by paragraph (a) of this Item for any person who served as a director
during any part of the last completed fiscal year, except that no information called for by paragraph (a) of this Item need be
given in a registration statement filed at a time when the registrant is not subject to the reporting requirements of section 13(a)
or 15(d) of the Exchange Act (15 U.S.C. 78m(a) or 78o(d))
(3) For each director and nominee for director that is identified as independent, describe, by specific category or type, any
transactions, relationships or arrangements not disclosed pursuant to Item 404(a) (§229.404(a)), or for investment companies,
Item 22(b) of Schedule 14A (§240.14a-101 of this chapter), that were considered by the board of directors under the applicable
independence definitions in determining that the director is independent.
Instructions to Item 407(a).
1. If the registrant is a listed issuer whose securities are listed on a national securities exchange or in an inter-dealer quotation
system which has requirements that a majority of the board of directors be independent, and also has exemptions to those
requirements (for independence of a majority of the board of directors or committee member independence) upon which the
registrant relied, disclose the exemption relied upon and explain the basis for the registrant’s conclusion that such exemption is
applicable. The same disclosure should be provided if the registrant is not a listed issuer and the national securities exchange
or inter-dealer quotation system selected by the registrant has exemptions that are applicable to the registrant. Any national
securities exchange or inter-dealer quotation system which has requirements that at least 50 percent of the members of a small
business issuer’s board of directors must be independent shall be considered a national securities exchange or inter-dealer
quotation system which has requirements that a majority of the board of directors be independent for the purposes of the
disclosure required by paragraph (a) of this Item.
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2. Registrants shall provide the disclosure required by paragraph (a) of this Item for any person who served as a director during
any part of the last completed fiscal year, except that no information called for by paragraph (a) of this Item need be given in a
registration statement filed at a time when the registrant is not subject to the reporting requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of
the Exchange Act (15 U.S.C. 78m(a) or 78o(d)) respecting any director who is no longer a director at the time of effectiveness of
the registration statement.
3. The description of the specific categories or types of transactions, relationships or arrangements required by paragraph (a)(3)
of this Item must be provided in such detail as is necessary to fully describe the nature of the transactions, relationships or
arrangements.
(b) Board meetings and committees; annual meeting attendance.
(1) State the total number of meetings of the board of directors (including regularly scheduled and special meetings) which
were held during the last full fiscal year. Name each incumbent director who during the last full fiscal year attended fewer than
75 percent of the aggregate of:
(i) The total number of meetings of the board of directors (held during the period for which he has been a director); and
(ii) The total number of meetings held by all committees of the board on which he served (during the periods that he
served).
(2) Describe the registrant’s policy, if any, with regard to board members’ attendance at annual meetings of security holders
and state the number of board members who attended the prior year’s annual meeting.
Instruction to Item 407(b)(2).
In lieu of providing the information required by paragraph (b)(2) of this Item in the proxy statement, the registrant may instead
provide the registrant’s Web site address where such information appears.
(3) State whether or not the registrant has standing audit, nominating and compensation committees of the board of
directors, or committees performing similar functions. If the registrant has such committees, however designated, identify each
committee member, state the number of committee meetings held by each such committee during the last fiscal year and describe
briefly the functions performed by each such committee. Such disclosure need not be provided to the extent it is duplicative of
disclosure provided in accordance with paragraph (c), (d) or (e) of this Item.
(c) Nominating committee. (1) If the registrant does not have a standing nominating committee or committee performing similar
functions, state the basis for the view of the board of directors that it is appropriate for the registrant not to have such a
committee and identify each director who participates in the consideration of director nominees.
(2) Provide the following information regarding the registrant’s director nomination process:
(i) State whether or not the nominating committee has a charter. If the nominating committee has a charter, provide the
disclosure required by Instruction 2 to this Item regarding the nominating committee charter;
(ii) If the nominating committee has a policy with regard to the consideration of any director candidates recommended
by security holders, provide a description of the material elements of that policy, which shall include, but need not be limited to,
a statement as to whether the committee will consider director candidates recommended by security holders;
(iii) If the nominating committee does not have a policy with regard to the consideration of any director candidates
recommended by security holders, state that fact and state the basis for the view of the board of directors that it is appropriate
for the registrant not to have such a policy;
(iv) If the nominating committee will consider candidates recommended by security holders, describe the procedures to
be followed by security holders in submitting such recommendations;
(v) Describe any specific minimum qualifications that the nominating committee believes must be met by a nominating
committee-recommended nominee for a position on the registrant’s board of directors, and describe any specific qualities or
skills that the nominating committee believes are necessary for one or more of the registrant’s directors to possess;
(vi) Describe the nominating committee’s process for identifying and evaluating nominees for director, including
nominees recommended by security holders, and any differences in the manner in which the nominating committee evaluates
nominees for director based on whether the nominee is recommended by a security holder;
(vii) With regard to each nominee approved by the nominating committee for inclusion on the registrant’s proxy card
(other than nominees who are executive officers or who are directors standing for re-election), state which one or more of the
following categories of persons or entities recommended that nominee: security holder, non-management director, chief
executive officer, other executive officer, third-party search firm, or other specified source. With regard to each such nominee
approved by a nominating committee of an investment company, state which one or more of the
following additional categories of persons or entities recommended that nominee: security holder, director, chief executive
officer, other executive officer, or employee of the investment company’s investment adviser, principal underwriter, or any
affiliated person of the investment adviser or principal underwriter;
(viii) If the registrant pays a fee to any third party or parties to identify or evaluate or assist in identifying or evaluating
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potential nominees, disclose the function performed by each such third party; and
(ix) If the registrant’s nominating committee received, by a date not later than the 120th calendar day before the date of
the registrant’s proxy statement released to security holders in connection with the previous year’s annual meeting, a
recommended nominee from a security holder that beneficially owned more than 5% of the registrant’s voting common stock for
at least one year as of the date the recommendation was made, or from a group of security holders that beneficially owned, in
the aggregate, more than 5% of the registrant’s voting common stock, with each of the securities used to calculate that
ownership held for at least one year as of the date the recommendation was made, identify the candidate and the security holder
or security holder group that recommended the candidate and disclose whether the nominating committee chose to nominate
the candidate, provided, however, that no such identification or disclosure is required without the written consent of both the
security holder or security holder group and the candidate to be so identified.
Instructions to Item 407(c)(2)(ix).
1. For purposes of paragraph (c)(2)(ix) of this Item, the percentage of securities held by a nominating security holder may be
determined using information set forth in the registrant’s most recent quarterly or annual report, and any current report
subsequent thereto, filed with the Commission pursuant to the Exchange Act (or, in the case of a registrant that is an
investment company registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940, the registrant’s most recent report on Form N-CSR
(§§249.331 and 274.128 of this chapter)), unless the party relying on such report knows or has reason to believe that the
information contained therein is inaccurate.
2. For purposes of the registrant’s obligation to provide the disclosure specified in paragraph (c)(2)(ix) of this Item, where the
date of the annual meeting has been changed by more than 30 days from the date of the previous year’s meeting, the obligation
under that Item will arise where the registrant receives the security holder recommendation a reasonable time before the
registrant begins to print and mail its proxy materials.
3. For purposes of paragraph (c)(2)(ix) of this Item, the percentage of securities held by a recommending security holder, as well
as the holding period of those securities, may be determined by the registrant if the security holder is the registered holder of
the securities. If the security holder is not the registered owner of the securities, he or she can submit one of the following to
the registrant to evidence the required ownership percentage and holding period:
a. A written statement from the “record” holder of the securities (usually a broker or bank) verifying that, at the time the
security holder made the recommendation, he or she had held the required securities for at least one year; or
b. If the security holder has filed a Schedule 13D (§240.13d-101 of this chapter), Schedule 13G (§240.13d-102 of this
chapter), Form 3 (§249.103 of this chapter), Form 4 (§249.104 of this chapter), and/or Form 5 (§249.105 of this chapter), or
amendments to those documents or updated forms, reflecting ownership of the securities as of or before the date of the
recommendation, a copy of the schedule and/or form, and any subsequent amendments reporting a change in ownership level,
as well as a written statement that the security holder continuously held the securities for the one-year period as of the date of
the recommendation.
4. For purposes of the registrant’s obligation to provide the disclosure specified in paragraph (c)(2)(ix) of this Item, the security
holder or group must have provided to the registrant, at the time of the recommendation, the written consent of all parties to be
identified and, where the security holder or group members are not registered holders, proof that the security holder or group
satisfied the required ownership percentage and holding period as of the date of the recommendation.
Instruction to Item 407(c)(2).
For purposes of paragraph (c)(2) of this Item, the term nominating committee refers not only to nominating committees and
committees performing similar functions, but also to groups of directors fulfilling the role of a nominating committee, including
the entire board of directors.
(3) Describe any material changes to the procedures by which security holders may recommend nominees to the
registrant’s board of directors, where those changes were implemented after the registrant last provided disclosure in response
to the requirements of paragraph (c)(2)(iv) of this Item, or paragraph (c)(3) of this Item.
Instructions to Item 407(c)(3).
1. The disclosure required in paragraph (c)(3) of this Item need only be provided in a registrant’s quarterly or annual
reports.
2. For purposes of paragraph (c)(3) of this Item, adoption of procedures by which security holders may recommend
nominees to the registrant’s board of directors, where the registrant’s most recent disclosure in response to the requirements of
paragraph (c)(2)(iv) of this Item, or paragraph (c)(3) of this Item, indicated that the registrant did not have in place such
procedures, will constitute a material change.
(d) Audit committee.
(1) State whether or not the audit committee has a charter. If the audit committee has a charter, provide the disclosure required
by Instruction 2 to this Item regarding the audit committee charter.
(2) If a listed issuer’s board of directors determines, in accordance with the listing standards applicable to the issuer, to appoint
a director to the audit committee who is not independent (apart from the requirements in §240.10A-3 of this chapter), including
as a result of exceptional or limited or similar circumstances, disclose the nature of the relationship that makes that individual
not independent and the reasons for the board of directors’ determination.
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(3)(i) The audit committee must state whether:
(A) The audit committee has reviewed and discussed the audited financial statements with management;
(B) The audit committee has discussed with the independent auditors the matters required to be discussed by the statement on
Auditing Standards No. 61, as amended (AICPA, Professional Standards, Vol. 1. AU section 380), 1 as adopted by the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board in Rule 3200T;
(C) The audit committee has received the written disclosures and the letter from the independent accountants required by
Independence Standards Board Standard No. 1 (Independence Standards Board Standard No. 1, Independence Discussions
with Audit Committees),2 as adopted by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board in Rule 3600T, and has discussed
with the independent accountant the independent accountant’s independence; and
(D) Based on the review and discussions referred to in paragraphs (d)(3)(i)(A) through (d)(3)(i)(C) of this Item, the audit
committee recommended to the board of directors that the audited financial statements be included in the company’s annual
report on Form 10-K (17 CFR 249.310) (or, for closed-end investment companies registered under the Investment Company Act
of 1940 (15 U.S.C. 80a-1 et seq.), the annual report to shareholders required by section 30(e) of the Investment Company Act of
1940 (15 U.S.C. 80a-29(e)) and Rule 30d-1 (17 CFR 270.30d-1) thereunder) for the last fiscal year for filing with the Commission.
(ii) The name of each member of the company’s audit committee (or, in the absence of an audit committee, the board committee
performing equivalent functions or the entire board of directors) must appear below the disclosure required by paragraph
(d)(3)(i) of this Item.
1 Available at www.pcaobus.org/standards/interim_standards/auditing_standards/index_au.asp?series=300&section=300.
2 Available at www.pcaobus.org/Standards/Interim_Standards/Independence_Standards/ISB1.pdf.

(4)(i) If the registrant meets the following requirements, provide the disclosure in paragraph (d)(4)(ii) of this Item:
(A) The registrant is a listed issuer, as defined in §240.10A-3 of this chapter;
(B) The registrant is filing either an annual report on Form 10-K or 10-KSB (17 CFR 249.310 or 17 CFR 249.310b), or a
proxy statement or information statement pursuant to the Exchange Act (15 U.S.C. 78a et seq.) if action is to be taken with
respect to the election of directors; and
(C) The registrant is neither:
(1) A subsidiary of another listed issuer that is relying on the exemption in §240.10A-3(c)(2) of this chapter; nor
(2) Relying on any of the exemptions in §240.10A-3(c)(4) through (c)(7) of this chapter.
(ii)(A) State whether or not the registrant has a separately-designated standing audit committee established in
accordance with section 3(a)(58)(A) of the Exchange Act (15 U.S.C. 78c(a)(58)(A)), or a committee performing similar functions.
If the registrant has such a committee, however designated, identify each committee member. If the entire board of directors is
acting as the registrant’s audit committee as specified in section 3(a)(58)(B) of the Exchange Act (15 U.S.C. 78c(a)(58)(B)), so
state.
(B) If applicable, provide the disclosure required by §240.10A-3(d) of this chapter regarding an exemption from the
listing standards for audit committees.
(5) Audit committee financial expert.
(i)(A) Disclose that the registrant’s board of directors has determined that the registrant either:
(1) Has at least one audit committee financial expert serving on its audit committee; or
(2) Does not have an audit committee financial expert serving on its audit committee.
(B) If the registrant provides the disclosure required by paragraph (d)(5)(i)(A)(1) of this Item, it must disclose the name
of the audit committee financial expert and whether that person is independent, as independence for audit committee members is
defined in the listing standards applicable to the listed issuer.
(C) If the registrant provides the disclosure required by paragraph (d)(5)(i)(A)(2) of this Item, it must explain why it
does not have an audit committee financial expert.
Instruction to Item 407(d)(5)(i).
If the registrant’s board of directors has determined that the registrant has more than one audit committee financial
expert serving on its audit committee, the registrant may, but is not required to, disclose the names of those additional persons.
A registrant choosing to identify such persons must indicate whether they are independent pursuant to paragraph (d)(5)(i)(B)
of this Item.
(ii) For purposes of this Item, an audit committee financial expert means a person who has the following attributes:
(A) An understanding of generally accepted accounting principles and financial statements;
(B) The ability to assess the general application of such principles in connection with the accounting for estimates,
accruals and reserves;
(C) Experience preparing, auditing, analyzing or evaluating financial statements that present a breadth and level of
complexity of accounting issues that are generally comparable to the breadth and complexity of issues that can reasonably be
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expected to be raised by the registrant’s financial statements, or experience actively supervising one or more persons engaged
in such activities;
(D) An understanding of internal control over financial reporting; and
(E) An understanding of audit committee functions.
(iii) A person shall have acquired such attributes through:
(A) Education and experience as a principal financial officer, principal accounting officer, controller, public accountant
or auditor or experience in one or more positions that involve the performance of similar functions;
(B) Experience actively supervising a principal financial officer, principal accounting officer, controller, public
accountant, auditor or person performing similar functions;
(C) Experience overseeing or assessing the performance of companies or public accountants with respect to the
preparation, auditing or evaluation of financial statements; or
(D) Other relevant experience.
(iv) Safe harbor.
(A) A person who is determined to be an audit committee financial expert will not be deemed an expert for any purpose,
including without limitation for purposes of section 11 of the Securities Act (15 U.S.C. 77k), as a result of being designated or
identified as an audit committee financial expert pursuant to this Item 407.
(B) The designation or identification of a person as an audit committee financial expert pursuant to this Item 407 does
not impose on such person any duties, obligations or liability that are greater than the duties, obligations and liability imposed
on such person as a member of the audit committee and board of directors in the absence of such designation or identification.
(C) The designation or identification of a person as an audit committee financial expert pursuant to this Item does not
affect the duties, obligations or liability of any other member of the audit committee or board of directors.
Instructions to Item 407(d)(5).
1. The disclosure under paragraph (d)(5) of this Item is required only in a registrant’s annual report. The registrant need
not provide the disclosure required by paragraph (d)(5) of this Item in a proxy or information statement unless that registrant is
electing to incorporate this information by reference from the proxy or information statement into its annual report pursuant to
General Instruction G(3) to Form 10-K (17 CFR 249.310).
2. If a person qualifies as an audit committee financial expert by means of having held a position described in paragraph
(d)(5)(iii)(D) of this Item, the registrant shall provide a brief listing of that person’s relevant experience. Such disclosure may be
made by reference to disclosures required under Item 401(e) (§229.401(e)).
3. In the case of a foreign private issuer with a two-tier board of directors, for purposes of paragraph (d)(5) of this Item,
the term board of directors means the supervisory or non-management board. In the case of a foreign private issuer meeting the
requirements of §240.10A-3(c)(3) of this chapter, for purposes of paragraph (d)(5) of this Item, the term board of directors means
the issuer’s board of auditors (or similar body) or statutory auditors, as applicable. Also, in the case of a foreign private issuer,
the term generally accepted accounting principles in paragraph (d)(5)(ii)(A) of this Item means the body of generally accepted
accounting principles used by that issuer in its primary financial statements filed with the Commission.
4. A registrant that is an Asset-Backed Issuer (as defined in §229.1101) is not required to disclose the information
required by paragraph (d)(5) of this Item.
Instructions to Item 407(d).
1. The information required by paragraphs (d)(1) - (3) of this Item shall not be deemed to be “soliciting material,” or to be “filed”
with the Commission or subject to Regulation 14A or 14C (17 CFR 240.14a-1 through 240.14b-2 or 240.14c-1 through 240.14c101), other than as provided in this Item, or to the liabilities of section 18 of the Exchange Act (15 U.S.C. 78r), except to the
extent that the registrant specifically requests that the information be treated as soliciting material or specifically incorporates it
by reference into a document filed under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act. Such information will not be deemed to be
incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act, except to the extent that the registrant
specifically incorporates it by reference.
2. The disclosure required by paragraphs (d)(1) - (3) of this Item need only be provided one time during any fiscal year.
3. The disclosure required by paragraph (d)(3) of this Item need not be provided in any filings other than a registrant’s proxy or
information statement relating to an annual meeting of security holders at which directors are to be elected (or special meeting
or written consents in lieu of such meeting).
(e) Compensation committee.
(1) If the registrant does not have a standing compensation committee or committee performing similar functions, state the basis
for the view of the board of directors that it is appropriate for the registrant not to have such a committee and identify each
director who participates in the consideration of executive officer and director compensation.
(2) State whether or not the compensation committee has a charter. If the compensation committee has a charter, provide the
disclosure required by Instruction 2 to this Item regarding the compensation committee charter.
(3) Provide a narrative description of the registrant’s processes and procedures for the consideration and determination of
executive and director compensation, including:
(i)(A) The scope of authority of the compensation committee (or persons performing the equivalent functions); and
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(B) The extent to which the compensation committee (or persons performing the equivalent functions) may delegate
any authority described in paragraph (e)(3)(i)(A) of this Item to other persons, specifying what authority may be so delegated
and to whom;
(ii) Any role of executive officers in determining or recommending the amount or form of executive and director
compensation; and
(iii) Any role of compensation consultants in determining or recommending the amount or form of executive and
director compensation, identifying such consultants, stating whether such consultants are engaged directly by the
compensation committee (or persons performing the equivalent functions) or any other person, describing the nature and scope
of their assignment, and the material elements of the instructions or directions given to the consultants with respect to the
performance of their duties under the engagement.
(4) Under the caption “Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation”:
(i) Identify each person who served as a member of the compensation committee of the registrant’s board of directors
(or board committee performing equivalent functions) during the last completed fiscal year, indicating each committee member
who:
(A) Was, during the fiscal year, an officer or employee of the registrant;
(B) Was formerly an officer of the registrant; or
(C) Had any relationship requiring disclosure by the registrant under any paragraph of Item 404 (§229.404). In this
event, the disclosure required by Item 404 (§229.404) shall accompany such identification.
(ii) If the registrant has no compensation committee (or other board committee performing equivalent functions), the
registrant shall identify each officer and employee of the registrant, and any former officer of the registrant, who, during the last
completed fiscal year, participated in deliberations of the registrant’s board of directors concerning executive officer
compensation.
(iii) Describe any of the following relationships that existed during the last completed fiscal year:
(A) An executive officer of the registrant served as a member of the compensation committee (or other board committee
performing equivalent functions or, in the absence of any such committee, the entire board of directors) of another entity, one
of whose executive officers served on the compensation committee (or other board committee performing equivalent functions
or, in the absence of any such committee, the entire board of directors) of the registrant;
(B) An executive officer of the registrant served as a director of another entity, one of whose executive officers served
on the compensation committee (or other board committee performing equivalent functions or, in the absence of any such
committee, the entire board of directors) of the registrant; and
(C) An executive officer of the registrant served as a member of the compensation committee (or other board committee
performing equivalent functions or, in the absence of any such committee, the entire board of directors) of another entity, one
of whose executive officers served as a director of the registrant.
(iv) Disclosure required under paragraph (e)(4)(iii) of this Item regarding a compensation committee member or other
director of the registrant who also served as an executive officer of another entity shall be accompanied by the disclosure called
for by Item 404 with respect to that person.
Instruction to Item 407(e)(4).
For purposes of paragraph (e)(4) of this Item, the term entity shall not include an entity exempt from tax under section
501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code (26 U.S.C. 501(c)(3)).
(5) Under the caption “Compensation Committee Report:”
(i) The compensation committee (or other board committee performing equivalent functions or, in the absence of any
such committee, the entire board of directors) must state whether:
(A) The compensation committee has reviewed and discussed the Compensation Discussion and Analysis required by
Item 402(b) (§229.402(b)) with management; and
(B) Based on the review and discussions referred to in paragraph (e)(5)(i)(A) of this Item, the compensation committee
recommended to the board of directors that the Compensation Discussion and Analysis be included in the registrant’s annual
report on Form 10-K (§249.310 of this chapter), proxy statement on Schedule 14A (§240.14a-101 of this chapter) or information
statement on Schedule 14C (§240.14c-101 of this chapter).
(ii) The name of each member of the registrant’s compensation committee (or other board committee performing
equivalent functions or, in the absence of any such committee, the entire board of directors) must appear below the disclosure
required by paragraph (e)(5)(i) of this Item.
Instructions to Item 407(e)(5).
1. The information required by paragraph (e)(5) of this Item shall not be deemed to be “soliciting material,” or to be “filed” with
the Commission or subject to Regulation 14A or 14C (17 CFR 240.14a-1 through 240.14b-2 or 240.14c-1 through 240.14c-101),
other than as provided in this Item, or to the liabilities of section 18 of the Exchange Act (15 U.S.C. 78r), except to the extent that
the registrant specifically requests that the information be treated as soliciting material or specifically incorporates it by
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reference into a document filed under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act.
2. The disclosure required by paragraph (e)(5) of this Item need not be provided in any filings other than an annual report on
Form 10-K (§249.310 of this chapter), a proxy statement on Schedule 14A (§240.14a-101 of this chapter) or an information
statement on Schedule 14C (§240.14c-101 of this chapter). Such information will not be deemed to be incorporated by reference
into any filing under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act, except to the extent that the registrant specifically incorporates it
by reference. If the registrant elects to incorporate this information by reference from the proxy or information statement into its
annual report on Form 10-K pursuant to General Instruction G(3) to Form 10-K, the disclosure required by paragraph (e)(5) of
this Item will be deemed furnished in the annual report on Form 10-K and will not be deemed incorporated by reference into any
filing under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act as a result as a result of furnishing the disclosure in this manner.
3. The disclosure required by paragraph (e)(5) of this Item need only be provided one time during any fiscal year.
(f) Shareholder communications.
(1) State whether or not the registrant’s board of directors provides a process for security holders to send communications
to the board of directors and, if the registrant does not have such a process for security holders to send communications to the
board of directors, state the basis for the view of the board of directors that it is appropriate for the registrant not to have such
a process.
(2) If the registrant has a process for security holders to send communications to the board of directors:
(i) Describe the manner in which security holders can send communications to the board and, if applicable, to specified
individual directors; and
(ii) If all security holder communications are not sent directly to board members, describe the registrant’s process for
determining which communications will be relayed to board members.
Instructions to Item 407(f).
1. In lieu of providing the information required by paragraph (f)(2) of this Item in the proxy statement, the registrant may instead
provide the registrant’s Web site address where such information appears.
2. For purposes of the disclosure required by paragraph (f)(2)(ii) of this Item, a registrant’s process for collecting and organizing
security holder communications, as well as similar or related activities, need not be disclosed provided that the registrant’s
process is approved by a majority of the independent directors or, in the case of a registrant that is an investment company, a
majority of the directors who are not “interested persons” of the investment company as defined in section 2(a)(19) of the
Investment Company Act of 1940 (15 U.S.C. 80a-2(a)(19)).
3. For purposes of this paragraph, communications from an officer or director of the registrant will not be viewed as “security
holder communications.” Communications from an employee or agent of the registrant will be viewed as “security holder
communications” for purposes of this paragraph only if those communications are made solely in such employee’s or agent’s
capacity as a security holder.
4. For purposes of this paragraph, security holder proposals submitted pursuant to §240.14a-8 of this chapter, and
communications made in connection with such proposals, will not be viewed as “security holder communications.”
Instructions to Item 407.
1. For purposes of this Item:
a. Listed issuer means a listed issuer as defined in §240.10A-3 of this chapter;
b. National securities exchange means a national securities exchange registered pursuant to section 6(a) of the
Exchange Act (15 U.S.C. 78f(a));
c. Inter-dealer quotation system means an automated inter-dealer quotation system of a national securities association
registered pursuant to section 15A(a) of the Exchange Act (15 U.S.C. 78o-3(a)); and
d. National securities association means a national securities association registered pursuant to section 15A(a) of the Exchange
Act (15 U.S.C. 78o-3(a)) that has been approved by the Commission (as that definition may be modified or supplemented).
2. With respect to paragraphs (c)(2)(i), (d)(1) and (e)(2) of this Item, disclose whether a current copy of the applicable committee
charter is available to security holders on the registrant’s Web site, and if so, provide the registrant’s Web site address. If a
current copy of the charter is not available to security holders on the registrant’s Web site, include a copy of the charter in an
appendix to the registrant’s proxy or information statement that is provided to security holders at least once every three fiscal
years, or if the charter has been materially amended since the beginning of the registrant’s last fiscal year. If a current copy of
the charter is not available to security holders on the registrant’s Web site, and is not included as an appendix to the
registrant’s proxy or information statement, identify in which of the prior fiscal years the charter was so included in satisfaction
of this requirement.
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Subpart 229.500 — Registration Statement and Prospectus Provisions
Forepart of Registration Statement and Outside Front Cover Page of Prospectus
Reg. §229.501. Item 501.
The registrant must furnish the following information in plain English. See 230.421(d) of Regulation C of this chapter.
(a) Front Cover Page of the Registration Statement. Where appropriate, include the delaying amendment legend from 230.473
of Regulation C of this chapter.
(b)

Outside Front Cover Page of the Prospectus. Limit the outside cover page to one page. If the following information applies
to your offering, disclose it on the outside cover page of the prospectus.
(1)

Name. The registrant’s name. A foreign registrant must give the English translation of its name.
Instruction to paragraph 501(b)(1). If your name is the same as that of a company that is well known, include information
to eliminate any possible confusion with the other company. If your name indicates a line of business in which you are
not engaged or you are engaged only to a limited extent, include information to eliminate any misleading inference as to
your business. In some circumstances, disclosure may not be sufficient and you may be required to change your name.
You will not be required to change your name if you are an established company, the character of your business has
changed, and the investing public is generally aware of the change and the character of your current business.

(2)

Title and amount of securities. The title and amount of securities offered. Separately state the amount of securities offered
by selling security holders, if any. If the underwriter has any arrangement with the issuer, such as an over-allotment option,
under which the underwriter may purchase additional shares in connection with the offering, indicate that this arrangement
exists and state the amount of additional shares that the underwriter may purchase under the arrangement. Give a brief
description of the securities except where the information is clear from the title of the security. For example, you are not
required to describe common stock that has full voting, dividend and liquidation rights usually associated with common
stock.

(3)

Offering price of the securities. Where you offer securities for cash, the price to the public of the securities, the
underwriter’s discounts and commissions, the net proceeds you receive, and any selling shareholder’s net proceeds.
Show this information on both a per share or unit basis and for the total amount of the offering. If you make the offering
on a minimum/maximum basis, show this information based on the total minimum and total maximum amount of the offering.
You may present the information in a table, term sheet format, or other clear presentation. You may present the information
in any format that fits the design of the cover page so long as the information can be easily read and is not misleading;
Instructions to paragraph 501(b)(3)
1.

If a preliminary prospectus is circulated and you are not subject to the reporting requirements of Section 13(a) or
15 (d) of the Exchange Act, provide, as applicable:
(A) A bona fide estimate of the range of the maximum offering price and the maximum number of securities offered;
or

2.

3.

(B) A bona fide estimate of the principal amount of the debt securities offered.
If it is impracticable to state the price to the public, explain the method by which the price is to be determined. If
the securities are to be offered at the market price, or if the offering price is to be determined by a formula related
to the market price, indicate the market and market price of the securities as of the latest practicable date.
If you file a registration statement on Form S-8, you are not required to comply with this paragraph (b)(3).

(4)

Market for the Securities. Whether any national securities exchange or the Nasdaq Stock Market lists the securities
offered, naming the particular market(s), and identifying the trading symbol(s) for those securities;

(5)

Risk Factors. A cross-reference to the risk factors section, including the page number where it appears in the prospectus.
Highlight this cross-reference by prominent type or in another manner;

(6)

State Legend. Any legend or statement required by the law of any state in which the securities are to be offered. You
may combine this with any legend required by the SEC, if appropriate;

(7)

Commission Legend. A legend that indicates that neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities
commission has approved or disapproved of the securities or passed upon the accuracy or adequacy of the disclosures
in the prospectus and that any contrary representation is a criminal offense. You may use one of the following or other
clear, plain language:
Example A:

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities commission
has approved or disapproved of these securities or passed upon the adequacy or
accuracy of this prospectus. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal
73

offense.
Example B:

(8)

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities commission
has approved or disapproved of these securities or determined if this prospectus is
truthful or complete. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

Underwriting.
(i)

Name(s) of the lead or managing underwriter(s) and an identification of the nature of the underwriting arrangements;

(ii)

If the offering is not made on a firm commitment basis, a brief description of the underwriting arrangements. You
may use any clear, concise, and accurate description of the underwriting arrangements. You may use the following
descriptions of underwriting arrangements where appropriate:
Example A:

Best efforts offering. The underwriters are not required to sell any specific number
or dollar amount of securities but will use their best efforts to sell the securities
offered.

Example B:

Best efforts, minimum-maximum offering. The underwriters must sell the minimum
number of securities offered (insert number) if any are sold. The underwriters are
required to use only their best efforts to sell the maximum number of securities
offered (insert number).

(iii) If you offer the securities on a best efforts or best efforts minimum/maximum basis, the date the offering will end,
any minimum purchase requirements, and any arrangements to place the funds in an escrow, trust, or similar account.
If you have not made any of these arrangements, state this fact and describe the effect on investors;
(9)

Date of Prospectus. The date of the prospectus;

(10) Prospectus “Subject to Completion” Legend. If you use the prospectus before the effective date of the registration
statement, a prominent statement that:
(i)

The information in the prospectus will be amended or completed;

(ii)

A registration statement relating to these securities has been filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission;

(iii) The securities may not be sold until the registration statement becomes effective; and
(iv) The prospectus is not an offer to sell the securities and it is not soliciting an offer to buy the securities in any state
where offers or sales are not permitted. The legend may be in the following or other clear, plain language:
The information in this prospectus is not complete and may be changed. We may not sell these securities until
the registration statement filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission is effective. This prospectus is
not an offer to sell these securities and it is not soliciting an offer to buy these securities in any state where
the offer or sale is not permitted.
(11) If you use 230.430A of this chapter to omit pricing information and the prospectus is used before you determine the public
offering price, the information and legend in paragraph (b)(10) of this section.

Instruction to Item 501. For asset-backed securities, see also Item 1102 of Regulation AB (§ 229.1102).
Inside Front and Outside Back Cover Pages of Prospectus
Reg. §229.502. (Item 502).
The registrant must furnish this information in plain English. See 230.421(d) of Regulation C of this chapter.
(a)

Table of Contents. On either the inside front or outside back cover page of the prospectus, provide a reasonably detailed table
of contents. It must show the page number of the various sections or subdivisions of the prospectus. Include a specific listing
of the risk factors section required by Item 503 of this Regulation S-K (17 CFR 229.503). You must include the table of contents
immediately following the cover page in any prospectus you deliver electronically.

(b)

Dealer Prospectus Delivery Obligation. On the outside back cover page of the prospectus, advise dealers of their prospectus
delivery obligation, including the expiration date specified by Section 4(3) of the Securities Act (15 U.S.C. 77d(3)) and 230.174
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of this chapter. If you do not know the expiration date on the effective date of the registration statement, include the expiration
date in the copy of the prospectus you file under 230.424(b) of this chapter. You do not have to include this information if dealers
are not required to deliver a prospectus under 230.174 of this chapter or Section 24(d) of the Investment Company Act (15 U.S.C.
80a-24). You may use the following or other clear, plain language:
Dealer Prospectus Delivery Obligation
Until (insert date), all dealers that effect transactions in these securities, whether
or not participating in this offering, may be required to deliver a prospectus. This
is in addition to the dealers’ obligation to deliver a prospectus when acting as
underwriters and with respect to their unsold allotments or subscriptions.
Prospectus Summary, Risk Factors, and Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges.
Reg. §229.503. (Item 503).
The registrant must furnish this information in plain English. See §230.421(d) of Regulation C of this chapter.
(a)

Prospectus Summary. Provide a summary of the information in the prospectus where the length or complexity of the prospectus
makes a summary useful. The summary should be brief. The summary should not contain, and is not required to contain, all
of the detailed information in the prospectus. If you provide summary business or financial information, even if you do not
caption it as a summary, you still must provide that information in plain English.
Instruction to paragraph 503(a). The summary should not merely repeat the text of the prospectus but should provide a brief
overview of the key aspects of the offering. Carefully consider and identify those aspects of the offering that are the most
significant and determine how best to highlight those points in clear, plain language.

(b)

Address and Telephone Number. Include, either on the cover page or in the summary section of the prospectus, the complete
mailing address and telephone number of your principal executive offices.

(c)

Risk Factors. Where appropriate, provide under the caption “Risk Factors” a discussion of the most significant factors that
make the offering speculative or risky. This discussion must be concise and organized logically. Do not present risks that could
apply to any issuer or any offering. Explain how the risk affects the issuer or the securities being offered. Set forth each risk
factor under a subcaption that adequately describes the risk. The risk factor discussion must immediately follow the summary
section. If you do not include a summary section, the risk factor section must immediately follow the cover page of the
prospectus or the pricing information section that immediately follows the cover page. Pricing information means price and
price-related information that you may omit from the prospectus in an effective registration statement based on 230.430A(a)
of this chapter. The risk factors may include, among other things, the following:

(d)

(1)

Your lack of an operating history;

(2)

Your lack of profitable operations in recent periods;

(3)

Your financial position;

(4)

Your business or proposed business; or

(5)

The lack of a market for your common equity securities or securities convertible into or exercisable for common equity
securities.

Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges. If you register debt securities, show a ratio of earnings to fixed charges. If you register
preference equity securities, show the ratio of combined fixed charges and preference dividends to earnings. Present the ratio
for each of the last five fiscal years and the latest interim period for which financial statements are presented in the document.
If you will use the proceeds from the sale of debt or preference securities to repay any of your outstanding debt or to retire
other securities and the change in the ratio would be ten percent or greater, you must include a ratio showing the application
of the proceeds, commonly referred to as the pro forma ratio.
Instructions to paragraph 503(d)
1.

Definitions. In calculating the ratio of earnings to fixed charges, you must use the following definitions:
(A) Fixed charges. The term “fixed charges” means the sum of the following: (a) interest expensed and capitalized, (b)
amortized premiums, discounts and capitalized expenses related to indebtedness, (c) an estimate of the interest
within rental expense, and (d) preference security dividend requirements of consolidated subsidiaries.
(B) Preference security dividend. The term “preference security dividend” is the amount of pre-tax earnings that is
required to pay the dividends on outstanding preference securities. The dividend requirement must be computed
as the amount of the dividend divided by (1 minus the effective income tax rate applicable to continuing operations).
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(C) Earnings. The term “earnings” is the amount resulting from adding and subtracting the following items. Add the
following: (a) pretax income from continuing operations before adjustment for minority interests in consolidated
subsidiaries or income or loss from equity investees, (b) fixed charges, (c) amortization of capitalized interest,
(d) distributed income of equity investees, and (e) your share of pre-tax losses of equity investees for which charges
arising from guarantees are included in fixed charges. From the total of the added items, subtract the following: (a)
interest capitalized, (b) preference security dividend requirements of consolidated subsidiaries, and (c) the minority
interest in pre-tax income of subsidiaries that have not incurred fixed charges. Equity investees are investments
that you account for using the equity method of accounting. Public utilities following SFAS 71 should not add
amortization of capitalized interest in determining earnings, nor reduce fixed charges by any allowance for funds used
during construction.
2.

Disclosure. Disclose the following information when showing the ratio of earnings to fixed charges:
(A) Deficiency. If a ratio indicates less than one-to-one coverage, disclose the dollar amount of the deficiency.
(B) Pro forma ratio. You may show the pro forma ratio only for the most recent fiscal year and the latest interim period.
Use the net change in interest or dividends from the refinancing to calculate the pro forma ratio.
(C) Foreign private issuers. A foreign private issuer must show the ratio based on the figures in the primary financial
statement. A foreign private issuer must show the ratio based on the figures resulting from the reconciliation to
U.S. generally accepted accounting principles if this ratio is materially different.
(D) Summary Section. If you provide a summary or similar section in the prospectus, show the ratios in that section.

3.

Exhibit. File an exhibit to the registration statement to show the figures used to calculate the ratios. See paragraph (b)(12)
of Item 601 of Regulation S-K (17 CFR 229.601(b)(12)).

Instruction to Item 503. For asset-backed securities, see also Item 1103 of Regulation AB (§ 229.1103).
Use of Proceeds
Reg. §229.504. Item 504.
State the principal purposes for which the net proceeds to the registrant from the securities to be offered are intended to be
used and the approximate amount intended to be used for each such purpose. Where registrant has no current specific plan for the
proceeds, or a significant portion thereof, the registrant shall so state and discuss the principal reasons for the offering.
Instructions to Item 504.
1.

Where less than all the securities to be offered may be sold and more than one use is listed for the proceeds,
indicate the order of priority of such purposes and discuss the registrant’s plans if substantially less than the
maximum proceeds are obtained. Such discussion need not be included if underwriting arrangements with respect
to such securities are such that, if any securities are sold to the public, it reasonably can be expected that the
actual proceeds will not be substantially less than the aggregate proceeds to the registrant shown pursuant to
Item 501 of Regulation S-K (§229.501).

2.

Details of proposed expenditures need not be given; for example, there need be furnished only a brief outline of
any program of construction or addition of equipment. Consideration should be given as to the need to include
a discussion of certain matters addressed in the discussion and analysis of registrant’s financial condition and
results of operations, such as liquidity and capital expenditures.
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3.

If any material amounts of other funds are necessary to accomplish the specified purposes for which the proceeds
are to be obtained, state the amounts and sources of such other funds needed for each such specified purpose
and the sources thereof.

4.

If any material part of the proceeds is to be used to discharge indebtedness, set forth the interest rate and maturity
of such indebtedness. If the indebtedness to be discharged was incurred within one year, describe the use of
the proceeds of such indebtedness other than short-term borrowings used for working capital.

5.

If any material amount of the proceeds is to be used to acquire assets, otherwise than in the ordinary course of
business, describe briefly and state the cost of the assets and, where such assets are to be acquired from affiliates
of the registrant or their associates, give the names of the persons from whom they are to be acquired and set
forth the principal followed in determining the cost to the registrant.

6.

Where the registrant indicates that the proceeds may, or will, be used to finance acquisitions of other businesses,
the identity of such businesses, if known, or, if not known, the nature of the businesses to be sought, the status
of any negotiations with respect to the acquisition, and a brief description of such business shall be included.
Where, however, pro forma financial statements reflecting such acquisition are not required by Regulation S-X
to be included in the registration statement, the possible terms of any transaction, the identification of the parties
thereto or the nature of the business sought need not be disclosed, to the extent that the registrant reasonably
determines that public disclosure of such information would jeopardize the acquisition. Where Regulation S-X
[17 CFR 210] would require financial statements of the business to be acquired to be included, the description
of the business to be acquired shall be more detailed.

7.

The registrant may reserve the right to change the use of proceeds, provided that such reservation is due to certain
contingencies that are discussed specifically and the alternatives to such use in that event are indicated.

Determination of Offering Price
Reg. §229.505. Item 505.
(a)

Common equity. Where common equity is being registered for which there is no established public trading market for purposes
of paragraph (a) of Item 201 of Regulation S-K [§229.201(a)] or where there is a material disparity between the offering price
of the common equity being registered and the market price of outstanding shares of the same class, describe the various factors
considered in determining such offering price.

(b)

Warrants, rights and convertible securities. Where warrants, rights or convertible securities exercisable for common equity
for which there is no established public trading market for purposes of paragraph (a) of Item 201 of Regulation S-K [§229.201(a)]
are being registered, describe the various factors considered in determining their exercise or conversion price.

Dilution
Reg. §229.506. Item 506.
Where common equity securities are being registered and there is a substantial disparity between the public offering price and
the effective cash cost to officers, directors, promoters and affiliated persons of common equity acquired by them in transactions
during the past five years, or which they have the right to acquire, and the registrant is not subject to the reporting requirements
of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act immediately prior to filing of the registration statement, there shall be included a
comparison of the public contribution under the proposed public offering and the effective cash contribution of such persons. In
such cases, and in other instances where common equity securities are being registered by a registrant that has had losses in each
of its last three fiscal years and there is a material dilution of the purchasers’ equity interest, the following shall be disclosed:
(a)

The net tangible book value per share before and after the distribution;

(b)

The amount of the increase in such net tangible book value per share attributable to the cash payments made by purchasers
of the shares being offered; and

(c)

The amount of the immediate dilution from the public offering price which will be absorbed by such purchasers.

Selling Security Holders
Reg. §229.507. Item 507.
If any of the securities to be registered are to be offered for the account of security holders, name each such security holder,
indicate the nature of any position, office, or other material relationship which the selling security holder has had within the past
three years with the registrant or any of its predecessors or affiliates, and state the amount of securities of the class owned by such
security holder prior to the offering, the amount to be offered for the security holder’s account, the amount and (if one percent or
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more) the percentage of the class to be owned by such security holder after completion of the offering.
Plan of Distribution
Reg. §229.508. Item 508.
(a)

Underwriters and underwriting obligation. If the securities are to be offered through underwriters, name the principal
underwriters, and state the respective amounts underwritten. Identify each such underwriter having a material relationship with
the registrant and state the nature of the relationship. State briefly the nature of the obligation of the underwriter(s) to take
the securities.
Instruction to Paragraph 508(a). All that is required as to the nature of the underwriters’ obligation is whether the underwriters
are or will be committed to take and to pay for all of the securities if any are taken, or whether it is merely an agency or the type
of “best efforts” arrangement under which the underwriters are required to take and to pay for only such securities as they
may sell to the public. Conditions precedent to the underwriters’ taking the securities, including “market-outs,” need not be
described except in the case of an agency or “best efforts” arrangement.

(b)

New underwriters. Where securities being registered are those of a registrant that has not previously been required to file
reports pursuant to section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, or where a prospectus is required to include reference on its
cover page to material risks pursuant to Item 501 of Regulation S-K (§229.501), and any one or more of the managing
underwriter(s) (or where there are no managing underwriters, a majority of the principal underwriters) has been organized,
reactivated, or first registered as a broker-dealer within the past three years, these facts concerning such underwriter(s) shall
be disclosed in the prospectus together with, where applicable, the disclosures that the principal business function of such
underwriter(s) will be to sell the securities to be registered, or that the promoters of the registrant have a material relationship
with such underwriter(s). Sufficient details shall be given to allow full appreciation of such underwriter(s) experience and its
relationship with the registrant, promoters and their controlling persons.

(c)

Other distributions. Outline briefly the plan of distribution of any securities to be registered that are to be offered otherwise
than through underwriters.
(1)

If any securities are to be offered pursuant to a dividend or interest reinvestment plan the terms of which provide for the
purchase of some securities on the market, state whether the registrant or the participant pays fees, commissions, and
expenses incurred in connection with the plan. If the participant will pay such fees, commissions and expenses, state the
anticipated cost to participants by transaction or other convenient reference.

(2)

If the securities are to be offered through the selling efforts of brokers or dealers, describe the plan of distribution and
the terms of any agreement, arrangement, or understanding entered into with broker(s) or dealer(s) prior to the effective
date of the registration statement, including volume limitations on sales, parties to the agreement and the conditions under
which the agreement may be terminated. If known, identify the broker(s) or dealer(s) which will participate in the offering
and state the amount to be offered through each.

(3)

If any of the securities being registered are to be offered otherwise than for cash, state briefly the general purposes of
the distribution, the basis upon which the securities are to be offered, the amount of compensation and other expenses
of distribution, and by whom they are to be borne. If the distribution is to be made pursuant to a plan of acquisition,
reorganization, readjustment or succession, describe briefly the general effect of the plan and state when it became or is
to become operative. As to any material amount of assets to be acquired under the plan, furnish information corresponding
to that required by Instruction 5 of Item 504 of Regulation S-K (§229.504).

(d)

Offerings on exchange. If the securities are to be offered on an exchange, indicate the exchange. If the registered securities
are to be offered in connection with the writing of exchange-traded call options, describe briefly such transactions.

(e)

Underwriter’s compensation. Provide a table that sets out the nature of the compensation and the amount of discounts and
commissions to be paid to the underwriter for each security and in total. The table must show the separate amounts to be paid
by the company and the selling shareholders. In addition, include in the table all other items considered by the National
Association of Securities Dealers to be underwriting compensation for purposes of that Association’s Rules of Fair Practice.
Instructions to paragraph 508(e)
1.

The term “commissions” is defined in paragraph (17) of Schedule A of the Securities Act. Show separately in the table
the cash commissions paid by the registrant and selling security holders. Also show in the table commissions paid by
other persons. Disclose any finder’s fee or similar payments in the table.

2.

Disclose the offering expenses specified in Item 511 of Regulation S-K (17 CFR 229.511).

3.

If the underwriter has any arrangement with the issuer, such as an over-allotment option, under which the underwriter
may purchase additional shares in connection with the offering, indicate that this arrangement exists and state the amount
of additional shares that the underwriter may purchase under the arrangement. Where the underwriter has such an
arrangement, present maximum-minimum information in a separate column to the table, based on the purchase of all or none
of the shares subject to the arrangement. Describe the key terms of the arrangement in the narrative.
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(f)

Underwriter’s representative on board of directors. Describe any arrangement whereby the underwriter has the right to
designate or nominate a member or members of the board of directors of the registrant. The registrant shall disclose the identity
of any director so designated or nominated, and indicate whether or not a person so designated or nominated, or allowed to
be designated or nominated by the underwriter is or may be a director, officer, partner, employee or affiliate of the underwriter.

(g)

Indemnification of underwriters. If the underwriting agreement provides for indemnification by the registrant of the
underwriters or their controlling persons against any liability arising under the Securities Act, furnish a brief description of
such indemnification provisions.

(h)

Dealers’ compensation. State briefly the discounts and commissions to be allowed or paid to dealers, including all cash,
securities, contracts or other considerations to be received by any dealer in connection with the sale of the securities. If any
dealers are to act in the capacity of sub-underwriters and are to be allowed or paid any additional discounts or commissions
for acting in such capacity, a general statement to that effect will suffice without giving the additional amounts to be sold.

(i)

Finders. Identify any finder and, if applicable, describe the nature of any material relationship between such finder and the
registrant, its officers, directors, principal stockholders, finders or promoters or the principal underwriter(s), or if there is a
managing underwriter(s), the managing underwriter(s) (including, in each case, affiliates or associates thereof).

(j)

Discretionary accounts. If the registrant was not, immediately prior to the filing of the registration statement, subject to the
requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, identify any principal underwriter that intends to sell to any accounts
over which it exercises discretionary authority and include an estimate of the amount of securities so intended to be sold. The
response to this paragraph shall be contained in a pre-effective amendment which shall be circulated if the information is not
available when the registration statement is filed.

(k)

Passive market making. If the underwriters or any selling group members intend to engage in passive market making
transactions as permitted by Rule 103 of Regulation M, indicate such intention and briefly describe passive market making.

(l)

Stabilization and other transactions.
(1)

Briefly describe any transaction that the underwriter intends to conduct during the offering that stabilizes, maintains, or
otherwise affects the market price of the offered securities. Include information on stabilizing transactions, syndicate
short covering transactions, penalty bids, or any other transaction that affects the offered security’s price. Describe the
nature of the transactions clearly and explain how the transactions affect the offered security’s price. Identify the
exchange or other market on which these transactions may occur. If true, disclose that the underwriter may discontinue
these transactions at any time;

(2)

If the stabilizing began before the effective date of the registration statement, disclose the amount of securities bought,
the prices at which they were bought and the period within which they were bought. If you use 230.430A of this chapter,
the prospectus you file under 230.424(b) of this chapter or include in a post-effective amendment must contain information
on the stabilizing transactions that took place before the determination of the public offering price; and

(3)

If you are making a warrants or rights offering of securities to existing security holders and any securities not purchased
by existing security holders are to be reoffered to the public, disclose in a supplement to the prospectus or in the prospectus
used in connection with the reoffering:
(i)

The amount of securities bought in stabilization activities during the offering period and the price or range of prices
at which the securities were bought;

(ii)

The amount of the offered securities subscribed for during the offering period;

(iii) The amount of the offered securities subscribed for by the underwriter during the offering period;
(iv) The amount of the offered securities sold during the offering period by the underwriter and the price or price ranges
at which the securities were sold; and
(v)

The amount of the offered securities that will be reoffered to the public and the public offering price.

Interests of Named Experts and Counsel
Reg. §229.509. Item 509.
If (a) any expert named in the registration statement as having prepared or certified any part thereof (or is named as having
prepared or certified a report or valuation for use in connection with the registration statement), or (b) counsel for the registrant,
underwriters or selling security holders named in the prospectus as having given an opinion upon the validity of the securities being
registered or upon other legal matters in connection with the registration or offering of such securities, was employed for such
purpose on a contingent basis, or at the time of such preparation, certification or opinion or at any time thereafter through the date
of effectiveness of the registration statement or that part of the registration statement to which such preparation, certification or
opinion relates, had, or is to receive in connection with the offering, a substantial interest, direct or indirect, in the registrant or any
of its parents or subsidiaries or was connected with the registrant or any of its parents or subsidiaries as a promoter, managing
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underwriter (or any principal under-writer, if there are no managing underwriters), voting trustee, director, officer, or employee,
furnish a brief statement of the nature of such contingent basis, interest, or connection.
Instructions to Item 509.
1.

The interest of an expert (other than an accountant) or counsel will not be deemed substantial and need not be
disclosed if the interest, including the fair market value of all securities of the registrant owned, received and to
be received, or subject to options, warrants or rights received or to be received by the expert or counsel does
not exceed $50,000. For the purpose of this Instruction, the term “expert” or counsel includes the firm, corporation,
partnership or other entity, if any, by which such expert or counsel is employed or of which he is a member or
of counsel to and all attorneys in the case of counsel, and all nonclerical personnel in the case of named experts,
participating in such matter on behalf of such firm, corporation, partnership or entity.

2.

Accountants, providing a report on the financial statements, presented or incorporated by reference in the
registration statement, should note §210.2-01 of Regulation S-X (17 CFR 210) for the Commission’s requirements
regarding “Qualification of Accountants” which discusses disqualifying interests.

Disclosure of Commission Position on Indemnification for Securities Act Liabilities
Reg. §229.510. Item 510. In addition to the disclosure prescribed by Item 702 of Regulation S-K (§229.702), if the undertaking required
by paragraph (h) of Item 512 of Regulation S-K (§229.512) is not required to be included in the registration statement because
acceleration of the effective date of the registration statement is not being requested, and if waivers have not been obtained
comparable to those specified in paragraph (h), a brief description of the indemnification provisions relating to directors, officers
and controlling persons of the registrant against liability arising under the Securities Act (including any provision of the underwriting
agreement which relates to indemnification of the underwriter or its controlling persons by the registrant against such liabilities where
a director, officer or controlling person of the registrant is such an underwriter or controlling person thereof or a member of any firm
which is such an underwriter) shall be included in the prospectus, together with a statement in substantially the following form:
Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act of 1933 may be permitted to directors, officers
or persons controlling the registrant pursuant to the foregoing provisions, the registrant has been informed that in the opinion
of the Securities and Exchange Commission such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Act and is therefore
unenforceable.
Other Expenses of Issuance and Distribution
Reg. §229.511. Item 511. Furnish a reasonably itemized statement of all expenses in connection with the issuance and distribution
of the securities to be registered, other than underwriting discounts and commissions. If any of the securities to be registered are
to be offered for the account of security holders, indicate the portion of such expenses to be borne by such security holder.
Instruction to Item 511.
Insofar as practicable, registration fees, Federal taxes, States taxes and fees, trustees’ and transfer agents’ fees, costs
of printing and engraving, and legal, accounting, and engineering fees shall be itemized separately. Include as a
separate item any premium paid by the registrant or any selling security holder on any policy obtained in connection
with the offering and sale of the securities being registered which insures or indemnifies directors or officers against
any liabilities they may incur in connection with the registration, offering, or sale of such securities. The information
may be given as subject to future contingencies. If the amounts of any items are not known, estimates, identified as
such, shall be given.

Undertakings
Reg. §229.512. Item 512. Include each of the following undertakings that is applicable to the offering being registered.
(a)

Rule 415 offering.1 Include the following if the securities are registered pursuant to Rule 415 under the Securities Act (§230.415
of this chapter):
The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes:
(1)

1

To file, during any period in which offers or sales are being made, a post-effective amendment to this registration statement:
(i)

To include any prospectus required by section 10(a)(3) of the Securities Act of 1933;

(ii)

To reflect in the prospectus any facts or events arising after the effective date of the registration statement (or the
most recent post-effective amendment thereof) which, individually or in the aggregate, represent a fundamental
change in the information in the registration statement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any increase or decrease
in volume of securities offered (if the total dollar value of securities offered would not exceed that which was
registered) and any deviation from the low or high end of the estimated maximum offering range may be reflected

Paragraph (a) reflects proposals made in Securities Act Release No. 6334 (Aug. 6, 1981).
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in the form of prospectus filed with the Commission pursuant to Rule 424(b) (§ 230.424(b) of this chapter) if, in the
aggregate, the changes in volume and price represent no more than a 20% change in the maximum aggregate offering
price set forth in the “Calculation of Registration Fee” table in the effective registration statement;
(iii) To include any material information with respect to the plan of distribution not previously disclosed in the
registration statement or any material change to such information in the registration statement;
Provided, however,
(A) Paragraphs (a)(1)(i) and (a)(1)(ii) of this section do not apply if the registration statement is on Form S-8 (§239.16b of this
chapter), and the information required to be included in a post-effective amendment by those paragraphs is contained in
reports filed with or furnished to the Commission by the registrant pursuant to section 13 or section 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m or 78o(d)) that are incorporated by reference in the registration statement; and
(B) Paragraphs (a)(1)(i), (a)(1)(ii) and (a)(1)(iii) of this section do not apply if the registration statement is on Form S-3
(§239.13 of this chapter) or Form F-3 (§239.33 of this chapter) and the information required to be included in a posteffective amendment by those paragraphs is contained in reports filed with or furnished to the Commission by the
registrant pursuant to section 13 or section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 that are incorporated by
reference in the registration statement, or is contained in a form of prospectus filed pursuant to Rule 424(b)
(§230.424(b) of this chapter) that is part of the registration statement.
(C) Provided further, however, that paragraphs (a)(1)(i) and (a)(1)(ii) do not apply if the registration statement is for an
offering of asset-backed securities on Form S-1 (§ 239.11 of this chapter) or Form S-3 (§ 239.13 of this chapter), and the
information required to be included in a post-effective amendment is provided pursuant to Item 1100(c) of Regulation
AB(§ 229.1100(c)).
(2)

That, for the purpose of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, each such post-effective amendment
shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such
securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof.

(3)

To remove from registration by means of a post-effective amendment any of the securities being registered which remain
unsold at the termination of the offering.
If the registration is a foreign private issuer, to file a post-effective amendment to the registration statement to include
any financial statements required by §210.3-19 of this chapter at the start of any delayed offering or throughout a
continuous offering. Financial statements and information otherwise required by Section 10(a)(3) of the Act need not
be furnished, provided that the registrant includes in the prospectus, by means of a post-effective amendment, financial
statements required pursuant to this paragraph (a)(4) and other information necessary to ensure that all other information
in the prospectus is at least as current as the date of those financial statements. Notwithstanding the foregoing, with
respect to registration statements on Form F-3 (§ 239.33 of this chapter), a post-effective amendment need not be filed
to include financial statements and information required by Section 10(a)(3) of the Act or § 210.3-19 of this chapter if such
financial statements and information are contained in periodic reports filed with or furnished to the Commission by the
registrant pursuant to section 13 or section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 that are incorporated by reference
in the Form F-3.

(4)

(5)

That, for the purpose of determining liability under the Securities Act of 1933 to any purchaser:

(i) If the registrant is relying on Rule 430B (§230.430B of this chapter):
(A) Each prospectus filed by the registrant pursuant to Rule 424(b)(3) (§230.424(b)(3) of this chapter) shall be deemed
to be part of the registration statement as of the date the filed prospectus was deemed part of and included in the registration
statement; and
(B) Each prospectus required to be filed pursuant to Rule 424(b)(2), (b)(5), or (b)(7) (§230.424(b)(2), (b)(5), or (b)(7) of
this chapter) as part of a registration statement in reliance on Rule 430B relating to an offering made pursuant to Rule
415(a)(1)(i), (vii), or (x) (§230.415(a)(1)(i), (vii), or (x) of this chapter) for the purpose of providing the information required by
section 10(a) of the Securities Act of 1933 shall be deemed to be part of and included in the registration statement as of the
earlier of the date such form of prospectus is first used after effectiveness or the date of the first contract of sale of securities in
the offering described in the prospectus. As provided in Rule 430B, for liability purposes of the issuer and any person that is at
that date an underwriter, such date shall be deemed to be a new effective date of the registration statement relating to
the securities in the registration statement to which that prospectus relates, and the offering of such securities at that time shall
be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof. Provided, however, that no statement made in a registration statement or
prospectus that is part of the registration statement or made in a document incorporated or deemed incorporated by reference
into the registration statement or prospectus that is part of the registration statement will, as to a purchaser with a time of
contract of sale prior to such effective date, supersede or modify any statement that was made in the registration statement or
prospectus that was part of the registration statement or made in any such document immediately prior to such effective date;
or
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(ii) If the registrant is subject to Rule 430C (§230.430C of this chapter), each prospectus filed pursuant to Rule 424(b) as part of
a registration statement relating to an offering, other than registration statements relying on Rule 430B or other than prospectuses filed in reliance on Rule 430A (§230.430A of this chapter), shall be deemed to be part of and included in the registration
statement as of the date it is first used after effectiveness. Provided, however, that no statement made in a registration statement or prospectus that is part of the registration statement or made in a document incorporated or deemed incorporated by
reference into the registration statement or prospectus that is part of the registration statement will, as to a purchaser with a
time of contract of sale prior to such first use, supersede or modify any statement that was made in the registration statement or
prospectus that was part of the registration statement or made in any such document immediately prior to such date of first use.
(6) That, for the purpose of determining liability of the registrant under the Securities Act of 1933 to any purchaser in the initial
distribution of the securities:
The undersigned registrant undertakes that in a primary offering of securities of the undersigned registrant pursuant to this
registration statement, regardless of the underwriting method used to sell the securities to the purchaser, if the securities are
offered or sold to such purchaser by means of any of the following communications, the undersigned registrant will be a seller
to the purchaser and will be considered to offer or sell such securities to such purchaser:
(i) Any preliminary prospectus or prospectus of the undersigned registrant relating to the offering required to be filed
pursuant to Rule 424 (§230.424 of this chapter);
(ii) Any free writing prospectus relating to the offering prepared by or on behalf of the undersigned registrant or used
or referred to by the undersigned registrant;
(iii) The portion of any other free writing prospectus relating to the offering containing material information about the
undersigned registrant or its securities provided by or on behalf of the undersigned registrant; and
(iv) Any other communication that is an offer in the offering made by the undersigned registrant to the purchaser.
(b)

Filings incorporating subsequent Exchange Act documents by reference. Include the following if the registration statement
incorporates by reference any Exchange Act document filed subsequent to the effective date of the registration statement:
The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes that, for purposes of determining any liability under
the Securities Act of 1933, each filing of the registrant’s annual report pursuant to section 13(a) or section
15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (and, where applicable, each filing of an employee benefit
plan’s annual report pursuant to section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) that is incorporated
by reference in the registration statement shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating
to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be
the initial bona fide offering thereof.

(c)

Warrants and rights offerings. Include the following, with appropriate modifications to suit the particular case, if the securities
to be registered are to be offered to existing security holders pursuant to warrants or rights and any securities not taken by
security holders are to be reoffered to the public:
The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes to supplement the prospectus, after the expiration of
the subscription period, to set forth the results of the subscription offer, the transactions by the
underwriters during the subscription period, the amount of unsubscribed securities to be purchased by
the underwriters, and the terms of any subsequent reoffering thereof. If any public offering by the
underwriters is to be made on terms differing from those set forth on the cover page of the prospectus,
a post-effective amendment will be filed to set forth the terms of such offering.

(d)

Competitive bids. Include the following, with appropriate modifications to suit the particular case, if the securities to be
registered are to be offered at competitive bidding:
The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes (1) to use its best efforts to distribute prior to the
opening of bids, to prospective bidders, underwriters, and dealers, a reasonable number of copies of a
prospectus which at that time meets the requirements of section 10(a) of the Act, and relating to the
securities offered at competitive bidding, as contained in the registration statement, together with any
supplements thereto, and (2) to file an amendment to the registration statement reflecting the results of
bidding, the terms of the reoffering and related matters to the extent required by the applicable form, not
later than the first use, authorized by the issuer after the opening bids, of a prospectus relating to the
securities offered at competitive bidding, unless no further public offering of such securities by the
issuer and no reoffering of such securities by the purchasers is proposed to be made.

(e)

Incorporated annual and quarterly reports. Include the following if the registration statement specifically incorporates by
reference (other than by indirect incorporation by reference through a Form 10-K (§249.310 of this chapter) report) in the
prospectus all or any part of the annual report to security holders meeting the requirements of Rule 14a-3 or Rule 14c-3 under
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the Exchange Act (§240.14a-3 and 240.14c-3 of this chapter):
The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes to deliver or cause to be delivered with the prospectus,
to each person to whom the prospectus is sent or given, the latest annual report to security holders that
is incorporated by reference in the prospectus and furnished pursuant to and meeting the requirements
of Rule 14a-3 or Rule 14c-3 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and, where interim financial
information required to be presented by Article 3 of Regulation S-X are not set forth in the prospectus,
to deliver, or cause to be delivered to each person to whom the prospectus is sent or given, the latest
quarterly report that is specifically incorporated by reference in the prospectus to provide such interim
financial information.
(f)

Equity offerings of nonreporting registrants. Include the following if equity securities of a registrant that prior to the offering
had no obligation to file reports with the Commission pursuant to section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act are being registered
for sale in an underwritten offering:
The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes to provide to the underwriter at the closing specified
in the underwriting agreements certificates in such denominations and registered in such names as
required by the underwriter to permit prompt delivery to each purchaser.

(g)

(h)

Registration on Form S-4 or F-4 of securities offered for resale. Include the following if the securities are being registered on
Form S-4 or F-4 (§239.25 or 34 of this chapter) in connection with a transaction specified in paragraph (a) of Rule 145 (§230.145
of this chapter).
(1)

The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes as follows: that prior to any public reoffering of the securities registered
hereunder through use of a prospectus which is a part of this registration statement, by any person or party who is deemed
to be an underwriter within the meaning of Rule 145(c), the issuer undertakes that such reoffering prospectus will contain
the information called for by the applicable registration form with respect to reofferings by persons who may be deemed
underwriters, in addition to the information called for by the other Items of the applicable form.

(2)

The registrant undertakes that every prospectus (i) that is filed pursuant to paragraph (h)(1) immediately preceding, or
(ii) that purports to meet the requirements of section 10(a)(3) of the Act and is used in connection with an offering of
securities subject to Rule 415 (§230.415 of this chapter), will be filed as a part of an amendment to the registration statement
and will not be used until such amendment is effective, and that, for purposes of determining any liability under the
Securities Act of 1933, each such post-effective amendment shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating
to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide
offering thereof.

Request for acceleration of effective date or filing of registration statement on becoming effective upon filing. Include the
following if acceleration is requested of the effective date of the registration statement pursuant to Rule 461 under the Securities
Act (§230.461 of this chapter), if a Form S-3 or Form F-3 will become effective upon filing with the Commission pursuant to Rule
462 (e) or (f) under the Securities Act (§230.462 (e) or (f)), or if the registration statement is filed on Form S-8, and: (1) any
provision or arrangement exists whereby the registrant may indemnify a director, officer or controlling person of the registrant
against liabilities arising under the Securities Act, or (2) the underwriting agreement contains a provision whereby the registrant
indemnifies the underwriter or controlling persons of the underwriter against such liabilities and a director, officer or controlling
person of the registrant is such an underwriter or controlling person thereof or a member of any firm which is such an underwriter,
and (3) the benefits of such indemnification are not waived by such persons:
Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act of 1933 may be permitted to
directors, officers and controlling persons of the registrant pursuant to the foregoing provisions, or
otherwise, the registrant has been advised that in the opinion of the Securities and Exchange Commission
such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Act and is, therefore, unenforceable.
In the event that a claim for indemnification against such liabilities (other than the payment by the
registrant of expenses incurred or paid by a director, officer or controlling person of the registrant in the
successful defense of any action, suit or proceeding) is asserted by such director, officer or controlling
person in connection with the securities being registered, the registrant will, unless in the opinion of
its counsel the matter has been settled by controlling precedent, submit to a court of appropriate
jurisdiction the question whether such indemnification by it is against public policy as expressed in the
Act and will be governed by the final adjudication of such issue.

(i)

Include the following in a registration statement permitted by Rule 430A under the Securities Act of 1933 (§230.430A of this
chapter):
The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes that:
(1)

For purposes of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, the information omitted from the form of
prospectus filed as part of this registration statement in reliance upon Rule 430A and contained in a form of prospectus
filed by the registrant pursuant to Rule 424(b)(1) or (4) or 497(h) under the Securities Act shall be deemed to be part of
this registration statement as of the time it was declared effective.
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(2)

(j)

For the purpose of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933, each post-effective amendment that contains
a form of prospectus shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the
offering of such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof.

Qualification of trust indentures under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939 for delayed offerings. Include the following if the
registrant intends to rely on section 305(b)(2) of the Trust Indenture Act of 1939 for determining the eligibility of the trustee
under indentures for securities to be issued, offered, or sold on a delayed basis by or on behalf of the registrant:

The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes to file an application for the purpose of determining
the eligibility of the trustee to act under subsection (a) of section 310 of the Trust Indenture Act (“Act”)
in accordance with the rules and regulations prescribed by the Commission under section 305(b)(2) of
the Act.
(k)
Filings regarding asset-backed securities incorporating by reference subsequent Exchange Act documents by third
parties. Include the following if the registration statement incorporates by reference any Exchange Act document filed subsequent to the effective date of the registration statement pursuant to Item 1100(c) of Regulation AB (§ 229.1100(c)):
The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes that, for purposes of determining any liability under the Securities Act of 1933,
each filing of the annual report pursuant to section 13(a) or section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 of a third party
that is incorporated by reference in the registration statement in accordance with Item 1100(c)(1) of Regulation AB (17 CFR
229.1100(c)(1)) shall be deemed to be a new registration statement relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of
such securities at that time shall be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof.
(l) Filings regarding asset-backed securities that provide certain information through an Internet Web site. Include the
following if the registration statement is to provide information required by Item 1105 of Regulation AB (§ 229.1105) through an
Internet Web site in accordance with Rule 312 of Regulation S-T (§ 232.312 of this chapter):
The undersigned registrant hereby undertakes that, except as otherwise provided by Item 1105 of Regulation AB (17 CFR
229.1105), information provided in response to that Item pursuant to Rule 312 of Regulation S-T (17 CFR 232.312) through the
specified Internet address in the prospectus is deemed to be a part of the prospectus included in the registration statement. In
addition, the undersigned registrant hereby undertakes to provide to any person without charge, upon request, a copy of the
information provided in response to Item 1105 of Regulation AB pursuant to Rule 312 of Regulation S-T through the specified
Internet address as of the date of the prospectus included in the registration statement if a subsequent update or change is
made to the information.
Subpart 229.600 — Exhibits
Exhibits
Reg. §229.601. Item 601.
(a)

Exhibits and index required.
(1)

Subject to Rule 411(c) (§230.411(c) of this chapter) under the Securities Act and Rule 12b-32 (§240.12b-32 of this chapter)
under the Exchange Act regarding incorporation of exhibits by reference, the exhibits required by the exhibit table shall
be filed as indicated, as part of the registration statement or report. Financial Data Schedules required by paragraph (b)(27)
of this Item shall be submitted pursuant to the provisions of paragraph (c) of this Item.

(2)

Each registration statement or report shall contain an exhibit index, which shall precede immediately the exhibits filed with
such registration statement. For convenient reference, each exhibit shall be listed in the exhibit index according to the
number assigned to it in the exhibit table. The exhibit index shall indicate, by handwritten, typed, printed, or other legible
form of notation in the manually signed original registration statement or report, the page number in the sequential
numbering system where such exhibit can be found. Where exhibits are incorporated by reference, this fact shall be noted
in the exhibit index referred to in the preceding sentence. Further, the first page of the manually signed registration
statement shall list the page in the filing where the exhibit index is located. For a description of each of the exhibits included
in the exhibit table, see paragraph (b) of this Item.

(3)

This Item applies only to the forms specified in the exhibit table. With regard to forms not listed in that table, reference
shall be made to the appropriate form for the specific exhibit filing requirements applicable thereto.
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(4)

If a material contract or plan of acquisition, reorganization, arrangement, liquidation or succession is executed or becomes
effective during the reporting period reflected by Form 10-Q or Form 10-K, it shall be filed as an exhibit to the Form 10-Q
or Form 10-K filed for the corresponding period. Any amendment or modification to a previously filed exhibit to a Form
10, 10-K or 10-Q document shall be filed as an exhibit to a Form 10-Q or Form-10K. Such amendment or modification need
not be filed where such previously filed exhibit would not be currently required.

Instructions to Item 601.
1.

If an exhibit to a registration statement (other than an opinion or consent), filed in preliminary form, has been
changed only (A) to insert information as to interest, dividend or conversion rates, redemption or conversion
prices, purchase or offering prices, underwriters’ or dealers’ commissions, names, addresses or participation of
underwriters or similar matters, which information appears elsewhere in an amendment to the registration
statement or a prospectus filed pursuant to Rule 424(b) under the Securities Act [§230.424(b) of this chapter],
or (B) to correct typographical errors, insert signatures or make other similar immaterial changes, then,
notwithstanding any contrary requirement of any rule or form, the registrant need not refile such exhibit as so
amended. Any such incomplete exhibit may not, however, be incorporated by reference in any subsequent filing
under any Act administered by the Commission.

2.

In any case where two or more indentures, contracts, franchises, or other documents required to be filed as exhibits
are substantially identical in all material respects except as to the parties thereto, the dates of execution, or other
details, the registrant need file a copy of only one of such documents, with a schedule identifying the other
documents omitted and setting forth the material details in which such documents differ from the document a copy
of which is filed. The Commission may at any time in its discretion require filing of copies of any documents so
omitted.

3.

Only copies, rather than originals, need be filed of each exhibit required except as otherwise specifically noted.

4.

Electronic Filings. Whenever an exhibit is filed in paper pursuant to a hardship exemption (§§232.201 and 232.202
of this chapter), the letter ”P” (paper) shall be placed next to the exhibit in the list of exhibits required by Item
601(a)(2) of this Rule. Whenever an electronic confirming copy of an exhibit is filed pursuant to a hardship
exemption (232.201 or 232.202(d) of this chapter), the exhibit index should specify where the confirming electronic
copy can be located; in addition, the designation “CE” (confirming electronic) should be placed next to the listed
exhibit in the exhibit index.
Exhibit Table

Instructions to the Exhibit Table.
1.

The exhibit table indicates those documents that must be filed as exhibits to the respective forms listed.

2.

The “X” designation indicates the documents which are required to be filed with each form even if filed previously
with another document. Provided, however, that such previously filed documents may be incorporated by
reference to satisfy the filing requirements.
The number used in the far left column of the table refers to the appropriate subsection in paragraph (b) where
a description of the exhibit can be found. Whenever necessary, alphabetical or numerical subparts may be used.

3.
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EXHIBIT TABLE
Securities Act Forms

Exchange Act Forms

S-2

S-3

S-43

S-8

S-11

F-1

F-2

F-3

F-43

10

8-K

(1) Underwriting agreement
X
X
(2) Plan of acquisition, reorX
X
ganization, arrangement,
liquidation, or succession
(3) (i) Articles of
X
----incorporation
(ii) By-laws
X
(4) Instruments defining the
X
X
rights of security holders,
including indentures
(5) Opinion re legality
X
X
(6) [Reserved]
(7) Correspondence from
an independent accountant
regarding non-reliance on a
previously issued audit report
or completed interim review
(8) Opinion re tax matters
X
X
(9) Voting trust agreement
X
----(10) Material contracts
X
X
(11) Statement re computation
X
X
of per share earnings
(12) Statements re computation
X
X
of ratios
(13) Annual report to security
----X
holders, Form 10-Q and 10-QSB,
or quarterly report to
security holders1
(14) Code of Ethics
(15) Letter re unaudited interim
X
X
financial information
(16) Letter re change in
X
X
certifying accountant4
(17) Correspondenceon
departure of director
----- -----

X
X

X
X

---------

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

----X

X
X

-----

-----

X

-----

X

X

----- -----

X

X

X

X

X

X

----X

X
X

----X

X
X

X
X

----- ----X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X

X

X

X

X

X

-----

-----

S-1

(18) Letter re change in
accounting principles
(19) Report furnished to security holders
(20) Other documents or statements to security holders
(21) Subsidiaries of the registrant
(22) Published report regarding
matters submitted to vote
of security holders
(23) Consent of experts and
counsel
(24) Power of attorney
(25) Statement of eligibility
of trustee
(26) Invitations for competitive
bids
(27) through (30) [Reserved]
(31)(i) Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14
(a) Certifications
(ii) Rule 13a-14(d)/15d-14(d)
Certifications6
(32) Section 1350 Certifications
(33) Report on assessment
of compliance with servicing
criteria for asset-backed
securities
(35) Servicer compliance
Statement
(36) through (98) Reserved
(99) Additional exhibits
(100) XBRL-Related Documents

X

X

10-D 10-Q

-----

10-K

-------- ---X
X

----- ------

X

X
-------------

X
X
X
X

-----------------

X
X
X
X

X
X
X
X

X

X

-----

X

X

-----

X

-----

-----

-----

X

X

X

X

X

-----

X

-----

X

----- -----

-----

----- -----

----- -----

----- --------X

X
X
----- ----X ----X ----X

-----

X
X
X
X

----X
X
X

-----------------

----- ---- --------- ----X
X
X
X
---X
X

X

X

-----

-----

-----

X

-----

-----

-----

X

----- ----- ----- -----

X

-----

X
-----

----

X

-----

----- ----- -----

X

X

-----

-----

X

-----

-----

----- ----- ----- -----

X

----

------

-----

-----

-----

-----

----- ----- ----- -----

-----

-----

X

X

----- -----

-----

-----

-----

----- ----- ----- -----

-----

-----

X

-----

-----

----- -----

-----

-----

-----

----- ----- ----- -----

X

----

------ ------

-----

-----

X

-----

X

X

X

-----

-----

-----

X

----- -----

-----

-----

-----

----- ----- ----- -----

-----

X

X

X

X2

X

X2

----- -----

X

X

----- -----

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

-----

X2

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
-----

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
-----

X
-----

X

X

X

X

-----

-----

X

X

X

X

-----

-----

X
-----

X
X
X
---- ------ ---------

------ ----X

X
X

X

X

X
X
X

X

X

X

X

86

X

X

X

X

X
X

X
X

X

X
X

X
X

1

Where incorporated by reference into the text of the prospectus and delivered to security holders along with the prospectus as permitted by the
registration statement; or, in the case of the Form 10-K, where the annual report to security holders is incorporated by reference into the text of the
Form 10-K.

2

Where the opinion of the expert or counsel has been incorporated by reference into a previously filed Securities Act registration statement.

3

An exhibit need not be provided about a company if: (1) With respect to such company an election has been made under Forms S-4 or F-4 to provide
information about such company at a level prescribed by Forms S-2, S-3, F-2 or F-3 and (2) the form, the level of which has been elected under Forms
S-4 or F-4, would not require such company to provide such exhibit if it were registering a primary offering.

4

If required pursuant to Item 304 of Regulation S-K.

5

A Form 8-K Exhibit is required only if relevant to the subject matter reported on the Form 8-K report. For example, if the Form 8-K pertains to the
departure of a director, only the exhibit described in paragraph (b)(17) of this section need be filed. A required exhibit may be incorporated by reference
from a previous filing.
6
Pursuant to §§ 240.13a-13(b)(3) and 240.15d-13(b)(3) of this chapter, asset-backed issuers are not required to file reports on Form 10-Q.

(b)

Description of exhibits. Set forth below is a description of each document listed in the exhibit tables.
(1)

Underwriting agreement - Each underwriting contract or agreement with a principal underwriter pursuant to
which the securities being registered are to be distributed; if the terms of such documents have not been
determined, the proposed forms thereof. Such agreement may be filed as an exhibit to a report on Form 8-K
(§249.308 of this chapter) which is incorporated by reference into a registration statement subsequent to its
effectiveness.

(2)

Plan of acquisition, reorganization, arrangement, liquidation or succession - Any material plan of acquisition,
disposition, reorganization, readjustment, succession, liquidation or arrangement and any amendments thereto
described in the statement or report. Schedules (or similar attachments) to these exhibits shall not be filed unless
such schedules contain information which is material to an investment decision and which is not otherwise
disclosed in the agreement or the disclosure document. The plan filed shall contain a list briefly identifying the
contents of all omitted schedules, together with an agreement to furnish supplementally a copy of any omitted
schedule to the Commission upon request.

(3)

(i)

Articles of Incorporation. The articles of incorporation of the registrant or instruments corresponding
thereto as currently in effect and any amendments thereto. Whenever the registrant files an amendment to
its articles of incorporation, it must file a complete copy of the articles as amended. However, if such
amendment is being reported on Form 8-K (§249.308 of this chapter), the registrant is required to file only
the text of the amendment as a Form 8-K exhibit. In such case, a complete copy of the articles of incorporation
as amended must be filed as an exhibit to the next Securities Act registration statement or periodic report
filed by the registrant to which this exhibit requirement applies. Where it is impracticable for the registrant
to file a charter amendment authorizing new securities with the appropriate state authority prior to the
effective date of the registration statement registering such securities, the registrant may file as an exhibit
to the registration statement the form of amendment to be filed with the state authority. In such a case, if
material changes are made after the copy is filed, the registrant must also file the changed copy.

(ii)

(4)

By-laws. The bylaws of the registrant or instruments corresponding thereto as currently in effect and any
amendments thereto. Whenever the registrant files an amendment to the bylaws, it must file a complete copy
of the amended bylaws. However, if such amendment is being reported on Form 8-K (§249.308 of this
chapter), the registrant is required to file only the text of the amendment as a Form 8-K exhibit. In such case,
a complete copy of the bylaws as amended must be filed as an exhibit to the next Securities Act registration
statement or periodic report filed by the registrant to which this exhibit requirement applies.
Instruments defining the rights of security holders, including indentures —

(i)

All instruments defining the rights of holders of the equity or debt securities being registered including,
where applicable, the relevant portion of the articles of incorporation or by-laws of the registrant.

(ii)

Except as set forth in (iii) below, for filings on Forms S-1, S-11, S-14 and F-4 under the Securities Act (§§239.1,
25, 18, 23 and 34 of this chapter) and Forms 10 and 10-K (§§249.210 and 310 of this chapter) under the
Exchange Act all instruments defining the rights of holders of long-term debt of the registrant and its
consolidated subsidiaries and for any of its unconsolidated subsidiaries for which financial statements are
required to be filed.
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(iii) Where the instrument defines the rights of holders of long-term debt of the registrant and its consolidated
subsidiaries and for any of its unconsolidated subsidiaries for which financial statements are required to
be filed, there need not be filed: (A) any instrument with respect to long-term debt not being registered if
the total amount of securities authorized thereunder does not exceed 10 percent of the total assets of the
registrant and its subsidiaries on a consolidated basis and if there is filed an agreement to furnish a copy
of such agreement to the Commission upon request; (B) any instrument with respect to any class of
securities if appropriate steps to assure the redemption of retirement of such class will be taken prior to or
upon delivery by the registrant of the securities being registered; or (C) copies of instruments evidencing
scrip certificates for fractions of shares.
(iv) If any of the securities being registered are, or will be, issued under an indenture to be qualified under the
Trust indenture Act, the copy of such indenture which is filed as an exhibit shall include or be accompanied
by (A) a reasonably itemized and informative table of contents; and (B) a cross-reference sheet showing
the location in the indenture of the provisions inserted pursuant to sections 310 through 318(a) inclusive
of the Trust Indenture Act of 1939.
(v)

With respect to Forms 8-K and 10-Q under the Exchange Act which are filed and which disclose, in the text
of Form 10-Q, the interim financial statements, or the footnotes thereto, the creation of a new class of
securities or indebtedness or the modification of existing rights of security holders, file all instruments
defining the rights of holders of these securities or indebtedness. However, there need not be filed any
instrument with respect to long-term debt not being registered which meets the exclusion set forth above
in paragraph (iii)(A).

Instruction 1 to paragraph (b)(4). There need not be filed any instrument which defines the rights of participants
(not as security holders) pursuant to an employee benefit plan.
Instruction 2 to paragraph (b)(4) (for electronic filings). If the instrument defining the rights of security holders
is in the form of a certificate, the text appearing on the certificate shall be reproduced in an electronic filing together
with a description of any other graphic and image material appearing on the certificate, as provided in Rule 304 of
Regulation S-T (§232.304 of this chapter).
(5)

Opinion re legality —
(i)

An opinion of counsel as to the legality of the securities being registered, indicating whether they will, when sold,
be legally issued, fully paid and non-assessable, and, if debt securities, whether they will be binding obligations
of the registrant.

(ii)

If the securities being registered are issued under a plan and the plan is subject to the requirements of ERISA furnish
either:
(A) An opinion of counsel which confirms compliance of the provisions of the written documents constituting the
plan with the requirements of ERISA pertaining to such provisions; or
(B) A copy of the Internal Revenue Service determination letter that the plan is qualified under section 401 of the
Internal Revenue Code; or

(iii) If the securities being registered are issued under a plan which is subject to the requirements of ERISA and the plan
has been amended subsequent to the filing of (b)(5)(ii)(A) or (B) above, furnish either:
(A) An opinion of counsel which confirms compliance of the amended provisions of the plan with the requirements
of ERISA pertaining to such provisions; or
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(B) A copy of the Internal Revenue Service determination letter that the amended plan is qualified under section
401 of the Internal Revenue Code.
Note: Attention is directed to item 8 of Form S-8 for exemptions to this exhibit requirement applicable to
that Form.
(6)

[Reserved]

(7)

Correspondence from an independent accountant regarding non-reliance on a previously issued audit report or
completed interim review. Any written notice from the registrant’s current or previously engaged independent
accountant that the independent accountant is withdrawing a previously issued audit report or that a previously issued
audit report or completed interim review, covering one or more years or interim periods for which the registrant is required
to provide financial statements under Regulation S-X (part 210 of this chapter), should no longer be relied upon. In
addition, any letter, pursuant to Item 4.02(c) of Form 8-K (§249.308 of this chapter), from the independent accountant to
the Commission stating whether the independent accountant agrees with the statements made by the registrant describing
the events giving rise to the notice.

(8)

Opinion re tax matters — For filings on Form S-11 under the Securities Act (§239. 18) or those to which Securities Act
in-dustry Guide 5 applies, an opinion of counsel or of an independent public or certified public accountant or, in lieu
thereof, a revenue ruling from the Internal Revenue Service, supporting the tax matters and consequences to the
shareholders as described in the filing when such tax matters are material to the transaction for which the registration
statement is being filed. This exhibit otherwise need only be filed with the other applicable registration forms where the
tax consequences are material to an investor and a representation as to tax consequences is set forth in the filing. If a tax
opinion is set forth in full in the filing, an indication that such is the case may be made in lieu of filing the otherwise required
exhibit. Such tax opinions may be conditioned or may be qualified, so long as such conditions and qualifications are
adequately described in the filing.

(9)

Voting trust agreement — Any voting trust agreements and amendments thereto.

(10) Material contracts —
(i)

Every contract not made in the ordinary course of business which is material to the registrant and is to be performed
in whole or in part at or after the filing of the registration statement or report or was entered into not more than two
years before such filing. Only contracts need be filed as to which the registrant or subsidiary of the registrant is a
party or has succeeded to a party by assumption or assignment or in which the registrant or such subsidiary has
a beneficial interest.

(ii)

If the contract is such as ordinarily accompanies the kind of business conducted by the registrant and its
subsidiaries, it will be deemed to have been made in the ordinary course of business and need not be filed unless
it falls within one or more of the following categories, in which case it shall be filed except where immaterial in amount
or significance:
(A) Any contract to which directors, officers, promoters, voting trustees, security holders named in the registration
statement or report, or underwriters are parties other than contracts involving only the purchase or sale of
current assets having a determinable market price, at such market price;
(B) Any contract upon which the registrant’s business is substantially dependent, as in the case of continuing
contracts to sell the major part of registrant’s products or services or to purchase the major part of registrant’s
requirements of goods, services or raw materials or any franchise or license or other agreement to use a patent,
formula, trade secret, process or trade name upon which registrant’s business depends to a material extent;
(C) Any contract calling for the acquisition or sale of any property, plant or equipment for a consideration
exceeding 15 percent of such fixed assets of the registrant on a consolidated basis; or

(D) Any material lease under which a part of the property described in the registration statement or report is held
by the registrant.
(iii) (A) Any management contract or any compensatory plan, contract or arrangement, including but not limited to
plans relating to options, warrants or rights, pension, retirement or deferred compensation or bonus, incentive
or profit sharing (or if not set forth in any formal document, a written description thereof) in which any director
or any of the named executive officers of the registrant, as defined by Item 402(a)(3) (§ 229.402(a)(3)),
participates shall be deemed material and shall be filed; and any other management contract or any other
compensatory plan, contract, or arrangement in which any other executive officer of the registrant participates
shall be filed unless immaterial in amount or significance.
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(B) Any compensatory plan, contract or arrangement adopted without the approval of security holders
pursuant to which equity may be awarded, including, but not limited to, options, warrants or rights (or if
not set forth in any formal document, a written description thereof), in which any employee (whether or
not an executive officer of the registrant) participates shall be filed unless immaterial in amount or significance. A compensation plan assumed by a registrant in connection with a merger, consolidation or other
acquisition transaction pursuant to which the registrant may make further grants or awards of its equity
securities shall be considered a compensation plan of the registrant for purposes of the preceding sentence.
(C) Notwithstanding paragraph (b)(10)(iii)(A) above, the following management contracts or compensatory plans,
contracts or arrangements need not be filed:
(1) Ordinary purchase and sales agency agreements.
(2) Agreements with managers of stores in a chain organization or similar organization.
(3) Contracts providing for labor or salesmen’s bonuses or payments to a class of security holders, as such.
(4) Any compensatory plan, contract or arrangement which pursuant to its terms is available to employees,
officers or directors generally and which in operation provides for the same method of allocation of
benefits between management and nonmanagement participants.
(5) Any compensatory plan, contract or arrangement if the registrant is a foreign private issuer that furnishes
compensatory information under Item 402(a)(1) (§229.402(a)(1)) and the public filing of the plan, contract
or arrangement, or portion thereof, is not required in the registrant’s home country and is not otherwise
publicly disclosed by the registrant.
(6) Any compensatory plan, contract, or arrangement if the registrant is a wholly owned subsidiary of a
company that has a class of securities registered pursuant to section 12 or files reports pursuant to
section 15(d) of the Exchange Act and is filing a report on Form 10-K and Form 10-KSB or registering
debt instruments or preferred stock which are not voting securities on Form S-2.
Instruction 1 to paragraph (b)(10). With the exception of management contracts, in order to comply with paragraph
(iii) above, registrants need only file copies of the various remunerative plans and need not file each individual
director’s or executive officer’s personal agreement under the plans unless there are particular provisions in such
personal agreements whose disclosure in an exhibit is necessary to an investor’s understanding of that individual’s
compensation under the plan.
Instruction 2 to paragraph (b)(10). If a material contract is executed or becomes effective during the reporting period
reflected by a Form 10-Q or Form 10-K, it shall be filed as an exhibit to the Form 10-Q or Form 10-K filed for the
corresponding period. See paragraph (a)(4) of this Item. With respect to quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, only those
contracts executed or becoming effective during the most recent period reflected in the report shall be filed.
(11) Statement re computation of per share earnings. A statement setting forth in reasonable detail the computation of per
share earnings, unless the computation can be clearly determined from the material contained in the registration statement
or report. The information with respect to the computation of per share earnings on both primary and fully diluted bases,
presented by exhibit or otherwise, must be furnished even though the amounts of per share earnings on the fully diluted
basis are not required to be presented in the income statement under the provisions of Accounting Principles Board
Opinion No. 15. That Opinion provides that any reduction of less than 3% need not be considered as dilution (see footnote
to paragraph 14 of the Opinion) and that a computation on the fully diluted basis which results in improvement of earnings
per share not be taken into account (see paragraph 40 of the Opinion).
(12) Statements re computation of ratios — A statement setting forth in reasonable detail the computation of any ratio of
earnings to fixed charges, any ratio of earnings to combined fixed charges and preferred stock dividends or any other ratios
which appear in the registration statement or report. See Item 503(d) of Regulation S-K (§229.503(d)).
(13) Annual report to security holders, Form 10-Q or quarterly report to security holders —
(i)

The registrant’s annual report to security holders for its last fiscal year, its Form 10-Q (if specifically incorporated
by reference in the prospectus) or its quarterly report to security holders, if all or a portion thereof is incorporated
by reference in the filing. Such report, except for those portions thereof which are expressly incorporated by reference
in the filing, is to be furnished for the information of the Commission and is not to be deemed “filed” as part of the
filing. If the financial statements in the report have been incorporated by reference in the filing, the accountant’s
certificate shall be manually signed in one copy. See Rule 411(b) (§230.411(b) of this chapter).

(ii)

Electronic filings. If all, or any portion of the annual or quarterly report to security holders is incorporated by reference
into any electronic filing, all, or such portion of the annual or quarterly report to security holders so incorporated,
shall be filed in electronic format as an exhibit to such filing.
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(14) Code of Ethics.Any code of ethics , or amendment thereto, that is the subject of the disclosure required by Item 406 of
Regulation S-K (229.406) or Item 10 of Form 8-K (249.308 of this chapter), to the extent that the registrant intends to satisfy
the Item 406 or Item 10 requirements through filing of an exhibit.
(15) Letter re unaudited in term financial information — A letter, where applicable, from the independent accountant which
acknowledges awareness of the use in a registration statement of a report on unaudited interim financial information which
pursuant to Rule 436(c) under the Securities Act (§230.436(c) of this chapter) is not considered a part of a registration
statement prepared or certified by an accountant or a report prepared or certified by an accountant within the meaning
of sections 7 and 11 of that Act. Such letter may be filed with the registration statement, an amendment thereto, or a report
on Form 10-Q which is incorporated by reference into the registration statement.
(16) Letter re change in certifying accountant — A letter from the registrant’s former independent accountant regarding its
concurrence or disagreement with the statements made by the registrant in the current report concerning the resignation
or dismissal as the registrant’s principal accountant.
(17) Correspondence on departure of director. Any written correspondence from a former director concerning the circumstances surrounding the former director’s retirement, resignation, refusal to stand for re-election or removal, including
any letter from the former director to the registrant stating whether the former director agrees with statements made by
the registrant describing the former director’s departure.
(18) Letter re change in accounting principles — Unless previously filed, a letter from the registrant’s independent accountant
indicating whether any change in accounting principles or practices followed by the registrant, or any change in the
method of applying any such accounting principles or practices, which affected the financial statements being filed with
the Commission in the report or which is reasonably certain to affect the financial statements of future fiscal years is to
an alternative principle which in his judgment is preferable under the circumstances. No such letter need be filed when
such change is made in response to a standard adopted by the Financial Accounting Standards Board that creates a new
accounting principle, that expresses a preference for an accounting principle, or that rejects a specific accounting
principle.
(19) Report furnished to security holders — If the registrant makes available to its stockholders or otherwise publishes, within
the period prescribed for filing the report, a document or statement containing information meeting some or all of the
requirements of Part I of Form 10-Q, the information called for may be incorporated by reference to such published
document or statement provided copies thereof are included as an exhibit to the registration statement or to Part I of the
Form 10-Q report.
(20) Other documents or statements to security holders — If the registrant makes available to its stockholders or otherwise
publishes, within the period prescribed for filing the report, a document or statement containing information meeting some
or all of the requirements of this form the information called for may be incorporated by reference to such published
document or statement provided copies thereof are filed as an exhibit to the report on this form.
(21) Subsidiaries of the registrant —
(i)

List all subsidiaries of the registrant, the state or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization of each, and the
names under which such subsidiaries do business. This list may be incorporated by reference from a document which
includes a complete and accurate list.

(ii)

The names of particular subsidiaries may be omitted if the unnamed subsidiaries, considered in the aggregate as a
single subsidiary, would not constitute a significant subsidiary as of the end of the year covered by this report. (See
the definition of “significant subsidiary” in Rule 1-02(v) (17 CFR 210.1-02(v)) of Regulation S-X.) The names of
consolidated wholly-owned multiple subsidiaries carrying on the same line of business, such as chain stores or small
loan companies, may be omitted, provided the name of the immediate parent, the line of business, the number of
omitted subsidiaries operating in the United States and the number operating in foreign countries are given. This
instruction shall not apply, however, to banks, insurance companies, savings and loan associations or to any
subsidiary subject to regulation by another Federal agency.

(22) Published report regarding matters submitted to vote of security holders — Published reports containing all of the
information called for by Item 4 of Part II of Form 10-Q or Item 4 of Part I of Form 10-K which is referred to therein in lieu
of providing disclosure in Form 10-Q or 10-K, which are required to be filed as exhibits by Rule 12b-23(a)(3) under the
Exchange Act (§240.12b-23(a)(3) of this chapter).
(23) Consents of experts and counsel —
(i)

Securities Act filings — All written consents required to be filed shall be dated and manually signed. Where the
consent of an expert or counsel is contained in his report or opinion or elsewhere in the registration statement or
document filed therewith, a reference shall be made in the index to the report, the part of the registration statement
or document or opinion, containing the consent.

(ii)

Exchange Act reports — Where the filing of a written consent is required with respect to material incorporated by
reference in a previously filed registration statement under the Securities Act, such consent may be filed as an exhibit
to the material incorporated by reference. Such consents shall be dated and manually signed.
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(24) Power of attorney — If any name is signed to the registration statement or report pursuant to power of attorney, manually
signed copies of such power of attorney shall be filed. Where the power of attorney is contained elsewhere in the
registration statement or documents filed therewith a reference shall be made in the index to the part of the registration
statement or document containing such power of attorney. In addition, if the name of any officer signing on behalf of
the registrant is signed pursuant to a power of attorney, certified copies of a resolution of the registrant’s board of directors
authorizing such signature shall also be filed. A power of attorney that is filed with the Commission shall relate to a specific
filing or an amendment thereto, provided, however, that a power of attorney relating to a registration statement under the
Securities Act or an amendment thereto also may relate to any registration statement for the same offering that is to be
effective upon filing pursuant to Rule 462(b) under the Securities Act (§ 230.462(b) of this chapter). A power of attorney
that confers general authority shall not be filed with the Commission.
(25) Statement of eligibility of trustee —
(i)

A statement of eligibility and qualification of each person designated to act as trusted under an indenture to be
qualified under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939. Such statement of eligibility shall be bound separately from the other
exhibits.

(ii)

Electronic filings. The requirement to bind separately the statement of eligibility and qualification of each person
designated to act a trustee under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939 from other exhibits shall not apply to statements
submitted in electronic format. Rather, such statements must be submitted as exhibits in the same electronic
submission as the registration statement to which they relate, or in an amendment thereto, except that electronic filers
that rely on Trust Indenture Act Section 305(b)(2) for determining the eligibility of the trustee under indentures for
securities to be issued, offered or sold on a delayed basis by or on behalf of the registrant shall file such statements
separately in the manner prescribed by §260.5b-1 through §260.5b-3 of this chapter and by the EDGAR Filer Manual.

(26) Invitations for competitive bids — If the registration statement covers securities to be offered at competitive bidding,
any form of communication which is an invitation for competitive bid which will be sent or given to any person shall be
filed.
(27) through (30) [Reserved]
(31) Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certifications. The certifications required by Rule 13a-14(a) (17 CFR 240.13a-14(a)) or Rule
15d-14(a) (17 CFR 240.15d-14(a)) exactly as set forth below:
CERTIFICATIONS*
I, [identify the certifying individual], certify that:
1. I have reviewed this [specify report] of [identify registrant];
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the
periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this
report is being prepared;
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting
to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles;
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report
our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period
covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual
report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or
persons performing the equivalent functions):
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(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and
report financial information; and
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.
Date: ...............
_______________________
[Signature]
[Title]
* Provide a separate certification for each principal executive officer and principal financial officer of the registrant. See Rules
13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a).
(ii) Rule 13a-14(d)/15d-14(d) Certifications. If an asset-backed issuer (as defined in § 229.1101), the certifications required by
Rule 13a-14(d) (17 CFR 240.13a-14(d)) or Rule 15d-14(d) (17 CFR 240.15d-14(d)) exactly as set forth below:
CERTIFICATIONS1
I, [identify the certifying individual], certify that:
1. I have reviewed this report on Form 10-K and all reports on Form 10-D required to be filed in respect of the period covered by
this report on Form 10-K of [identify the issuing entity] (the “Exchange Act periodic reports”);
2. Based on my knowledge, the Exchange Act periodic reports, taken as a whole, do not contain any untrue statement of a
material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which
such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, all of the distribution, servicing and other information required to be provided under Form 10-D for
the period covered by this report is included in the Exchange Act periodic reports;
4. [I am responsible for reviewing the activities performed by the servicer(s) and based on my knowledge and the compliance
review(s) conducted in preparing the servicer compliance statement(s) required in this report under Item 1123 of Regulation AB,
and except as disclosed in the Exchange Act periodic reports, the servicer(s) [has/have] fulfilled [its/their] obligations under the
servicing agreement(s) in all material respects; and]
[Based on my knowledge and the servicer compliance statement(s) required in this report under Item 1123 of Regulation AB,
and except as disclosed in the Exchange Act periodic reports, the servicer(s) [has/have] fulfilled [its/their] obligations under the
servicing agreement(s) in all material respects; and]2
5. All of the reports on assessment of compliance with servicing criteria for asset-backed securities and their related attestation
reports on assessment of compliance with servicing criteria for asset-backed securities required to be included in this report in
accordance with Item 1122 of Regulation AB and Exchange Act Rules 13a-18 and 15d-18 have been included as an exhibit to this
report, except as otherwise disclosed in this report. Any material instances of noncompliance described in such reports have
been disclosed in this report on Form 10-K. 3
[In giving the certifications above, I have reasonably relied on information provided to me by the following unaffiliated parties
[name of servicer, sub-servicer, co-servicer, depositor or trustee].] 4
Date: . . . . . . . . . . . . .
_______________________
[Signature]
[Title]
1

With respect to asset-backed issuers, the certification must be signed by either: (1) The senior officer in charge of securitization of the
depositor if the depositor is signing the report on Form 10-K; or (2) The senior officer in charge of the servicing function of the servicer if the
servicer is signing the report on Form 10-K on behalf of the issuing entity. See Rules 13a-14(e) and 15d-14(e) (§§ 240.13a-14(e) and 240.15d14(e)). If multiple servicers are involved in servicing the pool assets, the senior officer in charge of the servicing function of the master servicer
(or entity performing the equivalent function) must sign if a representative of the servicer is to sign the certification. If there is a master
servicer and one or more underlying servicers, the references in the certification relate to the master servicer. A natural person must sign the
certification in his or her individual capacity, although the title of that person in the organization of which he or she is an officer may be
included under the signature.
2

The first version of paragraph 4 is to be used when the servicer is signing the report on behalf of the issuing entity. The second version of
paragraph 4 is to be used when the depositor is signing the report.

3

The certification refers to the reports prepared by parties participating in the servicing function that are required to be included as an exhibit to
the Form 10-K. See Item 1122 of Regulation AB (§ 229.1122) and Rules 13a-18 and 15d-18 (§§ 240.13a-18 and 240.15d-18 of this chapter). If a
report that is otherwise required to be included is not attached, disclosure that the report is not included and an associated explanation must be
provided in the Form 10-K report.
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4

Because the signer of the certification must rely in certain circumstances on information provided by unaffiliated parties outside of the signer’s
control, this paragraph must be included if the signer is reasonably relying on information that unaffiliated trustees, depositors, servicers, subservicers or co-servicers have provided.

(32) Section 1350 Certifications.
(i) The certifications required by Rule 13a-14(b) (17 CFR 240.13a-14(b)) or Rule 15d-14(b) (17 CFR 240.15d-14(b)) and
Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code (18 U.S.C. 1350).
(ii) A certification furnished pursuant to this item will not be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange
Act [15 U.S.C. 78r], or otherwise subject to the liability of that section. Such certification will not be deemed to be incorporated
by reference into any filing under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act, except to the extent that the registrant specifically
incorporates it by reference.
(33) Report on assessment of compliance with servicing criteria for asset-backed securities. Each report on assessment of
compliance with servicing criteria required by § 229.1122(a).
(34) Attestation report on assessment of compliance with servicing criteria for asset-backed securities. Each attestation report
on assessment of compliance with servicing criteria for asset-backed securities required by § 229.1122(b).
(35) Servicer compliance statement. Each servicer compliance statement required by § 229.1123.
(36) through (98) [Reserved]
(99)
Additional exhibits —
(i)

Any additional exhibits which the registrant may wish to file shall be so marked as to indicate clearly the subject
matters to which they refer.

(ii)

Any document (except for an exhibit) or part thereof which is incorporated by reference in the filing and is not
otherwise required to be filed by this Item or is not a Commission filed document incorporated by reference in a
Securities Act registration statement.

(iii) If pursuant to Section 11(a) of the Securities Act (15 U.S.C. 77k(a)) an issuer makes generally available to its security
holders an earnings statement covering a period of at least 12 months beginning after the effective date of the
registration statement, and if such earnings statement is made available by “other methods” than those specified
in paragraphs (a) or (b) of §230.158 of this chapter, it must be filed as an exhibit to the Form 10-Q or the Form 10K, as appropriate, covering the period in which the earnings statement was released.
(100) XBRL-Related Documents. An electronic filer that participates in the voluntary XBRL (eXtensible Business Reporting
Language) program may submit XBRL-Related Documents (§232.11 of this chapter) in electronic format as an exhibit to: the
filing to which they relate; an amendment to such filing; or a Form 8-K (§249.308 of this chapter) that references such filing, if
the Form 8-K is submitted no earlier than date of that filing.

Subpart 229.700 — Miscellaneous
Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities; Use of Proceeds from Registered Securities.
Reg. §229.701. Item 701. Furnish the following information as to all securities of the registrant sold by the registrant within the past
three years which were not registered under the Securities Act. Include sales of reacquired securities, as well as new issues, securities
issued in exchange for property, services, or other securities, and new securities resulting from the modification of outstanding
securities.
(a)

Securities sold. Give the date of sale and the title and amount of securities sold.

(b)

Underwriters and other purchasers. Give the names of the principal underwriters, if any. As to any such securities not publicly
offered, name the persons or identify the class of persons to whom the securities were sold.

(c)

Consideration. As to securities sold for cash, state the aggregate offering price and the aggregate underwriting discounts or
commissions. As to any securities sold otherwise than for cash, state the nature of the transaction and the nature and aggregate
amount of consideration received by the registrant.

(d)

Exemption from registration claimed. Indicate the section of the Securities Act or the rule of the Commission under which
exemption from registration was claimed and state briefly the facts relied upon to make the exemption available.
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(e)

Terms of conversion or exercise. If the information called for by this paragraph (e) is being presented on Form 8-K, Form 10-QSB,
Form 10-Q, Form 10-KSB, Form 10-K or 10-D (249.308, 249.308b, 249.308a, 249.310b or 249.310 or 249.312) under the Exchange
Act, and where the securities sold by the registrant are convertible or exchangeable into equity securities, or are warrants or
options representing equity securities, disclose the terms of conversion or exercise of the securities.

(f)

Use of Proceeds. As required by 230.463 of this chapter, following the effective date of the first registration statement filed
under the Securities Act by an issuer, the issuer or successor issuer shall report the use of proceeds on its first periodic report
filed pursuant to sections 13(a) and 15(d) of the Exchange Act (15 U.S.C. 78m(a) and 78o(d)) after effectiveness of its Securities
Act registration statement, and thereafter on each of its subsequent periodic reports filed pursuant to sections 13(a) and 15(d)
of the Exchange Act through the later of disclosure of the application of all the offering proceeds, or disclosure of the termination
of the offering. If a report of the use of proceeds is required with respect to the first effective registration statement of the
predecessor issuer, the successor issuer shall provide such a report. The information provided pursuant to paragraphs (f)(2)
through (f)(4) of this Item need only be provided with respect to the first periodic report filed pursuant to sections 13(a) and
15(d) of the Exchange Act after effectiveness of the registration statement filed under the Securities Act. Subsequent periodic
reports filed pursuant to sections 13(a) and 15(d) of the Exchange Act need only provide the information required in paragraphs
(f)(2) through (f)(4) of this Item if any of such required information has changed since the last periodic report filed. In disclosing
the use of proceeds in the first periodic report filed pursuant to the Exchange Act, the issuer or successor issuer should include
the following information:
(1)

The effective date of the Securities Act registration statement for which the use of proceeds information is being disclosed
and the Commission file number assigned to the registration statement;

(2)

If the offering has commenced, the offering date, and if the offering has not commenced, an explanation why it has not;

(3)

If the offering terminated before any securities were sold, an explanation for such termination; and

(4)

If the offering did not terminate before any securities were sold, disclose:
(i)

Whether the offering has terminated and, if so, whether it terminated before the sale of all securities registered;

(ii)

The name(s) of the managing underwriter(s), if any;

(iii) The title of each class of securities registered and, where a class of convertible securities is being registered, the
title of any class of securities into which such securities may be converted;
(iv) For each class of securities (other than a class of securities into which a class of convertible securities registered
may be converted without additional payment to the issuer) the following information, provided for both the account
of the issuer and the account(s) of any selling security holder(s): the amount registered, the aggregate price of the
offering amount registered, the amount sold and the aggregate offering price of the amount sold to date;
(v)

From the effective date of the Securities Act registration statement to the ending date of the reporting period, the
amount of expenses incurred for the issuer’s account in connection with the issuance and distribution of the
securities registered for underwriting discounts and commissions, finders’ fees, expenses paid to or for underwriters,
other expenses and total expenses. Indicate if a reasonable estimate for the amount of expenses incurred is provided
instead of the actual amount of expense. Indicate whether such payments were:
(A) Direct or indirect payments to directors, officers, general partners of the issuer or their associates; to persons
owning ten (10) percent or more of any class of equity securities of the issuer; and to affiliates of the issuer;
or
(B) Direct or indirect payments to others;

(vi) The net offering proceeds to the issuer after deducting the total expenses described in paragraph (f)(4)(v) of this
Item;
(vii) From the effective date of the Securities Act registration statement to the ending date of the reporting period, the
amount of net offering proceeds to the issuer used for construction of plant, building and facilities; purchase and
installation of machinery and equipment; purchases of real estate; acquisition of other business(es); repayment
of indebtedness; working capital; temporary investments (which should be specified); and any other purposes for
which at least five (5) percent of the issuer’s total offering proceeds or $100,000 (whichever is less) has been used
(which should be specified). Indicate if a reasonable estimate for the amount of net offering proceeds applied is
provided instead of the actual amount of net offering proceeds used. Indicate whether such payments were:
(A) Direct or indirect payments to directors, officers, general partners of the issuer or their associates; to persons
owning ten (10) percent or more of any class of equity securities of the issuer; and to affiliates of the issuer;
or
(B) Direct or indirect payments to others; and
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(viii) If the use of proceeds in paragraph (f)(4)(vii) of this Item represents a material change in the use of proceeds described
in the prospectus, the issuer should describe briefly the material change.

Instructions.
1.

Information required by this Item 701 need not be set forth as to notes, drafts, bills of exchange, or bankers’
acceptances which mature not later than one year from the date of issuance.

2.

If the sales were made in a series of transactions, the information may be given by such totals and periods as will
reasonably convey the information required.

Indemnification of Directors and Officers
Reg. §229.702. Item 702. State the general effect of any statute, charter provisions, by-laws, contract or other arrangements under
which any controlling persons, director or officer of the registrant is insured or indemnified in any manner against liability which
he may incur in his capacity as such.
§229.703 (Item 703) Purchases of equity securities by the issuer and affiliated purchasers.
(a) In the following tabular format, provide the information specified in paragraph (b) of this Item with respect to any purchase
made by or on behalf of the issuer or any “affiliated purchaser,” as defined in §240.10b-18(a)(3) of this chapter, of shares or
other units of any class of the issuer’s equity securities that is registered by the issuer pursuant to section 12 of the Exchange
Act (15 U.S.C. 781).

ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES
(a) Total Number (b) Average Price
of Shares (or
Paid per Share
Units)
(or Unit)
purchased

(c) Total Number of Shares
(d) Maximum Number (or
(or Units) Purchased as
Approximate Dollar Value)
Part of Publicly Announced
of Shares (or Units) that May
Plans or Programs
Yet Be Purchased Under
the Plans or Programs

Period
Month #1
(identify
beginning and
ending dates)
Month #2
(identify
beginning and
ending dates)
Month #3
(identify
beginning and
ending dates)
Total
(b) The table shall include the following information for each class or series of securities for each month included in the period
covered by the report:
(1) The total number of shares (or units) purchased (column (a));
Instruction to paragraph (b)(1) of Item 703
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Include in this column all issuer repurchases, including those made pursuant to publicly announced plans or programs and
those not made pursuant to publicly announced plans or programs. Briefly disclose, by footnote to the table, the number of
shares purchased other than through a publicly announced plan or program and the nature of the transaction (e.g., whether the
purchases were made in open-market transactions, tender offers, in satisfaction of the company’s obligations upon exercise of
outstanding put options issued by the company, or other transactions).
(2) The average price paid per share (or unit) (column (b));
(3) The total number of shares (or units) purchased as part of publicly announced repurchase plans or programs
(column (c)); and
(4) The maximum number (or approximate dollar value) of shares (or units) that may yet be purchased under the plans or
programs (column (d)).
Instructions to paragraphs (b)(3) and (b)(4) of Item 703
1. In the table, disclose this information in the aggregate for all plans or programs publicly announced.
2. By footnote to the table, indicate:
a. The date each plan or program was announced;
b. The dollar amount (or share or unit amount) approved;
c. The expiration date (if any) of each plan or program;
d. Each plan or program that has expired during the period covered by the table; and
e. Each plan or program the issuer has determined to terminate prior to expiration, or under which the issuer does not intend
to make further purchases.
Instruction to Item 703
Disclose all purchases covered by this Item, including purchases that do not satisfy the
conditions of the safe harbor of §240.10b-18 of this chapter.
Subpart 229.800 — List of Industry Guides
Securities Act Industry Guides
Reg. §229.801.
(a)

[Reserved]

(b)

Guide 2. Disclosure of oil and gas operations.

(c)

Guide 3. Statistical disclosure by bank holding companies.

(d)

Guide 4. Prospectuses relating to interests in oil and gas programs.

(e)

Guide 5. Preparation of registration statements relating to interests in real estate limited partnerships.

(f)

Guide 6. Disclosures concerning unpaid claims and claim adjustment expenses of property-casualty underwriters.

(g)

Guide 7. Description of property by issuers engaged or to be engaged in significant mining operations.

Exchange Act Industry Guides
Reg. §229.802.
(a)

[Reserved]

(b)

Guide 2. Disclosure of oil and gas operations.

(c)

Guide 3. Statistical disclosure by bank holding companies.

(d)

Guide 4. Disclosures concerning unpaid claims and claim adjustment expenses of property-casualty underwriters.

(e) – (f) [Reserved]
(g)

Guide 7. Description of property by issuers engaged or to be engaged in significant mining operations.
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Subpart 229.900 — Roll-up Transactions
§ 229.901 (Item 901) Definitions.
For the purposes of this subpart 229.900:
(a)

General partner means the person or persons responsible under state law for managing or directing the management of the
business and affairs of a partnership that is the subject of a roll-up transaction including, but not limited to, the general
partner(s), board of directors, board of trustees, or other person(s) having a fiduciary duty to such partnership.

(b)

(1)

(2)

Partnership means any:
(i)

Finite-life limited partnership; or

(ii)

Other finite-life entity.

(i)

Except as provided in subparagraph (b)(2)(ii) of this Item (§ 229.901(b)(2)(ii)), a limited partnership or other entity
is “finite life” if:
(A) It operates as a conduit vehicle for investors to participate in the ownership of assets for a limited period of
time; and
(B) It has as a policy or purpose distributing to investors proceeds from the sale, financing or refinancing of assets
or cash from operations, rather than reinvesting such proceeds or cash in the business (whether for the term
of the entity or after an initial period of time following commencement of operations).

(ii)

(c)

A real estate investment trust as defined in I.R.C. Section 856 is not finite-life solely because of the distribution to
investors of net income as provided by the I.R.C. if its policies or purposes do not include the distribution to investors
of proceeds from the sale, financing or refinancing of assets, rather than the reinvestment of such proceeds in the
business.

(3)

Partnership does not include any entity registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940 (15 U.S.C. 80a-1 et seq.)
or any Business Development Company as defined in Section 2(a)(48) of that Act (15 U.S.C. 80a-2(a)(48)).

(1)

Except as provided in paragraph (c)(2) or (c)(3) of this Item, roll-up transaction means a transaction involving the
combination or reorganization of one or more partnerships, directly or indirectly, in which some or all of the investors in
any of such partnerships will receive new securities, or securities in another entity.

(2)

Notwithstanding paragraph (c)(1) of this Item, roll-up transaction shall not include:
(i)

A transaction wherein the interests of all of the investors in each of the partnerships are repurchased, recalled, or
exchanged in accordance with the terms of the preexisting partnership agreement for securities in an operating
company specifically identified at the time of the formation of the original partnership;

(ii)

A transaction in which the securities to be issued or exchanged are not required to be and are not registered under
the Securities Act of 1933 (15 U.S.C. 77a et seq.);

(iii) A transaction that involves only issuers that are not required to register or report under Section 12 of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78l), both before and after the transaction;
(iv) A transaction that involves the combination or reorganization of one or more partnerships in which a non-affiliated
party succeeds to the interests of a general partner or sponsor, if:
(A) Such action is approved by not less than 66-2/3% of the outstanding units of each of the participating
partnerships; and
(B) As a result of the transaction, the existing general partners will receive only compensation to which they are
entitled as expressly provided for in the preexisting partnership agreements;
(v)

A transaction in which the securities offered to investors are securities of another entity that are reported under a
transaction reporting plan declared effective before December 17, 1993 by the Commission under Section 11A of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78k-1), if:
(A) Such other entity was formed, and such class of securities was reported and regularly traded, not less than 12
months before the date on which soliciting material is mailed to investors; and
(B) The securities of that entity issued to investors in the transaction do not exceed 20% of the total outstanding
securities of the entity, exclusive of any securities of such class held by or for the account of the entity or a
subsidiary of the entity; and
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(C) For purposes of paragraph (c)(2)(v) of this Item (§229.901(c)(2)(v)), a regularly traded security means any
security with a minimum closing price of $2.00 or more for a majority of the business days during the preceding
three-month period and a six-month minimum average daily trading volume of 1,000 shares;
(vi) A transaction in which all of the investors’ partnership securities are reported under a transaction reporting plan
declared effective before December 17, 1993 by the Commission under Section 11A of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78k-1) and such investors receive new securities or securities in another entity that are reported
under a transaction reporting plan declared effective before December 17, 1993 by the Commission under Section
11A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78k-1), except that, for purposes of this paragraph, securities
that are reported under a transaction reporting plan declared effective before December 17, 1993 by the Commission
under Section 11A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 shall not include securities listed on the American Stock
Exchange’s Emerging Company Marketplace;
(vii) A transaction in which the investors in any of the partnerships involved in the transaction are not subject to a
significant adverse change with respect to voting rights, the terms of existence of the entity, management
compensation or investment objectives; or
(viii) A transaction in which all investors are provided an option to receive or retain a security under substantially the
same terms and conditions as the original issue.
(3)

The Commission, upon written request or upon its own motion, may exempt by rule or order any security or class of
securities, any transaction or class of transactions, or any person or class of persons, in whole or in part, conditionally
or unconditionally, from the definition of roll-up transaction or the requirements imposed on roll-up transactions by Items
902 – 915 of Regulation S-K (§§229.902 – 915), if it finds such action to be consistent with the public interest and the
protection of investors.

(d)

Sponsor means the person proposing the roll-up transaction.

(e)

Successor means the surviving entity after completion of the roll-up transaction or the entity whose securities are being offered
or sold to, or acquired by, limited partners of the partnerships or the limited partnerships to be combined or reorganized.

Instruction to Item 901.
If a transaction is a roll-up transaction as defined in Item 901(c) of this subpart (§ 229.901(c)), the requirements of this
subpart apply to each entity proposed to be included in the roll-up transaction, whether or not the entity is a
“partnership” as defined in Item 901(b) of this subpart (§ 229.901(b)).
§ 229.902 (Item 902) Individual Partnership Supplements.
(a)

If two or more entities are proposed to be included in the roll-up transaction, provide the information specified in this Item
(§229.902) in a separate supplement to the disclosure document for each entity.

(b)

The separate supplement required by paragraph (a) of this Item (§ 229.902) shall be filed as part of the registration statement,
shall be delivered with the prospectus to investors in the partnership covered thereby, and shall include:
(1)

A statement in the forepart of the supplement to the effect that:
(i)

Supplements have been prepared for each partnership;

(ii)

The effects of the roll-up transaction may be different for investors in the various partnerships; and

(iii) Upon receipt of a written request by an investor or his representative who has been so designated in writing, a copy
of any supplement will be transmitted promptly, without charge, by the general partner or sponsor.
This statement must include the name and address of the person to whom investors should make their request.
(2)

A brief description of each material risk and effect of the roll-up transaction, including, but not limited to, federal income
tax consequences, for investors in the partnership, with appropriate cross references to the discussions of the risks,
effects and tax consequences of the roll-up transaction required in the principal disclosure document pursuant to Items
904 and 915 of this subpart (§ 229.904 and § 229.915). Such discussion shall address the effect of the roll-up transaction
on the partnership’s financial condition and results of operations.

(3)

A statement concerning whether the general partner reasonably believes that the roll-up transaction is fair or unfair to
investors in the partnership, together with a brief discussion of the bases for such belief, with appropriate cross references
to the discussion of the fairness of the roll-up transaction required in the principal disclosure document pursuant to Item
910 of this subpart (§ 229.910). If there are material differences between the fairness analysis for the partnership and for
the other partnerships, such differences shall be described briefly in the supplement.
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(4)

A brief, narrative description of the method of calculating the value of the partnership and allocating interests in the
successor to the partnership, and a table showing such calculation and allocation. Such table shall include the following
information (or other information of a comparable character necessary to a thorough understanding of the calculation and
allocation):
(i)

The appraised value of each separately appraised significant asset (as defined in Item 911(c)(5) of this subpart
(§ 229.911(c)(5)) held by the partnership, or, if appraisals have not been obtained for each significant asset, the value
assigned for purposes of the valuation of the partnership to each significant asset for which an appraisal has not
been obtained;

(ii)

The dollar amount of any mortgages or other similar liabilities to which each of such assets is subject;

(iii) Cash and cash equivalent assets held by the partnership;
(iv) Other assets held by the partnership;
(v)

Other liabilities of the partnership;

(vi) The value assigned to the partnership;
(vii) The value assigned to the partnership per interest held by investors in the partnership (on an equivalent interest
basis, such as per $1,000 original investment);
(viii) The aggregate number of interests in the successor to be allocated to the partnership and the percentage of the total
interests of the successor;
(ix) The number of interests in the successor to be allocated to investors in the partnership for each interest held by
such investors (on an equivalent interest basis, such as per $1,000 original investment); and
(x)

The value assigned to the general partner’s interest in the partnership, and the number of interests in the successor
or other consideration to be allocated in the roll-up transaction to the general partner for such general partnership
interest or otherwise as compensation or reimbursement for claims against or interests in the partnership, such as
foregone fees, unearned fees and for fees to be earned on the sale or refinancing of an asset.

(5)

The amounts of compensation paid, and cash distributions made, to the general partner and its affiliates by the partnership
for the last three fiscal years and the most recently completed interim period and the amounts that would have been paid
if the compensation and distributions structure to be in effect after the roll-up transaction had been in effect during such
period. If any proposed change(s) in the business or operations of the successor after the roll-up transaction would
change materially the compensation and distributions that would have been paid by the successor (e.g., if properties will
be sold or purchased after the roll-up transaction and no properties were sold or purchased during the period covered
by the table), describe such changes and the effects thereof on the compensation and distributions to be paid by the
successor.

(6)

Cash distributions made to investors during each of the last five fiscal years and most recently completed interim period,
identifying any such distributions which represent a return of capital.

(7)

An appropriate cross reference to selected financial information concerning the partnership and the pro forma financial
statements included in the principal disclosure document in response to Item 914(b)(2) of this subpart (§ 229.914(b)(2)).

§ 229.903 (Item 903) Summary.
(a)

Provide in the forepart of the disclosure document a clear, concise and comprehensible summary of the roll-up transaction.

(b)

The summary required by paragraph (a) of this Item (§ 229.903) shall include a summary description of each of the following
items, as well as any other material terms or consequences of the roll-up transaction necessary to an understanding of such
transaction:
(1)

Each material risk and effect on investors, including, but not limited to:
(i)

Changes in the business plan, voting rights, cash distribution policies, form of ownership interest or management
compensation;

(ii)

The general partner’s conflicts of interest in connection with the roll-up transaction and in connection with the
successor’s future operations; and
(iii) The likelihood that securities received by investors in the roll-up transaction will trade at prices substantially below
the value assigned to such securities in the roll-up transaction and/or the value of the successor’s assets;
(2)

The material terms of the roll-up transaction, including the valuation method used to allocate securities in the successor
to investors in the partnerships;
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(3)

Whether the general partner reasonably believes that the roll-up transaction is fair or unfair to investors in each
partnership, including a brief discussion of the bases for such belief;

(4)

Any opinion from an outside party concerning the fairness of the roll-up transaction, including whether the opinion
addresses the fairness of all possible combinations of partnerships or portions of partnerships, and contacts with any
outside party concerning fairness opinions, valuations or reports in connection with the roll-up transaction required to
be disclosed pursuant to Item 911(a)(5) of this subpart (§ 229.911(a)(5));

(5)

The background of and reasons for the roll-up transaction, as well as alternatives to the roll-up transaction described in
response to Item 908(b) of this subpart (§ 229.908(b));

(6)

Rights of investors to exercise dissenters’ or appraisal rights or similar rights and to obtain a list of investors in the
partnership in which the investor holds an interest; and

(7)

If any affiliates of the general partner or the sponsor may participate in the business of the successor or receive
compensation from the successor, an organizational chart showing the relationships between the general partner, the
sponsor and their affiliates.

Instruction to Item 903.
The description of the material risks and effects of the roll-up transaction required by paragraph (b)(1) of this Item (§
229.903) must be presented prominently in the forepart of the summary.
§ 229.904 (Item 904) Risk Factors and Other Considerations.
(a)

Immediately following the summary required by Item 903 of this subpart (§ 229.903), describe in reasonable detail each material
risk and effect of the roll-up transaction on investors in each partnership, including, but not limited to:
(1)

The potential risks, adverse effects and benefits of the roll-up transaction for investors and for the general partner,
including those which result from each matter described in response to Item 905 of this subpart (§ 229.905), with appropriate
cross references to the comparative information required by Item 905;

(2)

The material risks arising from an investment in the successor; and

(3)

The likelihood that securities of the successor received by investors in the roll-up transaction will trade in the securities
markets at a price substantially below the value assigned to such securities in the roll-up transaction and/or the value
of the assets of the successor, and the effects on investors of such a trading market discount.

(b)

Quantify each risk or effect to the extent practicable.

(c)

State whether any of such risks or effects may be different for investors in any partnership and, if so, identify such partnership(s)
and describe such difference(s).

Instruction to Item 904.
The requirement to quantify the effects of the roll-up transaction shall include, but not be limited to:
(i)

If cost savings resulting from combined administration of the partnerships is identified as a potential benefit of
the roll-up transaction, the amount of cost savings and a comparison of such amount to the costs of the roll-up
transaction; and

(ii)

If there may be a material conflict of interest of the sponsor or general partner arising from its receipt of payments
or other consideration as a result of the roll-up transaction, the amount of such payments and other consideration
to be obtained in the roll-up transaction and a comparison of such amounts to the amounts to which the sponsor
or general partner would be entitled without the roll-up transaction.

§ 229.905 (Item 905) Comparative Information
(a)

(1)

Describe the voting and other rights of investors in the successor under the successor’s governing instruments and under
applicable law. Compare such rights to the voting and other rights of investors in each partnership subject to the
transaction under the partnerships’ governing instruments and under applicable law. Describe the effects of the change(s)
in such rights.

(2)

Describe the duties owed by the general partner of the successor to investors in the successor under the successor’s
governing instruments and under applicable law. Compare such duties to the duties owed by the general partner of each
partnership to investors in the partnership under the partnership’s governing instruments and under applicable law.
Describe the effects of the change(s) in such duties.
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(b)

(1)

Describe each item of compensation (including reimbursement of expenses) payable by the successor after the roll-up
transaction to the general partner and its affiliates or to any affiliate of the successor. Compare such compensation to
the compensation currently payable to the general partner and its affiliates by each partnership. Describe the effects of
the change(s) in compensation arrangements.

(2)

Describe each instance in which cash or other distributions may be made by the successor to the general partner and its
affiliates or to any affiliate of the successor. Compare such distributions to the distributions currently paid or payable
to the general partner and its affiliates by each partnership. Describe the effects of the change(s) in distribution
arrangements. If distributions similar to those currently paid or payable by any partnership to the general partner or its
affiliates will not be made by the successor, state whether or not other compensation arrangements with the successor
described in response to paragraph (b)(1) of this Item (§ 229.905) (e.g., incentive fees payable upon sale of a property)
will, in effect, replace such distributions.

(3)

Provide a table demonstrating the changes in such compensation and distributions setting forth among other things:
(i)

The actual amounts of compensation and distributions, separately identified, paid by the partnerships on a combined
basis to the general partner and its affiliates for the partnerships’ last three fiscal years and most recently ended
interim periods; and

(ii)

The amounts of compensation and distributions that would have been paid if the compensation and distributions
structure to be in effect after the roll-up transaction had been in effect during such period.

(4)

If any proposed change(s) in the business or operations of the successor after the roll-up transaction would change
materially the compensation and distributions that would have been paid by the successor from that shown in the table
provided in response to paragraph (b)(3)(ii) of this Item (§ 229.905) (e.g., if properties will be sold or purchased after the
roll-up transaction and no properties were sold or purchased during the period covered by the table), describe such
changes and the effects thereof on the compensation and distributions to be paid by the successor.

(5)

Describe the material conflicts that may arise between the interests of the sponsor or general partner and the interests
of investors in the successor as a result of the compensation and distribution arrangements described in response to
paragraphs (b)(1) and (2) of this Item (§ 229.905) and describe any steps that will be taken to resolve any such conflicts.

(c)

Describe any provisions in the governing instruments of the successor and any policies of the general partner of the successor
relating to distributions to investors of cash from operations, proceeds from the sale, financing or refinancing of assets, and
any other distributions. Compare such provisions and policies to those of each of the partnerships. Describe the effects of
any change(s) in such provisions or policies.

(d)

(1)

Describe each material investment policy of the successor, including, without limitation, policies with respect to
borrowings by the successor. Compare such investment policies to the investment policies of each of the partnerships.
Describe the effects of any change(s) in such policies.

(2)

Describe any plans of the general partner, sponsor or of any person who will be an affiliate of the successor with respect
to:
(i)

A sale of any material assets of the partnerships;

(ii)

A purchase of any material assets; and

(iii) Borrowings.
(3)

(e)

(i)

State whether or not specific assets have been identified for sale, financing, refinancing or purchase following the
roll-up transaction.

(ii)

If specific assets have been so identified, describe the assets and the proposed transaction.

Describe any other similar terms or policies of the successor that are material to an investment in the successor. Compare any
such terms or policies to those of each of the partnerships. Describe the effects of any change(s) in any such terms or policies.

Instructions to Item 905.
(1)

The information provided in response to this Item (§ 229.905) should be illustrated in tables or other readily
understandable formats, which should be included together with the disclosures required by this Item.

(2)

The information required by this Item (§ 229.905) shall be set forth in appropriate separate sections of the principal
disclosure document.

§229.906 (Item 906) Allocation of Roll-up Consideration.
(a)

Describe in reasonable detail the method used to allocate interests in the successor to investors in the partnerships and the
reasons why such method was used.
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(b)

(c)

Provide a table showing the calculation of the valuation of each partnership and the allocation of interests in the successor
to investors. Such table shall include for each partnership the following information (or other information of a comparable
character necessary to an understanding of the calculation and allocation):
(1)

The value assigned to each significant category of assets of the partnership and the total value assigned to the
partnership;

(2)

The total value assigned to all partnerships;

(3)

The aggregate amount of interests in the successor to be allocated to each partnership and the percentage of the total
amount of all such interests represented thereby; and

(4)

The amount of interests of the successor to be issued to investors per interest held in each partnership (on an equivalent
interest basis, such as per $1,000 invested).

If interests in the successor will be allocated to the general partner in exchange for its general partner interest or otherwise or
if the general partner will receive other consideration in connection with the roll-up transaction:
(1)

Describe in reasonable detail the method used to allocate interests in the successor to the general partner or to determine
the amount of consideration payable to the general partner and the reasons such method(s) was used; and

(2)

Identify the consideration paid by the general partner for interests in the partnerships that will be exchanged in the rollup transaction.

§ 229.907 (Item 907) Background of the Roll-up Transaction.
(a)

(1)

Furnish a summary of the background of the transaction. Such summary shall include, but not be limited to, a description
of any contacts, negotiations or transactions concerning any of the following matters:
(i)

A merger, consolidation, or combination of any of the partnerships;

(ii)

An acquisition of any of the partnerships or a material amount of any of their assets;

(iii) A tender offer for or other acquisition of securities of any class issued by any of the partnerships; or
(iv) A change in control of any of the partnerships.
(2)

The summary required by paragraph (a)(1) shall:
(i)

Cover the period beginning with each partnership’s second full fiscal year preceding the date of the filing of the rollup transaction;

(ii)

Include contacts, negotiations or transactions between the general partner or its affiliates and any person who would
have a direct interest in the matters listed in (a)(1)(i)-(iv); and

(iii) Identify the person who initiated such contacts, negotiations or transactions.
(b)

(c)

Briefly describe the background of each partnership, including, but not limited to:
(1)

The amount of capital raised from investors, the extent to which net proceeds from the original offering of interests have
been invested, the extent to which funds have been invested as planned and the amount not yet invested; and

(2)

The partnership’s investment objectives and the extent to which the partnership has achieved its investment objectives.

Discuss whether the general partner (including any affiliated person materially dependent on the general partner’s compensation arrangement with the partnership) or any partnership has experienced since the commencement of the most recently
completed fiscal year or is likely to experience any material adverse financial developments. If so, describe such developments
and the effect of the transaction on such matters.

§ 229.908 (Item 908) Reasons For and Alternatives to the Roll-up Transaction.
(a)
(b)

Describe the reason(s) for the roll-up transaction.
(1) If the general partner or sponsor considered alternatives to the roll-up transaction being proposed, describe such
alternative(s) and state the reason(s) for their rejection.
(2)

Whether or not described in response to paragraph (b)(1) of this Item (§ 229.908), describe in reasonable detail the potential
alternative of continuation of the partnerships in accordance with their existing business plans, including the effects of
such continuation and the material risks and benefits that likely would arise in connection therewith, and, if applicable,
the general partner’s reasons for not considering such alternative.
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(3)

Whether or not described in response to paragraph (b)(1) of this Item (§229.908), describe in reasonable detail the potential
alternative of liquidation of the partnerships, the procedures required to accomplish liquidation, the effects of liquidation,
the material risks and benefits that likely would arise in connection with liquidation, and, if applicable, the general partner’s
reasons for not considering such alternative.

(c)

State the reasons for the structure of the roll-up transaction and for undertaking such transaction at this time.

(d)

State whether the general partner initiated the roll-up transaction and, if not, whether the general partner participated in the
structuring of the transaction.

(e)

State whether the general partner recommends the roll-up transaction and briefly describe the reasons for such recommendation.

§ 229.909 (Item 909) Conflicts of Interest.
(a)

Briefly describe the general partner’s fiduciary duties to each partnership subject to the roll-up transaction and each actual
or potential material conflict of interest between the general partner and the investors relating to the roll-up transaction.

(b)

(1)

State whether or not the general partner has retained an unaffiliated representative to act on behalf of investors for
purposes of negotiating the terms of the roll-up transaction. If no such representative has been retained, describe the
reasons therefor and the risks arising from the absence of separate representation.

(2)

If an unaffiliated representative has been retained to represent investors:
(i)

Identify such unaffiliated representative;

(ii)

Briefly describe the representative’s qualifications, including a brief description of any other transaction similar to
the roll-up transaction in which the representative has served in a similar capacity within the past five years;

(iii) Describe the method of selection of such representative, including a statement as to whether or not any investors
were consulted in the selection of the representative and, if so, the names of such investors;
(iv) Describe the scope and terms of the engagement of the representative, including, but not limited to, what party will
be responsible for paying the representative’s fees and whether such fees are contingent upon the outcome of the
roll-up transaction;
(v)

Describe any material relationship between the representative or its affiliates and:
(A) The general partner, sponsor, any affiliate of the general partner or sponsor; or
(B) Any other person having a material interest in the roll-up transaction, which existed during the past two years
or is mutually understood to be contemplated and any compensation received or to be received as a result of
such relationship;

(vi) Describe in reasonable detail the actions taken by the representative on behalf of investors; and
(vii) Describe the fiduciary duties or other legal obligations of the representative to investors in each of the partnerships.
§ 229.910 (Item 910) Fairness of the Transaction.
(a)

State whether the general partner reasonably believes that the roll-up transaction is fair or unfair to investors and the reasons
for such belief. Such discussion must address the fairness of the roll-up transaction to investors in each of the partnerships
and as a whole. If the roll-up transaction may be completed with a combination of partnerships consisting of less than all
partnerships, or with portions of partnerships, the belief stated must address each possible combination.

(b)

Discuss in reasonable detail the material factors upon which the belief stated in paragraph (a) of this Item (§ 229.910) is based
and, to the extent practicable, the weight assigned to each such factor. Such discussion should include an analysis of the extent,
if any, to which such belief is based on the factors set forth in Instructions (2) and (3) to this Item (§ 229.910), paragraph (b)(1)
of Item 909 of this subpart (§ 229.909(b)(1)) and Item 911 of this subpart (§ 229.911). This discussion also must:

(c)

(1)

Compare the value of the consideration to be received in the roll-up transaction to the value of the consideration that would
be received pursuant to each of the alternatives discussed in response to Item 908(b) of this subpart (§229.908(b)); and

(2)

Describe any material differences among the partnerships (e.g., different types of assets or different investment
objectives) relating to the fairness of the transaction.

If any offer of the type described in Instruction (2)(viii) to this Item (§ 229.910) has been received, describe such offer and state
the reason(s) for its rejection.
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(d)

Describe any factors known to the general partner that may affect materially the value of the consideration to be received by
investors in the roll-up transaction, the values assigned to the partnerships for purposes of the comparisons to alternatives
required by paragraph (b) of this Item (§ 229.910) and the fairness of the transaction to investors.

(e)

State whether the general partner’s statements in response to paragraphs (a) and (b) of this Item (§229.910) are based, in whole
or in part, on any report, opinion or appraisal described in response to Item 911 of this subpart (§ 229.911). If so, describe any
material uncertainties known to the general partner that relate to the conclusions in any such report, opinion or appraisal
including, but not limited to, developments or trends that have affected or are reasonably likely to affect materially such
conclusions.

Instructions to Item 910.
(1)

A statement that the general partner has no reasonable belief as to the fairness of the roll-up transaction to
investors will not be considered sufficient disclosure in response to paragraph (a) of this Item (§ 229.910(a)).

(2)

The factors which are important in determining the fairness of a roll-up transaction to investors and the weight,
if any, which should be given to them in a particular context will vary. Normally such factors will include, among
others, those referred to in paragraph (b)(1) of Item 909 (§ 229.909(b)(1)) and whether the consideration offered
to investors constitutes fair value in relation to:
(i)

Current market prices, if any

(ii)

Historic market prices, if any;

(iii) Net book value;
(iv) Going concern value;
(v)

Liquidation value;

(vi) Purchases of limited partnership interests by the general partner or sponsor or their affiliates since the commencement of the partnership’s second full fiscal year preceding the date of filing of the disclosure document for the rollup transaction;
(vii) Any report, opinion, or appraisal described in Item 911 of this subpart (§ 229.911); and
(viii) Offers of which the general partner or sponsor is aware made during the preceding eighteen months for a merger,
consolidation, or combination of any of the partnerships; an acquisition of any of the partnerships or a material
amount of their assets; a tender offer for or other acquisition of securities of any class issued by any of the
partnerships; or a change in control of any of the partnerships.
(3)

The discussion concerning fairness should specifically address material terms of the transaction including
whether the consideration offered to investors constitutes fair value in relation to
(i)

The form and amount of consideration to be received by investors and the sponsor in the roll-up transaction;

(ii)

The methods used to determine such consideration; and

(iii) The compensation to be paid to the sponsor in the future.
(4)

Conclusory statements, such as “The roll-up transaction is fair to investors in relation to net book value, going
concern value, liquidation value and future prospects of the partnership,” will not be considered sufficient
disclosure in response to paragraph (b) of this Item (§ 229.910(b)).

(5)

Consideration should be given to presenting the comparative numerical data as to the value of the consideration
being received by investors, liquidation value and other values in a tabular format. Financial and other
information concerning the partnerships should be prepared based upon the most recent available information,
such as, in the case of financial information, the periods covered by interim selected financial information included
in the prospectus in accordance with Item 914 of this subpart (§ 229.914).
§ 229.911 (Item 911) Reports, Opinions and Appraisals.
(a)

(1)

All Material Reports, Opinions or Appraisals. State whether or not the general partner or sponsor has received any report,
opinion (other than an opinion of counsel) or appraisal from an outside party which is materially related to the roll-up
transaction including, but not limited to, any such report, opinion or appraisal relating to the consideration or the fairness
of the consideration to be offered to investors in connection with the roll-up transaction or the fairness of such transaction
to the general partner or investors.

(2)

With respect to any report, opinion or appraisal described in paragraph (a)(1) of this Item (§ 229.911);

105

(i)

Identify such outside party;

(ii)

Briefly describe the qualifications of such outside party;

(iii) Describe the method of selection of such outside party;
(iv) Describe any material relationship between:
(A) The outside party or its affiliates; and
(B) The general partner, sponsor, the successor or any of their affiliates, which existed during the past two years
or is mutually understood to be contemplated and any compensation received or to be received as a result of
such relationship;
(v)

If such report, opinion or appraisal relates to the fairness of the consideration, state whether the general partner,
sponsor or affiliate determined the amount of consideration to be paid or whether the outside party recommended
the amount of consideration to be paid.

(vi) Furnish a summary concerning such report, opinion or appraisal which shall include, but not be limited to, the
procedures followed; the findings and recommendations; the bases for and methods of arriving at such findings
and recommendations; instructions received from the general partner, sponsor or its affiliates; and any limitation
imposed by the general partner, sponsor or affiliate on the scope of the investigation. If any limitation was imposed
by the general partner, sponsor or affiliate on the scope of the investigation, including, but not limited to, access
to its personnel, premises, and relevant books and records, state the reasons therefor.
(vii) State whether any compensation paid to such outside party is contingent on the approval or completion of the rollup transaction and, if so, the reasons for compensating such parties on a contingent basis.
(3)

Furnish a statement to the effect that upon written request by an investor or his representative who has been so designated
in writing, a copy of any such report, opinion or appraisal shall be transmitted promptly, without charge, by the general
partner or sponsor. The statement also must include the name and address of the person to whom investors or their
representatives should make their request.

(4)

All reports, opinions or appraisals referred to in paragraph (a)(1) of this Item (§ 229.911) shall be filed as exhibits to the
registration statement.

(5)

(i)

Describe any contacts in connection with the roll-up transaction between the sponsor or the general partner and any
outside party with respect to the preparation by such party of an opinion concerning the fairness of the roll-up
transaction, a valuation of a partnership or its assets, or any other report with respect to the roll-up transaction. No
description is required, however, of contacts with respect to reports, opinions or appraisals filed as exhibits pursuant
to paragraph (a)(4) of this Item (§ 229.911).

(ii)

The description of contacts with any outside party required by paragraph (a)(5)(i) of this Item (§ 229.911) shall include
the following:
(A) The identity of each such party;
(B) The nature of the contact;
(C) The actions taken by such party;
(D) Any views, preliminary or final, expressed on the proposed subject matter of the report, opinion or appraisal;
and
(E)

(b)

Any reasons such party did not provide a report, opinion or appraisal.

Fairness opinions.
(1)

If any report, opinion or appraisal relates to the fairness of the roll-up transaction to investors in the partnerships, state
whether or not the report, opinion or appraisal addresses the fairness of:
(i) The roll-up transaction as a whole and to investors in each partnership; and
(ii)

All possible combinations of partnerships in the roll-up transaction (including portions of partnerships if the
transaction is structured to permit portions of partnerships to participate). If all possible combinations are not
addressed:
(A) Identify the combinations that are addressed;
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(B) Identify the person(s) that determined which combinations would be addressed and state the reasons for the
selection of the combinations; and
(C) State that if the roll-up transaction is completed with a combination of partnerships not addressed, no report,
opinion or appraisal concerning the fairness of the roll-up transaction will have been obtained.
(2)

(c)

If the sponsor or the general partner has not obtained any opinion on the fairness of the proposed roll-up transaction
to investors in each of the affected partnerships, state the sponsor’s or general partner’s reasons for concluding that such
an opinion is not necessary in order to permit the limited partners or shareholders to make an informed decision on the
proposed transaction.

Appraisals. If the report, opinion or appraisal consists of an appraisal of the assets of the partnerships:
(1)

Describe the purpose(s) for which the appraisals were obtained and their use in connection with the roll-up transaction;

(2)

Describe which assets are covered by the appraisals and state the aggregate appraised value of the assets covered by
the appraisals (including such value net of associated indebtedness). Provide a description of, and valuation of, any
assets subject to any material qualifications by the appraiser and a summary of such qualifications;

(3)

Identify the date as of which the appraisals were prepared. State whether and in what circumstances the appraisals will
be updated. State whether any events have occurred or conditions have changed since the date of the appraisals that
may have caused a material change in the value of the assets;

(4)

Include as an appendix to the prospectus one or more tables setting forth the following information:
(i)

The appraised value of any separately appraised asset that is significant to the partnership holding such asset;

(ii)

If the appraiser considered different valuation approaches in preparing the appraisals of the assets identified in
response to paragraph (c)(4)(i) of this Item (§ 229.911(c)(4)(i)), the value of each such asset under each valuation
approach considered by the appraiser, identifying the valuation approach used by the appraiser in determining the
appraised value and the reason such approach was chosen; and

(iii) All material assumptions used by the appraiser in appraising the assets identified in response to paragraph (c)(4)(i)
of this Item (§ 229.911(c)(4)(i)), and, if the appraiser used different assumptions for any of such assets, the reasons
the different assumptions were chosen.
(5)

For purposes of this Item and Item 902 of this Subpart (§ 229.902), an asset is “significant” to a partnership if it represents
more than 10% of the value of the partnership’s assets as of the end of the most recently-completed fiscal year or recentlycompleted interim period or if 10% or more of the partnership’s cash flow or net income for the most recently-completed
fiscal year or most recently-completed subsequent interim period was derived from such asset.

Instructions to Item 911.
(1)

The reports, opinions and appraisals required to be identified in response to paragraph (a) of this Item (§ 229.911)
include any reports, opinions and appraisals which materially relate to the roll-up transaction whether or not relied
upon, such as reports or opinions regarding alternatives to the roll-up transaction whether or not the alternatives
were rejected.

(2)

The information called for by paragraph (a)(2) of this Item (§ 229.911) should be given with respect to the firm
which provides the report, opinion or appraisal rather than the employees of such firm who prepared it.

(3)

With respect to appraisals, a summary prepared by the appraisers should not be included in lieu of the description
of the appraisals required by paragraph (c) of this Item (§ 229.911). A clear and concise summary description of
the appraisals is required.

§ 229.912 (Item 912) Source and Amount of Funds and Transactional Expenses.
(a)

State the source and total amount of funds or other consideration to be used in the roll-up transaction.

(b)

(1)

Furnish a reasonably itemized statement of all expenses incurred or estimated to be incurred in connection with the rollup transaction including, but not limited to, filing fees, legal, financial advisory, accounting and appraisal fees, solicitation
expenses and printing costs. Identify the persons responsible for paying any or all of such expenses.

(2)

State whether or not any partnership subject to the roll-up transaction will be, directly or indirectly, responsible for any
or all of the expenses of the transaction. If any partnership will be so responsible, state the amount to be provided by
each partnership and the sources of capital to finance such amount.

(c)

If all or any part of the consideration to be used by the sponsor or successor in the roll-up transaction is expected to be, directly
or indirectly, provided by any partnership, state the amount to be provided by each partnership and the sources of capital to
finance such amount.

(d)

If all or any part of the funds or other consideration is,107
or is expected to be, directly or indirectly borrowed by the sponsor or

successor for the purpose of the roll-up transaction:

(e)

(1)

Provide a summary of each such loan agreement containing the identity of the parties, the term, the collateral, the stated
and effective interest rates, and other material terms or conditions; and

(2)

Briefly describe any plans or arrangements to finance or repay such borrowing, or, if no plans or arrangements have been
made, make a statement to that effect.

If the source of all or any part of the funds to be used in the roll-up transaction is a loan made in the ordinary course of business
by a bank as defined by Section 3(a)(6) of the Exchange Act and section 13(d) or 14(d) is applicable to such transaction, the
name of such bank shall not be made available to the public if the person filing the statement so requests in writing and files
such request, naming such bank, with the Secretary of the Commission.

§ 229.913 (Item 913) Other Provisions of the Transaction.
(a)

State whether or not appraisal rights are provided under applicable state law, under the partnership’s governing instruments
or will be voluntarily accorded by the successor, the general partner or the sponsor (or any of their affiliates) in connection
with the roll-up transaction. If so, summarize such appraisal rights. If appraisal rights will not be available to investors who
object to the transaction, briefly outline the rights which may be available to such investors under such law.

(b)

If any provision has been made to allow investors to obtain access to the books and records of the partnership or to obtain
counsel or appraisal services at the expense of the successor, the general partner, the partnership, the sponsor (or any of their
affiliates), describe such provision.

(c)

Discuss the investors’ rights under federal and state law to obtain a partnership’s list of investors.

§229.914 (Item 914) Pro Forma Financial Statements; Selected Financial Data.
(a)

In addition to the information required by Item 301 of Regulation S-K, Selected Financial Data (§ 229.301), and Item 302 of
Regulation S-K, Supplementary Financial Information (§ 229.302), for each partnership proposed to be included in a roll-up
transaction provide: ratio of earnings to fixed charges, cash and cash equivalents, total assets at book value, total assets at
the value assigned for purposes of the roll-up transaction (if applicable), total liabilities, general and limited partners’ equity,
net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents, net cash provided by operating activities, distributions; and per unit data
for net income (loss), book value, value assigned for purposes of the roll-up transaction (if applicable), and distributions
(separately identifying distributions that represent a return of capital). This information should be provided for the same
period(s) for which Selected Financial Data and Supplementary Financial Information are required to be provided. Additional
or other information should be provided if material to an understanding of each partnership proposed to be included in a rollup transaction.

(b)

Provide pro forma financial information (including oil and gas reserves and cash flow disclosure, if appropriate), assuming:

(c)

(1)

All partnerships participate in the roll-up transaction; and

(2)

Participation in a roll-up transaction of those partnerships that on a combined basis have the lowest combined net cash
provided by operating activities for the last fiscal year of such partnerships, provided participation by such partnerships
satisfies all conditions to consummation of the roll-up transaction. If the combination of all partnerships proposed to
be included in a roll-up transaction results in such lowest combined net cash provided by operating activities, this shall
be noted and no separate pro forma financial statements are required.

The pro forma financial statements required by paragraph (b) of this Item (§ 229.914) shall disclose the effect of the roll-up
transaction on the successor’s:
(1)

Balance sheet as of the later of the end of the most recent fiscal year or the latest interim period;

(2)

Statement of income (with separate line items to reflect income (loss) excluding and including the roll-up expenses and
payments), earnings per share amounts, and ratio of earnings to fixed charges for the most recent fiscal year and the latest
interim period;

(3)

Statement of cash flows for the most recent fiscal year and the latest interim period; and

(4)

Book value per share as of the later of the end of the most recent fiscal year or the latest interim period.

Instructions to Item 914.
(1)

Notwithstanding the provisions of this Item (§ 229.914), any or all of the information required by paragraphs (b)
and (c) of this Item (§229.914) that is not material for the exercise of prudent judgment in regard to the matter to
be acted upon, may be omitted.

(2)

If the roll-up transaction is structured to permit participation by portions of partnerships, consideration should
be given to the effect of such participation in preparing the pro forma financial statements reflecting a partial rollup.
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§229.915 (Item 915) Federal Income Tax Consequences.
(a)

Provide a brief, clear and understandable summary of the material federal income tax consequences of the roll-up transaction
and an investment in the successor. Where a tax opinion has been provided, briefly summarize the substance of such opinion,
including identification of the material consequences upon which counsel has not been asked, or is unable, to opine. If any
of the material federal income tax consequences are not expected to be the same for investors in all partnerships, the differences
shall be described.

(b)

State whether or not the opinion of counsel is included as an appendix to the prospectus. If filed as an exhibit to the registration
statement and not included as an appendix to the prospectus, include a statement to the effect that, upon receipt of a written
request by an investor or his representative who has been so designated in writing, a copy of the opinion of counsel will be
transmitted promptly, without charge, by the general partner or sponsor. The statement should include the name and address
of the person to whom investors should make their request.

Subpart 229.1100 – Asset-Backed Securities (Regulation AB)
§ 229.1100 (Item 1100) General.
(a) Application of Regulation AB. Regulation AB (§§ 229.1100 through 229.1123) is the source of various disclosure items and
requirements for “asset-backed securities” filings under the Securities Act of 1933 (15 U.S.C. 77a et seq.) (the “Securities Act”) and
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”) (15 U.S.C. 78a et seq.). Unless otherwise specified, definitions to be used
in this Regulation AB, including the definition of “asset-backed security,” are set forth in Item 1101.
(b) Presentation of historical delinquency and loss information. Several Items in Regulation AB call for the presentation of
historical information and data on delinquencies and loss information. In providing such information:
(1) Present delinquency experience in 30 or 31 day increments, as applicable, beginning at least with assets that are 30 or 31
days delinquent, as applicable, through the point that assets are written off or charged off as uncollectable. At a minimum,
present such information by number of accounts and dollar amount. Present statistical information in a tabular or graphical
format, if such presentation will aid understanding.
(2) Disclose the total amount of delinquent assets as a percentage of the aggregate asset pool.
(3) Present loss and cumulative loss information, as applicable, regarding charge-offs, charge-off rate, gross losses, recoveries and net losses (with a description of how these terms are defined), the number and amount of assets experiencing a loss and
the number and amount of assets with a recovery, the ratio of aggregate net losses to average portfolio balance and the average
of net loss on all assets that have experienced a net loss.
(4) Categorize all delinquency and loss information by pool asset type.
(5) In a registration statement under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act or in a prospectus to be filed pursuant to §
230.424, describe how delinquencies, charge-offs and uncollectable accounts are defined or determined, addressing the effect of
any grace period, re-aging, restructure, partial payments considered current or other practices on delinquency and loss experience.
(6) Describe any other material information regarding delinquencies and losses particular to the pool asset type(s), such as
repossession information, foreclosure information and real estate owned (REO) or similar information.
(c) Presentation of certain third party financial information.
If financial information of a third party is required in a filing by Item 1112(b) of this Regulation AB (Information regarding
significant obligors) or Items 1114(b)(2) or 1115(b) of this Regulation AB (Information regarding significant provider of enhancement or other support), such information, in lieu of including such information, may be provided as follows:
(1) Incorporation by reference. If the following conditions are met, you may incorporate by reference (by means of a statement
to that effect) the reports filed by the third party (or the entity that consolidates the third party) pursuant to section 13(a) or
15(d) of the Exchange Act (15 U.S.C. 78m(a) or 78o(d)):
(i) Such third party or the entity that consolidates the third party is required to file reports with the Commission pursuant to
section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act.
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(ii) Such third party or the entity that consolidates the third party has filed all reports and other materials required to be filed
by such requirements during the preceding 12 months (or such shorter period that such party was required to file such reports
and materials).
(iii) The reports filed by such third party, or entity that consolidates the third party, include (or properly incorporate by
reference) the financial statements of such third party.
(iv) If incorporated by reference into a prospectus or registration statement, the prospectus also states that all documents
subsequently filed by such third party, or the entity that consolidates the third party, pursuant to section 13(a) or 15(d) of the
Exchange Act prior to the termination of the offering also shall be deemed to be incorporated by reference into the prospectus.
Instructions to Item 1100(c)(1).
1. In addition to the conditions in paragraph (c)(1) of this section, any information incorporated by reference must comply with
all applicable Commission rules pertaining to incorporation by reference, such as Item 10(d) of Regulation S-K (§ 229.10(d)),
Rule 303 of Regulation S-T (§ 232.303 of this chapter), Rule 411 of Regulation C (§ 230.411 of this chapter), and Rules 12b-23
and 12b-32 under the Exchange Act (§§ 240.12b-23 and 240.12b-32 of this chapter).
2. In addition, any applicable requirements under the Securities Act or the rules and regulations of the Commission regarding
the filing of a written consent for the use of incorporated material apply to the material incorporated by reference. See, for
example, § 230.439 of this chapter.
3. Any undertakings set forth in Item 512 of Regulation S-K (§ 229.512) apply to any material incorporated by reference in a
registration statement or prospectus.
4. If neither the third party nor any of its affiliates has had a direct or indirect agreement, arrangement, relationship or understanding, written or otherwise, relating to the ABS transaction, and neither the third party nor any of its affiliates is an affiliate
of the sponsor, depositor, issuing entity or underwriter of the ABS transaction, then paragraph (c)(1)(ii) of this section is
qualified by the knowledge of the registrant.
5. If you are relying on paragraph (c)(1) of this section to provide information required by Item 1112 of this Regulation AB
regarding a significant obligor that is an asset-backed issuer and the pool assets relating to such significant obligor are assetbacked securities, then for purposes of paragraph (c)(1)(iii) of this section, the term “financial statements” means the information required by Instruction 3 of Item 1112 of this Regulation AB. Such information required by Instruction 3.a. of Item 1112 of
this Regulation AB may be incorporated by reference from a prospectus that contains such information and is included in an
effective Securities Act registration statement or filed pursuant to § 230.424 of this chapter.
(2) Reference information for significant obligors. If the third party information relates to a significant obligor and the following conditions are met, you may include a reference to the third party’s periodic reports (or the third party’s parent with respect
to paragraph (c)(2)(ii)(C) of this section) under section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act (15 U.S.C. 78m(a) or 78o(d)) that are
on file with the Commission (or otherwise publicly available with respect to paragraph (c)(2)(ii)(F) of this section), along with a
statement of how those reports may be accessed, including the third party’s name and Commission file number, if applicable
(See, e.g., Item 1118 of this Regulation AB):
(i) Neither the third party nor any of its affiliates has had a direct or indirect agreement, arrangement, relationship or
understanding, written or otherwise, relating to the asset-backed securities transaction, and neither the third party nor any of
its affiliates is an affiliate of the sponsor, depositor, issuing entity or underwriter of the asset-backed securities transaction.
(ii) To the knowledge of the registrant, any of the following is true:
(A) The third party is eligible to use Form S-3 or F-3 (§ 239.13 or 239.33 of this chapter) for a primary offering of non-investment
grade securities pursuant to General Instruction I.B.1 of such forms.
(B) The third party meets the requirements of General Instruction I.A. of Form S-3 or General Instructions 1.A.1, 2, 3, 4 and 6 of
Form F-3 and the pool assets relating to such third party are non-convertible investment grade securities, as described in
General Instruction 1.B.2 of Form S-3 or Form F-3.
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(C) If the third party does not meet the conditions of paragraph (c)(2)(ii)(A) or (c)(2)(ii)(B) of this section and the pool assets
relating to the third party are fully and unconditionally guaranteed by a direct or indirect parent of the third party, General
Instruction I.C.3 of Form S-3 or General Instruction I.A.5(iii) of Form F-3 is met with respect to the pool assets relating to such
third party and the requirements of Rule 3-10 of Regulation S-X (§ 210.3-10 of this chapter) are satisfied regarding the information in the reports to be referenced.
(D) If the pool assets relating to the third party are guaranteed by a wholly owned subsidiary of the third party and the subsidiary does not meet the conditions of paragraph (c)(2)(ii)(A) or (c)(2)(ii)(B) of this section, the criteria in either paragraph
(c)(2)(ii)(A) or paragraph (c)(2)(ii)(B) of this section are met with respect to the third party and the requirements of Rule 3-10 of
Regulation S-X (§ 210.3-10 of this chapter) are satisfied regarding the information in the reports to be referenced.
(E) The pool assets relating to such third party are asset-backed securities and the third party is filing reports pursuant to
section 12 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act (15 U.S.C. 78l or 78o(d)) and has filed all the material that would be required to be filed
pursuant to section 13, 14 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act (15 U.S.C. 78m, 78n or 78o(d)) for a period of at least twelve calendar
months and any portion of a month immediately preceding the filing referencing the third party’s reports (or such shorter period
that such third party was required to file such materials).
(F) The third party is a U.S. government-sponsored enterprise, has outstanding securities held by non-affiliates with an
aggregate market value of $75 million or more, and makes information publicly available on an annual and quarterly basis,
including audited financial statements prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles covering the same
periods that would be required for audited financial statements under Regulation S-X (§§ 210.1-01 through 210.12-29 of this
chapter) and non-financial information consistent with that required by Regulation S-K (§§ 229.10 through 229.1123).
Instruction to Item 1100(c)(2). If you are relying on paragraph (c)(2)(ii)(E) of this section because the pool assets relating to
such third party are asset-backed securities, then for purposes of a registration statement under the Securities Act or the
Exchange Act or a prospectus to be filed pursuant to § 230.424 for your securities, you also must include a reference (including
Commission reporting number and filing date) to the prospectus for the third party asset-backed securities that: (a) is either
included in an effective Securities Act registration statement or filed pursuant to § 230.424 of this chapter; and (b) contains the
information required by Instruction 3.a. of Item 1112 of this Regulation AB.
(d) Other participants to the transaction and pool assets representing interests in certain other asset pools.
(1) If the asset-backed securities transaction involves additional or intermediate parties not specifically identified in this
Regulation AB, the disclosure required by this Regulation AB includes information to the extent material regarding any such
party and its role, function and experience in relation to the asset-backed securities and the asset pool. Describe the material
terms of any agreement with such party regarding the transaction, and file such agreement as an exhibit.
(2) If the asset pool backing the asset-backed securities includes one or more pool assets representing an interest in or the right
to the payments or cash flows of another asset pool, then for purposes of this Regulation AB and §§ 240.13a-18 and 240.15d-18
of this chapter, references to the asset pool and the pool assets of the issuing entity also include the other asset pool and its
pool assets if the following conditions are met:
(i) Both the issuing entity for the asset-backed securities and the entity issuing the pool asset to be included in the issuing
entity’s asset pool were established under the direction of the same sponsor or depositor.
(ii) The pool asset was created solely to satisfy legal requirements or otherwise facilitate the structuring of the assetbacked securities transaction.
Instruction to Item 1100(d)(2).
Reference to the underlying asset pool includes, without limitation, compliance with applicable servicing criteria referenced in
§§ 240.13a-18 and 240.15d-18 of this chapter and the servicer compliance statement required by Item 1123 of this Regulation AB.
In addition, provide clear and concise disclosure, including by flow chart or other illustration, of the transaction and the
various parties involved.
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(e) Foreign asset-backed securities. If the asset-backed securities are issued by a foreign issuer (as defined in § 230.405 of this
chapter), backed by pool assets that are foreign assets, or affected by enhancement or support contemplated by Items 1114 or
1115 of this Regulation AB provided by a foreign entity, then in providing the disclosure required by this Regulation AB
(including, but not limited to, Items 1104 and 1110 of this Regulation AB regarding origination and securitization practices, Item
1107 of this Regulation AB regarding the sale or transfer of the pool assets, bankruptcy remoteness and collateral protection,
Item 1108 of this Regulation AB regarding servicing, Item 1109 of this Regulation AB regarding the rights, duties and responsibilities of the trustee, Item 1111 of this Regulation AB regarding the terms, nature and treatment of the pool assets and Items
1114 or 1115 of this Regulation AB, as applicable, regarding the enhancement provider), the filing must describe any pertinent
governmental, legal or regulatory or administrative matters and any pertinent tax matters, exchange controls, currency restrictions or other economic, fiscal, monetary or potential factors in the applicable home jurisdiction that could materially affect
payments on, the performance of, or other matters relating to, the assets contained in the pool or the asset-backed securities.
See also Instruction 2 to Item 202 of Regulation S-K (§ 229.202). In addition, in a registration statement under the Securities Act,
provide the information required by Item 101(g) of Regulation S-K (§ 229.101(g)). Disclosure also is required in Forms 10-D (§
249.312 of this chapter) and 10-K (§ 249.310 of this chapter) with respect to the asset-backed securities regarding any material
impact caused by foreign legal and regulatory developments during the period covered by the report which have not been
previously described in a Form 10-D, 10-K or 8-K (§ 249.308 of this chapter) filed under the Exchange Act.
(f) Filing of required exhibits. Where agreements or other documents in this Regulation AB are specified to be filed as exhibits
to a Securities Act registration statement, such final agreements or other documents, if applicable, may be incorporated by
reference as an exhibit to the registration statement, such as by filing a Form 8-K in the case of offerings registered on Form S-3
(§ 239.13 of this chapter).
§ 229.1101 (Item 1101) Definitions.
The following definitions apply to the terms used in Regulation AB (§§ 229.1100 through 229.1123), unless specified otherwise:
(a) ABS informational and computational material means a written communication consisting solely of one or some combination of the following:
(1) Factual information regarding the asset-backed securities being offered and the structure and basic parameters of the
securities, such as the number of classes, seniority, payment priorities, terms of payment, the tax, Employment Retirement
Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, (29 U.S.C. 1001 et seq.) (“ERISA”) or other legal conclusions of counsel, and descriptive information relating to each class (e.g., principal amount, coupon, minimum denomination, anticipated price, yield, weighted
average life, credit enhancements, anticipated ratings, and other similar information relating to the proposed structure of the
offering);
(2) Factual information regarding the pool assets underlying the asset-backed securities, including origination, acquisition and
pool selection criteria, information regarding any prefunding or revolving period applicable to the offering, information regarding significant obligors, data regarding the contractual and related characteristics of the underlying pool assets (e.g., weighted
average coupon, weighted average maturity, delinquency and loss information and geographic distribution) and other factual
information concerning the parameters of the asset pool appropriate to the nature of the underlying assets, such as the type of
assets comprising the pool and the programs under which the loans were originated;
(3) Identification of key parties to the transaction, such as servicers, trustees, depositors, sponsors, originators and providers
of credit enhancement or other support, including a brief description of each such party’s roles, responsibilities, background
and experience;
(4) Static pool data, as referenced in Item 1105 of this Regulation AB, such as for the sponsor’s and/or servicer’s portfolio, prior
transactions or the asset pool itself;
(5) Statistical information displaying for a particular class of asset-backed securities the yield, average life, expected maturity,
interest rate sensitivity, cash flow characteristics, total rate of return, option adjusted spread or other financial or statistical
information relating to the class or classes under specified prepayment, interest rate, loss or other hypothetical scenarios.
Examples of such information under the definition include:
(i) Statistical results of interest rate sensitivity analyses regarding the impact on yield or other financial characteristics of a
class of securities from changes in interest rates at one or more assumed prepayment speeds;
(ii) Statistical information showing the cash flows that would be associated with a particular class of asset-backed securities
at a specified prepayment speed; and
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(iii) Statistical information reflecting the financial impact of losses based on a variety of loss or default experience, prepayment, interest rate and related assumptions.
(6) The names of underwriters participating in the offering of the securities, and their additional roles, if any, within the underwriting syndicate;
(7) The anticipated schedule for the offering (including the approximate date upon which the proposed sale to the public will
begin) and a description of marketing events (including the dates, times, locations, and procedures for attending or otherwise
accessing them); and
(8) A description of the procedures by which the underwriters will conduct the offering and the procedures for transactions in
connection with the offering with an underwriter or participating dealer (including procedures regarding account-opening and
submitting indications of interest and conditional offers to buy).
(b) Asset-backed issuer means an issuer whose reporting obligation results from either the registration of an offering of assetbacked securities under the Securities Act, or the registration of a class of asset-backed securities under section 12 of the
Exchange Act (15 U.S.C. 78l).
(c)(1) Asset-backed security means a security that is primarily serviced by the cash flows of a discrete pool of receivables or
other financial assets, either fixed or revolving, that by their terms convert into cash within a finite time period, plus any rights
or other assets designed to assure the servicing or timely distributions of proceeds to the security holders; provided that in the
case of financial assets that are leases, those assets may convert to cash partially by the cash proceeds from the disposition of
the physical property underlying such leases.
(2) The following additional conditions apply in order to be considered an asset-backed security:
(i) Neither the depositor nor the issuing entity is an investment company under the Investment Company Act of 1940 (15
U.S.C. 80a-1 et seq.) nor will become an investment company as a result of the asset-backed securities transaction.
(ii) The activities of the issuing entity for the asset-backed securities are limited to passively owning or holding the pool of
assets, issuing the asset-backed securities supported or serviced by those assets, and other activities reasonably incidental
thereto.
(iii) No non-performing assets are part of the asset pool as of the measurement date.
(iv) Delinquent assets do not constitute 50% or more, as measured by dollar volume, of the asset pool as of the measurement
date.
(v) With respect to securities that are backed by leases, the portion of the securitized pool balance attributable to the
residual value of the physical property underlying the leases, as determined in accordance with the transaction agreements for
the securities, does not constitute:
(A) For motor vehicle leases, 65% or more, as measured by dollar volume, of the securitized pool balance as of the measurement date.
(B) For all other leases, 50% or more, as measured by dollar volume, of the securitized pool balance as of the measurement
date.
(3) Notwithstanding the requirement in paragraph (c)(1) of this section that the asset pool be a discrete pool of assets, the
following are considered to be a discrete pool of assets for purposes of being considered an asset-backed security:
(i) Master trusts. The offering related to the securities contemplates adding additional assets to the pool that backs such
securities in connection with future issuances of asset-backed securities backed by such pool. The offering related to the
securities also may contemplate additions to the asset pool, to the extent consistent with paragraphs (c)(3)(ii) and (c)(3)(iii) of
this section, in connection with maintaining minimum pool balances in accordance with the transaction agreements for master
trusts with revolving periods or receivables or other financial assets that arise under revolving accounts.
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(ii) Prefunding periods. The offering related to the securities contemplates a prefunding account where a portion of the proceeds of that offering is to be used for the future acquisition of additional pool assets, if the duration of the prefunding period
does not extend for more than one year from the date of issuance of the securities and the portion of the proceeds for such
prefunding account does not involve in excess of:
(A) For master trusts, 50% of the aggregate principal balance of the total asset pool whose cash flows support the securities;
and
(B) For other offerings, 50% of the proceeds of the offering.
(iii) Revolving periods. The offering related to the securities contemplates a revolving period where cash flows from the pool
assets may be used to acquire additional pool assets, provided, that, for securities backed by receivables or other financial
assets that do not arise under revolving accounts, the revolving period does not extend for more than three years from the date
of issuance of the securities and the additional pool assets are of the same general character as the original pool assets.
Instructions to Item 1101(c)
1. For purposes of determining non-performing, delinquency and residual value thresholds, the “measurement date” means
either:
a. The designated cut-off date for the transaction (i.e., the date on and after which collections on the pool assets accrue for
the benefit of asset-backed security holders), if applicable; or
b. In the case of master trusts, the date as of which delinquency and loss information or securitized pool balance information, as applicable, is presented in the prospectus for the asset-backed securities to be filed pursuant to § 230.424(b) of this
chapter.
2. Non-performing and delinquent assets that are not funded or purchased by proceeds from the securities and that are not
considered in cash flow calculations for the securities need not be considered as part of the asset pool for purposes of determining non-performing and delinquency thresholds.
3. For purposes of determining non-performing, delinquency and residual value thresholds for master trusts, calculations are
to be measured against the total asset pool whose cash flows support the securities.
4. For purposes of determining residual value thresholds, residual values need not be included in measuring against the
thresholds to the extent a separate party is obligated for such amounts (e.g., through a residual value guarantee, residual value
insurance or where the lessee is obligated to cover any residual losses).
(d) Delinquent, for purposes of determining if a pool asset is delinquent, means if a pool asset is more than 30 or 31 days or a
single payment cycle, as applicable, past due from the contractual due date, as determined in accordance with any of the
following:
(1) The transaction agreements for the asset-backed securities;
(2) The delinquency recognition policies of the sponsor, any affiliate of the sponsor that originated the pool asset or the
servicer of the pool asset; or
(3) The delinquency recognition policies applicable to such pool asset established by the primary safety and soundness
regulator of any entity listed in paragraph (d)(2) of this section or the program or regulatory entity that oversees the program
under which the pool asset was originated.
(e) Depositor means the depositor who receives or purchases and transfers or sells the pool assets to the issuing entity. For
asset-backed securities transactions where there is not an intermediate transfer of the assets from the sponsor to the issuing
entity, the term depositor refers to the sponsor. For asset-backed securities transactions where the person transferring or
selling the pool assets is itself a trust, the depositor of the issuing entity is the depositor of that trust.
(f) Issuing entity means the trust or other entity created at the direction of the sponsor or depositor that owns or holds the
pool assets and in whose name the asset-backed securities supported or serviced by the pool assets are issued.
(g) Non-performing, for purposes of determining if a pool asset is non-performing, means a pool asset if any of the following is true:
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(1) The pool asset would be treated as wholly or partially charged-off under the requirements in the transaction agreements for the asset-backed securities;
(2) The pool asset would be treated as wholly or partially charged-off under the charge-off policies of the sponsor, an
affiliate of the sponsor that originates the pool asset or a servicer that services the pool asset; or
(3) The pool asset would be treated as wholly or partially charged-off under the charge-off policies applicable to such pool
asset established by the primary safety and soundness regulator of any entity listed in paragraph (g)(2) of this section or the
program or regulatory entity that oversees the program under which the pool asset was originated.
(h) NRSRO has the same meaning as the term “nationally recognized statistical rating organization” as used in § 240.15c31(c)(2)(vi)(F) of this chapter.
(i) Obligor means any person who is directly or indirectly committed by contract or other arrangement to make payments on
all or part of the obligations on a pool asset.
(j) Servicer means any person responsible for the management or collection of the pool assets or making allocations or
distributions to holders of the asset-backed securities. The term servicer does not include a trustee for the issuing entity or the
asset-backed securities that makes allocations or distributions to holders of the asset-backed securities if the trustee receives
such allocations or distributions from a servicer and the trustee does not otherwise perform the functions of a servicer.
(k) Significant obligor means any of the following:
(1) An obligor or a group of affiliated obligors on any pool asset or group of pool assets if such pool asset or group of pool
assets represents 10% or more of the asset pool.
(2) A single property or group of related properties securing a pool asset or a group of pool assets if such pool asset or
group of pool assets represents 10% or more of the asset pool.
(3) A lessee or group of affiliated lessees if the related lease or group of leases represents 10% or more of the asset pool.
Instructions to Item 1101(k).
1. Regarding paragraph (k)(3) of this section, the calculation must focus on the leases whose cash flow supports the assetbacked securities directly or indirectly (including the residual value of the physical property underlying the leases if a portion
of the securitized pool balance is attributable to the residual value of such property), regardless of whether the asset pool
contains the leases themselves, mortgages on properties that are the subject of the leases or other assets related to the leases.
2. If separate pool assets, or properties underlying pool assets, are cross-defaulted and/or cross-collateralized, such pool assets
are to be aggregated and considered together in determining concentration levels.
3. If the pool asset is a mortgage or lease relating to real estate, the pool asset is non-recourse to the obligor, and the obligor
does not manage the property or does not own other assets and has no other operations, then the obligor need not be considered a separate significant obligor from the real estate. Otherwise, the obligor is a separate significant obligor.
4. The determination of significant obligors is to be made as of the designated cut-off date for the transaction (i.e., the date on
and after which collections on the pool assets accrue for the benefit of asset-backed security holders), provided, that, in the
case of master trusts, the determination is to be made as of the cut-off date (or issuance date if there is not a cut-off date) for
each issuance of asset-backed securities backed by the same asset pool. In addition, if disclosure is required pursuant to either
Item 6.05 of Form 8-K (17 CFR 249.308) or in a Form 10-D (17 CFR 249.312) pursuant to Item 1121(b) of this Regulation AB, the
determination of significant obligors is to be made against the asset pool described in such report. However, if the percentage
concentration regarding an obligor falls below 10% subsequent to the determination dates discussed in this Instruction, the
obligor no longer need be considered a significant obligor.
(l) Sponsor means the person who organizes and initiates an asset-backed securities transaction by selling or transferring
assets, either directly or indirectly, including through an affiliate, to the issuing entity.
§ 229.1102 (Item 1102) Forepart of registration statement and outside cover page of the prospectus.
In addition to the information required by Item 501 of Regulation S-K (§ 229.501), provide the following information on the
outside front cover page of the prospectus. Present information regarding multiple classes in tables if doing so will aid understanding. If information regarding multiple classes cannot appear on the cover page due to space limitations, include the
information in the summary or in an immediately preceding separate table.
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(a) Identify the sponsor, the depositor and the issuing entity (if known).
(b) In identifying the title of the securities, include the series number, if applicable. If there is more than one class of
securities offered, state the class designations of the securities offered.
(c) Identify the asset type(s) being securitized.
(d) Include a statement, if applicable and appropriately modified to the transaction, that the securities represent the
obligations of the issuing entity only and do not represent the obligations of or interest in the sponsor, depositor or any of
their affiliates.
(e) Identify the aggregate principal amount of all securities offered and the principal amount, if any, of each class of securities offered. If a class has no principal amount, disclose that fact, and, if applicable, state the notional amount, clearly identifying that the amount is a notional one. If the amounts are approximate, disclose that fact.
(f) Indicate the interest rate or specified rate of return of each class of security offered. If a class of securities does not bear
interest or a specified return, disclose that fact. If the rate is based on a formula or is calculated in reference to a generally
recognized interest rate index, such as a U.S. Treasury securities index, either provide the formula on the cover, or indicate that
the rate is variable, indicate the index upon which the rate is based and indicate that further disclosure of how the rate is
determined is included in the transaction summary.
(g) Identify the distribution frequency, by class or series where applicable, and the first expected distribution date for the
asset-backed securities.
(h) Briefly describe any credit enhancement or other support for the transaction and identify any enhancement or support
provider referenced in Items 1114(b) or 1115 of this Regulation AB.
Instruction to Item 1102. Also see Item 1113(f)(2) of this Regulation AB regarding the title of any class of securities with an
optional redemption or termination feature that may be exercised when 25% or more of the original principal balance of the pool
assets are still outstanding.
§ 229.1103 (Item 1103) Transaction summary and risk factors.
(a) Prospectus summary. In providing the information required by Item 503(a) of Regulation S-K (§ 229.503(a)), provide the
following information in the prospectus summary, as applicable. Present information regarding multiple classes in tables if
doing so will aid understanding. Consider using diagrams to illustrate the relationships among the parties, the structure of the
securities offered (including, for example, the flow of funds or any subordination features) and any other material features of the
transaction.
(1) Identify the participants in the transaction, including the sponsor, depositor, issuing entity, trustee and servicers
contemplated by Item 1108(a)(2) of this Regulation AB, and their respective roles. Describe the roles briefly if they are not
apparent from the title of the role. Identify any originator contemplated by Item 1110 of this Regulation AB and any significant
obligor.
(2) Briefly identify the pool assets and summarize briefly the size and material characteristics of the asset pool. Identify the cutoff date or similar date for establishing the composition of the asset pool, if applicable.
(3) State briefly the basic terms of each class of securities offered. In particular:
(i) Identify the classes offered by the prospectus and any classes issued in the same transaction or residual or equity
interests in the transaction that are not being offered by the prospectus.
(ii) State the interest rate or rate of return on each class of securities offered, to the extent that the rates on any class of
securities were not disclosed in full on the prospectus cover page.
(iii) State the expected final and final scheduled maturity or principal distribution dates, if applicable, of each class of
securities offered.
(iv) Identify the denominations in which the securities may be issued.
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(v) Identify the distribution frequency on the securities.
(vi) Summarize the flow of funds, payment priorities and allocations among the classes of securities offered, the classes of
securities that are not offered, and fees and expenses, to the extent necessary to understand the payment characteristics of the
classes that are offered by the prospectus.
(vii) Identify any events in the transaction agreements that can trigger liquidation or amortization of the asset pool or other
performance triggers that would alter the transaction structure or the flow of funds.
(viii) Identify any optional or mandatory redemption or termination features.
(ix) Identify any credit enhancement or other support for the transaction, as referenced in Items 1114(a) and 1115 of this
Regulation AB, and briefly describe what protection or support is provided by the enhancement. Identify any enhancement
provider referenced in Items 1114(b) and 1115 of this Regulation AB. Summarize how losses not covered by credit enhancement
or support will be allocated to the securities.
(4) Identify any outstanding series or classes of securities that are backed by the same asset pool or otherwise have claims on
the pool assets. In addition, state if additional series or classes of securities may be issued that are backed by the same asset
pool and briefly identify the circumstances under which those additional securities may be issued. Specify if security holder
approval is necessary for such issuances and if security holders will receive notice of such issuances.
(5) If the transaction will include prefunding or revolving periods, indicate:
(i) The term or duration of the prefunding or revolving period.
(ii) For prefunding periods, the amount of proceeds to be deposited in the prefunding account.
(iii) For revolving periods, the maximum amount of additional assets that may be acquired during the revolving period, if
applicable.
(iv) The percentage of the asset pool and any class or series of the asset-backed securities represented by the prefunding
account or the revolving period, if applicable.
(v) Any limitation on the ability to add pool assets.
(vi) The requirements for assets that may be added to the pool.
(6) If pool assets can otherwise be added, removed or substituted (for example, in the event of a breach in representations or
warranties regarding pool assets), summarize briefly the circumstances under which such actions can occur.
(7) Summarize the amount or formula for calculating the fee that the servicer will receive for performing its duties, and identify
from what source those fees will be paid and the distribution priority of those fees.
(8) Summarize the federal income tax issues material to investors of each class of securities offered.
(9) Indicate whether the issuance or sale of any class of offered securities is conditioned on the assignment of a rating by one
or more rating agencies. If so, identify each rating agency and the minimum rating that must be assigned.
(b) Risk factors. In providing the information required by Item 503(c) of Regulation S-K (§ 229.503(c)), identify any risks that
may be different for investors in any offered class of asset-backed securities, and if so, identify such classes and describe such
difference(s).
§ 229.1104 (Item 1104) Sponsors.
Provide the following information about the sponsor:
(a) State the sponsor’s name and describe the sponsor’s form of organization.
(b) Describe the general character of the sponsor’s business.
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(c) Describe the sponsor’s securitization program and state how long the sponsor has been engaged in the securitization of
assets. The description must include, to the extent material, a general discussion of the sponsor’s experience in securitizing
assets of any type as well as a more detailed discussion of the sponsor’s experience in and overall procedures for originating or
acquiring and securitizing assets of the type included in the current transaction. Include to the extent material information
regarding the size, composition and growth of the sponsor’s portfolio of assets of the type to be securitized and information or
factors related to the sponsor that may be material to an analysis of the origination or performance of the pool assets, such as
whether any prior securitizations organized by the sponsor have defaulted or experienced an early amortization triggering event.
(d) Describe the sponsor’s material roles and responsibilities in its securitization program, including whether the sponsor or
an affiliate is responsible for originating, acquiring, pooling or servicing the pool assets, and the sponsor’s participation in
structuring the transaction.
§ 229.1105 (Item 1105) Static pool information.
(a) For amortizing asset pools, unless the registrant determines that such information is not material:
(1) Provide static pool information, to the extent material, regarding delinquencies, cumulative losses and prepayments for
prior securitized pools of the sponsor for that asset type.
(2) If the sponsor has less than three years of experience securitizing assets of the type to be included in the offered asset
pool, consider providing instead static pool information, to the extent material, regarding delinquencies, cumulative losses and
prepayments by vintage origination years regarding originations or purchases by the sponsor, as applicable, for that asset
type. A vintage origination year represents assets originated during the same year.
(3) In providing the information required by paragraphs (a)(1) and (a)(2) of this section:
(i) Provide the requested information for prior pools or vintage origination years, as applicable, relating to the following
time period, to the extent material:
(A) Five years, or
(B) For so long as the sponsor has been either securitizing assets of the same asset type (in the case of paragraph
(a)(1) of this section) or making originations or purchases of assets of the same asset type (in the case of paragraph (a)(2) of
this section) if less than five years.
(ii) Present delinquency, cumulative loss and prepayment data for each prior securitized pool or vintage origination
year, as applicable, in periodic increments (e.g., monthly or quarterly), to the extent material, over the life of the prior securitized
pool or vintage origination year. The most recent periodic increment for the data must be as of a date no later than 135 days of
the date of first use of the prospectus.
(iii) Provide summary information for the original characteristics of the prior securitized pools or vintage origination
years, as applicable and material. While the material summary characteristics may vary, these characteristics may include,
among other things, the following: number of pool assets; original pool balance; weighted average initial loan balance;
weighted average interest or note rate; weighted average original term; weighted average remaining term; weighted average and
minimum and maximum standardized credit score or other applicable measure of obligor credit quality; product type; loan
purpose; loan-to-value information; distribution of assets by loan or note rate; and geographic distribution information.
(b) For revolving asset master trusts, unless the registrant determines that such information is not material, provide, to the
extent material, data regarding delinquencies, cumulative losses, prepayments, payment rate, yield and standardized credit
scores or other applicable measure of obligor credit quality in separate increments based on the date of origination of the pool
assets. While the material increments may vary, consider presenting such data at a minimum in 12-month increments through
the first five years of the account’s life (e.g., 0-12 months, 13-24 months, 25-36 months, 37-48 months, 49-60 months and 61
months or more).
(c) If the information that would otherwise be required by paragraph (a)(1), (a)(2) or (b) of this section is not material, but
alternative static pool information would provide material disclosure, provide such alternative information instead. Similarly,
information contemplated by paragraph (a)(1), (a)(2) or (b) of this section regarding a party or parties other than the sponsor
may be provided in addition to or in lieu of such information regarding the sponsor if appropriate to provide material disclosure.
In addition, other explanatory disclosure, including disclosure explaining the absence of any static pool information, may be
provided.
(d) The following information provided in response to this section shall not be deemed to be a prospectus or part of a prospectus for the asset-backed securities nor shall such information be deemed to be part of the registration statement for the assetbacked securities:
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(1) With respect to information regarding prior securitized pools of the sponsor that do not include the currently offered
pool, information regarding prior securitized pools that were established before January 1, 2006; and
(2) With respect to information regarding the currently offered pool, information about the pool for periods before January
1, 2006.
(e) For prospectuses to be filed pursuant to § 230.424 of this chapter that include information specified in paragraph (d)(1) or
(d)(2) of this section, the prospectus shall disclose that such information is not deemed to be part of that prospectus or the
registration statement for the asset-backed securities.
(f) If any of the information identified in paragraph (d)(1) or (d)(2) of this section that is to be provided in response to this
section is unknown and not available to the registrant without unreasonable effort or expense, such information may be
omitted, provided the registrant provides the information on the subject it possesses or can acquire without unreasonable effort
or expense, and the registrant includes a statement in the prospectus showing that unreasonable effort or expense would be
involved in obtaining the omitted information.
§ 229.1106 (Item 1106) Depositors.
If the depositor is not the same entity as the sponsor, provide separately the information regarding the depositor called for by
paragraphs (a) and (b) of Item 1104 of this Regulation AB, and, to the extent the information would be material and materially
different from the sponsor, paragraphs (c) and (d) of Item 1104 of this Regulation AB. In addition, provide the following
information:
(a) The ownership structure of the depositor.
(b) The general character of any activities the depositor is engaged in other than securitizing assets and the time period during
which it has been so engaged.
(c) Any continuing duties of the depositor after issuance of the asset-backed securities being registered regarding the assetbacked securities or the pool assets.
§ 229.1107 (Item 1107) Issuing entities.
Provide the following information about the issuing entity:
(a) State the issuing entity’s name and describe the issuing entity’s form of organization, including the State or other jurisdiction under whose laws the issuing entity is organized. File the issuing entity’s governing documents as an exhibit.
(b) Describe the permissible activities and restrictions on the activities of the issuing entity under its governing documents,
including any restrictions on the ability to issue or invest in additional securities, to borrow money or to make loans to other
persons. Describe any provisions in the issuing entity’s governing documents allowing for modification of the issuing entity’s
governing documents, including its permissible activities.
(c) Describe any specific discretionary activities with regard to the administration of the asset pool or the asset-backed securities, and identify the person or persons authorized to exercise such discretion.
(d) Describe any assets owned or to be owned by the issuing entity, apart from the pool assets, as well as any liabilities of the
issuing entity, apart from the asset-backed securities. Disclose the fiscal year end of the issuing entity.
(e) If the issuing entity has executive officers, a board of directors or persons performing similar functions, provide the information required by Items 401, 402, 403 404 and 407(a), (c)(3), (d)(4), (d)(5) and (e)(4) of Regulation S-K (§§229.401, 229.402, 229.403,
229.404 and 229.407(a), (c)(3), (d)(4), (d)(5) and (e)(4)) for the issuing entity.
(f) Describe the terms of any management or administration agreement regarding the issuing entity. File any such agreement as
an exhibit.
(g) Describe the capitalization of the issuing entity and the amount or nature of any equity contribution to the issuing entity by
the sponsor, depositor or other party.
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(h) Describe the sale or transfer of the pool assets to the issuing entity as well as the creation (and perfection and priority
status) of any security interest in favor of the issuing entity, the trustee, the asset-backed security holders or others, including
the material terms of any agreement providing for such sale, transfer or creation of a security interest. File any such agreements
as an exhibit. In addition to an appropriate narrative description, also provide this information graphically or in a flow chart if it
will aid understanding.
(i) If the pool assets are securities, as defined under the Securities Act, state the market price of the securities and the basis on
which the market price was determined.
(j) If expenses incurred in connection with the selection and acquisition of the pool assets are to be payable from offering
proceeds, disclose the amount of such expenses. If such expenses are to be paid to the sponsor, servicer contemplated by Item
1108(a)(2) of this Regulation AB, depositor, issuing entity, originator contemplated by Item 1110 of this Regulation AB, underwriter, or any affiliate of the foregoing, separately identify the type and amount of expenses paid to each such party.
(k) Describe to the extent material any provisions or arrangements included to address any one or more of the following issues:
(1) Whether any security interests granted in connection with the transaction are perfected, maintained and enforced.
(2) Whether declaration of bankruptcy, receivership or similar proceeding with respect to the issuing entity can occur.
(3) Whether in the event of a bankruptcy, receivership or similar proceeding with respect to the sponsor, originator, depositor or other seller of the pool assets, the issuing entity’s assets will become part of the bankruptcy estate or subject to the
bankruptcy control of a third party.
(4) Whether in the event of a bankruptcy, receivership or similar proceeding with respect to the issuing entity, the issuing
entity’s assets will become subject to the bankruptcy control of a third party.
(l) If applicable law prohibits the issuing entity from holding the pool assets directly (for example, an “eligible lender” trustee
must hold student loans originated under the Federal Family Education Loan Program of the Higher Education Act of 1965 (20
U.S.C. 1001 et seq.)), describe the arrangements instituted to hold the pool assets on behalf of the issuing entity. Include
disclosure regarding the arrangements taken, as applicable, regarding the items in paragraph (k) of this section with respect to
any such additional entity that holds such assets on behalf of the issuing entity.
§ 229.1108 (Item 1108) Servicers.
Provide the following information for the servicer.
(a) Multiple servicers. Where servicing of the pool assets utilizes multiple servicers (e.g., master servicers that oversee the
actions of other servicers, primary servicers that have primary contact with the obligor, or special servicers for specific servicing functions):
(1) Provide a clear introductory description of the roles, responsibilities and oversight requirements of the entire servicing
structure and the parties involved. In addition to an appropriate narrative discussion of the allocation of servicing responsibilities, also consider presenting the information graphically if doing so will aid understanding.
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(2) Identify:
(i) Each master servicer;
(ii) Each affiliated servicer;
(iii) Each unaffiliated servicer that services 10% or more of the pool assets; and
(iv) Any other material servicer responsible for calculating or making distributions to holders of the asset-backed securities, performing work-outs or foreclosures, or other aspect of the servicing of the pool assets or the asset-backed securities
upon which the performance of the pool assets or the asset-backed securities is materially dependent.
(3) Provide the information in paragraphs (b), (c) and (d) of this section, as applicable depending on the servicer’s role, for
each servicer identified in paragraph (a)(2)(i), (ii) and (iv) of this section and each unaffiliated servicer identified in paragraph
(a)(2)(iii) of this section that services 20% or more of the pool assets
(b) Identifying information and experience.
(1) State the servicer’s name and describe the servicer’s form of organization.
(2) State how long the servicer has been servicing assets. Provide, to the extent material, a general discussion of the
servicer’s experience in servicing assets of any type as well as a more detailed discussion of the servicer’s experience in, and
procedures for the servicing function it will perform in the current transaction for assets of the type included in the current
transaction. Include to the extent material information regarding the size, composition and growth of the servicer’s portfolio of
serviced assets of the type included in the current transaction and information on factors related to the servicer that may be
material to an analysis of the servicing of the assets or the asset-backed securities, as applicable.
(3) Describe any material changes to the servicer’s policies or procedures in the servicing function it will perform in the
current transaction for assets of the same type included in the current transaction during the past three years.
(4) Provide information regarding the servicer’s financial condition to the extent that there is a material risk that the effect on
one or more aspects of servicing resulting from such financial condition could have a material impact on pool performance or
performance of the asset-backed securities.
(c) Servicing agreements and servicing practices.
(1) Describe the material terms of the servicing agreement and the servicer’s duties regarding the asset-backed securities
transaction. File the servicing agreement as an exhibit.
(2) Describe to the extent material the manner in which collections on the assets will be maintained, such as through a segregated collection account, and the extent of commingling of funds that occurs or may occur from the assets with other funds,
serviced assets or other assets of the servicer.
(3) Describe to the extent material any special or unique factors involved in servicing the particular type of assets included in
the current transaction, such as subprime assets, and the servicer’s processes and procedures designed to address such
factors.
(4) Describe to the extent material the terms of any arrangements whereby the servicer is required or permitted to provide
advances of funds regarding collections, cash flows or distributions, including interest or other fees charged for such advances
and terms of recovery by the servicer of such advances. To the extent material, provide statistical information regarding
servicer advances on the pool assets and the servicer’s overall servicing portfolio for the past three years.
(5) Describe to the extent material the servicer’s process for handling delinquencies, losses, bankruptcies and recoveries, such
as through liquidation of the underlying collateral, note sale by a special servicer or borrower negotiation or workouts.
(6) Describe to the extent material any ability of the servicer to waive or modify any terms, fees, penalties or payments on the
assets and the effect of any such ability, if material, on the potential cash flows from the assets.
(7) If the servicer has custodial responsibility for the assets, describe material arrangements regarding the safekeeping and
preservation of the assets, such as the physical promissory notes, and procedures to reflect the segregation of the assets from
other serviced assets. If no servicer has custodial responsibility for the assets, disclose that fact, identify the party that has
such responsibility and provide the information called for by this paragraph for such party.
(8) Describe any limitations on the servicer’s liability under the transaction agreements regarding the asset-backed securities
transaction.
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(d) Back-up servicing. Describe the material terms regarding the servicer’s removal, replacement, resignation or transfer,
including:
(1) Provisions for selection of a successor servicer and financial or other requirements that must be met by a successor
servicer.
(2) The process for transferring servicing to a successor servicer.
(3) Provisions for payment of expenses associated with a servicing transfer and any additional fees charged by a successor
servicer. Specify the amount of any funds set aside for a servicing transfer.
(4) Arrangements, if any, regarding a back-up servicer for the assets and the identity of any such back-up servicer.
§ 229.1109 (Item 1109) Trustees.
Provide the following information for each trustee:
(a) State the trustee’s name and describe the trustee’s form of organization.
(b) Describe to what extent the trustee has had prior experience serving as a trustee for asset-backed securities transactions
involving similar pool assets, if applicable.
(c) Describe the trustee’s duties and responsibilities regarding the asset-backed securities under the governing documents and
under applicable law. In addition, describe any actions required by the trustee, including whether notices are required to
investors, rating agencies or other third parties, upon an event of default, potential event of default (and how defined) or other
breach of a transaction covenant and any required percentage of a class or classes of asset-backed securities that is needed to
require the trustee to take action.
(d) Describe any limitations on the trustee’s liability under the transaction agreements regarding the asset-backed securities
transaction.
(e) Describe any indemnification provisions that entitle the trustee to be indemnified from the cash flow that otherwise would
be used to pay the asset-backed securities.
(f) Describe any contractual provisions or understandings regarding the trustee’s removal, replacement or resignation, as well
as how the expenses associated with changing from one trustee to another trustee will be paid.
Instruction to Item 1109. If multiple trustees are involved in the transaction, provide a description of the roles and responsibilities of each trustee.
§ 229.1110 (Item 1110) Originators.
(a) Identify any originator or group of affiliated originators, apart from the sponsor or its affiliates, that originated, or is expected to originate, 10% or more of the pool assets.
(b) Provide the following information for any originator or group of affiliated originators, apart from the sponsor or its affiliates,
that originated, or is expected to originate, 20% or more of the pool assets:
(1) The originator’s form of organization.
(2) To the extent material, a description of the originator’s origination program and how long the originator has been
engaged in originating assets. The description must include a discussion of the originator’s experience in originating assets of
the type included in the current transaction. In providing the description, include, if material, information regarding the size and
composition of the originator’s origination portfolio as well as information material to an analysis of the performance of the pool
assets, such as the originator’s credit-granting or underwriting criteria for the asset types being securitized.
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§ 229.1111 (Item 1111) Pool assets.
Describe the pool assets, including the information required by this Item 1111. Present statistical information in tabular or
graphical format, if such presentation will aid understanding. Present statistical information in appropriate distributional groups
or incremental ranges in addition to presenting appropriate overall pool totals, averages and weighted averages, if such
presentation will aid in the understanding of the data. In addition to presenting the number, amount and percentage of pool
assets by distributional group or range, also provide statistical information for each group or range by variables, to the extent
material, such as, average balance, weighted average coupon, average age and remaining term, average loan-to-value or similar
ratio and weighted average standardized credit score or other applicable measure of obligor credit quality. These variables are
just examples and should be tailored to the particular asset class backing the asset-backed securities. Consider providing
minimums and maximums when presenting averages on an aggregate basis and within each group or range. In addition, provide
historical data on the pool assets as appropriate (e.g., the lesser of three years or the time such assets have existed) to allow
material evaluation of the pool data. In making any calculations regarding overall pool balances, disregard any funds set aside
for a prefunding account.
(a) General information regarding pool asset types and selection criteria. Provide the following information:
(1) A brief description of the type or types of pool assets to be securitized.
(2) A general description of the material terms of the pool assets.
(3) A description of the solicitation, credit-granting or underwriting criteria used to originate or purchase the
pool assets, including, to the extent known, any changes in such criteria and the extent to which such policies and criteria are or
could be overridden.
(4) The method and criteria by which the pool assets were selected for the transaction.
(5) The cut-off date or similar date for establishing the composition of the asset pool, if applicable.
(6) If legal or regulatory provisions (such as bankruptcy, consumer protection, predatory lending, privacy,
property rights or foreclosure laws or regulations) may materially affect pool asset performance or payments or expected
payments on the asset-backed securities, briefly identify these provisions and their effects on such items.
Instruction to Item 1111(a)(6). Unless a material concentration of assets exists, it is not necessary to provide details of the
laws in each jurisdiction. Even in that case, a legalistic description or recitation of the laws or regulations in a particular jurisdiction is not required.
(b) Pool characteristics. Describe the material characteristics of the asset pool. Provide appropriate introductory and explanatory information to introduce the characteristics, the methodology used in determining or calculating the characteristics and
any terms or abbreviations used. While the material characteristics will vary depending on the nature of the pool assets, such
characteristics may include, among other things:
(1) Number of each type of pool assets.
(2) Asset size, such as original balance and outstanding balance as of a designated cut-off date.
(3) Interest rate or rate of return, including type of interest rate if the pool includes different types, such as fixed and
floating rates.
(4) Capitalized or uncapitalized accrued interest.
(5) Age, maturity, remaining term, average life (based on different prepayment assumptions), current payment/prepayment speeds and pool factors, as applicable.
(6) Servicer distribution, if different servicers service different pool assets.
(7) If a loan or similar receivable:
(i) Amortization period.
(ii) Loan purpose (e.g., whether a purchase or refinance) and status, if applicable (e.g., repayment or deferment).
(iii) Loan-to-value (LTV) ratios and debt service coverage ratios (DSCR), as applicable.
(iv) Type and/or use of underlying property, product or collateral (e.g., occupancy type for residential mortgages or industry sector for commercial mortgages).
(8) If a receivable or other financial asset that arises under a revolving account, such as a credit card receivable:
(i) Monthly payment rate.
(ii) Maximum credit lines.
(iii) Average account balance.
(iv) Yield percentages.
(v) Type of asset.
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(vi) Finance charges, fees and other income earned.
(vii) Balance reductions granted for refunds, returns, fraudulent charges or other reasons.
(viii) Percentage of full-balance and minimum payments made.
(9) If the asset pool includes commercial mortgages, the following information, to the extent material:
(i) For all commercial mortgages:
(A) The location and present use of each mortgaged property.
(B) Net operating income and net cash flow information, as well as the components of net operating
income and net cash flow, for each mortgaged property.
(C) Current occupancy rates for each mortgaged property.
(D) The identity, square feet occupied by and lease expiration dates for the three largest tenants at
each mortgaged property.
(E) The nature and amount of all other material mortgages, liens or encumbrances against such
properties and their priority.
(ii) For each commercial mortgage that represents, by dollar value, 10% or more of the asset pool, as measured
as of the cut-off date:
(A) Any proposed program for the renovation, improvement or development of such properties,
including the estimated cost thereof and the method of financing to be used.
(B) The general competitive conditions to which such properties are or may be subject.
(C) Management of such properties.
(D) Occupancy rate expressed as a percentage for each of the last five years.
(E) Principal business, occupations and professions carried on in, or from the properties.
(F) Number of tenants occupying 10% or more of the total rentable square footage of such properties and
principal nature of business of such tenant, and the principal provisions of the leases with those tenants including, but not
limited to: rental per annum, expiration date, and renewal options.
(G) The average effective annual rental per square foot or unit for each of the last three years prior to the date
of filing.
(H) Schedule of the lease expirations for each of the ten years starting with the year in which the registration
statement is filed (or the year in which the prospectus supplement is dated, as applicable), stating:
(1) The number of tenants whose leases will expire.
(2) The total area in square feet covered by such leases.
(3) The annual rental represented by such leases.
(4) The percentage of gross annual rental represented by such leases.
Instruction to Item 1111(b)(9). What is required is information material to an investor’s understanding of the asset-backed
securities. Detailed descriptions of the physical characteristics of individual properties or legal descriptions by metes and
bounds are not required.
(10) Whether the pool asset is secured or unsecured, and if secured, the type(s) of collateral.
(11) Standardized credit scores of obligors and other information regarding obligor credit quality.
(12) Billing and payment procedures, including frequency of payment, payment options, fees, charges and origination
or payment incentives.
(13) Information about the origination channel and origination process for the pool assets, such as originator information (and how acquired) and the level of origination documentation required, as applicable.
(14) Geographic distribution, such as by state or other material geographic region. If 10% or more of the pool assets are
or will be located in any one state or other geographic region, describe any economic or other factors specific to such state or
region that may materially impact the pool assets or pool asset cash flows.
Instruction to Item 1111(b)(14). For most assets, such as credit card accounts, motor vehicle leases, trade receivables and
student loans, the location of the asset is the underlying obligor’s billing address. For assets involving real estate, such as
mortgages, the location of the asset is where the physical property underlying the asset is located.
(15) Other concentrations material to the asset type (e.g., school type for student loans). If material, provide information required by paragraph (b)(14) of this section regarding such concentrations, as applicable.
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(c) Delinquency and loss information. Provide delinquency and loss information for the asset pool, including statistical
information regarding delinquencies and losses.
(d) Sources of pool cash flow. If the cash flows from the pool assets that are to be used to support the asset-backed securities
are to come from more than one source (such as separate cash flows from lease payments and from the sale of the residual asset
at the termination of the lease), provide the following information:

(1) Disclose the specific sources of funds that will be used to make the payments and distributions on the asset-backed
securities, and, if applicable, provide information on the relative amount and percentage of funds that are to be derived from
each source, including a description of any assumptions, data, models and methodology used to derive such amounts. If
payments on different classes or different categories of payments on or related to the asset-backed securities (e.g., principal,
interest or expenses) are to come from different or segregated cash flows from the pool assets or other sources, disclose the
source of funds that will be used for such payments.
(2) Residual value information. If the asset pool includes leases or other assets where a portion of the securitized pool
balance is attributable to the residual value of the underlying physical property underlying the leases, disclose the following:
(i) How the residual values used to structure the transaction were estimated, including an explanation of any
material discount rates, models or assumptions used and who selected such rates, models or assumptions.
(ii) Any material procedures or requirements incorporated to preserve residual values during the term of the
lease, such as lessee responsibilities, prohibitions on subletting, indemnification or required insurance or guarantees.
(iii) The procedures by which the residual values will be realized and by whom those procedures will be carried
out, including information on the experience of such party, any affiliations with a party described in Item 1119(a) of this Regulation AB and the compensation arrangements with such party.
(iv) Whether the pool assets are open-end leases (e.g., where the lessee is required to cover the shortfall
between the residual value of the leased property and the sale proceeds) or closed-end leases (e.g., where the lessor is responsible for such shortfalls), and where both types of leases are included in the asset pool, the percentage of each.
(v) To the extent material, any lessor obligations that are required under the leases, and the effect or potential
effect on the asset-backed securities from failure by the lessor to perform its obligations.
(vi) Statistical information regarding estimated residual values for the pool assets.
(vii) Summary historical statistics on turn-in rates, if applicable, and residual value realization rates by the
party responsible for such process over the past three years, or such longer period as is material to an evaluation of the pool
assets.
(viii) The effect on security holders if not enough cash flow is received from the realization of the residual
values, whether there are any provisions to address this contingency, and how any cash flow greater than that necessary to
pay security holders will be allocated.
(e) Representations and warranties and repurchase obligations regarding pool assets. Summarize any representations and
warranties made concerning the pool assets by the sponsor, transferor, originator or other party to the transaction, and describe briefly the remedies available if those representations and warranties are breached, such as repurchase obligations.
(f) Claims on pool assets. Describe any material direct or contingent claim that parties other than the holders of the assetbacked securities have on any pool assets. Also, describe any material cross-collateralization or cross-default provisions
relating to the pool assets.
(g) Revolving periods, prefunding accounts and other changes to the asset pool. If the transaction contemplates a prefunding
or revolving period, provide the following information, as applicable. Provide similar information regarding any other circumstances where pool assets may be added, substituted or removed from the asset pool, such as in the event of additional
issuances of asset-backed securities in a master trust or a breach of a pool asset representation or warranty:
(1) The term or duration of any prefunding or revolving period.
(2) For prefunding periods, the amount of proceeds to be deposited in the prefunding account.
(3) For revolving periods, the maximum amount of additional assets that may be acquired during the revolving period, if
applicable.
(4) The percentage of the asset pool and any class or series of the asset-backed securities represented by the
prefunding account or the revolving account, if applicable.
(5) Triggers or events that would trigger limits on or terminate the prefunding or revolving period and the effects of
such triggers. In particular for a revolving period, describe the operation of the revolving period and the amortization period.
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(6) When and how new pool assets may be acquired during the prefunding or revolving period, and if, when and how
pool assets can be removed or substituted. Describe any limits on the amount, type or speed with which pool assets may be
acquired, substituted or removed.
(7) The acquisition or underwriting criteria for additional pool assets to be acquired during the prefunding or revolving
period, including a description of any differences from the criteria used to select the current asset pool.
(8) Which party has the authority to add, remove or substitute assets from the asset pool or determine if such pool
assets meet the acquisition or underwriting criteria for additional pool assets. In addition, disclose whether or not there will be
any independent verification of such person’s exercise of authority or determinations.
(9) Any requirements to add or remove minimum amounts of pool assets and any effects of not meeting those requirements.
(10) If applicable, the procedures and standards for the temporary investment of funds in a prefunding or revolving
account pending use (including the disposition of gains and losses on pending funds) and a description of the financial
products or instruments eligible for such accounts.
(11) The circumstances under which funds in a prefunding or revolving account will be returned to investors or
otherwise disposed of.
(12) A statement of whether, and if so, how, investors will be notified of changes to the asset pool.
§ 229.1112 (Item 1112) Significant obligors of pool assets.
(a) Descriptive information. Provide the following information for each significant obligor:
(1) The name of the obligor.
(2) The organizational form and general character of the business of the obligor.
(3) The nature of the concentration of the pool assets with the obligor.
(4) The material terms of the pool assets and the agreements with the obligor involving the pool assets.
(b) Financial information. (1) If the pool assets relating to a significant obligor represent 10% or more, but less than 20%, of
the asset pool, provide selected financial data required by Item 301 of Regulation S-K (§ 229.301) for the significant obligor,
provided, however, that for a significant obligor under Item 1101(k)(2) of this Regulation AB, only net operating income for the
most recent fiscal year and interim period is required.
(2) If pool assets relating to a significant obligor represent 20% or more of the asset pool, provide financial statements meeting
the requirements of Regulation S-X (§§ 210.1-01 through 210.12-29 of this chapter), except § 210.3-05 of this chapter and Article
11 of Regulation S-X (§§ 210.11-01 through 210.11-03 of this chapter), of the significant obligor. Financial statements of such
obligor and its subsidiaries consolidated (as required by § 240.14a-3(b) of this chapter) shall be filed under this item.
Instructions to Item 1112(b).
1. No information need be provided pursuant to paragraph (b) of this section if the obligations of the significant obligor as they
relate to the pool assets are backed by the full faith and credit of the United States.
2. No information need be provided pursuant to paragraph (b) of this section if the obligations of the significant obligor as they
relate to the pool assets are backed by the full faith and credit of a foreign government (as defined in § 240.3b-4(a) of this
chapter) if the pool assets are investment grade securities as defined in Item I.B.2 of Form S-3 (§ 239.13 of this chapter). If the
pool assets are not investment grade securities, information required by paragraph (5) of Schedule B of the Securities Act (15
U.S.C. 77aa) regarding the foreign government may be incorporated by reference from a Commission filing in lieu of providing
the financial information required pursuant to paragraph (b) of this section.
3. If the significant obligor is an asset-backed issuer and the pool assets relating to the significant obligor are asset-backed
securities, provide the following information in lieu of the information required by paragraph (b) of this section:
a. For a registration statement under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act or a prospectus to be filed
pursuant to § 230.424 of this chapter, the information required by Items 1104 through 1115, 1117 and 1119 of this Regulation AB
regarding such asset-backed securities; and
b. For an Exchange Act report on Form 10-K or Form 10-D (§ 249.310 or 249.312 of this chapter), the information required by General Instruction J. of Form 10-K regarding such asset-backed securities for the period for which the last
Form 10-K of the asset-backed securities was due (or would have been due if such asset-backed securities are not required to
file reports with the Commission pursuant to section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act (15 U.S.C. 78m(a) or 78o(d)).
4. If the significant obligor is a foreign business (as defined § 210.1-02 of this chapter):
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a. Paragraph (b)(1) of this section may be complied with by providing the information required by Item 3.A. of
Form 20-F (§ 249.220f of this chapter). If a reconciliation to U.S. generally accepted accounting principles called for by Instruction 2. to Item 3.A. of Form 20-F is unavailable or not obtainable without unreasonable cost or expense, at a minimum provide a
narrative description of all material variations in accounting principles, practices and methods used in preparing the non-U.S.
GAAP financial statements used as a basis for the selected financial data from those accepted in the U.S.
b. Paragraph (b)(2) of this section may be complied with by providing financial statements meeting the requirements of Item 17 of Form 20-F for the periods specified by Item 8.A. of Form 20-F.
§ 229.1113 (Item 1113) Structure of the transaction.
(a) Description of the securities and transaction structure. In providing the information required by Item 202 of Regulation S-K
(§ 229.202), address the following specific factors relating to the asset-backed securities, as applicable:
(1) The types or categories of securities that may be offered, such as interest-weighted or principal-weighted classes
(including IO (interest only) or PO (principal only) securities), planned amortization or companion classes or residual or subordinated interests.
(2) The flow of funds for the transaction, including the payment allocations, rights and distribution priorities among all
classes of the issuing entity’s securities, and within each class, with respect to cash flows, credit enhancement or other support
and any other structural features designed to enhance credit, facilitate the timely payment of monies due on the pool assets or
owing to security holders, adjust the rate of return on the asset-backed securities, or preserve monies that will or might be
distributed to security holders. In addition to an appropriate narrative discussion of the allocation and priority structure of pool
cash flows, present the flow of funds graphically if doing so will aid understanding. In the flow of funds discussion, provide
information regarding any requirements directing cash flows from the pool assets (such as to reserve accounts, cash collateral
accounts or expenses) and the purpose and operation of such requirements.
(3) In describing the interest rate or rate of return on the asset-backed securities and how such amounts are payable,
explain how the rate is determined and how frequently it will be determined. If the rate to be paid can be a combination of two or
more rates (such as the lesser of a variable rate or the actual weighted average net coupon on the pool assets), provide clear
information regarding each rate and when each rate applies.
(4) How principal, if any, will be paid on the asset-backed securities, including maturity dates, amortization or principal
distribution schedules, principal distribution dates, formulas for calculating principal distributions from the cash flows and
other factors that will affect the timing or amount of principal payments for each class of securities.
(5) The denominations in which the asset-backed securities may be issued.
(6) Any specified changes to the transaction structure that would be triggered upon a default or event of default (such
as a change in distribution priority among classes).
(7) Any liquidation, amortization, performance or similar triggers or events, and the rights of investors or changes to
the transaction structure or flow of funds if such events were to occur.
(8) Whether the servicer or other party is required to provide periodic evidence of the absence of a default or of
compliance with the terms of the transaction agreements.
(9) If applicable, the extent, expressed as a percentage, the transaction is overcollateralized or undercollateralized as
measured by comparing the principal balance of the asset-backed securities to the asset pool.
(10) Any provisions contained in other securities that could result in a cross-default or cross-collateralization.
(11) Any minimum standards, restrictions or suitability requirements regarding potential investors in purchasing the
securities or any restrictions on ownership or transfer of the securities.
(12) Security holder vote required to amend the transaction documents and allocation of voting rights among security
holders.
(b) Distribution frequency and cash maintenance. (1) Disclose the frequency of distribution dates for the asset-backed
securities and the collection periods for the pool assets.
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(2) Describe how cash held pending distribution or other uses is held and invested. Also describe the length of time
cash will be held pending distributions to security holders. Identify the party or parties with access to cash balances and the
authority to invest cash balances. Specify who determines any decisions regarding the deposit, transfer or disbursement of
pool asset cash flows and whether there will be any independent verification of the transaction accounts or account activity.
(c) Fees and expenses. Provide in a separate table an itemized list of all fees and expenses to be paid or payable out of the cash
flows from the pool assets. In itemizing the fees and expenses, also indicate their general purpose, the party receiving such fees
or expenses, the source of funds for such fees or expenses (if different from other fees or expenses or if such fees or expenses
are to be paid from a specified portion of the cash flows) and the distribution priority of such expenses. If the amount of such
fees or expenses is not fixed, provide the formula used to determine such fees or expenses. The tabular presentation should be
accompanied by footnotes or other accompanying narrative disclosure to the extent necessary for an understanding of the
timing or amount of such fees or expenses, such as any restrictions or limits on fees or whether the estimate may change in
certain instances, such as in an event of default (and how the fees would change in such an instance or the factors that would
affect the change). In addition, through footnote or other accompanying narrative disclosure, describe if any, and if so how,
such fees or expenses can be changed without notice to, or approval by, security holders and any restrictions on the ability to
change a fee or expense amount, such as due to a change in transaction party.
(d) Excess cash flow. (1) Describe the disposition of residual or excess cash flows. Identify who owns any residual or retained
interests to the cash flows if such person is affiliated with the sponsor, depositor, issuing entity or any entity identified in Item
1119(a) of this Regulation AB or if such person has rights that may alter the transaction structure beyond receipt of residual or
excess cash flows. Describe such rights, as material.
(2) Disclose any requirements in the transaction agreements to maintain a minimum amount of excess cash flow or
spread from, or retained interest in, the transaction and any actions that would be required or changes to the transaction
structure that would occur if such requirements were not met.
(3) To the extent material to an understanding of the asset-backed securities, disclose any features or arrangements to
facilitate a securitization of the excess cash flow or retained interest from the transaction, including whether any material
changes to the transaction structure may be made without the consent of asset-backed security holders in connection with
these securitizations.
(e) Master trusts. If one or more additional series or classes have been or may be issued that are backed by the same asset pool,
provide information regarding the additional securities to the extent material to an understanding of their effect on the securities being offered, including the following:
(1) Relative priority of such additional securities to the securities being offered and rights to the underlying pool
assets and their cash flows.
(2) Allocation of cash flow from the asset pool and any expenses or losses among the various series or classes.
(3) Terms under which such additional series or classes may be issued and pool assets increased or changed.
(4) The terms of any security holder approval or notification of such additional securities.
(5) Which party has the authority to determine whether such additional securities may be issued. In addition, if there
are conditions to such additional issuance, disclose whether or not there will be an independent verification of such person’s
exercise of authority or determinations.
(f) Optional or mandatory redemption or termination. (1) If any class of the asset-backed securities includes an optional or
mandatory redemption or termination feature, provide the following information:
(i) Terms for triggering the redemption or termination.
(ii) The identity of the party that holds the redemption or termination option or obligation, as well as whether such
party is an affiliate of the sponsor, depositor, issuing entity or any entity identified in Item 1119(a) of this Regulation AB.
(iii) The amount of the redemption or repurchase price or formula for determining such amount.
(iv) The procedures for redemption or termination, including any notices to security holders.
(v) If the amount allocated to security holders is reduced by losses, the policy regarding any amounts recovered after
redemption or termination.

128

(2) The title of any class of securities with an optional redemption or termination feature that may be exercised when
25% or more of the original principal balance of the pool assets is still outstanding must include the word “callable,” provided,
however, that in the case of a master trust, a title of a class of securities must include the word “callable” when an optional
redemption or termination feature may be exercised when 25% or more of the original principal balance of the particular series in
which the class was issued is still outstanding.
(g) Prepayment, maturity and yield considerations. (1) Describe any models, including the related material assumptions and
limitations, used as a means to identify cash flow patterns with respect to the pool assets.
(2) Describe to the extent material the degree to which each class of securities is sensitive to changes in the rate of
payment on the pool assets (e.g., prepayment or interest rate sensitivity), and describe the consequences of such changing rate
of payment. Provide statistical information of such effects, such as the effect of prepayments on yield and weighted average
life.
(3) Describe any special allocations of prepayment risks among the classes of securities, and whether any class
protects other classes from the effects of the uncertain timing of cash flow.
§ 229.1114 (Item 1114) Credit enhancement and other support, except for certain derivatives instruments.
(a) Descriptive information. To the extent material, describe the following, including a clear discussion of the manner in which
each potential item is designed to affect or ensure timely payment of the asset-backed securities:
(1) Any external credit enhancement designed to ensure that the asset-backed securities or pool assets will pay in
accordance with their terms, such as bond insurance, letters of credit or guarantees.
(2) Any mechanisms to ensure that payments on the asset-backed securities are timely, such as liquidity facilities,
lending facilities, guaranteed investment contracts and minimum principal payment agreements.
(3) Any derivatives whose primary purpose is to provide credit enhancement related to pool assets or the asset-backed
securities.
(4) Any internal credit enhancement as a result of the structure of the transaction that increases the likelihood that
payments will be made on one or more classes of the asset-backed securities in accordance with their terms, such as subordination provisions, overcollateralization, reserve accounts, cash collateral accounts or spread accounts.
Instructions to Item 1114(a).
1. Include a description of the material terms of any enhancement or support described, including any limits on the timing or
amount of the enhancement or support or any conditions that must be met before the enhancement or support can be accessed.
The enhancement or support agreement is to be filed as an exhibit. Also describe any provisions regarding the substitution of
enhancement or support.
2. This Item should not be construed as allowing anything other than an asset-backed security whose payment is based
primarily by reference to the performance of the receivables or other financial assets in the asset pool

(b) Information regarding significant enhancement providers.
(1) Descriptive information. If an entity or group of affiliated entities providing enhancement or other support described in paragraph (a) of this section is liable or contingently liable to provide payments representing 10% or more of the cash
flow supporting any offered class of asset-backed securities, provide the following information:
(i) The name of such enhancement provider.
(ii) The organizational form of enhancement provider.
(iii) The general character of the business of such enhancement provider.
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(2) Financial information. (i) If any entity or group of affiliated entities providing enhancement or other support
described in paragraph (a) of this section is liable or contingently liable to provide payments representing 10% or more, but less
than 20%, of the cash flow supporting any offered class of the asset-backed securities, provide financial data required by Item
301 of Regulation S-K (§ 229.301) for each such entity or group of affiliated entities.
(ii) If any entity or group of affiliated entities providing enhancement or other support described in paragraph (a) of
this section is liable or contingently liable to provide payments representing 20% or more of the cash flow supporting any
offered class of the asset-backed securities, provide financial statements meeting the requirements of Regulation S-X (§§ 210.101 through 210.12-29 of this chapter), except § 210.3-05 of this chapter and Article 11 of Regulation S-X (§§ 210.11-01 through
210.11-03 of this chapter), of such entity or group of affiliated entities. Financial statements of such enhancement provider and
its subsidiaries consolidated (as required by § 240.14a-3(b) of this chapter) shall be filed under this item.
Instructions to Item 1114.
1. The requirements in paragraph (b) of this section apply to all providers of external credit enhancement or other support, other
than those described in Item 1115 of this Regulation AB. Enhancement may support payment on the pool assets or payments on
the asset-backed securities themselves.
2. No information need be provided pursuant to paragraph (b)(2) of this section if the obligations of the enhancement provider
are backed by the full faith and credit of the United States.
3. No information need be provided pursuant to paragraph (b)(2) of this section if the obligations of the enhancement provider
are backed by the full faith and credit of a foreign government (as defined in § 240.3b-4(a) of this chapter) if the enhancement
provider has an investment grade credit rating, as the term investment grade is used in Item I.B.2 of Form S-3 (§ 239.13 of this
chapter). If the enhancement provider does not have an investment grade credit rating, information required by paragraph (5) of
Schedule B of the Securities Act (15 U.S.C. 77aa) regarding the foreign government may be incorporated by reference from a
Commission filing in lieu of providing the financial information required pursuant to paragraph (b)(2) of this section.
4. If the pool assets are student loans originated under the Federal Family Education Loan Program of the Higher Education Act
of 1965 (20 U.S.C. 1001 et seq.)) and the enhancement provider for the pool assets is a guarantee agency as defined under the
Higher Education Act, then the following information may be provided in lieu of providing financial information required
pursuant to paragraph (b)(2) of this section:
a. The number of pool assets and aggregate outstanding principal balance of pool assets guaranteed by the guarantee
agency (both by number and percentage of the asset pool as of the cut-off date or other applicable date).
b. Disclosure of the following with respect to the guarantee agency, as applicable, including a brief description regarding the method of calculation, covering at least five federal fiscal years:
i. Aggregate principal amount of all student loans guaranteed.
ii. Reserve ratio.
iii. Recovery rate.
iv. Loss rate.
v. Claims rate.
5. If the enhancement provider is a foreign business (as defined § 210.1-02 of this chapter):
a. Paragraph (b)(2)(i) of this section may be complied with by providing the information required by Item 3.A. of Form
20-F (§ 249.220f of this chapter). If a reconciliation to U.S. generally accepted accounting principles called for by Instruction 2.
to Item 3.A. of Form 20-F is unavailable or not obtainable without unreasonable cost or expense, at a minimum provide a
narrative description of all material variations in accounting principles, practices and methods used in preparing the non-U.S.
GAAP financial statements used as a basis for the selected financial data from those accepted in the U.S.
b. Paragraph (b)(2)(ii) of this section may be complied with by providing financial statements meeting the requirements
of Item 17 of Form 20-F for the periods specified by Item 8.A. of Form 20-F.
§ 229.1115 (Item 1115) Certain derivatives instruments.
This item relates to derivative instruments, such as interest rate and currency swap agreements, that are used to alter the
payment characteristics of the cashflows from the issuing entity and whose primary purpose is not to provide credit enhancement related to the pool assets or the asset-backed securities. For purposes of this section, the “significance estimate” of the
derivative instrument is to be determined based on a reasonable good-faith estimate of maximum probable exposure, made in
substantially the same manner as that used in the sponsor’s internal risk management process in respect of similar instruments.
The “significance percentage” is the percentage that the amount of the significance estimate represents of the aggregate
principal balance of the pool assets, provided, that if the derivative instrument relates only to one or more classes of the assetbacked securities, the “significance percentage” is the percentage that the amount of the significance estimate represents of the
aggregate principal balance of such classes.
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(a) Descriptive information.
(1) Describe the following regarding the external counterparty:
(i) The name of the derivative counterparty.
(ii) The organizational form of the derivative counterparty.
(iii) The general character of the business of the derivative counterparty.
(2) Describe the operation and material terms of the derivative instrument, including any limits on the timing or amount
of payments or any conditions to payments.
(3) Describe any material provisions regarding substitution of the derivative instrument.
(4) At a minimum, disclose whether the significance percentage, as calculated in accordance with this section, is less
than 10%, at least 10% but less than 20%, or 20% or more.
(5) File the agreement relating to the derivative instrument as an exhibit.
(b) Financial information.
(1) If the aggregate significance percentage related to any entity or group of affiliated entities providing derivative
instruments contemplated by this section is 10% or more, but less than 20%, provide financial data required by Item 301 of
Regulation S-K (§ 229.301) for such entity or group of affiliated entities.
(2) If the aggregate significance percentage related to any entity or group of affiliated entities providing derivative
instruments contemplated by this section is 20% or more, provide financial statements meeting the requirements of Regulation
S-X (§§ 210.1-01 through 210.12-29 of this chapter), except § 210.3-05 of this chapter and Article 11 of Regulation S-X (§§
210.11-01 through 210.11-03 of this chapter), of such entity or group of affiliated entities. Financial statements of such entity
and its subsidiaries consolidated (as required by § 240.14a-3(b) of this chapter) shall be filed under this item.
Instructions to Item 1115.
1. Instructions 2, 3 and 5 to Item 1114 of this Regulation AB apply to the information contemplated by paragraph (b) of
this item.
2. This Item should not be construed as allowing anything other than an asset-backed security whose payment is
based primarily by reference to the performance of the receivables or other financial assets in the asset pool
§ 229.1116 (Item 1116) Tax matters.
Provide a brief, clear and understandable summary of:
(a) The tax treatment of the asset-backed securities transaction under federal income tax laws.
(b) The material federal income tax consequences of purchasing, owning and selling the asset-backed securities. If
any of the material federal income tax consequences are not expected to be the same for investors in all classes offered by the
registration statement, describe the material differences.
(c) The substance of counsel’s tax opinion, including identification of the material consequences upon which counsel
has not been asked, or is unable, to opine.
§ 229.1117 (Item 1117) Legal proceedings.
Describe briefly any legal proceedings pending against the sponsor, depositor, trustee, issuing entity, servicer contemplated by
Item 1108(a)(3) of this Regulation AB, originator contemplated by Item 1110(b) of this Regulation AB, or other party contemplated by Item 1100(d)(1) of this Regulation AB, or of which any property of the foregoing is the subject, that is material to
security holders. Include similar information as to any such proceedings known to be contemplated by governmental authorities.
§ 229.1118 (Item 1118) Reports and additional information.
(a) Reports required under the transaction documents.
Describe the reports or other documents provided to security holders required under the transaction agreements, including
information included, schedule and manner of distribution or other availability, and the entity or entities that will prepare and
provide the reports.
(b) Reports to be filed with the Commission.
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(1) Specify the names, and if available, the Commission file numbers of the entity or entities under which reports about
the asset-backed securities will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. Identify the reports and other information filed with the Commission.
(2) State that the public may read and copy any materials filed with the Commission at the Commission’s Public Reference Room at 450 Fifth Street, NW, Washington, DC 20549. State that the public may obtain information on the operation of the
Public Reference Room by calling the Securities and Exchange Commission at 1-800-SEC-0330. State that the Commission
maintains an Internet site that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding issuers that
file electronically with the Commission and state the address of that site (http://www.sec.gov).
(c) Web site access to reports.
(1) State whether the issuing entity’s annual reports on Form 10-K (§ 249.310 of this chapter), distribution reports on
Form 10-D (§ 249.312 of this chapter), current reports on Form 8-K (§ 249.308 of this chapter), and amendments to those reports
filed or furnished pursuant to section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act (15 U.S.C. 78m(a) or 78o(d)) will be made available on
the Web site of a specified transaction party (e.g., the sponsor, depositor, servicer, issuing entity or trustee) as soon as
reasonably practicable after such material is electronically filed with, or furnished to, the Commission.
(2) Disclose whether other reports to security holders or information about the asset-backed securities will be made
available in this manner.
(3) If filings and other reports will be made available in this manner, disclose the Web site address where such filings
may be found.
(4) If filings and other reports will not be made available in this manner, describe the reasons why they will not and
whether an identified transaction party voluntarily will provide electronic or paper copies of those filings and other reports free
of charge upon request.
§ 229.1119 (Item 1119) Affiliations and certain relationships and related transactions.
(a) Describe if so, and how, the sponsor, depositor or issuing entity is an affiliate (as defined in § 230.405 of this chapter) of any
of the following parties as well as, to the extent known and material, if so, and how, any of the following parties are affiliates of
any of the other following parties:
(1) Servicer contemplated by Item 1108(a)(3) of this Regulation AB.
(2) Trustee.
(3) Originator contemplated by Item 1110 of this Regulation AB.
(4) Significant obligor contemplated by Item 1112 of this Regulation AB.
(5) Enhancement or support provider contemplated by Items 1114 or 1115 of this Regulation AB.
(6) Any other material parties related to the asset-backed securities contemplated by Item 1100(d)(1) of this Regulation
AB.
(b) Describe whether there is, and if so the general character of, any business relationship, agreement, arrangement, transaction
or understanding that is entered into outside the ordinary course of business or is on terms other than would be obtained in an
arm’s length transaction with an unrelated third party, apart from the asset-backed securities transaction, between the sponsor,
depositor or issuing entity and any of the parties in paragraphs (a)(1) through (a)(6) of this section, or any affiliates of such
parties, that currently exists or that existed during the past two years and that is material to an investor’s understanding of the
asset-backed securities.
Instruction to Item 1119(b). What is required is information material to an investor’s understanding of the asset-backed
securities. A detailed description or itemized listing of all commercial relationships among the parties is not required. Instead,
the disclosure should indicate whether any relationships outside of the asset-backed securities transaction do exist that are
outside the normal course and the general character of those relationships.
(c) Notwithstanding paragraph (b) of this section, describe, to the extent material, any specific relationships involving or
relating to the asset-backed securities transaction or the pool assets, including the material terms and approximate dollar
amount involved, between the sponsor, depositor or issuing entity and any of the parties in paragraphs (a)(1) through (a)(6) of
this section, or any affiliates of such parties, that currently exists or that existed during the past two years.
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Instruction to Item 1119. With respect to disclosure in an annual report on Form 10-K, information required by this Item 1119
may be omitted to the extent that substantially the same information had been provided previously in an annual report on Form
10-K (§ 249.310) for the asset-backed securities or in an effective registration statement under the Securities Act or a prospectus timely filed pursuant to § 230.424 of this chapter under the same Central Index Key (CIK) code as the current annual report
on Form 10-K.
§ 229.1120 (Item 1120) Ratings.
Disclose whether the issuance or sale of any class of offered securities is conditioned on the assignment of a rating by one or
more rating agencies, whether or not NRSROs. If so, identify each rating agency and the minimum rating that must be assigned.
Describe any arrangements to have such rating monitored while the asset-backed securities are outstanding.
§ 229.1121 (Item 1121) Distribution and pool performance information.
(a) Describe the distribution for the related distribution period and the performance of the asset pool during the distribution
period. Provide appropriate introductory and explanatory information to introduce any material terms, parties or abbreviations
used (or a cross-reference to a Commission filing where such information may be found). Present statistical information in
tabular or graphical format, if such presentation will aid understanding. While the material information regarding the related
distribution and pool performance will vary depending on the nature of the transaction, such information may include, among
other things:
(1) Any applicable record dates, accrual dates, determination dates for calculating distributions and actual distribution
dates for the distribution period.
(2) Cash flows received and the sources thereof for distributions, fees and expenses (including portfolio yield, if
applicable).
(3) Calculated amounts and distribution of the flow of funds for the period itemized by type and priority of payment,
including:
(i) Fees or expenses accrued and paid, with an identification of the general purpose of such fees and the party
receiving such fees or expenses.
(ii) Payments accrued or paid with respect to enhancement or other support identified in Item 1114 of this
Regulation AB (such as insurance premiums or other enhancement maintenance fees), with an identification of the general
purpose of such payments and the party receiving such payments.
(iii) Principal, interest and other distributions accrued and paid on the asset-backed securities by type and by
class or series and any principal or interest shortfalls or carryovers.
(iv) The amount of excess cash flow or excess spread and the disposition of excess cash flow.
(4) Beginning and ending principal balances of the asset-backed securities.
(5) Interest rates applicable to the pool assets and the asset-backed securities, as applicable. Consider providing
interest rate information for pool assets in appropriate distributional groups or incremental ranges.
(6) Beginning and ending balances of transaction accounts, such as reserve accounts, and material account activity
during the period.
(7) Any amounts drawn on any credit enhancement or other support identified in Item 1114 of this Regulation AB, as
applicable, and the amount of coverage remaining under any such enhancement, if known and applicable.
(8) Number and amount of pool assets at the beginning and ending of each period, and updated pool composition
information, such as weighted average coupon, weighted average life, weighted average remaining term, pool factors and
prepayment amounts. For asset-backed securities backed by leases where a portion of the securitized pool balance is attributable to residual values of the physical property underlying the leases, this information also would include turn-in rates and
residual value realization rates.
(9) Delinquency and loss information for the period. In addition, describe any material changes to the information
specified in Item 1100(b)(5) of this Regulation AB regarding the pool assets.
(10) Information on the amount, terms and general purpose of any advances made or reimbursed during the period,
including the general use of funds advanced and the general source of funds for reimbursements.
(11) Any material modifications, extensions or waivers to pool asset terms, fees, penalties or payments during the
distribution period or that have cumulatively become material over time.
(12) Material breaches of pool asset representations or warranties or transaction covenants.
(13) Information on ratio, coverage or other tests used for determining any early amortization, liquidation or other
performance trigger and whether the trigger was met.
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(14) Information regarding any new issuance of asset-backed securities backed by the same asset pool, any pool asset
changes (other than in connection with a pool asset converting into cash in accordance with its terms), such as additions or
removals in connection with a prefunding or revolving period and pool asset substitutions and repurchases (and purchase
rates, if applicable), and cash flows available for future purchases, such as the balances of any prefunding or revolving accounts, if applicable. Disclose any material changes in the solicitation, credit-granting, underwriting, origination, acquisition or
pool selection criteria or procedures, as applicable, used to originate, acquire or select the new pool assets.
(b) During a prefunding or revolving period, or if there has been a new issuance of asset-backed securities backed by the same
pool under a master trust during the fiscal year of the issuing entity, provide the information required by Items 1110, 1111 and
1112 of this Regulation AB applied taking the revised pool composition into account in the Form 10-D report (§ 249.312 of this
chapter) for the last required distribution of the fiscal year of the issuing entity. In addition, provide such updated information
in the first Form 10-D report for the period in which the prefunding or revolving period ends (if applicable). However, no
disclosure need be provided by this paragraph if the information has not materially changed from that previously provided in an
Exchange Act report relating to the asset-backed securities or in an effective registration statement under the Securities Act or
a prospectus timely filed pursuant to § 230.424 of this chapter under the same Central Index Key (CIK) code regarding a subsequent issuance of asset-backed securities backed by a pool of assets that includes the pool assets that are the subject of this
paragraph.
§ 229.1122 (Item 1122) Compliance with applicable servicing criteria.
(a) Reports on assessment of compliance with servicing criteria for asset-backed securities. As required by paragraph (b) of §
240.13a-18 or 240.15d-18 of this chapter, provide as an exhibit from each party participating in the servicing function a report on
an assessment of compliance with the servicing criteria set forth in paragraph (d) of this section that contains the following:
(1) A statement of the party’s responsibility for assessing compliance with the servicing criteria applicable to it;
(2) A statement that the party used the criteria in paragraph (d) of this section to assess compliance with the applicable
servicing criteria;
(3) The party’s assessment of compliance with the applicable servicing criteria as of and for the period ending the end
of the fiscal year covered by the Form 10-K report (§ 249.310 of this chapter). This discussion must include disclosure of any
material instance of noncompliance identified by the party; and
(4) A statement that a registered public accounting firm has issued an attestation report on the party’s assessment of
compliance with the applicable servicing criteria as of and for the period ending the end of the fiscal year covered by the Form
10-K report.
(b) Registered public accounting firm attestation reports. Provide the registered public accounting firm’s attestation report
required by paragraph (c) of § 240.13a-18 or 240.15d-18 of this chapter on the party’s assessment of compliance with the
applicable servicing criteria as an exhibit.
(c) Additional disclosure for the Form 10-K report.
(1) If any party’s report on assessment of compliance with servicing criteria required by paragraph (a) of this section,
or related registered public accounting firm attestation report required by paragraph (b) of this section, identifies any material
instance of noncompliance with the servicing criteria, identify the material instance of noncompliance in the report on Form 10K.
(2) If any party’s report on assessment of compliance with servicing criteria required by paragraph (a) of this section,
or related registered public accounting firm attestation report required by paragraph (b) of this section, is not included as an
exhibit to the Form 10-K report, disclosure that the report is not included and an associated explanation must be provided in the
report on Form 10-K.
(d) Servicing criteria.
(1) General servicing considerations.
(i) Policies and procedures are instituted to monitor any performance or other triggers and events of default in
accordance with the transaction agreements.
(ii) If any material servicing activities are outsourced to third parties, policies and procedures are instituted to
monitor the third party’s performance and compliance with such servicing activities.
(iii) Any requirements in the transaction agreements to maintain a back-up servicer for the pool assets are
maintained.
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(iv) A fidelity bond and errors and omissions policy is in effect on the party participating in the servicing
function throughout the reporting period in the amount of coverage required by and otherwise in accordance with the terms of
the transaction agreements.
(2) Cash collection and administration.
(i) Payments on pool assets are deposited into the appropriate custodial bank accounts and related bank
clearing accounts no more than two business days of receipt, or such other number of days specified in the transaction agreements.
(ii) Disbursements made via wire transfer on behalf of an obligor or to an investor are made only by authorized
personnel.
(iii) Advances of funds or guarantees regarding collections, cash flows or distributions, and any interest or
other fees charged for such advances, are made, reviewed and approved as specified in the transaction agreements.
(iv) The related accounts for the transaction, such as cash reserve accounts or accounts established as a form
of overcollateralization, are separately maintained (e.g., with respect to commingling of cash) as set forth in the transaction
agreements.
(v) Each custodial account is maintained at a federally insured depository institution as set forth in the
transaction agreements. For purposes of this criterion, “federally insured depository institution” with respect to a foreign
financial institution means a foreign financial institution that meets the requirements of § 240.13k-1(b)(1) of this chapter.
(vi) Unissued checks are safeguarded so as to prevent unauthorized access.
(vii) Reconciliations are prepared on a monthly basis for all asset-backed securities related bank accounts,
including custodial accounts and related bank clearing accounts. These reconciliations:
(A) Are mathematically accurate;
(B) Are prepared within 30 calendar days after the bank statement cutoff date, or such other number of
days specified in the transaction agreements;
(C) Are reviewed and approved by someone other than the person who prepared the reconciliation;
and
(D) Contain explanations for reconciling items. These reconciling items are resolved within 90 calendar
days of their original identification, or such other number of days specified in the transaction agreements.
(3) Investor remittances and reporting.
(i) Reports to investors, including those to be filed with the Commission, are maintained in accordance with the
transaction agreements and applicable Commission requirements. Specifically, such reports:
(A) Are prepared in accordance with timeframes and other terms set forth in the transaction agreements;
(B) Provide information calculated in accordance with the terms specified in the transaction agreements;
(C) Are filed with the Commission as required by its rules and regulations; and
(D) Agree with investors’ or the trustee’s records as to the total unpaid principal balance and number
of pool assets serviced by the servicer.
(ii) Amounts due to investors are allocated and remitted in accordance with timeframes, distribution priority
and other terms set forth in the transaction agreements.
(iii) Disbursements made to an investor are posted within two business days to the servicer’s investor records,
or such other number of days specified in the transaction agreements.
(iv) Amounts remitted to investors per the investor reports agree with cancelled checks, or other form of
payment, or custodial bank statements.
(4) Pool asset administration.
(i) Collateral or security on pool assets is maintained as required by the transaction agreements or related pool
asset documents.
(ii) Pool assets and related documents are safeguarded as required by the transaction agreements.
(iii) Any additions, removals or substitutions to the asset pool are made, reviewed and approved in accordance
with any conditions or requirements in the transaction agreements.
(iv) Payments on pool assets, including any payoffs, made in accordance with the related pool asset documents are posted to the applicable servicer’s obligor records maintained no more than two business days after receipt, or such
other number of days specified in the transaction agreements, and allocated to principal, interest or other items (e.g., escrow) in
accordance with the related pool asset documents.
(v) The servicer’s records regarding the pool assets agree with the servicer’s records with respect to an
obligor’s unpaid principal balance.
(vi) Changes with respect to the terms or status of an obligor’s pool asset (e.g., loan modifications or reagings) are made, reviewed and approved by authorized personnel in accordance with the transaction agreements and related
pool asset documents.

135

(vii) Loss mitigation or recovery actions (e.g., forbearance plans, modifications and deeds in lieu of foreclosure, foreclosures and repossessions, as applicable) are initiated, conducted and concluded in accordance with the timeframes
or other requirements established by the transaction agreements.
(viii) Records documenting collection efforts are maintained during the period a pool asset is delinquent in
accordance with the transaction agreements. Such records are maintained on at least a monthly basis, or such other period
specified in the transaction agreements, and describe the entity’s activities in monitoring delinquent pool assets including, for
example, phone calls, letters and payment rescheduling plans in cases where delinquency is deemed temporary (e.g., illness or
unemployment).
(ix) Adjustments to interest rates or rates of return for pool assets with variable rates are computed based on
the related pool asset documents.
(x) Regarding any funds held in trust for an obligor (such as escrow accounts):
(A) Such funds are analyzed, in accordance with the obligor’s pool asset documents, on at least an
annual basis, or such other period specified in the transaction agreements;
(B) Interest on such funds is paid, or credited, to obligors in accordance with applicable pool asset
documents and state laws; and
(C) Such funds are returned to the obligor within 30 calendar days of full repayment of the related pool
asset, or such other number of days specified in the transaction agreements.
(xi) Payments made on behalf of an obligor (such as tax or insurance payments) are made on or before the related
penalty or expiration dates, as indicated on the appropriate bills or notices for such payments, provided that such support has
been received by the servicer at least 30 calendar days prior to these dates, or such other number of days specified in the
transaction agreements.
(xii) Any late payment penalties in connection with any payment to be made on behalf of an obligor are paid from the
servicer’s funds and not charged to the obligor, unless the late payment was due to the obligor’s error or omission.
(xiii) Disbursements made on behalf of an obligor are posted within two business days to the obligor’s records maintained by the servicer, or such other number of days specified in the transaction agreements.
(xiv) Delinquencies, charge-offs and uncollectable accounts are recognized and recorded in accordance with the
transaction agreements.
(xv) Any external enhancement or other support, identified in Item 1114(a)(1) through (3) or Item 1115 of this Regulation
AB, is maintained as set forth in the transaction agreements.
Instructions to Item 1122.
1. If certain servicing criteria are not applicable to the asserting party based on the activities it performs with respect to assetbacked securities transactions taken as a whole involving such party and that are backed by the same asset type backing the
class of asset-backed securities, the inapplicability of the criteria must be disclosed in that asserting party’s and the related
registered public accounting firm’s reports.
2. If multiple parties are participating in the servicing function, a separate assessment report and attestation report must be
included for each party participating in the servicing function. A party participating in the servicing function means any entity
(e.g., master servicer, primary servicers, trustees) that is performing activities that address the criteria in paragraph (d) of this
section, unless such entity’s activities relate only to 5% or less of the pool assets.
3. If the asset pool backing the asset-backed securities includes a pool asset representing an interest in or the right to the
payments or cash flows of another asset pool and both the issuing entity for the asset-backed securities and the entity issuing
the asset to be included in the issuing entity’s asset pool were established under the direction of the same sponsor and
depositor, see also Item 1100(d)(2) of this Regulation AB.
§ 229.1123 (Item 1123) Servicer compliance statement.
Provide as an exhibit a statement of compliance from the servicer, signed by an authorized officer of such servicer, to the effect
that:
(a) A review of the servicer’s activities during the reporting period and of its performance under the applicable servicing
agreement has been made under such officer’s supervision.
(b) To the best of such officer’s knowledge, based on such review, the servicer has fulfilled all of its obligations under the
agreement in all material respects throughout the reporting period or, if there has been a failure to fulfill any such obligation in
any material respect, specifying each such failure known to such officer and the nature and status thereof.
Instruction to Item 1123. If multiple servicers are involved in servicing the pool assets, a separate servicer compliance statement is required from each servicer that meets the criteria in Item 1108(a)(2)(i) through (iii) of this Regulation AB.
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